Journal of Medical Internet Research

Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (2023): 5.8 Volume 11 (2009), Issue 4 ISSN 1438-8871 Editor in Chief: Gunther Eysenbach, MD, MPH

Contents

Tutorial

RenderX

Usability of a Patient Education and Motivation Tool Using Heuristic Evaluation (e47) Ashish Joshi, Mohit Arora, Liwei Dai, Kathleen Price, Lisa Vizer, Andrew Sears.	. 3
Original Papers	
Health e-Cards as a Means of Encouraging Help Seeking for Depression Among Young Adults: Randomized Controlled Trial (e42)	
Daniel Costin, Andrew Mackinnon, Kathleen Griffiths, Philip Batterham, Anthony Bennett, Kylie Bennett, Helen Christensen.	13
Internet Use and Self-Rated Health Among Older People: A National Survey (e49) Enrique Gracia, Juan Herrero.	27
Disparities by Race and Ethnicity in Cancer Survivor Stories Available on the Web (e50) Katherine Eddens, Matthew Kreuter, Jennifer Morgan, Kate Beatty, Sina Jasim, Lori Garibay, Donghua Tao, Trent Buskirk, Keri Jupka	36
Social Media Use in the United States: Implications for Health Communication (e48) Wen-ying Chou, Yvonne Hunt, Ellen Beckjord, Richard Moser, Bradford Hesse.	47
Age-Sensitive Design of Online Health Information: Comparative Usability Study (e45) Richard Pak, Margaux Price, Jason Thatcher.	59
Challenges to Using an Electronic Personal Health Record by a Low-Income Elderly Population (e44) Eung-Hun Kim, Anna Stolyar, William Lober, Anne Herbaugh, Sally Shinstrom, Brenda Zierler, Cheong Soh, Yongmin Kim.	71
Use of Live Interactive Webcasting for an International Postgraduate Module in eHealth: Case Study Evaluation (e46) Ray Jones, Incremcio Maramba, Maged Boulos, Tara Alexander	80
An Electronic Clinical Decision Support Tool to Assist Primary Care Providers in Cardiovascular Disease Risk Management: Development and Mixed Methods Evaluation (e51)	
David Peiris, Rohina Joshi, Ruth Webster, Patrick Groenestein, Tim Usherwood, Emma Heeley, Fiona Turnbull, Alexandra Lipman, Anushka Patel.	91
Web Usage Data as a Means of Evaluating Public Health Messaging and Outreach (e52) Hao Tian, Dana Brimmer, Jin-Mann Lin, Abbigail Tumpey, William Reeves.	108

Journal of Medical Internet Research 2009 | vol. 11 | iss. 4 | p.1

A Web-Based Nutrition Program Reduces Health Care Costs in Employees With Cardiac Risk Factors:	
Before and After Cost Analysis (e43)	
Naomi Sacks, Howard Cabral, Lewis Kazis, Kelli Jarrett, Delia Vetter, Russell Richmond, Thomas Moore.	121

<u>Tutorial</u>

Usability of a Patient Education and Motivation Tool Using Heuristic Evaluation

Ashish Joshi¹, MD, MPH; Mohit Arora¹, MS; Liwei Dai², PhD; Kathleen Price¹, MS, RN; Lisa Vizer¹, MS; Andrew Sears¹, PhD

¹Department of Information Systems, University of Maryland, Baltimore County, Baltimore, MD, USA ²Usability Engineering Group, Xerox Corporation, Baltimore, MD, USA

Corresponding Author: Ashish Joshi, MD, MPH Department of Information Systems University of Maryland, Baltimore County 1000 Hilltop Circle, ITE 437 Baltimore, MD 21250 USA Phone: +1 410 455 8837 Fax: +1 410 455 1217 Email: asjoshi@umbc.edu

Abstract

Background: Computer-mediated educational applications can provide a self-paced, interactive environment to deliver educational content to individuals about their health condition. These programs have been used to deliver health-related information about a variety of topics, including breast cancer screening, asthma management, and injury prevention. We have designed the Patient Education and Motivation Tool (PEMT), an interactive computer-based educational program based on behavioral, cognitive, and humanistic learning theories. The tool is designed to educate users and has three key components: screening, learning, and evaluation.

Objective: The objective of this tutorial is to illustrate a heuristic evaluation using a computer-based patient education program (PEMT) as a case study. The aims were to improve the usability of PEMT through heuristic evaluation of the interface; to report the results of these usability evaluations; to make changes based on the findings of the usability experts; and to describe the benefits and limitations of applying usability evaluations to PEMT.

Methods: PEMT was evaluated by three usability experts using Nielsen's usability heuristics while reviewing the interface to produce a list of heuristic violations with severity ratings. The violations were sorted by heuristic and ordered from most to least severe within each heuristic.

Results: A total of 127 violations were identified with a median severity of 3 (range 0 to 4 with 0 = no problem to 4 = catastrophic problem). Results showed 13 violations for visibility (median severity = 2), 38 violations for match between system and real world (median severity = 2), 6 violations for user control and freedom (median severity = 3), 34 violations for consistency and standards (median severity = 2), 11 violations for error severity (median severity = 3), 1 violation for recognition and control (median severity = 3), 7 violations for flexibility and efficiency (median severity = 2), 9 violations for aesthetic and minimalist design (median severity = 2), 4 violations for help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors (median severity = 3), and 4 violations for help and documentation (median severity = 4).

Conclusion: We describe the heuristic evaluation method employed to assess the usability of PEMT, a method which uncovers heuristic violations in the interface design in a quick and efficient manner. Bringing together usability experts and health professionals to evaluate a computer-mediated patient education program can help to identify problems in a timely manner. This makes this method particularly well suited to the iterative design process when developing other computer-mediated health education programs. Heuristic evaluations provided a means to assess the user interface of PEMT.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e47) doi: 10.2196/jmir.1244

KEYWORDS

Computers; health; education; usability; heuristic

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e47/

Introduction

Computer technology has been widely used for education of both patients and health care professionals. Patient receptivity to computerized education is reported to be high across diverse medical settings and age groups. Computerized patient education has also been shown to increase patient knowledge, but little is reported about the results of findings of usability assessments of computerized patient education programs.

The objective of this case study was to describe the usability of the Patient Education and Motivation Tool (PEMT) through heuristic evaluation of the interface. We report the results of the usability evaluation, make changes based on the findings of the usability experts, and describe the benefits and limitations of applying usability evaluations to PEMT. We used Nielson's 10 usability heuristics [6] to identify potential usability problems, describe severity ratings for each heuristic violation, and use the results to improve the overall usability of PEMT. This paper presents the results of the heuristic evaluation of PEMT, system changes performed based on the evaluation, and planned future research.

Human-Computer Interaction Evaluation

Human factor or usability engineering is a discipline that investigates human/machine interface issues, using a wide array of methodologies [7]. These methodologies vary in terms of research design, complexity, cost, duration, and relevance to operational programs [7]. The two approaches for evaluating the human-computer interaction (HCI) characteristics of a system include inspection methods or user evaluations [5,8]. Inspection methods are based on reviews of a system, often by experts, which can be guided by usability heuristics, user tasks, or other information [5,8,9]. User evaluations measure user task performance in a lab setting [5,8]. Using these methods in system development has been recognized as an important way to ensure the usability of the end product [5,8,9].

Nielson defines heuristic evaluation as a measurement that utilizes heuristics in order to find usability problems [4]. Nielson's method uses a small set of principles, guidelines, or heuristics that are systematically assessed against a target system in order to identify problems and their severity, as well consequences for the user [4,7]. Heuristic evaluation is an effective usability inspection method for discovering the most serious problems with a low investment of resources, while representing a high cost-benefit ratio [10]. During the heuristic evaluation, a group of usability experts examine the user interface design according to a set of usability guidelines [11]. A list of heuristic violations found in the interface design and an assessment of the severity of these problems is generated [11]. The results can be utilized as suggestions for interface refinements. This method requires less time and resources than many other usability engineering methods. Nielsen identified 10 usability heuristics as the basic characteristics of usable interfaces [4]. Research in the past has shown that usability inspection through heuristic evaluation is an effective way to uncover user interface design problems in a broad range of clinical contexts [12]. In a previous study, heuristic evaluation combined with small-scale expert assessment was examined in

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e47/

XSI•FC

the context of the design and development of a Web-based telemedicine system [12]. The study found usage difficulties related to HCI problems primarily characterized by a mismatch of the designer model and the content expert model [12]. The heuristic/usage methodology provided an incremental benefit in a variety of design activities [12]. They examined a software user interface with heuristic evaluation, software guidelines, cognitive walkthrough, and usability testing and found that heuristic evaluation by several user interface specialists yielded the highest number of serious problems with the least amount of effort [12]. A single general usability expert familiar with the kind of interface being evaluated can identify about 60% of the problems [7,13]. This method was applied to support the clinical information system during a standard Call for Tender and was found to be an efficient and cost-effective approach to choose an appropriate and useful clinical information system [14]. In another study, Zhang and colleagues applied this method to evaluate patient safety with regard to the use of medical devices [15]. Heuristic evaluation through the identification of usability problems and their severities was found to be a useful, efficient, and low-cost method to evaluate patient safety features of medical devices [15].

Overview of the Patient Education and Motivation Tool (PEMT)

PEMT is an interactive computer-based program that is being designed according to three sets of learning theories [16]: behavioral, cognitive, and humanistic. Two key ideas of behavioral theory are that learning is manifested by a change in behavior and that technology-based instructional materials should be introduced in increments. Cognitive learning theory focuses on providing structured education to individuals along with reinforcement. Humanistic theory predominantly emphasizes the participants' willingness to learn and their ability to be evaluated. The outcome of learning depends upon how the information is presented and how the learner processes that information.

A computer-based educational program provides individuals with a self-paced learning environment and presents educational modules as a series of short messages. The information is provided in various representations, including audio, images, text, and animation with the resulting program being interactive. The system accounts for a variety of literacy levels and learning styles amongst users. Visual learners prefer seeing what they are learning, so pictures and images help them understand ideas and information better than text-based explanations [17]. Auditory learners learn best by hearing things and remember verbal instructions well, preferring someone else read the directions to them while they do the physical work or task [18]. PEMT allows users to toggle the audio on or off based on their preferences. The tool provides users with the opportunity and flexibility to navigate modules relevant to their condition by allowing them to move forward and backward at their own pace. PEMT also provides users with access to extensive information and empowers patients to obtain pertinent information about their condition. We employed usability principles when designing the user interface [19].

PEMT has three key components [20]:

- Screening: PEMT allows users to enter information about their socio-demographics at their own pace, including age, gender, education, disease severity, and prior disease knowledge through a series of multiple-choice questions. No feedback is given to the individuals during this component.
- 2. **Learning**: The learning material is broken down into a series of educational messages with relevant audio, images, and animations as appropriate. Individuals can move forward and backward through the messages by clicking next and back buttons. The information on each screen varies in terms of the number of paragraphs, sentences, words, bulleted items, highlights, and animations.
- 3. **Evaluation**: The evaluation component is a post-learning questionnaire similar to that used during the screening component. Feedback is provided to the users based on their responses. Users giving correct responses receive positive prompts and encouragement while individuals giving incorrect responses are given corrective feedback and reinforcement. The goal of the evaluation component is to track the progress of individual behavior, knowledge, and disease progression over a period of time.

These three key components of PEMT make it a multifaceted tool that can be utilized to screen individuals' demographics, health literacy, prior knowledge, attitudes, behavior, and prior use of technology. The tool has been successfully employed in different clinical settings (including emergency departments and outpatient clinics), for different conditions, including asthma [20] and influenza [21], and across different populations (including children, parents, and caregivers). In our prior study, we implemented PEMT on a touch-screen computer in a pediatric emergency department (ED). Children with asthma and their parents used the asthma education program in the ED. The results showed significant improvement in their knowledge and found PEMT to be highly acceptable [20]. In another study, we implemented PEMT in an ED and in an inner city outpatient pediatric ambulatory center (PAC) to assess and describe changes in the knowledge, attitudes, and practice regarding the influenza vaccine in participants whose children were between 6 months to 5 years of age [21]. The results of the study showed high acceptance of PEMT, and users found PEMT easy to use with no difficulties in navigating from one screen to another [21]. Users could interact with the tool on a desktop, laptop, or tablet PC using a touch screen, keyboard, and/or mouse. The system is available as a local or Web-based application.

PEMT Hardware and Software

PEMT is implemented in an n-tier architecture, using Adobe Flash CS3 for the presentation layer, XML for content management, Microsoft.Net Framework version 2.0 with Visual Basic.Net for program logic and data flow control, and Microsoft SQL Server 2005 for data storage. Educational content elements—including text, images, thumbnails, animations, and audio—and accessibility features—including textual descriptors and closed captions—are organized using multiple XML files. The Adobe Flash layer is used to render educational content and user interface controls dynamically. User interactions with the Adobe Flash layer—including responses to questions and navigational interactions—are captured by the .Net layer and

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e47/
```

XSL•FO

recorded in a relational structure, linked with timestamps and a unique session identifier in the MS SQL Server database. For heuristic evaluations, the software experts used the software on desktop and laptop computers running Windows XP with a minimum configuration of a Pentium 4 processor and 512MB RAM.

Methods

Heuristic evaluation is better if several people conduct the evaluation independent of each other [6]. Jacob Nielsen's heuristics are probably the most used usability heuristics for user interface design [6]. The evaluation is structured in terms of recognized usability principles.

The severity of a usability problem is a combination of three factors:

- The **frequency** with which the problem occurs: Is it common or rare?
- The **impact** of the problem if it occurs: Will it be easy or difficult for the users to overcome?
- The **persistence** of the problem: Is it a one-time problem that users can overcome once they know about it, or will users repeatedly be bothered by the problem?

Three usability experts (LD, KP, and LV) used Nielsen's usability heuristics (Table 1) while reviewing the PEMT user interface and generated a list of heuristic violations. One of the usability experts was a registered nurse with 15 years of clinical and HCI experience and had conducted numerous heuristic evaluation studies (KP). One of the other experts had 12 years of professional experience in usability design and heuristic evaluation (LV), and the third expert was a PhD student in HCI with experience in doing heuristic evaluations for several studies (LD). During the evaluation, the usability experts first reviewed the user interface of PEMT independently and generated a list of heuristic violations. The usability violation on the following scale [6]:

0 - I don't agree that this is a usability problem at all

1 - Cosmetic problem only: need not be fixed unless extra time is available on the project

2 - Minor usability problem: fixing this should be given low priority

3 - Major usability problem: important to fix, so should be given high priority

4 - Usability catastrophe: imperative to fix this before product can be released

In rating the problems, persistent issues with major impact on most users received the highest severity rating. The mean severity for each violation was calculated from the individual ratings. The three independent lists were combined together to generate a single list of heuristics violations, their severity ratings, and suggestions for the correction of these violations. The three usability experts (LD, KP, and LV) discussed their individual lists together, and any disagreements in assigning the severity ratings were resolved after mutual discussions. The

Joshi et al

combined list of heuristic violations was then reviewed and changes were made.

Table 1. Nielsen's usability heuristics

Usability Heuristic	Description
1. Visibility of system status	The system should always keep users informed about what is going on, through appropriate feedback within reasonable time.
2. Match between system and real world	The system should speak the users' language, with words, phrases, and concepts familiar to the user, rather than system-oriented terms. Follow real-world conventions, making information appear in a natural and logical order.
3. User control and freedom	Users often choose system functions by mistake and will need a clearly marked "emergency exit" to leave the unwanted state without having to go through an extended dialogue. Support undo and redo.
4. Consistency and standards	Users should not have to wonder whether different words, situations, or actions mean the same thing. Follow platform conventions.
5. Error prevention	Even better than good error messages is a careful design which prevents a problem from occurring in the first place. Either eliminate error-prone conditions or check for them and present users with a confirmation option before they commit to the action.
6. Recognition rather than recall	Minimize the user's memory load by making objects, actions, and options visible. The user should not have to remember information from one part of the dialogue to another. Instructions for use of the system should be visible or easily retrievable whenever appropriate.
7. Flexibility and efficiency of use	Accelerators—unseen by the novice user—may often speed up the interaction for the expert user such that the system can cater to both inexperienced and experienced users. Allow users to tailor frequent actions.
8. Aesthetic and minimalist design	Dialogues should not contain information which is irrelevant or rarely needed. Every extra unit of information in a dialogue competes with the relevant units of information and diminishes their relative visibility.
9. Help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors	Express error messages in plain language (no codes), precisely indicate the problem, and constructively suggest a solution.
10. Help and documentation	Even though it is better if the system can be used without documentation, it may be necessary to provide help and documentation. Any such information should be easy to search, be focused on the user's task, list concrete steps to be carried out, and not be too large.

Results

The result of the heuristic evaluation was a combined list of violations with severity ratings. The violations were sorted by heuristic and ordered from most to least severe within each heuristic category. A total of 127 violations were identified with a mean severity of 3 (range 0 - 4). The usability problems pertaining to the system function were organized by individual screens. An excerpt of the evaluation results for the user interface prototype has been presented (Table 2). Sample heuristic violations included a "lack of feedback to the user if they didn't answer a question and tried to proceed to the next

screen", and the "inability to exit or obtain help throughout the entire program".

The results of the heuristic evaluation were given to the software development team so that the interface could be revised. The domain expert and the software development team discussed these changes and, based on the severity ratings, changes were prioritized and implemented (Figure 1, Figure 2, Figure 3). In Figure 1, if an option is not selected and the user clicks next to go forward, no feedback is given to the user. No help is provided to assist users during their use of the program, and no exit button is available to leave the program at any time.

In Figure 2, feedback is provided if no option is selected, and the user is able to exit anytime during the use of the program.

Table 2. Sample heuristic evaluation results

Heuristic violated	Problem Description	Program Section	Severity Rating
Visibility	If you don't answer a question and then try to advance, the system will not let you, but it gives you no feedback on how to proceed.	Screening section	3
User control and freedom	No Exit or Quit present.	Entire program	3
Help and documentation	No Help present.	Entire program	4



Figure 1. PEMT Version before heuristic evaluation







Figure 2. Revised PEMT version after changes were made based on heuristic evaluations



XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 3. Help section is provided during the use of the program in the modified version of PEMT



Table 3 shows the average number of violations for visibility, the match between system and real world, user control and freedom, consistency and standards, error prevention, recognition rather than recall, flexibility and efficiency, aesthetic and minimalist design, help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors, and help and documentation. Results showed that among the 10 usability heuristics, the match between system and real world (n = 38) and consistency and standards (n = 34) were the two heuristics most frequently violated. These two heuristics accounted for more than half (57%) of all the violations. Two examples of heuristic violations related to the match between system and real world included: 1) lack of clarity in the presentation of the buttons and their functions and 2) a mismatch between the audio and written content. Consistency and standards heuristic violations included: 1) differences in function performed by similar buttons, including the "next" button that was used to display additional

content on the same screen instead of to advance screens and 2) inconsistent typesizes and styles used on the same screen.

We found severity ratings predominantly higher for violations of the usability heuristics "Help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors" (median rating = 3) and "Help and documentation" (median rating = 4) (Table 3).

For four heuristics, more than 50% of the violations were major violations: "User control and freedom" (n = 4/6; 66.67%), "Error prevention" (n = 6/10; 54.54%), "Recognition rather than recall" (n = 1/1; 100%), and "Help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors" (n = 4/4; 100%) (Table 3). The median severity rating per usability heuristic has also been reported (Table 3). This information was used to evaluate the severity of the violations in each category of the usability heuristics and was used as a medium to describe not only the average number of severe violations in each category but also to prioritize changes that can be made to the violations.



Table 3. Number of violations, average severity rating, and severity category per usability heuristic

Usability heuristic	Median severity rating	Cosmetic	Minor	Major	Catastrophic
Visibility of system status (n = 13)	2		7	6	
Match between system and real world (n = 38)	2	15	17	6	
User control and freedom $(n = 6)$	3		2	4	
Consistency and standards (n = 34)	2	4	24	6	
Error prevention (n = 11)	3		4	6	1
Recognition rather than recall $(n = 1)$	3			1	
Flexibility and efficiency of use (n = 7)	2		4	3	
Aesthetic and minimalist design $(n = 9)$	2	3	6		
Help users recognize, diagnose, and recover from errors (n = 4)	3			4	
Help and documentation (n = 4)	4			1	3

Based on the feedback from the heuristic evaluations, the user interface of PEMT underwent considerable changes. The majority of the changes that required urgent attention were fixed; however, certain changes were particular to the environment in which the system was to be used which, in this case, was an emergency department setting. The changes immediately made to the system included giving users feedback in the form of a text message when they tried to navigate to the next screen without making a choice. Some of the changes that were recommended by the usability experts were not completely adopted in the revised prototype due to specific user roles and the study protocol. Designers and users are faced with different requirements and tend to focus on different sets of issues. A prior study supports the view that it is not surprising to find experts and end users faced with different requirements focusing on different sets of issues [7]. Heuristic evaluation focuses on the interface characteristics mediating between functionality and performance [7].

Discussion

This tutorial illustrates a heuristic evaluation using a computer-based patient education program (PEMT) as a case study. The motivation to conduct this heuristic evaluation was to uncover usability violations in the user interface prototypes of PEMT in an efficient yet effective manner. Our case study illustrates the relevance of the heuristic evaluation for identifying usability problems with computer-based health education programs. We evaluated acceptance of PEMT in the emergency department and the pediatric ambulatory clinic using an attitudinal survey. The results showed that 95% of the users found the program easy to use, 91% found it easy to read, the program's different screens, 94% found the text easy to read,

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e47/
```

XSL•F() RenderX and 93% liked the colors used on the screen [21]. Overall, the results of this study suggested high acceptance of PEMT [21]. One major weakness in our assessment of heuristic evaluation as a method is that we have no baseline against which to measure our results. Earlier studies suggest that heuristic evaluations detect 40 - 60% of the usability problems an empirical user test would find, and also claim that the types of problems found are roughly comparable [6].

A substantial benefit of heuristic evaluation is that it represents significant savings in time over the duration of a complete empirical user test, both in terms of execution and generation of interface changes for implementation. It has been reported that heuristic evaluations employing 3 - 5 evaluators can identify 60 - 70% of the usability problems in an interface, including many of the major problems, even though it requires less time than other evaluation techniques [21]. The current case study demonstrates the significance and relevance of human factors in designing computer-mediated health education programs, especially with respect to improving the acceptance of these systems.

Heuristic evaluation is a usability inspection method and differs from empirical approaches that rely heavily on user performance data, such as user testing. The study shows the practicality of heuristic evaluation. The results suggest that the application of human-computer interaction design principles to technology-based health education programs can be a quick, relatively efficient way to gather feedback and guidance to improve the interface of a system. The heuristic evaluation results were also a guide during the iterative software development process. The results were presented to the development team, and the recommended changes were implemented. The changes made to the interface were prioritized

based on the severity ratings, from catastrophic to cosmetic. The immediate changes made to the program included adding a help mechanism, providing feedback to the users based on their actions, and allowing users to exit the system. Therefore, the sorted list of heuristic violations with severity ratings was very helpful for prioritizing the revisions to PEMT. The recommended changes were easily understood, not only by the software development team, but also by domain experts, since the rationale used to make changes to the system was well justified by the heuristics. The benefits of the recommended changes became evident after the revised software demonstrated higher ease of use and greater ease of navigation, while minimizing errors. Thus, providing software designers with practical feedback in a timely fashion represents a distinct advantage that heuristic evaluation possesses which many other usability engineering methods do not.

Over the long term, perhaps the most lasting result of the heuristic evaluation concerns more than the specific system tested, since heuristic evaluation also relates to internal organizational development. Heuristic evaluation was another step in this educational process. The experimenters and evaluators learned to use the method and to incorporate the results into subsequent development. A large number of usability problems were identified with a reasonable expenditure of effort. To ensure the success of education programs, information must be delivered in a way that is accessible to and meaningful to users.

However, there are several limitations of using heuristic evaluation compared to other usability engineering methods. This method relies heavily on the expertise of the usability professionals who conduct the evaluation [5]. These experts may lack domain knowledge and could therefore overlook domain-related usability problems [5]. One way to overcome this obstacle is to employ evaluators, known as double experts, who possess both usability and domain knowledge [5]. In our case study, usability experts, designers, and domain experts worked together on the design and evaluation of the PEMT. It is highly important to have a combination of these experts while evaluating computer-mediated patient education programs in the health care environment, or else there is a risk of producing a mismatch between the system and the real world. Involving professionals with expertise in both computer-mediated education and the health care environment allows for the adjustment of several variables while evaluating the system.

The PEMT user interface was more consistent with Nielsen's usability heuristics after the expert-recommended changes were completed. In our study, we examined the value of heuristic evaluation for improving the usability of PEMT by uncovering heuristic violations in the interface design in a quick, efficient, and cost-effective manner. The ability to identify problems in a timely manner makes this method particularly well suited to the iterative design process. In addition, it is very important that the focus is on users when evaluating the interface design because this can influence the problems identified by the usability experts, as well as how these problems are described and prioritized. The system should speak the user's language, with words, phrases, and concepts familiar to the user, rather than system-oriented terms and information, and these words, phrases, and concepts should appear in a natural and logical order. The "match between system and real world" means that the system should follow real-world conventions as closely as possible, in order to allow the user to understand how to operate the program.

We are currently conducting multiple studies to evaluate the usability of PEMT by combining heuristic evaluation and user testing for other patient education programs.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Diefenbach MA, Butz BP. A multimedia interactive education system for prostate cancer patients: development and preliminary evaluation. J Med Internet Res 2004 Jan 21;6(1):e3 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15111269</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.6.1.e3</u>]
- 2. Hofstetter FT. Multimedia Literacy with Student CD-ROM. 3rd edition. New York, NY: Irwin/McGraw-Hill; 2000.
- O'Grady LA. Consumer e-health education in HIV/AIDS: a pilot study of a web-based video workshop. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2006;6(1):10 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16504148</u>] [doi: <u>10.1186/1472-6947-6-10</u>]
- 4. Nielson J. Usability Engineering. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 1993.
- 5. Tang Z, Johnson TR, Tindall RD, Zhang J. Applying heuristic evaluation to improve the usability of a telemedicine system. Telemed J E Health 2006 Feb;12(1):24-34. [Medline: <u>16478410</u>] [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2006.12.24</u>]
- 6. Nielsen J. Heuristic evaluation. In: Nielsen J, Mack RL, editors. Usability Inspection Methods. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons; 1994.
- Lathan CE, Sebrechts MM, Newman DJ, Doarn CR. Heuristic evaluation of a web-based interface for internet telemedicine. Telemed J 1999;5(2):177-185. [Medline: <u>10908430</u>] [doi: <u>10.1089/107830299312140</u>]
- Kushniruk AW, Patel VL. Cognitive and usability engineering methods for the evaluation of clinical information systems. J Biomed Inform 2004 Feb;37(1):56-76. [Medline: <u>15016386</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbi.2004.01.003</u>]
- 9. Jeffries R, Miller JR, Wharton C, Uyeda KM. User interface evaluation in the real world: a comparison of four techniques. In: Robertson S, Oslon GM, Oslon JS, editors. Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI'91 Conference Proceedings. New York, NY: ADM Press; 1991.

- 10. Nielson J. Guerilla HCI: using discount usability engineering to penetrate intimidation barrier. In: Bias RG, Mayhew DJ, editors. Cost-Justifying Usability. San Diego, CA: Academic Press; 1994.
- 11. Jaspers MWM. A comparison of usability methods for testing interactive health technologies: methodological aspects and empirical evidence. Int J Med Inform 2009 May;78(5):340-353. [Medline: <u>19046928</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.10.002</u>]
- Tang Z, Johnson TR, Tindall RD, Zhang J. Applying heuristic evaluation to improve the usability of a telemedicine system. Telemed J E Health 2006 Feb;12(1):24-34. [Medline: <u>16478410</u>] [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2006.12.24</u>]
- 13. Nielson J. Usability evaluation and inspection methods. In: Ashlund S, Mullet K, Henderson A, Hollnagel E, White T, editors. Bridges Between Worlds, INTERCHI'93 Tutorial Notes 22. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley; 1993.
- Beuscart-Zéphir MC, Watbled L, Carpentier AM, Degroisse M, Alao O. A rapid usability assessment methodology to support the choice of clinical information systems: a case study. Proc AMIA Symp 2002:46-50 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12463784]
- 15. Zhang J, Johnson TR, Patel VL, Paige DL, Kubose T. Using usability heuristics to evaluate patient safety of medical devices. J Biomed Inform 2003;36(1-2):23-30. [Medline: 14552844] [doi: 10.1016/S1532-0464(03)00060-1]
- 16. Smith MK. The Encyclopedia of Informal Education. 2003. Learning Theory. URL: <u>http://www.infed.org/biblio/b-learn.</u> <u>htm</u> [accessed 2009 Oct 26] [WebCite Cache ID 5fOKSfZtW]
- 17. Jezierski J. Learnativity.com. 2003. Learning Styles. URL: <u>http://www.learnativity.com/learningstyles.html</u> [accessed 2009 Oct 30] [WebCite Cache ID 5kwoTBbNC]
- 18. Russell SS. An overview of adult learning processes. Urol Nurs 2006;26(5):349-352, 370. [Medline: 17078322]
- 19. Shneiderman B. Designing the User Interface: Strategies for Effective Human-Computer Interaction. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley; 1998.
- 20. Joshi A, Lichenstein R, Rafei K, Bakar A, Arora M. A pilot study to evaluate self initiated computer patient education in children with acute asthma in pediatric emergency department. Technol Health Care 2007;15(6):433-444. [Medline: 18057566]
- 21. Joshi A, Lichenstein R, King J, Arora M, Khan S. Evaluation of a Computer-Based Patient Education and Motivation Tool on Knowledge, Attitudes, and Practice Towards Influenza Vaccination. IEJHE 2009;12:1-15.

Abbreviations

ED: emergency department HCI: human computer interaction PAC: pediatric ambulatory center PEMT: Patient Education and Motivation Tool

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.04.09; peer-reviewed by M Mackert, H Witteman; comments to author 28.04.09; revised version received 17.09.09; accepted 09.10.09; published 06.11.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Joshi A, Arora M, Dai L, Price K, Vizer L, Sears A Usability of a Patient Education and Motivation Tool Using Heuristic Evaluation J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e47 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e47/</u> doi:10.2196/jmir.1244 PMID:<u>19897458</u>

© Ashish Joshi, Mohit Arora, Liwei Dai, Kathleen Price, Lisa Vizer, Andrew Sears. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 06.11.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Health e-Cards as a Means of Encouraging Help Seeking for Depression Among Young Adults: Randomized Controlled Trial

Daniel L Costin^{1,2}, BSc; Andrew J Mackinnon³, PhD; Kathleen M Griffiths¹, PhD; Philip J Batterham¹, MPH; Anthony J Bennett¹, BAppSc; Kylie Bennett¹, BSc, BA; Helen Christensen¹, PhD

¹Centre for Mental Health Research, The Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia

²Department of Psychology, The Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia

³Orygen Research Centre, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Vic, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Helen Christensen, PhD Centre for Mental Health Research The Australian National University Building 63 Eggleston Road Canberra, ACT 0200 Australia Phone: +61 2 6125 2741 Fax: +61 2 6125 0733 Email: Helen.Christensen@anu.edu.au

Abstract

Background: There is a need to identify interventions that increase help seeking for depression among young adults.

Objective: The aim was to evaluate a brief depression information intervention employing health e-cards (personalized emails containing links to health information presented on a Web page).

Methods: A randomized controlled trial was carried out with 348 19- to 24-year-olds drawn from the community. Participants were randomized to receive one of three conditions, all of which delivered a short series of health e-cards. Two active conditions involved the delivery of depression information designed to increase help-seeking behavior and intentions and to improve beliefs and knowledge associated with help seeking. A control arm delivered information about general health issues unrelated to depression. The primary outcome was help-seeking behavior. Secondary outcomes were help-seeking intentions; beliefs about the efficacy of depression treatments and help sources; ability to recognize depression; knowledge of the help-seeking process; and depressive symptoms. The study's primary focus was outcomes relating to formal help seeking (consultation with a general practitioner or mental health professional) but also targeted behaviors, intentions, and beliefs relating to informal help seeking.

Results: Relative to the control condition, depression health e-cards were not associated with an increase in formal help-seeking behavior, nor were they associated with improved beliefs about depression treatments; ability to recognize depression; knowledge of the help-seeking process; or depressive symptoms. Depression e-cards were associated with improved beliefs about the overall efficacy of formal help sources (z = 2.4, P = .02). At post-intervention, participants in all conditions, relative to pre-intervention, were more likely to have higher intentions of seeking help for depression from a formal help source ($t_{641} = 5.8$, P < .001) and were more likely to rate interpersonal psychotherapy as being helpful (z = 2.0, P = .047). Depression e-cards were not associated with any significant changes in informal help-seeking behavior, intentions, or beliefs.

Conclusions: The study found no evidence that providing depression information in the form of brief e-cards encourages help seeking for depression among young adults. Involvement in the study may have been associated with increased help-seeking intentions among participants in all conditions, suggesting that mechanisms other than depression information may increase help seeking.

Trial Registration:International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial Number (ISRCTN): ISRCTN98406912;http://www.controlled-trials.com/ISRCTN98406912/ISRCTN98406912(Archived by WebCite athttp://www.webcitation.org/5k221KiMi)(Archived by WebCite at

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e42) doi: 10.2196/jmir.1294

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e42/

KEYWORDS

Depression; mood disorders; young adult; health care seeking behavior; attitude to health; intention; health promotion; randomized controlled trial; electronic mail

Introduction

Depression is a leading contributor to the burden of disease and injury among young adults [1]. Around 6.4% of young Australians aged 18-24 years will be affected by depression each year [1]. Many young adults are unable to recognize the symptoms of depression [2], have limited knowledge about appropriate treatment options [3], and are reluctant to seek help for depression from a general practitioner (GP) or mental health professional [4]. As a consequence, their depression may go unrecognized and untreated. There is a need to develop and evaluate interventions that educate young adults about depression and encourage those experiencing symptoms to consult a health professional.

To date, only three studies have used a randomized controlled trial to investigate depression informational interventions for their effects on help-seeking behavior. Jorm et al [5] provided depressed people in the community with an evidence-based consumer guide to treatments for depression and found that participants who received this guide were no more likely to report subsequently seeking professional help for depression than control group participants who received a short brochure about depression (a rise in help seeking was observed in both groups). A major weakness of this study was the lack of an appropriate comparator-the brochure used in the control condition also provided information about evidence-based treatments for depression. Christensen et al [6] examined the effect of a 6-week intervention involving access to a depression information website and weekly telephone contact from a lay interviewer who directed participants to read particular sections of the website. Relative to an attention control condition (brief weekly telephone contact with a lay interviewer who asked questions about factors that might affect depression, but no access to the website), participants in the website condition were no more likely to report an increase in help seeking from GPs or mental health professionals at 6 months follow-up. A limitation of this study was that participants were recruited to an early intervention trial, so their agreement to participate in the trial might in itself be regarded as an act of help seeking. Finally, in the only randomized controlled trial to have investigated depression information interventions for their effects on help-seeking behavior in young adults, Sharpe et al [7] examined the effect of a 40-minute, classroom-based intervention delivered to university students. They found that the intervention led to more positive attitudes toward seeking psychological help but had no effect on help-seeking behavior compared to an attention placebo condition. A limitation of this study was that participants were not selected on the basis of having elevated levels of psychological distress or depression, so it is difficult to determine whether the failure to modify help-seeking behavior was due to the intervention or low need for help seeking in this sample.

The current study sought to address some of the limitations of these previous studies [5-7] and to add to the evidence about

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e42/
```

the effectiveness of brief information interventions in increasing help seeking for depression among young adults. Given the convenience and low cost of disseminating public health interventions on the Internet [8] and the popularity of this medium for young people [9], the study employed an Internet intervention. In addition, since it might be anticipated that brief rather than more-extensive Internet interventions would be preferred by young people [10], the intervention employed "health e-cards," an electronic analogue to postcards. A health e-card is a personal email containing a link to depression information presented on a Web page. Previous research has demonstrated that postcards can be an effective means of reducing incidences of self-harm [11], and thus the brief e-cards were considered an appropriate modality in the current context.

Participants were randomized to receive one of three conditions, all of which delivered a short series of health e-cards. Two active conditions (a basic and an enhanced condition) involved the delivery of depression information, and one control arm (control) delivered information about general health issues.

The active conditions were designed to facilitate progression of the process that young people are likely to go through when seeking help for mental health problems. This help seeking process, as conceptualized by Rickwood and colleagues [12], begins with the awareness of symptoms and appraisal of having a problem that may require intervention. The young person must then be able to articulate his or her problem using words that he or she feels comfortable using and that will be understood by others. Finally, sources of help must be available and accessible, and the help seeker must be willing to seek out and disclose information to these sources [12]. The information provided in the active conditions aimed to modify factors that might inhibit progression through this help-seeking process, specifically, the inability to recognize depression [13], negative attitudes toward health professionals and the treatments they provide [14], and lack of knowledge and understanding of where to seek professional help, the services available, how to contact them [15,16], and what to expect at a consultation [12].

To address limitations of previous studies, the control arm provided information about general health issues that were likely to be of relevance to young adults but not related to depression [5]. Furthermore, the trial was presented to participants as a health and well-being trial rather than one that explicitly concerned depression, and the screening and pre-intervention survey included placebo questions relating to general health conditions [6]. Finally, the intervention was delivered to young adults drawn from the community, and the sample was stratified to include individuals experiencing high levels of distress who could be considered in need of help [7].

We hypothesized that, relative to the control group, individuals in the two active conditions would be more likely to seek help for depression from a GP or mental health professional over 3 subsequent weeks. We also hypothesized that participants in the active arms would report a greater willingness to seek

XSL•FO RenderX

professional help for depression in the future, report more positive beliefs about the efficacy of treatments and health professionals, exhibit improved ability to recognize depressive symptoms, demonstrate improvements in their knowledge of the help-seeking process, and have reduced depressive symptoms. The study's primary focus was outcomes relating to formal help seeking (consultation with a GP or mental health professional), but it also targeted behaviors, intentions, and beliefs relating to informal help seeking (seeking assistance from peers and family).

Methods

Participants and Flow

Figure 1 details the flow of participants through the trial. Participants were recruited by means of a screening questionnaire, posted in March 2007 to 12,000 individuals aged 19 to 23 selected at random from the Australian Electoral Roll. Registration on the electoral roll is compulsory in Australia. The response rate was 14.7% (1764/12000). Respondents were eligible for inclusion in the trial if they indicated a willingness to receive further information about participating in the trial, provided their first name and email address, and fell within the age range of 19-24 years.



Two strata were formed with the intention to conduct a priori subgroup analyses. The first group consisted of individuals

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e42/

experiencing high levels of distress who could be considered in need of help. The second consisted of individuals

experiencing lower levels of distress or none at all. Although the second group may not have personally required help, the prevalence of depression is such that there was a high likelihood that individuals in this group might need to recognize and encourage help seeking in a friend (around 18% of young adults report that they would seek help for depression from a friend rather than a health professional [4]).

Eligible respondents scoring 22 or higher on the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) [17] formed the high distress group, and those scoring 21 or lower formed the low distress group. We anticipated that at least two thirds of eligible respondents would fall into the low distress group. To yield more equal numbers of high and low distress participants in the intervention, we randomly sampled members of the low distress group so that only 50% progressed to the next stage of recruitment, but all members of the high distress group progressed to the next stage. Individuals who progressed were sent further information by email and an URL link to the online pre-intervention questionnaire. The study was approved by the Australian National University Human Research Ethics Committee.

Treatment Allocation

Participants were randomized to conditions after submitting the online pre-intervention questionnaire using block randomization with computer-generated random numbers. Randomization was stratified by sex and pre-intervention score on the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) [18]. The randomization tables were set up prior to commencement of the study. Randomization was carried out by one of the authors (DC).

Intervention

Individuals started the intervention within 7 days of submitting their pre-intervention questionnaire. The intervention consisted of three personalized emails containing an embedded URL to brief information presented on a Web page. These were described as health e-cards (see Figure 2). Each week for 3 weeks, participants received an automated email from the project coordinator. Emails were personalized with the participant's first name and contained a greeting and directions to click on an URL link to view the brief health information (see Multimedia Appendix). The health e-cards were designed to be read as a series, much like an e-learning program.

Figure 2. Screenshot of a health e-card



Participants in the basic intervention received depression information health e-cards. The information provided included symptoms of depression, a vignette describing a young man's experience of depression, where to find evidence-based information about depression and its treatment on the Internet, prevalence rates among 18- to 24-year-olds, encouragement to consult with a health professional if feeling depressed, and information about GPs, counselors, clinical psychologists, and psychiatrists, including who they are, treatments they provide, and how to locate them.

Participants in the enhanced intervention also received depression information health e-cards. In addition to the information provided in the basic intervention, these participants also received information on facts about depression and help seeking, what to expect at an initial consultation with each health professional, and practical tips about making contact with health professionals and asking for help. It was anticipated that this additional information would help facilitate movement through the help-seeking process [12] and enhance the effect of depression information in modifying help-seeking behavior [19].

Participants in the control condition received health e-cards containing information on health issues not directly related to depression but still relevant to young adults. These were meningococcal disease, amphetamines, and gamma-hydroxybutyrate (GHB).

The treatments for depression recommended in the basic and enhanced interventions were antidepressants, cognitive behavioral therapy, and interpersonal psychotherapy. These recommendations were based on systematic reviews [20-23]. Information relating to GPs was sourced from Ellis and Smith [24], and information relating to the role and qualifications of different health professionals was sourced from The Australian Psychological Society's website [25]. Information provided in the control condition was reproduced with permission from other health promotion publications [26-29].

Post-Intervention Data Collection

At 3 weeks post-intervention, the automatic email application sent participants a personalized email with an URL link to the post-intervention questionnaire. This email was resent up to three times at 1-week intervals, or until the participant's post-intervention questionnaire was submitted. To our knowledge, there are no data available on the average period of time it takes to complete a visit with a health professional after forming the intention to seek help for depression. We estimated that a period of 3 weeks would be sufficient and would also maximize post-intervention response rates.

Measures

Demographic Information

At screening, data were collected on sex, age, employment status, education, email usage, demographic characteristics based on residential post code, experience seeking help for depression from a GP or mental health professional (General Help Seeking Questionnaire [GHSQ] supplementary questions) [30], current help seeking, and psychological distress (as measured by the K10 [17]).

Primary Outcome Measure: Help-Seeking Behavior

The primary outcome was the proportion of participants who reported at post-intervention that they had sought help for feelings of depression from a formal source (GP or mental health professional) in the past 6 weeks, assessed with the Actual Help Seeking Questionnaire (AHSQ) [12]. Participants were also asked whether they had sought help from an informal help source (friend, partner, or family member).

Secondary Outcome Measures

Secondary outcomes were collected at baseline (screening or pre-intervention) and post-intervention.

Intentions to seek help were assessed using the GHSQ [30]. Respondents were asked, "If you were feeling depressed, how likely is it that you would seek help or advice from the following people during the next six weeks?" They rated, on a 7-point scale (1 = extremely unlikely to 7 = extremely likely), their intentions to seek help from a friend, partner, family member, GP, counselor, clinical psychologist, psychiatrist, or no one. An optional item, "someone else not listed above (please describe who this is)," was also included. Two multi-item scales were created for the analysis using methods described by Deane and Wilson [31]. These were intentions to seek formal help (mean of responses for GP, counselor, clinical psychologist, and psychiatrist) and intentions to seek informal help (mean of responses for friend, partner, and family member). The range of these multi-item scales was therefore 1 to 7, with higher scores representing stronger intentions to seek help.

Beliefs about help seeking were assessed using a modified version of a measure used by Jorm et al [32]. Respondents were asked to rate the helpfulness of various formal help sources (GPs, counselors, clinical psychologists, and psychiatrists), informal help sources (partner, family, and friends), and treatments (antidepressants, cognitive behavioral therapy, interpersonal psychotherapy, and supportive counseling) for a young adult experiencing depression. Responses included "helpful," "harmful," "neither helpful nor harmful," or "don't know." Results were analyzed as the proportion of respondents rating each help source or treatment as "helpful."

Ability to recognize depression was assessed by presenting a vignette describing a 23-year-old male with major depression [32] according to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition* (DSM-IV). The character's name and age was changed from Jorm and colleagues' original version to make it more applicable to the participants in this study. Respondents were asked to indicate what (if anything) was wrong with the character by selecting one of 14 responses. The response list included the top 12 responses given by Australian participants in a previous study [33] plus two additional items (bulimia nervosa or meningococcal disease) relating to placebo questions included in the screening survey. A correct response was considered to be one in which the participant endorsed depression.



Help-seeking knowledge was assessed by asking participants to do the following: "Imagine a good mate or close friend came to you and said that they had been feeling depressed for several weeks and were thinking about going to see a health professional but didn't know much about it, or where to get help." They then rated how much they agreed with each of three statements using a 5-point scale (4 = strongly agree, 3 = agree, 2 = neither agree nor disagree, 1 = disagree, 0 = strongly disagree). The statements were as follows: "I would be able to explain to my friend the type of help or treatment that the following health professionals generally provide for people who have depression," "I would be able to explain to my friend how to locate and contact these health professionals," and "I would be able to explain to my friend what to expect at an initial consultation with these health professionals." The health professionals listed were GPs, counselors, clinical psychologists, and psychiatrists. Ratings for each health professional were cumulated across the three statements to produce four subscores. These were perceived knowledge about seeking help from GPs, counselors, clinical psychologists, and psychiatrists. The range for each subscore was 0-12. A total score was also produced (sum of all items), which ranged from 0-48.

Symptoms of depression were assessed using the CES-D [18]. Higher scores represent greater psychological distress, with scores of 16 or higher usually taken to indicate clinical depression.

To assess the appeal of depression health e-cards, screening survey respondents were asked what type of health information they thought would be most helpful for inclusion in health e-cards aimed at young adults. There were 26 different topics offered, and respondents selected as many items as they wished. Furthermore, at post-intervention, participants were asked to rate the helpfulness of each e-card (very helpful, helpful, neither helpful nor unhelpful, unhelpful, or did not read).

Statistical Methods

Demographic characteristics were compared using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and tests of association (chi-square). Three sets of analyses were conducted: (1) an analysis of differences between the three conditions within the low distress group, (2) an analysis of differences between the three conditions within the high distress group, and (3) an analysis of differences between the high distress group and the low distress group.

Formal help-seeking behavior and informal help-seeking behavior were examined using logistic regression. Predictor variables were condition, distress group, and interaction of condition and distress group. Participants who did not respond to the post-intervention questionnaire were presumed not to have sought help. Ordinal repeated measure outcomes were analyzed using linear mixed models in SPSS 15.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA), and nominal repeated measure outcomes were analyzed using mixed logit models in Stata 10 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA). The analyses examined for main effects of condition, wave (pre-intervention vs post-intervention), and distress group; two-way interaction effect of condition and wave; and three-way interaction effect of condition, wave, and distress group. The major significant effect sought was an interaction of condition and wave that would indicate the effect of condition over time in increasing help-seeking intentions, beliefs about help seeking, ability to recognize depression, and help-seeking knowledge and in decreasing symptoms of depression. The interaction between distress group and condition was also of potential interest (whether the intervention was more useful for those with high levels of distress compared to those with low levels of distress). However, the three-way interaction between condition, wave, and distress group was not significantly associated with any of the outcomes, nor was the interaction between distress group and condition. Consequently, the final models included only the main effects and the interaction effect of condition and wave. All effects were tested at the P < .05 level.

Power Analysis

Target sample size was determined using GP attendance data previously analyzed by Parslow et al [34] from which a baseline consultation rate of 15% over the 6 weeks of the study was estimated. Consultation rates of between 10% and 20% arising from the invention were deemed possible. To maintain power at 80%, we sought to recruit 80 high distress participants into each arm of the trial. This sample would have comparable power to detect moderate-sized differences (less than .5 standard deviations) between control and active arms for secondary outcomes measured on continuous scales. Accordingly, the same target was set for the low distress group.

Results

The post-intervention response rate was 85.6% (298/348). Demographic characteristics are presented in Table 1. A preliminary analysis of the effect of condition on outcome variables revealed no significant differences between the two active arms (basic and enhanced), so these were combined into a single "depression information" condition for subsequent analyses.



Table 1. Demographic characteristics^{a,b}

Costin et al

	Low Distress Group			High Distress Group		
	Control	Basic	Enhanced	Control	Basic	Enhanced
	(n = 65)	(n = 63)	(n = 70)	(n = 52)	(n = 51)	(n = 47)
Age, years, mean (SD)	21.6 (1.6)	21.6 (1.4)	21.3 (1.4)	21.4 (1.5)	21.1 (1.3)	21.4 (1.6)
Sex						
Male	19 (29.2)	16 (25.4)	21 (30.0)	8 (15.4)	11 (21.6)	3 (6.4)
Female ^c	46 (70.8)	47 (74.6)	49 (70.0)	44 (87.6)	40 (78.4)	44 (93.6)
Highest level of education completed						
Less than year 12	1 (1.54)	4 (6.35)	4 (5.71)	5 (9.62)	4 (7.84)	3 (6.38)
Year 12 ^c	22 (33.8)	24 (38.1)	23 (32.9)	20 (38.5)	30 (58.8)	25 (53.2)
Year 12+ (certificate I-IV or diploma)	21 (32.3)	15 (23.8)	21 (30.0)	14 (26.9)	12 (23.5)	10 (21.3)
Bachelor degree or higher ^c	21 (32.3)	20 (31.7)	22 (31.4)	13 (25.0)	5 (9.8)	9 (19.1)
Highest current studies						
Not studying ^c	26 (40.0)	20 (31.7)	30 (42.9)	9 (17.3)	12 (23.5)	12 (25.5)
Higher secondary certificate	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.9)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.1)
Certificate I-IV or diploma ^c	7 (10.8)	6 (9.5)	5 (7.1)	9 (17.3)	9 (17.6)	8 (17.0)
Bachelor degree or higher	32 (49.2)	37 (58.7)	34 (48.6)	33 (63.5)	29 (56.9)	26 (55.3)
Employment status						
Employed full-time	28 (43.1)	24 (38.1)	31 (44.3)	21 (40.4)	14 (27.5)	14 (29.8)
Employed part-time/casual	25 (38.5)	27 (42.9)	29 (41.4)	26 (50.0)	29 (56.9)	23 (48.9)
Not currently employed	12 (18.5)	12 (19.0)	10 (14.3)	5 (9.6)	8 (15.7)	10 (21.3)
Demographic rating						
Metropolitan	38 (58.5)	35 (56.5)	38 (55.1)	29 (55.8)	26 (51.0)	20 (42.6)
Provincial	17 (26.2)	17 (27.4)	19 (27.5)	19 (36.5)	16 (31.4)	14 (29.8)
Rural	10 (15.4)	10 (16.1)	12 (17.4)	4 (7.7)	9 (17.6)	13 (27.7)
Previous help-seeking for depression						
Previously ^c sought help	18 (27.7)	14 (22.2)	15 (21.4)	26 (50.0)	29 (56.9)	28 (59.6)
Rated helpfulness of the visits, mean (SD)	2 (0.7)	1.4 (0.9)	2.3 (1.4)	2 (0.9)	2.6 (1.5)	1.9 (0.8)
Currently receiving care for depression from GP or mental health professional ^c	4 (6.2)	1 (1.6)	3 (4.3)	11 (21.2)	12 (23.5)	10 (21.3)
Score on K10, mean (SD) ^c	16.1 (2.7)	15.5 (3.3)	15.6 (2.8)	27.0 (5.0)	26.9 (4.5)	27.3 (4.8)
Score on CES-D, mean (SD) ^c	10.2 (6.2)	10.2 (6.8)	10.0 (9.4)	21.8 (9.3)	22.4(10.0)	22.6 (9.8)
Post-intervention response rates						
Did not submit questionnaire	6 (9.2)	6 (9.7)	12 (17.1)	7 (13.5)	10 (19.6)	8 (17.0)
Completed questionnaire	59 (90.8)	56 (90.3)	58 (82.9)	45 (86.5)	41 (80.4)	39 (83.0)

^a All values are number (%) unless otherwise indicated.

^b Not all participants completed all questions.

^c Significant difference between distress groups (but not between conditions).

Intervention Adherence

The embedded URL links that were emailed to participants ended with a unique identifier. This allowed us to track an

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e42/

XSL•FO RenderX individual's adherence to delivered materials by analysing the Web logs for each health e-card site. Of 348 participants, 320 (92%) visited at least one health e-card site, 167 (48%) visited all three sites, 102 (29.3%) visited two sites, 51 (14.7%) visited

one site, and 28 (8%) visited no sites. Intervention condition had no significant effect on the average number of sites visited by participants in the low distress group ($F_{1,196} = .037, P = .85$) or the high distress group ($F_{1,148} = .097, P = .76$).

Primary Outcome: Help-Seeking Behavior

Table 2 presents the percentage of participants in each condition who reported seeking help for depression at post-intervention. Based on a logistic regression model, the interaction between condition and distress group was not significantly associated with help seeking from formal sources (OR = 0.69, $\chi^2_1 = 0.15$, P = .69) or from informal sources (OR = 2.25, $\chi^2_1 = 2.83$, P = .09). Participants in the high distress group were more likely than participants in the low distress group to report help seeking from formal (OR = 6.67, $\chi^2_1 = 12.97$, P < .001) and informal sources (OR = 5.55, $\chi^2_1 = 34.10$, P < .001). There was no effect of the intervention on help seeking from formal (OR = 1.17, $\chi^2_1 = 0.14$, P = .70) or informal (OR = 0.86, $\chi^2_1 = 0.18$, P = .67) sources.

Table 2. Primary outcome: percentage of participants in each condition seeking help from formal and informal sources up to 6 weeks after the intervention

	No.	Help-Seeking Source		
		Formal	Informal	
High distress group				
Intervention	80	25.0%	75.0%	
Control	45	26.7%	66.7%	
Difference (95% CI)		-1.7%	8.3%	
		(-18.2% to 13.3%)	(-7.6% to 25.1%)	
Low distress group				
Intervention	114	4.4%	25.4%	
Control	59	3.4%	39.0%	
Difference (95% CI)		-1.0%	13.5%	
		(-7.0% to 7.5%)	(-0.8% to 28.1%)	

Secondary Outcomes

Changes in secondary outcomes are presented in Table 3 and discussed below.

Help-Seeking Intentions

The interaction between condition and wave was not significantly associated with help-seeking intentions. At post-intervention, participants in both conditions had higher intentions of seeking help for depression from a formal source ($t_{641} = 5.8$, P < .001). At pre- and post-intervention, the high distress group, relative to the low distress group, had higher informal help-seeking intentions ($t_{641} = 5.4$, P < .001).

Beliefs About the Efficacy of Formal Help Sources

At post-intervention, individuals in the depression information condition, relative to the control condition, were more likely to rate at least one health professional as helpful (z = 2.4, P = .02). At pre- and post-intervention, individuals in the high distress group, relative to the low distress group, were less likely to rate GPs (z = -2.5, P = .01) and counselors (z = -3.1, P = .002) as helpful.

Beliefs About the Efficacy of Informal Help Sources

The interaction between condition and wave was not significantly associated with beliefs about the efficacy of informal help sources. At pre- and post-intervention, individuals in the high distress group, relative to the low distress group, were less likely to rate friend (z = -2.7, P = .007), partner (z

RenderX

-3.3, P = .001), family member (z = -2.8, P = .005), or any informal source (z = -2.3, P = .02) as being helpful.

Beliefs About the Efficacy of Treatments

The interaction between condition and wave was not significantly associated with beliefs about the efficacy of treatments. At post-intervention, participants in both conditions were more likely to rate interpersonal psychotherapy as helpful (z = 2.0, P = .047).

Ability to Recognize Depression

The proportion of respondents correctly identifying the vignette as "depression" did not differ across conditions, distress groups, or waves. There was no interaction between condition and wave (z = 0.1, P = .92).

Help-Seeking Knowledge

The interaction between condition and wave was not significantly associated with help-seeking knowledge. At preand post-intervention, individuals in the depression information condition, relative to the control condition, indicated that they knew more about seeking help from GPs ($t_{641} = -2.3$, P = .02). Individuals in the high distress group, relative to the low distress group, indicated that they knew more about seeking help from GPs ($t_{641} = -2.2$, P = .03), clinical psychologists ($t_{641} = -2.5$, P = .046), and all health professionals (total score; $t_{641} = -2.5$, P = .01). Significant effects of wave were found for GPs ($t_{641} = -3.1$, P = .002), clinical psychologists ($t_{641} = -2.8$, P = .006), psychiatrists ($t_{641} = -3.0$, P = .003), and all professionals ($t_{641} = -2.8$, P = .006),

= -3.6, P < .001), indicating that participants in both conditions were more knowledgeable at post-intervention about seeking help from these sources.

Symptoms of Depression

Symptoms of depression did not differ between pre- and post-intervention ($t_{641} = 1.6$, P = .11). There was no interaction between condition and wave. As expected, individuals in the high distress group, relative to the low distress group, scored higher on the CES-D at both pre- and post-intervention ($t_{641} = -18.6$, P < .001). A subanalysis was conducted to determine whether the intervention reduced symptoms of depression among the high distress group. No significant effects or interactions were found.

Appeal of Depression Health e-Cards

Most (1598/1764, 90.6%) of the screening survey respondents selected "depression" when asked what type of health information they thought would be most helpful for inclusion in health e-cards aimed at young adults. Depression was the most frequently endorsed item.

At post-intervention, most participants rated the e-cards as "helpful" or "very helpful:" depression information condition: health e-card 1 (87.6%), health e-card 2 (83.0%), health e-card 3 (85.6%); control condition: health e-card 1 (90.4%), health e-card 2 (92.2%), health e-card 3 (91.0%).

Subsidiary Analysis

Of participants in the high distress group, 22% were already receiving care for depression at baseline, and a high proportion of participants in both groups had previously sought help for depression from a health professional (24% of participants in the low distress group and 53% in the high distress group). To address this, the analysis of help-seeking behavior was repeated twice, first with the exclusion of participants who were receiving treatment for depression at baseline (n = 263), and then with the exclusion of this group as well as participants who had previously sought help for depression (n = 189). The results from both analyses were consistent with the primary analysis in that there was no significant effect of the intervention and the interaction between intervention condition and distress group was not significantly associated with formal or informal help seeking in either subgroup.

Table 3. Secondary outcomes^a

a .		
Costin	et	al

	Low Distr	ess Group			High Dist	ress Group		
	Control		Intervention	1	Control		Interventi	on
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
	(n = 65)	(n = 59)	(n = 133)	(n = 114)	(n = 52)	(n = 45)	(n = 98)	(n = 80)
Help-seeking intentions			•	•	-	·	-	
Formal help source, mean (SD) ^b	2.82	3.16	2.47	3.40	2.71	3.36	2.43	3.21
r · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(1.57)	(1.42)	(1.51)	(1.58)	(1.53)	(1.47)	(1.51)	(1.68)
Informal help source, mean (SD) ^c	4.86	4.86	4.83	4.79	3.58	4.54	3.98	4.42
-	(1.41)	(1.60)	(1.64)	(1.64)	(1.52)	(1.74)	(1.72)	(1.55)
Beliefs about formal help sources								
Rated GPs as helpful ^c	43	43	88	90	30	27	50	57
	(66.20)	(72.90)	(66.20)	(78.90)	(57.70)	(60.00)	(51.00)	(71.30)
Rated counselors as helpful ^c	54	51	102	101	37	34	61	62
	(83.10)	(86.40)	(76.70)	(88.60)	(71.20)	(75.60)	(62.20)	(77.50)
Rated clinical psychologists as helpful	41	41	98	83	36	28	66	62
	(63.10)	(95.50)	(73.70)	(72.80)	(69.20)	(62.20)	(67.30)	(77.50)
Rated psychiatrists as helpful	34	35	83	80	28	26	63	56
	(52.30)	(59.30)	(62.40)	(70.20)	(53.80)	(57.80)	(64.30)	(70.00)
Rated any formal source as helpful ^d	59	55	119	108	45	36	81	76
	(90.80)	(93.20)	(89.50)	(94.70)	(86.50)	(80.00)	(82.70)	(95.00)
Beliefs about informal help sources								
Rated friends as helpful ^c	59	56	110	90	40	32	71	64
	(90.80)	(94.90)	(82.70)	(78.90)	(76.90)	(71.10)	(72.40)	(80.00)
Rated partner rated as helpful ^c	59	93	119	95	34	34	73	70
	(90.80)	(55.00)	(90.20)	(83.30)	(66.70)	(75.60)	(74.50)	(87.50)
Rated family as helpful ^c	58	48	109	92	34	30	72	61
	(89.20)	(81.40)	(82.60)	(80.70)	(66.70)	(66.70)	(73.50)	(76.30)
Rated any informal source as helpful ^c	62 (05-40)	58	130	105	48	40	87	74
	(93.40)	(98.30)	(97.70)	(82.10)	(92.30)	(88.90)	(00.00)	(92.30)
Beliefs about treatments			<i></i>					-
Rated antidepressants as helpful	34	37	69 (51.00)	60 (52.60)	25	23	53	50
	(32.30)	(02.70)	(31.90)	(32.00)	(40.10)	(31.10)	(34.10)	(02.30)
Rated CB1 as helpful	30 (55.40)	34 (57.60)	60 (45.10)	64 (56.10)	24 (46 20)	(46.70)	44 (44 90)	47 (58.80)
	(33.40)	(37.00)	(43.10)	(30.10)	(40.20)	(40.70)	(11.50)	20
Rated IPT as helpful ⁶	(41.50)	51 (52,50)	(40.60)	(55.30)	(36,50)	(46.70)	40	(48,80)
Rated supportive counselling as helpful	56	51	113	101	(20.20)	35	86	67
Rated supportive counsening as helpful	(86.20)	(86.40)	(85.00)	(88.60)	(86.50)	(77.80)	(87.80)	(83.80)
Ability to recognize depression	· · /	· · /	· · ·	· · ·	· /	~ /	~ /	· · /
Endorsed problem in vignette as depres-	63	53	121	101	47	44	91	76
sion	(96.90)	(89.80)	(91.00)	(88.60)	(90.40)	(97.80)	(92.90)	(72.50)
Perceived knowledge of help-seeking pro	cess	· · /	· · ·	· · ·	· /	~ /	~ /	· · /
	27.52	31.07	27.98	32.28	29.21	30.36	31.54	34.14
All nealth professionals, mean (SD)	(11.17)	(10.35)	(10.71)	(9.38)	(11.29)	(11.21)	(9.52)	(8.94)
CBc mean (SD) ^{b,c,e}	8.32	9.14	8.58	9.50	8.37	8.84	9.48	9.99
Gr s, mean (GD)	(2.98)	(2.48)	(2.67)	(2.05)	(2.84)	(2.69)	(2.40)	(2.05)

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e42/

XSL•FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2009 | vol. 11 | iss. 4 |e42 | p.22 (page number not for citation purposes)

	Low Distress Group			High Distress Group					
	Control		Interventior	Intervention C		Control		Intervention	
	Pre	Post	Pre Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post		
	(n = 65)	(n = 59)	(n = 133)	(n = 114)	(n = 52)	(n = 45)	(n = 98)	(n = 80)	
Counselors, mean (SD)	7.88	8.75	8.25	8.94	8.46	8.60	9.06	9.29	
	(2.79)	(2.61)	(2.73)	(2.61)	(2.97)	(2.57)	(2.82)	(2.50)	
Clinical psychologists, mean (SD) ^{b,c}	5.72	6.66	5.92	6.99	6.42	6.73	6.61	7.79	
	(3.46)	(3.30)	(3.47)	(3.29)	(3.53)	(3.73)	(3.46)	(3.15)	
Psychiatrists, mean (SD) ^b	5.60	6.53	5.69	6.85	5.96	6.18	6.39	7.08	
	(3.33)	(3.36)	(3.15)	(3.01)	(3.25)	(3.54)	(3.14)	(2.88)	
Symptoms of depression									
CES-D score, mean (SD) ^c	10.2	9.4	10.09	7.95	21.83	21.56	22.51	22.26	
	(6.22)	(7.15)	(8.26)	(6.79)	(9.27)	(10.73)	(9.87)	(10.84)	

^a All values are number (%) unless otherwise indicated.

^b Significant effect of wave.

^c Significant effect of distress group.

^d Significant interaction of condition and wave.

^e Significant effect of condition.

Discussion

This study used a randomized controlled trial to evaluate health e-cards as a means of encouraging help seeking for depression among young adults. We found no significant differences between the two depression information interventions. Neither of these interventions was more effective than a control condition in increasing formal help-seeking behavior or intentions, or in improving beliefs about depression treatments, recognition of depression, knowledge of the help-seeking process, or depressive symptoms, but they were associated with more positive beliefs about formal help sources. At post-intervention, participants in the two active arms and the control condition reported higher intentions of seeking help for depression from a GP or mental health professional, were more likely to rate interpersonal therapy as being helpful, and also reported being more knowledgeable about the help-seeking process. Depression information had no significant effect on informal help-seeking behavior, intentions, or beliefs.

Strengths and Limitations

This study is one of few to have used a randomized controlled trial to evaluate the effectiveness of depression information interventions for increasing help-seeking behavior [5-7] and the first to use an e-card modality for delivering the intervention. The study had several strengths in its design: the inclusion of a group of individuals experiencing high levels of distress who could be considered in need of help, comparison of the depression information intervention to a control condition that did not provide information about depression, presentation of the trial as a health and well-being study rather than a depression study, and the use of Web logs to objectively track individuals' adherence to delivered materials rather than relying on self-report methods.

The principal limitation of the study is that recruitment rates were low. A further limitation is that the recruitment

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e42/

methodology is likely to have selected for participants with a heightened interest in the research topic and willingness to participate (a problem that is pandemic to most public health trials attempting to ascertain participants from a representative community catchment). As a consequence, results may not be generalizable to the whole population of young adults.

Another possible limitation of the study is that the follow-up period of 3 weeks post-intervention may not have been a sufficient amount of time to capture subsequent changes in actual help-seeking behavior. Even if an individual is willing to seek help for depression, other factors such as availability of appropriate help sources can delay help seeking [12]. Ideally, the study would have included a second follow-up questionnaire that assessed outcome changes over a longer period of time (eg, 3 months).

A high proportion of individuals in the high distress group reported at baseline that they were currently receiving care for depression from a GP or mental health professional and/or had previously sought help for depression. This is a potential problem since a help-seeking intervention is unlikely to increase help seeking in those already in treatment or in those already with experience of health services. To address this potential weakness, a subsidiary analysis of help-seeking behavior was conducted with these individuals excluded. The findings remained unchanged with this group removed. The results from this analysis should, however, be interpreted as exploratory due to the low participant numbers and increased risk of type 2 error.

Implications of the Study

The analysis of the effect of condition on help-seeking behavior revealed no significant differences between the basic and enhanced conditions, or between the combined depression information condition and control condition. This may be attributable to the smaller than planned sample, which reduced power. However, the confidence intervals of the nonsignificant

XSL•FO RenderX

difference between the depression information intervention and control arms imply the maximum possible effect is unlikely to exceed 13% for formal sources and 25% for informal sources in the high distress group. Given that professional help of some sort is indicated for this group, there is a need to refine and further develop these brief interventions with a view to increasing their potential effectiveness before conducting a larger trial.

An idea for improving the effectiveness of health e-cards would be to modify their content to describe help seeking for mental health problems in general, rather than just depression. In Australia, anxiety disorders are more prevalent among young adults than affective disorders [1], and given this study's use of the K10 as a screening instrument rather than a more specific measure of depression, it is reasonable to assume that some participants in the high distress group might have been experiencing anxiety in addition to, or, rather than, depression. The intervention's focus on depression might have caused these participants to feel that the information and questions about help seeking for depression were not relevant to them, reducing the effectiveness of the e-cards in improving help seeking.

As they stand, the study's findings are consistent with previous randomized controlled trials that have also failed to demonstrate increased help seeking from health professionals following depression information interventions [5-7]. We did, however, find a significant effect of occasion of measurement (post-test versus pre-test) on formal help-seeking *intentions* in all conditions. At post-intervention, participants in both the depression information and control conditions were more likely to report higher intentions of seeking help for depression from a GP or mental health professional. This finding may suggest that the act of making contact with young adults and involving them in an intervention may have been more influential in

modifying help-seeking intentions than the informational content provided in the intervention. Although the contact was automated and personalization was minimal, some participants may have felt a connection with the researcher and, as a result, formed more positive attitudes about seeking help from other health professionals in the future. An alternate explanation is that the completion of survey questions about health and well-being led some participants to become more aware of problems they might have been experiencing and influenced their perceived need for help. Participants in both conditions spent a considerable amount of time attending to questions about general health topics and depression. Parslow et al [34] have previously found that participants' use of GP services increased in the 3-month period after participating in a community-based epidemiological health survey. A major limitation to either of these interpretations is the lack of a wait list or nonintervention control. Without these, we can not rule out the possibility that a lapse of time alone yielded greater help-seeking intentions.

Conclusions

There is a need to identify interventions that increase help seeking for depression among young adults. This study failed to find evidence that providing depression information in the form of brief e-cards encourages such help seeking. Further research is required to investigate potential variables that might be critical in facilitating help seeking and in redesigning the content of the e-cards. It may be significant that involvement in the study was associated with increased help-seeking intentions among participants in all conditions. This suggests that mechanisms other than depression information in brief interventions may increase help seeking, but further investigation is required to explore this possibility and identify the nature of such mechanisms.

Acknowledgments

This research was partially supported by NHMRC Fellowships 425411 and 425413 awarded to HC and KG, respectively. PB is supported by NHMRC Capacity Building Grant 418020.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix

Emails sent to participants in each condition with embedded URLs to health e-card websites

[PDF file (Adobe PDF), 40 KB - jmir_v11i4e42_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. ; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). Young Australians: Their health and wellbeing 2007. Cat. no. PHE 87. AIHW: Canberra, Australia; 2007.
- Wright A, Harris MG, Wiggers JH, Jorm AF, Cotton SM, Harrigan SM, et al. Recognition of depression and psychosis by young Australians and their beliefs about treatment. Med J Aust 2005 Jul 4;183(1):18-23 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15992332]
- 3. Jorm AF, Wright A, Morgan AJ. Beliefs about appropriate first aid for young people with mental disorders: findings from an Australian national survey of youth and parents. Early Interv Psychiatry 2007;1(1):61-70. [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2007.00012.x]

- 4. Jorm AF, Wright A, Morgan AJ. Where to seek help for a mental disorder? National survey of the beliefs of Australian youth and their parents. Med J Aust 2007 Nov 19;187(10):556-560 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18021042</u>]
- Jorm AF, Griffiths KM, Christensen H, Korten AE, Parslow RA, Rodgers B. Providing information about the effectiveness of treatment options to depressed people in the community: a randomized controlled trial of effects on mental health literacy, help-seeking and symptoms. Psychol Med 2003 Aug;33(6):1071-1079. [Medline: <u>12946091</u>] [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291703008079</u>]
- Christensen H, Leach LS, Barney L, Mackinnon AJ, Griffiths KM. The effect of web based depression interventions on self reported help seeking: randomised controlled trial [ISRCTN77824516]. BMC Psychiatry 2006;6(1):13 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16595018</u>] [doi: <u>10.1186/1471-244X-6-13</u>]
- 7. Sharp W, Hargrove DS, Johnson L, Deal WP. Mental health education: an evaluation of a classroom based strategy to modify help seeking for mental health problems. J Coll Stud Dev 2006;47(4):419-438. [doi: 10.1353/csd.2006.0051]
- Gomaa WH, Morrow T, Muntendam P. Technology-based disease management: A low-cost, high-value solution for the management of chronic disease. Dis Manage Health Outcomes 2001;9(10):577-588. [doi: 10.2165/00115677-200109100-00006]
- 9. ; Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). Australian Social Trends, 2008. Internet access at home. Cat. no. 4102.0. ABS: Canberra, Australia; 2008.
- 10. O'Kearney R, Kang K, Christensen H, Griffiths K. A controlled trial of a school-based Internet program for reducing depressive symptoms in adolescent girls. Depress Anxiety 2009;26(1):65-72. [Medline: <u>18828141</u>] [doi: <u>10.1002/da.20507</u>]
- Carter GL, Clover K, Whyte IM, Dawson AH, D'Este C. Postcards from the EDge project: randomised controlled trial of an intervention using postcards to reduce repetition of hospital treated deliberate self poisoning. BMJ 2005 Oct 8;331(7520):805 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16183654</u>] [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.38579.455266.E0</u>]
- 12. Rickwood DJ, Deane FP, Wilson DJ, Ciarrochi J. Young people's help-seeking for mental health problems. Aust e-Journal Adv Ment Health 2005;4(3 Suppl).
- 13. Thompson A, Hunt C, Issakidis C. Why wait? Reasons for delay and prompts to seek help for mental health problems in an Australian clinical sample. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2004 Oct;39(10):810-817. [Medline: <u>15669662</u>]
- 14. Bayer JK, Peay MY. Predicting intentions to seek help from professional mental health services. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 1997 Aug;31(4):504-513. [Medline: <u>9272260</u>] [doi: <u>10.3109/00048679709065072</u>]
- 15. Wilson CJ, Rickwood D, Ciarrochi J, Deane FP. Adolescent barriers to seeking professional psychological help for personal-emotional and suicidal problems. In: Conference Proceedings of the 9th Annual Conference for Suicide Prevention Australia. 2002 Presented at: 9th Annual Conference for Suicide Prevention Australia; June 2002; Sydney, Australia URL: http://www.uow.edu.au/content/groups/public/@web/@health/documents/doc/uow025399.pdf [WebCite Cache ID SiwjfQeUm]
- 16. Wilson CJ, Deane FP. Adolescent opinions about reducing help seeking barriers and increasing appropriate help engagement. J Educ Psychol Consult 2001;12(4):345-364. [doi: 10.1207/S1532768XJEPC1204_03]
- 17. Andrews G, Slade T. Interpreting scores on the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10). Aust N Z J Public Health 2001 Dec;25(6):494-497. [Medline: <u>11824981</u>] [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-842X.2001.tb00310.x</u>]
- 18. Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. J Appl Psychol Meas 1977;1(3):385-401. [doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306]
- 19. Miller WR, Rollnick S. Motivational Interviewing: Preparing People for Change. 2nd edition. New York: The Guilford Press; 2002.
- 20. Gloaguen V, Cottraux J, Cucherat M, Blackburn IM. A meta-analysis of the effects of cognitive therapy in depressed patients. J Affect Disord 1998 Apr;49(1):59-72. [Medline: 9574861] [doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(97)00199-7]
- 21. Churchill R, Dewey M, Gretton V, Duggan C, Chilvers C, Lee A. Should general practitioners refer patients with major depression to counsellors? A review of current published evidence. Nottingham Counselling and Antidepressants in Primary Care (CAPC) Study Group. Br J Gen Pract 1999 Sep;49(446):738-743 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10756620]
- 22. Williams JW, Mulrow CD, Chiquette E, Noël PH, Aguilar C, Cornell J. A systematic review of newer pharmacotherapies for depression in adults: evidence report summary. Ann Intern Med 2000 May 2;132(9):743-756 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10787370]
- 23. Churchill R, Hunot V, Corney R, Knapp M, McGuire H, Tylee A, et al. A systematic review of controlled trials of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of brief psychological treatments for depression. Health Technol Assess 2001;5(35):1-173 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12387733]
- 24. Ellis PM, Smith DAR. Treating depression: the beyondblue guidelines for treating depression in primary care. "Not so much what you do but that you keep doing it". Med J Aust 2002 May 20;176 Suppl:S77-S83 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12065002]
- 25. The Australian Psychological Society. About psychologists URL: <u>http://www.psychology.org.au/community/about/</u>[accessed 2006-11-26] [WebCite Cache ID 5k2HmHo7k]
- 26. ; Communicable Diseases Network Australia. Guidelines for the Early Clinical and Public Health Management of Meningococcal Disease in Australia. Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care: Canberra, Australia; 2001.

- 27. ; Communicable Diseases Network Australia. Changes to the management of meningococcal disease in Australia. Commun Dis Intell 2004;28(2):278-279. [Medline: <u>15460972</u>]
- 28. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Where's your head at? (National Drugs Campaign). Get the facts: Speed (Aphetamines) URL: <u>http://www.drugs.health.gov.au/internet/drugs/publishing.nsf/Content/fact_speed</u> [accessed 2009-09-29] [WebCite Cache ID 5k4EOXeh6]
- 29. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. Where's your head at? (National Drugs Campaign). Get the facts: GHB URL: <u>http://www.drugs.health.gov.au/internet/drugs/publishing.nsf/Content/fact_ghb</u> [accessed 2009-09-29] [WebCite Cache ID 5k4ERISKE]
- 30. Wilson CJ, Deane FP, Ciarrochi J, Rickwood D. Measuring help-seeking intentions: Properties of the General Help-Seeking Questionnaire. Can J Couns 2005;39:15-28.
- 31. Deane FP, Wilson CJ. Considerations for specifying problem-types, help-sources and scoring the General Help-seeking Questionnaire (GHSQ). 2007. URL: <u>http://www.uow.edu.au/content/groups/public/@web/@health/documents/doc/uow039041.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 5hOaNux4b]</u>
- 32. Jorm AF, Korten AE, Jacomb PA, Christensen H, Rodgers B, Pollitt P. "Mental health literacy": a survey of the public's ability to recognise mental disorders and their beliefs about the effectiveness of treatment. Med J Aust 1997 Feb 17;166(4):182-186 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9066546]
- Jorm AF, Nakane Y, Christensen H, Yoshioka K, Griffiths KM, Wata Y. Public beliefs about treatment and outcome of mental disorders: a comparison of Australia and Japan. BMC Med 2005;3(1):12 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16004615</u>] [doi: <u>10.1186/1741-7015-3-12</u>]
- Parslow RA, Jorm AF, Christensen H, Rodgers B. Use of medical services after participation in a community-based epidemiological health survey. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2004 Apr;39(4):311-317. [Medline: <u>15085334</u>] [doi: <u>10.1007/s00127-004-0747-3</u>]

Abbreviations

AHSQ: Actual Help Seeking Questionnaire
CES-D: Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale
GHSQ: General Help Seeking Questionnaire
GP: general practitioner
K10: Kessler Psychological Distress Scale

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.07.09; peer-reviewed by D Ford, J Walker; comments to author 28.07.09; revised version received 15.08.09; accepted 27.08.09; published 22.10.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Costin DL, Mackinnon AJ, Griffiths KM, Batterham PJ, Bennett AJ, Bennett K, Christensen H Health e-Cards as a Means of Encouraging Help Seeking for Depression Among Young Adults: Randomized Controlled Trial J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e42 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e42/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/jmir.1294</u> PMID:<u>19850549</u>

© Daniel L Costin, Andrew J Mackinnon, Kathleen M Griffiths, Philip J Batterham, Anthony J Bennett, Kylie Bennett, Helen Christensen. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 22.10.2009. This is an article distributed under the of the Creative Commons open-access terms Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Internet Use and Self-Rated Health Among Older People: A National Survey

Enrique Gracia¹, PhD; Juan Herrero², PhD

¹University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain ²University of Oviedo, Oviedo, Spain

Corresponding Author:

Enrique Gracia, PhD Departamento de Psicología Social, Facultad de Psicología Universidad de Valencia Avda Blasco Ibañez, 21 46010 Valencia Spain Phone: +34 96 386 45 73 Fax: +34 96 386 46 68 Email: <u>enrique.gracia@uv.es</u>

Abstract

Background: Older people are among the segments of the population for which the digital divide is most persistent and are considered to be at risk of losing out on the potential benefits that the information society can provide to their quality of life. Little attention has been paid, however, to relationships between Internet use and actual indicators of health among older people.

Objective: The aim of this study was to examine the association between Internet use and self-rated health among older people and determine whether this association holds independently of socioeconomic position.

Methods: Data were from a survey about the digital divide and quality of life among older people in Spain that was conducted in 2008. The final sample consisted of 709 individuals and was representative of the Spanish adult population in terms of Internet use and sex across two age groups (55-64 and 65-74 years). Multivariate logistic regression analyses were performed to assess the relationship between Internet use and self-rated health.

Results: Results initially showed a significant relationship between Internet use and poor self-rated health (Model 1, OR = 0.32, 95% CI 0.16-0.67, P = .002), suggesting that Internet users have better self-rated health than nonusers. This effect remained significant when other sociodemographic variables were entered into the equation (Model 2, OR = 0.39, 95% CI 0.18-0.83, P = .01; Model 3, OR = 0.41, 95% CI 0.19-0.87, P = .02). However, the significant relationship between Internet use and self-rated health disappeared once social class was considered (Model 4, OR = 0.61, 95% CI 0.27-1.37, P = .23).

Conclusions: This study suggests that the use of the Internet is not a significant determinant of health among older people once the socioeconomic position of individuals is taken into account.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e49) doi: 10.2196/jmir.1311

KEYWORDS

Aged; computers; health; Internet; social class; socioeconomic status

Introduction

Older people are among the segments of the population with lower levels of Internet use—levels that decline sharply with advancing age [1-4]. For example, recent data from Europe indicate that 27% of people over age 54 and only 10% of people over 65 used the Internet, compared to 68% of those 16-24 [5].

The exclusion of older people from the information society is an issue of growing concern. For instance, the European

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e49/
```

RenderX

Commission is developing a highly proactive agenda to break the barriers that prevent the older generation from fully embracing the information society and to promote the digital inclusion of older people [6,7]. Behind these efforts lies the idea that access to the information society can have a significant impact on the well-being and quality of life of older people. Access and use of the information society would contribute toward active aging and advancing health into old age by, for example, helping older people overcome isolation and

loneliness, helping them keep in contact with family and friends by extending social networks, and facilitating the access and use of relevant information and services [3,7,8]. Little scholarly attention has been paid, however, to differences in health among older people who are users or nonusers of the Internet. This is an important issue to be examined given the efforts and investment that are being directed to promote e-inclusion among older people. For example, the European Commission i2010 Initiative on e-Inclusion acknowledges the persistent digital divide among older people, and it proposes to target this group of the population since they are considered at risk of losing out on potential benefits to their quality of life [6]. Efforts such as this should, however, be based on careful research rather than implicit assumptions [9,10].

The available research on the digital divide and health issues has focused mainly on access to health-related information [11-15]. Research has also examined how variables such as health status, age, sex, education, and income influence Internet use for health purposes [16-18]. On the other hand, as Dickinson and Gregor [9] showed in their review, the literature that claims that computer and Internet use has a positive effect on the well-being of older people is based on a few studies that do not support that claim. Most of the studies reviewed by Dickinson and Gregor were "intervention" studies with training programs to use computers and the Internet [19,20]. However, the problem with this research is that the effects of computer use, the effects of training, as well as the effects of the context in which computers are used tend to be confounded. Similar problems can be found in more recent studies that claim that Internet training and use contribute to older adults' well-being [21]. As Dickinson and Gregor noted [9], the improvements reported in these studies may be attributable to the training programs and the social interaction with other learners rather than to computer and Internet use. Other studies reviewed by Dickinson and Gregor, both correlational [22] and qualitative [23], suffered from important limitations (ie, misattribution of causality and inappropriate generalization of results) that question their claims that computer use improves the well-being of older adults. For example, the association reported in some studies between Internet use and health among older people does not indicate the direction of this relationship (ie, people who use the Internet may be healthier, but it is also possible that healthier people are more likely to use the Internet). More recent studies also suffer from selection bias that makes the generalization of results difficult [17,24].

Clearly, more research is needed to explore the relationship between the digital divide and actual indicators of health among older people. The research question we posit is, therefore, whether the digital divide can be considered as a significant determinant of health among older people. The digital divide has often been defined as the split between the "haves" and "have-nots" (or between users and nonusers of new media) [25-27]. This definition has been expanded, however, to include the various dimensions along which inequalities in the digital age may occur [25-28]. Thus, DiMaggio et al [29] refer to the digital divide as the "inequalities in access to the Internet, extent of use, knowledge of search strategies, quality of technical connections and social support, ability to evaluate the quality

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e49/
```

XSI•FC

of information, and diversity of uses" (p. 310). For our purposes, we define the digital divide among older people in terms of Internet users and nonusers.

To our knowledge, this is the first study examining relationships between Internet use and self-rated health among older people using representative samples of Internet users and nonusers from the general population. In this paper we will examine whether Internet use among older people is associated with self-rated health and whether this association holds beyond the socioeconomic position of individuals (ie, the "social divide"), a major social determinant of health [30-37]. It has been suggested that, in addition to age, income and education are two of the most important barriers to Internet use [38-41]. Thus, the inequalities associated with the socioeconomic position of individuals in society are also related to the digital divide [16]. It is possible, therefore, that potential relationships between Internet use and health might be reflecting the relationship between socioeconomic position (a major determinant of access and use of the Internet) and health rather than reflecting benefits of Internet use by itself [3]. This being the case, the relationship between the digital divide and health among older people would be just a reflection of already existing socioeconomic inequalities in health, that is, a reflection of the relationship between the social divide and health.

To disentangle these relationships, we analyzed the association between Internet use and self-rated health, comparing users and nonusers of the Internet between 55 and 74 years of age, taking into account the socioeconomic position of individuals as well as other potential sociodemographic correlates of health: sex, age, marital status, and area of residence.

Methods

Study Sample

We used data from a survey about the digital divide and quality of life among older people in Spain conducted in 2008. In Spain, the National Statistics Institute has calculated that, in 2008, there were 1,226,000 Internet users between 55 and 64 years and that this number decreases sharply to 302,000 users between 65 and 74 years [42]. In percentages, 24.4% and 7.9% of people 55-64 and 65-74 years, respectively, had used Internet in the last 3 months. This is 17.3% of the Spanish population between 55 and 74 years. To ensure adequate statistical inference was possible, Internet users were oversampled in the original survey. To do so, the survey takes advantage of two sampling methods to locate eligible participants. Internet nonusers 55-74 years were contacted via random digit dialing and screened about their use of the Internet in the last 3 months. Eligible participants (those not having used the Internet in the last 3 months or more) interviewed about their health were status using computer-assisted telephone interviewing. Response rate for eligible participants (55-74 years) was 60%.

Internet users were sampled from an online research panel of more than 50,000 Spanish Internet users. The recruitment of panel members is based on sociodemographic variables as well as Internet behavior, leading to a high rate of representation of the population of Spanish Internet users. This panel is

maintained only for research purposes, with constant recruitment of new members. To exert a tight control of potential sampling bias, eligible participants were selected and invited to participate in the study (targeted advertising), applying quotas of sex, age, size of locality, and education level to match official data [42]. A link to a website containing the online questionnaire and a random identification code were sent to eligible participants by email. The online questionnaire was identical to the telephone interview. This recruiting technique, known as invited participation, allows the researcher to verify that each participant is engaged in the study on one occasion only, and, when combined with targeted advertising, control over sampling is maximized [43,44]. Online participants were given small incentives for completing the questionnaire; no incentive was given to telephone interview participants. Average time to complete the questionnaire was 9 minutes. Once the questionnaire was completed, participants no longer had access to the online survey. Only completed questionnaires were included in the dataset. The response rate, calculated as the ratio between completed questionnaires and emails sent, was 50%. The final sample of Internet users showed only very small deviations from the target population. Small corrections were made in this sample to represent the population of Internet users. For example, 49.6% of those sampled lived in a big city (or surroundings), while the figure in the target population was 49%. For sex, we surveyed 68.4% of men compared to a target of 70%. In all of the remaining categories, the deviations were also very small. According to our data, it seemed that Internet users were self-selected almost completely at random.

The final sample consisted of 709 Spanish individuals between 55 and 74 years and was finally balanced to represent the Spanish population 55-74 years in terms of Internet use and sex across two age groups (55-64 and 65-74 years). Sampling error was \pm 3.7% for a 95% confidence interval.

Outcome Variable

Subjects were asked to rate their health in general on a 5-point scale, ranging from "very good" to "very bad." We used the categories that fell below "good" health as an indicator for self-rated poor health. This single-item measure of self-rated health is an extensively used measure of health with strong relations with outcomes such as mortality, morbidity, and physical and mental health status across groups with different sociodemographic characteristics, and it has been considered as a valid measure of health [45-48].

Predictors

Internet use refers to Internet user status (coded as 1 = nonuser, 2 = user) rather than the type of Internet use (ie, frequency). We assigned the status of "user" to those participants who had been connected at least once in the last 3 months. All the remaining participants were considered nonusers. Sex was coded as 1 = male, 2 = female. Age was coded into two groups: 1 = 55-64 years, 2 = 65-74 years. Marital status was coded as 1 = never married, 2 = married/living with partner, 3 = separated/divorced, 4 = widowed. Area of residence was coded as 1 = a country village or farm in the countryside, 2 = a town or small city, and 3 = a big city or the suburbs or outskirts of a big city. These last two were treated as categorical variables in the analyses.

To measure the socioeconomic position of participants, we used an indicator of social class that derives from the cross-classification of occupation and educational attainment of the head of family (main income earner). This cross-classification is a standard for media studies in Spain and provides five different social classes (high, medium-high, medium, medium-low, and low) by combining head of family education level and occupation (or last occupation) [49]. Given that education level and occupation were used for the computation of social class, this information was not used separately in the statistical analysis, to avoid multicollinearity.

Analytical Strategy

For the analysis of the data, we used multivariate binomial logistic regression to estimate the odds ratios of being in the self-rated poor health category. We estimated four regression equations (models) in a nested fashion. The first equation (Model 1) tested whether there was any association between Internet use and health. Model 2 adds sociodemographic covariates (sex, age, and marital status) to equation 1. In Model 3, we included area of residence. Finally, in Model 4, we included social class as a covariate to estimate the effect of Internet use on health, controlling for socioeconomic effects. Odds ratios, 95% confidence intervals, deviation statistics, and chi-square values were calculated for each model.

Results

Table 1 presents descriptive statistics of the study participants.



Table 1. Descriptive statistics of study participants

Variable	No.	%
Sex		
Female	370	52.2
Age		
65-74 years	307	43.3
Marital status		
Never married	22	3.2
Married/living with partner	564	79.6
Separated/divorced	47	6.6
Widowed	76	10.6
Area of residence		
Country village or farm	296	41.8
Town or small city	145	20.4
Big city or surroundings	268	37.8
Social class		
High	57	8.1
Medium-high	65	9.2
Medium	186	26.3
Medium-low	251	35.5
Low	149	21.0
Internet use		
User	123	17.3
Self-rated health		
Poor	119	16.8

 Table 2 summarizes the covariates of self-rated poor health

 from the four binomial logistic regressions models.

Results for Model 1 show that Internet users have statistically significant lower odds of being in the poor health category as compared to nonusers. This result remained for Model 2 and Model 3 as well, indicating that the effect of Internet use on health was still present after taking into account sex, age, marital status (Model 2), and area of residence (Model 3). In the specific case of marital status, we further checked if the small size of the "never married" category was affecting the results. Results

remained the same whether we collapsed marital status into married vs other, or any other combination.

The inclusion of social class as a continuous covariate in Model 4, however, removed the statistical significance of the influence of Internet use on health that was observed in previous models (OR = 0.61, P = .23).

The only remaining significant covariate in Model 4 other than socioeconomic position was sex, indicating that women have 1.90 greater odds of being in the poor health category than men (P = .004), after adjusting for all other covariates of the study.



Gracia & Herrero

Table 2. Covariates of self-rated poor health from four binomial logistic regressions models

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
	OR (95% CI), P			
Internet user status				
Nonuser	1	1	1	1
User	0.32 (0.16-0.67), .002	0.39 (0.18-0.83), .01	0.41 (0.19-0.87), .02	0.61 (0.27-1.37), .23
Sex				
Male		1	1	1
Female		1.87 (1.22-2.89), .004	1.89 (1.23-2.91), .004	1.90 (1.23-2.92), .004
Age				
55-64 years		1	1	1
> 64 years		0.99 (0.65-1.45), .99	0.97 (0.64-1.47), .88	0.95 (0.63-1.45), .82
Marital status				
Never married		1	1	1
Married/living with partner		1.53 (0.41-5.74), .52	1.45 (0.39-5.46), .58	1.43 (0.38-5.42), .60
Separated/divorced		0.64 (0.23-3.32), .59	0.65 (0.12-3.38), .61	0.62 (0.26-3.27), .57
Widowed		0.69 (0.16-3.03), .62	0.66 (0.15-2.91), .58	0.61 (0.14-2.73), .52
Area of residence				
Country village or farm			1	1
Town or small city			0.72 (0.40-1.32), .29	0.82 (0.45-1.51), .53
Big city or surroundings			1.02 (0.66-1.60), .90	1.14 (0.73-1.80), .57
Social class				0.74 (0.59-0.92), .008
Constant	0.23, < .001	0.12, .002	0.13, .004	0.24, .05
χ^2 (df)	12.17 (1), < .001	25.84 (6), < .001	27.31 (8), < .001	34.82 (9), < .001
Model deviation ^a	630.02	616.35	614.89	607.37

^a Model deviation is measured as -2 log likelihood.

Discussion

This paper presents analyses from cross-sectional data exploring the potential association between Internet use and self-rated health among older people. Results initially showed a significant relationship between Internet use and self-rated health (Model 1), suggesting that Internet users have better self-rated health when than nonusers. This effect remained other sociodemographic variables (sex, age, marital status, and area of residence) were entered into the equation (Models 2 and 3). However, the significant relationship between Internet use and self-rated health disappeared once social class was considered (Model 4). Overall, these results suggest that there is no evidence supporting the idea that use of the Internet has a significant relationship with health for the older population once the socioeconomic position of individuals is taken into account.

The analysis of Internet users aged 55-74 years in relation to health issues is a strength of the study. Traditionally, little attention has been paid to Internet users in this age group. For instance, in Spain, little is known about this segment of the population beyond the fact that they constitute a rather small group. It has been suggested that access to and participation in

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e49/
```

XSL•FO RenderX the information society among older people will promote positive outcomes in health and well-being [3,6-9]. From this viewpoint, the digital divide would be a significant determinant of health for older people. And it appears to be so when the social position of individuals is ignored. Our results suggest, however, that the digital divide is not a source of health inequalities beyond already-existing socioeconomic inequalities of health. Therefore, the apparent relationship between the digital divide and health among older people appears to be a reflection of existing social inequalities in health. In other terms, Internet users can be healthier provided that they are wealthier. In this regard, our study further illustrates the association between socioeconomic position and heath indicators [30-37]. The socioeconomic gradient in health is a well-established finding in the literature that, even though it declines with age [45,46], extends to older people [34,47,50]. Furthermore, this socioeconomic gradient in health is observed regardless of whether socioeconomic status is measured by occupation, education, or income [35,37,47]. Our results also revealed gender differences in self-rated health that are in line with other studies reporting higher proportions of women rating their health as poor [33,50-54].

Limitations

The study has several limitations. First, we examined self-rated health (ie, perceptions of health in general) and did not include specific measures of mental health. Future research would benefit from including specific measures of physical and mental health. Second, recent research has shown how self-rated health responses, our outcome variable, might be biased in certain sociodemographic groups. For instance, Delpierre et al [32] have shown that the impact of health problems on self-rated health is stronger among better-educated individuals. This phenomenon could lead to an underestimate of the health inequalities across socioeconomic groups. In our study, social class behaved as a key determinant of health among Internet users and nonusers, and, according to Delpierre et al, we cannot be sure about the real difference in health. Future research focusing on other measures of health is clearly needed. Third, random sampling of Internet users was done according to official data about people 55-74 years who used the Internet in the last 3 months. This is a broad definition of an Internet user that might have an effect on the results of the study. Finally, some caution must be taken in generalizing our results. Our data refer to cohorts of older people (individuals born between 1934 and 1953) with relatively small exposure to the Internet and other

tools of the information society. It remains to be seen whether, for future cohorts of older people with greater exposure to the information society, the digital divide becomes a significant source of health inequalities. This is certainly an issue that deserves further research and consideration. In this context, future studies should also examine whether, among Internet users, those in higher socioeconomic groups would achieve better health outcomes through better information use and better use of the Internet.

Conclusions

In conclusion, results from this paper suggest that beyond the social divide, the digital divide does not add another source of health inequalities for older people. Older people are among the groups most excluded from the information society. Reducing the digital divide among older people has become a target for many policy initiatives since it is believed that the information society will provide benefits for the well-being of older people [9,10]. However, as the digital divide is also an expression of social inequalities, policies and initiatives aiming to reduce the digital divide, without reducing the social divide, may contribute to existing socioeconomic inequalities and may benefit those already advantaged.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Institute for Older People and Social Services of the Spanish Government (IMSERSO 126/2007).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. ; European Commission. i2010 European Information Society 2010. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities; 2005.
- 2. Community Survey on ICT Usage in Households and by Individuals. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities; 2004.
- 3. Hill R, Beynon-Davies P, Williams MD. Older people and Internet engagement: Acknowledging social moderators of internet adoption, access and use. Inform Technol People 2008;21(3):244-266. [doi: 10.1108/09593840810896019]
- 4. Demunter C. The digital divide in Europe. Statistics in Focus 2005;38:1-8.
- 5. ; European Commission. i2010 Annual Information Society Report 2007. [SEC(2007) 395]. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities; 2007.
- 6. Commission of the European Communities. 2010. "To Be Part of the Information Society". URL: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/</u> information_society/activities/einclusion/docs/i2010_initiative/comm_native_com_2007_0694_f_en_acte.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 5iGXVm4xl]
- 7. European Commission. 2006 Jun 11. Ministerial Declaration. Riga Declaration. URL: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/</u> events/ict_riga_2006/doc/declaration_riga.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 5iGXmjgCW]
- 8. ; European Commission. Measuring Progress in e-Inclusion. Riga Dashboard 2007. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities; 2007.
- 9. Dickinson A, Gregor P. Computer use has no demonstrated impact on the well-being of older adults. Int J Hum-Comput St 2006;64(8):744-753. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2006.03.001]
- Selwyn N, Gorard S, Furlong J, Madden L. Older adults' use of information and communications technology in everyday life. Ageing Soc 2003;23(5):561-571. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0144686X03001302</u>]
- Licciardone JC, Smith-Barbaro P, Coleridge ST. Use of the internet as a resource for consumer health information: results of the second osteopathic survey of health care in America (OSTEOSURV-II). J Med Internet Res 2001 Dec 26;3(4):E31 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11772546] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3.4.e31]

- 12. Brodie M, Flournoy RE, Altman DE, Blendon RJ, Benson JM, Rosenbaum MD. Health information, the Internet, and the digital divide.. Health Aff (Millwood) 2000;19:255-265. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.19.6.255]
- Hsu J, Huang J, Kinsman J, Fireman B, Miller R, Selby J, et al. Use of e-Health services between 1999 and 2002: a growing digital divide. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2005;12(2):164-171 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15561786</u>] [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M1672</u>]
- 14. Rains SA. Health at high speed: Broadband Internet access, health communication, and the digital divide. Commun Res 2008;35(3):283-297. [doi: 10.1177/0093650208315958]
- 15. Wagner TH, Bundorf MK, Singer SJ, Baker LC. Free internet access, the digital divide, and health information. Med Care 2005 Apr;43(4):415-420. [Medline: 15778645] [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000156857.14152.6e]
- 16. Cotten SR, Gupta SS. Characteristics of online and offline health information seekers and factors that discriminate between them. Soc Sci Med 2004 Nov;59(9):1795-1806. [Medline: <u>15312915</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.02.020</u>]
- 17. Drentea P, Goldner M, Cotton S, Hale T. The association among gender, computer use, and online health searching, and mental health. Inform Commun Soc 2008:509-525 [FREE Full text] [FREE Full text]
- Goldner M. Using the Internet and email for health purposes: The impact of health status. Soc Sci Q 2006;87(3):690-710.
 [doi: 10.1111/j.1540-6237.2006.00404.x]
- 19. McConatha D, McConatha JT, Dermigny R. The use of interactive computer services to enhance the quality of life for long-term care residents. Gerontologist 1994 Aug;34(4):553-556. [Medline: 7959116]
- 20. White H, McConnell E, Clipp E, Branch LG, Sloane R, Pieper C, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the psychosocial impact of providing internet training and access to older adults. Aging Ment Health 2002 Aug;6(3):213-221. [Medline: 12217089] [doi: 10.1080/13607860220142422]
- 21. Shapira N, Barak A, Gal I. Promoting older adults' well-being through Internet training and use. Aging Ment Health 2007:477-484 [FREE Full text]
- 22. Wright K. Computer-mediated social support, older adults, and coping. J Commun 2000;50(3):100-118. [doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2000.tb02855.x]
- 23. Blit-Cohen E, Litwin H. Elder participation in cyberspace: a qualitative analysis of Israeli retirees. J Aging Stud 2004;18(4):385-398. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaging.2004.06.007]
- 24. Lam L, Lam M. The use of information technology and mental health among older care-givers in Australia. Aging Ment Health 2009 Jul;13(4):557-562. [Medline: <u>19629780</u>] [doi: <u>10.1080/13607860802607306</u>]
- 25. DiMaggio P, Hargittai E. From the 'Digital Divide' to 'Digital Inequality': Studying Internet Use as Penetration Increases. Working Paper Series, 15. Princeton, NJ: Center for Arts and Cultural Policy Studies, Princeton University; 2001. URL: http://www.princeton.edu/~artspol/workpap/WP15%20-%20DiMaggio%2BHargittai.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 5jfLUNi6I]
- 26. Hargittai E. First Monday. 2002. (4) Second-level digital divide: Differences in people's online skills URL: <u>http://firstmonday.org/htbin/cgiwrap/bin/ojs/index.php/fm/article/view/942/864</u> [WebCite Cache ID 51EIYH3mC]
- 27. Hargittai E. Internet access and use in context. New Media Soc 2004;6(1):137-143. [doi: 10.1177/1461444804042310]
- 28. DiMaggio P, Hargittai E, Celeste C, Shafer S. Digital inequality: From unequal access to differentiated use. In: Neckerman K, editor. Social Inequality. New York: Russell Sage Foundation; 2004:355-400.
- 29. DiMaggio P, Hargittai E, Neuman WR, Robinson JP. Social implications of the Internet. Annu Rev Sociol 2001;27(1):307-336. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.307]
- 30. Borg V, Kristensen TS. Social class and self-rated health: can the gradient be explained by differences in life style or work environment? Soc Sci Med 2000 Oct;51(7):1019-1030. [Medline: <u>11005390</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00011-3</u>]
- Chandola T, Ferrie J, Sacker A, Marmot M. Social inequalities in self reported health in early old age: follow-up of prospective cohort study. BMJ 2007 May 12;334(7601):990 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17468119</u>] [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.39167.439792.55</u>]
- 32. Delpierre C, Lauwers-Cances V, Datta GD, Lang T, Berkman L. Using self-rated health for analysing social inequalities in health: a risk for underestimating the gap between socioeconomic groups? J Epidemiol Community Health 2009 Jun;63(6):426-432. [Medline: <u>19218251</u>] [doi: <u>10.1136/jech.2008.080085</u>]
- Drever F, Doran T, Whitehead M. Exploring the relation between class, gender, and self rated general health using the new socioeconomic classification. A study using data from the 2001 census. J Epidemiol Community Health 2004 Jul;58(7):590-596 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15194721</u>] [doi: <u>10.1136/jech.2003.013383</u>]
- 34. Huisman M, Kunst AE, Mackenbach JP. Socioeconomic inequalities in morbidity among the elderly; a European overview. Soc Sci Med 2003 Sep;57(5):861-873. [Medline: <u>12850111</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00454-9</u>]
- Mackenbach JP, Kunst AE, Cavelaars AE, Groenhof F, Geurts JJ. Socioeconomic inequalities in morbidity and mortality in western Europe. The EU Working Group on Socioeconomic Inequalities in Health. Lancet 1997 Jun 7;349(9066):1655-1659. [Medline: <u>9186383</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(96)07226-1</u>]
- 36. Singh-Manoux A, Dugravot A, Shipley MJ, Ferrie JE, Martikainen P, Goldberg M, et al; GAZEL Cohort. The association between self-rated health and mortality in different socioeconomic groups in the GAZEL cohort study. Int J Epidemiol 2007 Dec;36(6):1222-1228 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18025034</u>] [doi: <u>10.1093/ije/dym170</u>]



- 37. Yngwe MA, Diderichsen F, Whitehead M, Holland P, Burström B. The role of income differences in explaining social inequalities in self rated health in Sweden and Britain. J Epidemiol Community Health 2001 Aug;55(8):556-561 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11449012] [doi: 10.1136/jech.55.8.556]
- 38. Beckwith S, Treiber H. Learning to Live in the Information Society as an Older Person: Final Workshop Study. Workshop Paper, Working Document for the STOA. Luxembourg: Directorate General for Research; 1998.
- 39. Browne H. Accessibility and usability of information technology by the elderly. 2000. URL: <u>http://www.otal.umd.edu/uuguide/hbrowne/ [WebCite Cache ID 51Em0J0fv]</u>
- 40. Fox S. Digital divisions. Washington DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2005. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/</u> <u>Reports/2005/Digital-Divisions.aspx</u> [WebCite Cache ID 51EmB5vjt]
- 41. Czaja SJ, Charness N, Fisk AD, Hertzog C, Nair SN, Rogers WA, et al. Factors predicting the use of technology: findings from the Center for Research and Education on Aging and Technology Enhancement (CREATE). Psychol Aging 2006 Jun;21(2):333-352 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16768579</u>] [doi: <u>10.1037/0882-7974.21.2.333</u>]
- 42. Instituto Nacional de Estadística. Encuesta sobre Equipamiento y Uso de Tecnologías de la Información y Comunicación en los hogares URL: <u>http://www.ine.es/jaxi/menu.do?type=pcaxis&path=%2Ft25/p450&file=inebase&L=0</u> [WebCite Cache ID 5iGY7386p]
- 43. Herrero J, Meneses J. Short web-based versions of the Perceived stress (PSS) and Center of Epidemiology-depression (CESD): a comparison with paper and pencil responses among internet users. Comput Human Behav 2006;22(5):830-846. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2004.03.007]
- 44. Eysenbach G, Wyatt J. Using the Internet for surveys and health research. J Med Internet Res 2002 Nov 22;4(2):E13 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12554560] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4.2.e13]
- 45. Damian J, Ruigomez A, Pastor V, Martin-Moreno JM. Determinants of self assessed health among Spanish older people living at home. J Epidemiol Community Health 1999 Jul;53(7):412-416 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10492734] [doi: 10.1136/jech.53.7.412]
- 46. McMunn A, Nazroo J, Breeze E. Inequalities in health at older ages: a longitudinal investigation of the onset of illness and survival effects in England. Age Ageing 2009 Mar;38(2):181-187. [Medline: <u>19029098</u>] [doi: <u>10.1093/ageing/afn236</u>]
- 47. Fox J. Health Inequalities in European Countries. Aldershot, UK: Gower Publishing Company; 1989.
- 48. Marmot MG, Shipley MJ. Do socioeconomic differences in mortality persist after retirement? 25 Year follow up of civil servants from the first Whitehall study. BMJ 1996;313:1170-1180.
- 49. Asociación para la Investigación de Medios de Comunicación (AIMC). Clases sociales URL: <u>http://download.aimc.es/</u> <u>aimc/12saber/clases.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 5iGYCWNc1]</u>
- 50. Rueda S, Artazcoz L, Navarro V. Health inequalities among the elderly in western Europe. J Epidemiol Commun H 2008;62;492-498 .
- 51. Idler EL. Discussion: gender differences in self-rated health, in mortality, and in the relationship between the two. Gerontologist 2003;43:372-375.
- 52. Benyami Y, Idler EL. Community studies reporting association between self-rated health and mortality. Res Aging 1999;21(3):392-401. [doi: 10.1177/0164027599213002]
- 53. Benyamini Y, Blumstein T, Lusky A, Modan B. Gender differences in the self-rated health–mortality association: Is it poor self-rated health that predicts mortality or excellent self-rated health that predicts survival? Gerontologist 2002;43:396-405.
- 54. Deeg DJH, Kriegsman DMW. Concepts of self-rated health: specifying the gender difference in mortality risk. Gerontologist 2003 Jun;43(3):376-86; discussion 372-5. [Medline: <u>12810902</u>]

Edited by H Potts; submitted 22.07.09; peer-reviewed by A Dickinson, S Cotten; comments to author 19.08.09; revised version received 11.09.09; accepted 06.10.09; published 02.12.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Gracia E, Herrero J Internet Use and Self-Rated Health Among Older People: A National Survey J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e49 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e49/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/jmir.1311</u> PMID:<u>19955041</u>

© Enrique Gracia, Juan Herrero. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 02.12.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic

information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Disparities by Race and Ethnicity in Cancer Survivor Stories Available on the Web

Katherine S Eddens¹, MPH; Matthew W Kreuter^{1,2}, PhD, MPH; Jennifer C Morgan¹, BS; Kate E Beatty³, MPH; Sina A Jasim⁴, MD, MPH; Lori Garibay¹, MPH; Donghua Tao⁵, PhD, MS, MA; Trent D Buskirk³, PhD; Keri A Jupka³, MPH

¹Health Communication Research Laboratory and Center for Cultural Cancer Communication, George Warren Brown School of Social Work, Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, MO, USA

²School of Medicine, Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, MO, USA

³Department of Community Health, School of Public Health, Saint Louis University, St. Louis, MO, USA

⁴The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

⁵Medical Center Library, Saint Louis University, St. Louis, MO, USA

Corresponding Author:

Katherine S Eddens, MPH Washington University in St. Louis Health Communication Research Laboratory Campus Box 1009 700 Rosedale Avenue St. Louis, MO 63112-1408 USA Phone: +1 314 935 3737 Fax: +1 314 935 3757 Email: keddens@gwbmail.wustl.edu

Abstract

Background: The rapid growth of eHealth could have the unintended effect of deepening health disparities between population subgroups. Most concerns to date have focused on population differences in access to technology, but differences may also exist in the appropriateness of online health content for diverse populations.

Objective: This paper reports findings from the first descriptive study of online cancer survivor stories by race and ethnicity of the survivor.

Methods: Using the five highest-rated Internet search engines and a set of search terms that a layperson would use to find cancer survivor stories online, we identified 3738 distinct sites. Of these, 106 met study criteria and contained 7995 total stories, including 1670 with an accompanying photo or video image of the survivor. Characteristics of both websites and survivor stories were coded.

Results: All racial minority groups combined accounted for 9.8% of online cancer survivor stories, despite making up at least 16.3% of prevalent cancer cases. Also notably underrepresented were stories from people of Hispanic ethnicity (4.1%), men (35.7%), survivors of colon cancer (3.5%), and older adults.

Conclusions: Because racial/ethnic minority cancer survivors are underrepresented in survivor stories available online, it is unlikely that this eHealth resource in its current form will help eliminate the disproportionate burden of cancer experienced by these groups.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e50) doi:10.2196/jmir.1163

KEYWORDS

Cancer; health disparities; survivorship; African American; Hispanic; online
Eddens et al

Introduction

The benefits of eHealth information and services for patients and the public are well documented and numerous [1-8]. It is possible, however, that the growth of eHealth could have the unintended effect of deepening disparities in health status between population subgroups [9]. Most concerns in this regard have focused on population differences in access to technology, or the so-called "digital divide" [10]. More recently, research has focused on the availability of information over the Internet, or "infodemiology" [11,12]. But differences also exist in the *appropriateness* of health content available online for diverse population subgroups [13]. This issue has received much less attention in eHealth research and infodemiology and is the focus of the present study.

Specifically, the study explores the availability of online cancer survivor stories by race and ethnicity of the survivor. In the United States, cancer disproportionately affects African Americans, who are more likely than other groups to be diagnosed with cancer at a later stage of disease, who receive substandard cancer care once diagnosed, and who have lower 5-year survival rates and higher cancer death rates [14,15]. Similarly, Hispanic women have disproportionately high rates of cervical cancer, while Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders have higher rates of stomach and liver cancer [16]. Population-specific eHealth information and resources, such as online stories from cancer survivors representing these groups, might help address these disparities.

Survivors' stories can model coping skills, provide perspective, and share valuable information and resources. An estimated 2.3 million persons with cancer are online [17], and use of information sharing and support sites, precisely where survivor stories are commonly available, is widespread [18-20]. Survivors' direct experience and demonstrated success living with cancer makes them especially attractive and credible as messengers of cancer information [21], and studies have found psychological benefits for both the survivor and the recipient from sharing stories [22-24].

Race and ethnicity of a human information source are important factors in enhancing the effectiveness of communication, and specifically health communication, for members of minority populations. From a communication standpoint, the impact of information is generally enhanced when the recipient perceives the messenger as being similar to him- or herself. Similarity based on race, ethnicity, or other demographic characteristics can enhance receivers' liking of an information source [25] and trust in the source [26], and it can lead to inferences of attitudinal similarity that in turn increase respect and perceived attractiveness of the source [27]. Advertising research shows that viewer responses to ads are more favorable when the models or actors in the ads are of the same race or ethnicity as the viewers [28,29]; this is especially true in minority groups like African Americans and Hispanics [30], and the effect is greatest among viewers who identify strongly with their racial/ethnic group [31,32].

These findings are reinforced by cancer control research showing that videos using race- and gender-concordant

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e50/
```

XSL•FO

messengers can increase use of cervical cancer screening [33] and identification with a quit smoking role model [34] among minority women. In the specific case of cancer survivor stories, a recent study among African American women found that by far the strongest predictor of becoming engaged in a cancer survivor's videotaped story and having positive reactions to the story was the extent to which participants saw themselves as similar to the survivor [21], including both attitudinal and demographic dimensions of similarity.

Finally, the importance of messenger characteristics is heightened when information is delivered via visual stimuli such as television, videos, and, increasingly, Web-based content. Studies show that compared to other media (eg, print, audio), video elicits more thoughts about and positive perceptions of a messenger [35,36], is better able to carry nonverbal messages [37], and is especially effective with messengers who are likable [38] or trustworthy [39,40]. In a meta-analysis of studies exploring source effects on persuasion, the size of such effects in visual media was exceeded only by face-to-face communication [41]. In short, the effects of race and ethnicity of a messenger will be greatest when these characteristics are apparent to audience members.

In summary, because survivor stories contain unique and valuable information, they may be especially useful to members of minority groups who suffer a disproportionate burden of cancer. Research from communication and persuasion suggests that audience members for such information are more likely to identify with and trust the survivor and act in accordance with the survivor's story if they are of the same race or ethnicity. Thus, if stories from racially and ethnically diverse survivors were available online, we would generally expect that people exposed to these stories could find potential role models that were similar to them and who they trusted and liked, which would increase the probability that the information provided by the survivor was adopted and used.

This paper reports findings from the first descriptive study to document the availability of online cancer survivor stories by race and ethnicity of the survivor and to compare the results to expected population proportions and to cancer burden by race and ethnicity. As the number of online survivor stories grows and evidence of their benefits builds, it is important for assuring population health and achieving health equity that the diversity of survivors represented in these stories matches that of potential users.

Methods

Sampling

ComScore's qSearch data were used to identify the five highest-ranked search engines at the time of data collection (October, 2007). ComScore is a global Internet information provider that maintains databases on real-time use of the Internet and consumer behavior in the Internet, and its qSearch tool measures all search activity on the Internet, including major search engines, private sites such as MySpace, vertical searches on sites such as Amazon or eBay, local searches for maps or directions, cross-channel searches such as searching the Web,

maps and images for the same term, and more [42]. It is a comprehensive tool measuring the search universe, and it has been applied previously in scientific research [43]. The five top-ranked search engines were Google, Yahoo, Microsoft Sites (including MSN/Windows Live), Time Warner Networks (including AOL), and Ask Networks (including Ask.com) [42].

A subgroup of the study team generated a list of search terms that a layperson might use to search for online cancer survivor stories. This group included four family members of cancer patients, representatives of three different racial or ethnic groups, and an information science specialist with expertise in Web searching. The list took into consideration synonyms and word variations. A pilot search with each term was conducted, and the final six search phrases were selected because they yielded the largest number of relevant hits. The six search phrases used in the study were the following: "cancer survivor stor," "cancer stor," "cancer patient stor," "cancer testimonial," "sharing cancer stor," and "cancer experience." Boolean operator "OR" was used to perform the union of the six phrases. For cancers not identified by the word "cancer," such as leukemia, lymphoma, and melanoma, we replaced the word "cancer" in the six search phrases with each of these, resulting in 18 total search phrases for online stories of survivors diagnosed with leukemia, lymphoma, and melanoma. We chose these three cancers because they may have been missed in our search and are also prevalent in the United States [44]. While searching "stor" in Google, AOL, and Ask.com can yield results with both "story" and "stories," Yahoo and MSN/Windows Live do not accept the truncation search. Therefore, the words "story" and "stories" replaced "stor" in these search engines and resulted in doubling the total number of search phrases for these search engines. Summing all permutations of the original search terms, Google, AOL, and Ask.com had 24 distinct search phrases, while Yahoo and MSN/Windows Live had 48.

The search was performed from October 15 to October 30, 2007. Excluding sponsored links, the URLs of all websites were recorded until duplicates or irrelevant results dominated the search hits list, which resulted in 1420 websites identified from Google, 1055 from Yahoo, 1039 from MSN/Windows Live, 1055 from AOL, and 1053 from Ask.com. After removing exact duplicates, 3738 distinct websites were identified.

Eligibility

To be included in the study, a website had to (1) contain cancer survivor stories in text, audio, or video form with an accompanying photo or video of the survivor; and (2) identify (or imply) presentation and/or sharing of stories as a purpose of the site. This latter criterion excluded personal blogs, news stories, and websites ending in a "PDF" extension, as these were usually reports. Websites hosted outside the United States were also excluded due to differences in cancer prevalence, racial/ethnic composition of the population, and use of different search engines. A total of 106 websites met these eligibility criteria.

Coding

While many of the websites included stories without photos or video, we coded only those stories accompanied by a photo or

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e50/

video in which the survivor or storyteller was represented. Uncoded types of stories included those with text only, links to personal blogs, and stories entered on forums. On the 106 websites, there were 7995 stories total, of which 1670 (20.9%) had an accompanying photo or video image of the survivor.

Characteristics of websites and survivor stories were coded over a 2-month period from November 2007 to January 2008. Members of the research team who received formal training, rehearsal, and evaluative feedback completed all coding, adhering to specific operational definitions and coding instructions. The research team coded every cancer survivor story. In rare instances when a member of the research team had difficulty coding race or ethnicity, another trained coder was consulted and consensus reached.

Measures

Website Characteristics

For each website, we counted the number of all human images and human images of minorities appearing on the website's home page and (where applicable and different) on the home page for survivor stories. When minority images were present, they were coded using racial and ethnic categories from the 2000 US Census. Cancer site was coded as both a broad categorical type (a particular cancer, a set of related cancers, or general/all cancer) and by specific cancer (eg, lung cancer, breast cancer). Web address extension (.com, .edu, .org, etc) and the ability to post or share a story were also captured. The sponsoring organization of each website was recorded. Additionally, the total number of stories that were available on the website was recorded.

Survivor Characteristics

Survivor stories were coded for type of storyteller (cancer survivor, family member or friend of the survivor, or third person narrator such as the website editor or a journalist), survivor age at diagnosis, gender (when available in the story or discernible from an image), and survivor race and ethnicity (from story or images, using racial and ethnic categories from the 2000 US Census).

Form of Communication

Form of communication was recorded, including how the story content was presented (text or audio) and the type of image present (still image, video image, or link to photo). Both text and video stories could have accompanying audio tracks. Each image was coded for quality (professional photo/video vs a personal photo/video).

Cancer Type

Type of cancer, year of diagnosis, cancer stage, survival status, and years survived were also obtained, when available, from the content of the story. When information from story content or images was insufficient to make a definitive coding judgment for any measure, coders indicated so.

Statistical Analyses

Descriptive statistics are provided to characterize survivor stories and websites. All stories and websites are included in the analysis.

Results

Website Characteristics

Characteristics of websites are summarized in Table 1. Of the 106 websites included in the final sample, 56 (52.8%) were hosted by nonprofit organizations (".org"), 7 (6.6%) by educational institutions (".edu"), and the remaining by for-profit companies, with Web extensions including ".com," ".html," and ".net." Sixty-four of the 106 websites addressed cancer in general (60.4%), while the remainder focused on a specific type of cancer (n = 34, 32.1%) or a set of related cancers, such as leukemia and lymphoma or brain and other nervous system cancers (n = 8, 7.5%). The number of stories per website ranged from 1 to 232, with a mean of 16.5 (SD 32.2).

Survivor Characteristics

Most stories were told by survivors (n = 1052, 63%), with the remainder told by a third person narrator (n = 390, 23.4%) or a family member or friend (n = 206, 12.3%). Most stories were told by women (n = 1073, 64.3%). When age was reported (n

= 1008, 60.4% of stories), the mean age at diagnosis was 35 years. Characteristics of stories are summarized in Table 2.

Form of Communication

Stories could be presented in more than one form. Nearly all stories were told through written text (n = 1643, 99.2%), with some told through audio (n = 337, 20.2%) and/or video (n = 264, 15.8%). Most stories were accompanied by a still photo (n = 1643, 98.4%), and half of these photos (n = 936, 56.0%) were professional grade.

Cancer Type

One in four stories (n = 440, 26.3%) addressed breast cancer, followed by leukemia (n = 282, 16.9%), lymphoma (n = 165, 9.9%), prostate cancer (n = 142, 8.5%), and skin cancer, including melanoma, basal cell carcinoma, and squamous cell carcinoma (n = 69, 4.1%). Among stories that reported cancer stage at diagnosis (n = 318, 19.0%), later stages were most represented, with stage 4 diagnoses being most common (n = 88/318, 27.7%), followed by stage 3 (n = 85/318, 26.7%), stage 1 (n = 82/318, 25.8%), stage 2 (n = 57/318, 17.9%), and stage 0, (n = 6/318, 1.9%).

Table 1. Characteristics of websites containing cancer survivor stories (n = 106)

Characteristic	Percent ^a
Type of cancer website	
General cancer $(n = 64)$	60.4
Single cancer $(n = 34)$	32.1
Set of related cancers $(n = 8)$	7.5
Searching and sharing capabilities	
Users can post or share a story $(n = 43)$	40.6
Users can search library of stories with a search box $(n = 11)$	10.4
Images	
Images of racial/ethnic minorities on main landing page (n = 1501)	14.1
Images of racial/ethnic minorities on home page for stories $(n = 1055)$	14.6
Web address extension	
.org (n = 56)	52.8
.com (n = 37)	34.9
.edu (n = 7)	6.6
.htm(l) (n = 4)	3.7
.net (n = 2)	1.9
Number of stories, mean (SD)	16.5 (32.2)

^a Values are percentages unless otherwise noted.



 Table 2.
 Characteristics of cancer survivor stories (n = 1670)

Eddens et al

	Percent ^a				
Characteristic	Overall	White	Black	Asian ^b	Hispanic
Survivor/storyteller					
Primary storyteller					
Survivor (n = 1052)	63.0	62.8	68.0	61.3	61.8
Third person narrator ($n = 390$)	23.4	23.0	26.8	25.8	22.1
Family, friend, or caregiver $(n = 206)$	12.3	12.8	3.1	12.9	13.2
Could not be determined $(n = 22)$	1.3	1.3	2.1	0	2.9
Gender of survivor					
Female $(n = 1073)$	64.3	63.8	72.2	64.5	69.1
Male (n = 597)	35.7	36.2	27.8	35.5	30.9
Other characteristics					
Age in years at first cancer diagnosis (n = 1008), mean (SD)	35.0 (19.2)	35.1 (19.2)	38.0 (18.0)	29.0 (19.6)	35.4 (20.4)
Survivor living at time of story $(n = 1670)$	93.1	92.9	94.8	93.5	91.2
Form of communication					
Story content					
Text only $(n = 1332)$	79.8	80.4	82.5	64.5	79.4
Text and audio $(n = 324)$	19.4	18.8	17.5	35.5	20.6
Audio only (n = 13)	0.8	0.9	0	0	0
Type of image present					
Still image only (n = 1330)	79.6	79.9	81.4	75.8	88.2
Still image, video image, and link to photo (n = 172)	10.3	9.6	13.4	17.7	5.9
Still image and link to photo $(n = 75)$	4.5	4.7	1.0	1.6	2.9
Still image and video image $(n = 66)$	4.0	4.0	3.1	4.8	1.5
Video image only $(n = 21)$	1.3	1.3	1.0	0	0
Video image and link to photo $(n = 5)$	0.3	0.3	0	0	1.5
Link to photo only $(n = 1)$	0.1	0	0	0	0
Image quality					
Professional ($n = 936$)	56.0	55.9	57.7	53.2	45.6
Lay (n = 703)	42.1	42.2	41.2	46.8	48.5
Could not be determined $(n = 31)$	1.9	1.9	1.0	0	5.9
Cancer type and stage					
Most common cancer types ^c					
Breast $(n = 440)$	26.3	25.3	44.3	25.8	36.8
Leukemia (n = 282)	16.9	17.0	8.2	25.8	11.8
Lymphoma (n = 165)	9.9	9.7	8.2	17.7	8.8
Prostate $(n = 142)$	8.5	8.5	13.4	1.6	7.4
Skin (n = 69)	4.1	4.5	1.0	0	4.4
Brain and other nervous system $(n = 66)$	4.0	4.1	2.1	1.6	2.9
Ovary (n = 59)	3.5	3.7	1.0	1.6	1.5
Colon (n = 58)	3.5	3.4	3.1	6.5	2.9

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e50/

	Percent ^a				
Characteristic	Overall	White	Black	Asian ^b	Hispanic
Other (n = 363)	21.7	22.4	15.6	16.2	20.6
Unknown (n = 26)	1.6	1.4	3.1	3.2	2.9
Stage at diagnosis (when reported; n = 318)					
Stage 0 $(n = 6)$	1.9	1.7	14.3	0	0
Stage 1 ($n = 82$)	25.8	27.0	14.3	0	38.9
Stage 2 (n = 57)	17.9	17.7	14.3	22.2	11.1
Stage 3 (n = 85)	26.7	26.7	28.6	22.2	22.2
Stage 4 (n = 88)	27.7	27.0	28.6	55.6	27.8
Race/ethnicity of survivors					
Race					
White or White American $(n = 1503)$	90.0	-	-	-	-
Black or African American $(n = 97)$	5.8	-	-	-	-
Asian/Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander (n = 62)	3.7	-	-	-	-
American Indian and Alaskan Native (n = 5)	0.3	-	-	-	-
Could not be determined $(n = 3)$	0.2	-	-	-	-
Ethnicity ^d					
Not Hispanic or Latino (n = 1524)	91.3	93.7	82.5	51.6	-
Hispanic or Latino (n = 68)	4.1	3.5	14.4	1.6	-
Could not be determined $(n = 78)$	4.7	2.8	3.1	46.8	-

^a Values are percentages unless otherwise noted.

^b Asian/Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander.

 $^{c}P < .01.$

 $^{\rm d}P < .001.$

Differences by Race/Ethnicity

A large majority of stories in our sample (n = 1503, 90%) were told by whites. Among minority groups, blacks or African Americans were represented in 5.8% of stories (n = 97), Asians (including Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islanders) in 3.7% of stories (n = 62), and American Indian and Alaskan Natives in 0.3% of stories (n = 5). Race could not be determined in 0.2% of stories (n = 3). For ethnicity, most stories were from non-Hispanic or non-Latino survivors (n = 1524, 91.3%); 4.1% of survivors were identified as Hispanic or Latino (n = 68). In 4.7% of stories, the survivor's ethnicity could not be determined (n = 78).

Most story characteristics did not differ across race or ethnicity. There was a significant difference in cancer type between races represented; however, with 33.3% of cells having counts less than five, the test statistic may not be valid.

Discussion

Minority cancer survivors are underrepresented in survivor stories currently available online. African Americans make up 12.4% of the US population [45], account for 8.6% of prevalent

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e50/
```

RenderX

cancer cases (limited duration prevalence, 0 to < 15 years since diagnosis [46]), and have higher overall cancer mortality rates than all other racial or ethnic groups [47], but, in this study, they accounted for just 5.8% of online survivor stories (n = 97). Similarly, persons of Hispanic origin account for 15.1% of the US population and 5.3% of prevalent cancer cases [46], yet make up just 4.1% of online survivor stories (n = 68). While reliable prevalence data are not available for all racial and ethnic minority groups, Asian/Pacific Islanders are properly represented in online survivor stories in this study, with 2.4% of prevalent cancer cases [46] and 3.7% of stories (n = 62).

A combination of differences in online access and patterns of eHealth usage across racial and ethnic groups likely explains at least part of this disparity. While socioeconomic status remains an important determinant of Internet access via personal computer [48], minorities are less likely than whites to have such access even in the lowest income groups [49-51]. Among those who have online access, studies suggest that minority group members are less likely to participate in online cancer support groups [52] or use the Internet for obtaining health information [53]. If exposure to and use of such stories are indeed less common among minority cancer survivors, we would generally expect these groups to have lower rates of story

sharing as well, at least on websites where survivors could post their own stories. For example, while some of the websites in the study allowed users to post their personal stories, this would only happen among those who could and did access the site.

But on most websites in the study sample, the collection of available stories was set by the host and was not open to posting from users. On some websites, we found a large discrepancy between the level of racial and ethnic diversity represented on the home page and the comparative lack thereof in the actual collection of stories (overall, the two rates were comparable: 14.1% vs 13.7%, respectively). One interpretation of these cases is that website hosts recognize the value of offering stories from a diverse set of survivors (and thus give their site the outward appearance of diversity), but find it more difficult to identify minority survivors and/or collect their stories for sharing. To more consistently deliver on the promise and appearance of diversity suggested by websites' home pages, hosts will likely need to take purposeful steps and consider different approaches to their story collection process. For example, access to racial and ethnic minority survivors might be increased by establishing partnerships with cancer care organizations serving these groups.

The disproportionate number of stories from young cancer survivors was unexpected and striking, even given the study's methods. While cancer affects people of all ages, it is predominantly an older person's disease. Yet the mean age of survivors who shared their stories was only 35, which is a full three decades younger than the median age at diagnosis for all cancers combined [47]. While a primary goal of this study was to determine whether race- and ethnicity-concordant survivor stories were available to minority cancer patients, this finding suggests that an even greater age gap may exist between those with cancer and those survivors whose stories are available online. Because sharing one's story online with accompanying photos or video requires some degree of computer savvy (which studies have shown is currently inversely related to age [50]), this finding is not altogether surprising. It is possible, for example, that this study's requirement of stories including a visual image of the survivor disproportionately excluded older survivors. It is also possible that those survivors whose stories did not disclose age at diagnosis (662/1670, or 39.6% in this sample) were older. Anecdotal information supports this latter explanation: we observed that in many stories from cancer survivors who were diagnosed at a young age, their age at diagnosis was highlighted as a kind of warning (eg, "I was only 28, I never thought this could happen to me"). Framing a story in this way would be less likely among older adults. While these two factors may account for some portion of the differences found, we think it is unlikely that they would entirely negate the finding, given the magnitude of the difference.

The finding that certain groups were underrepresented in survivor stories could also reflect the target audiences of the websites coded. Of the 106 websites, 39 were targeted at a specific survivor audience (eg, young adults or survivors of a specific cancer), and 42 were aimed at providing testimonials for a particular center, treatment, or product. Ten of the sites were targeted toward women, but only three were aimed at an audience of men. Perhaps most telling is that four sites were aimed specifically at younger adults, while none appear to be

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e50/
```

aimed at older adults, and none were specifically directed toward a minority group.

Limitations

As this discussion has already identified, there are limitations to the study. Cancer survivor stories that did not include pictures of the survivor were not part of the sample. While this was necessary to achieve the study aim (ie, to identify race and ethnicity of survivors whose stories are available online), it's possible that stories with and without pictures varied in other ways not intended in the study. If minority survivors were less likely than other survivors to provide a picture with their story, the study findings would underestimate the proportion of such stories. We have no indication whether survivor stories with and without pictures varied systematically by race or ethnicity. However, from a practical standpoint, unless story content explicitly mentioned the survivor's race or ethnicity, this information would not be available to an online information seeker who might value it. Thus, while any real differences might be of interest for academic purposes, they would be largely irrelevant to those consuming the stories.

We also acknowledge that making judgments of a survivor's race and ethnicity from online photos was sometimes challenging and, like any coding, subject to misclassification. In cases when multiple coders could not determine or agree upon a survivor's race or ethnicity, it was classified as such. But because there were so few cases where race and ethnicity could not be determined (3/1670, 0.2% for race; 78/1670, 4.7% for ethnicity), it is improbable that misclassification bias alone would account for the pattern of findings in the study, even if every survivor whose race or ethnicity could not be classified was in fact a minority group member. Finally, it is possible, but we think highly unlikely, that stories from minority survivors exist in proportionally greater numbers under different search terms than those used in the study.

Thirty-two percent of the stories (534/1670) were hosted by four large not-for-profit organizations promoting patient advocacy and research. Each of these organizations has a public face that may draw more survivors from a variety of racial/ethnic backgrounds and age groups. Another 14.7% of stories (246/1670) were on websites of prominent cancer research and treatment centers. Some websites and organizations are doing a better job than others in recruiting minority cancer survivors to share their stories of survival. Organizations providing this service can learn from the websites that have collected libraries of stories from diverse populations. We also recognize that three of the four primary cancers represented in these stories (breast, leukemia, and lymphoma) do not occur disproportionately in minorities, and, therefore, it may not be surprising that we did not find a larger proportion of stories from minorities.

Besides increasing the proportion of survivor stories from minorities, older adults, and men, the study findings also suggest that websites providing cancer survivor stories might enhance their offering in at least three other ways. First, our research team learned that finding survivor stories online was often challenging and time consuming, requiring study team members to search through a lot of other cancer content to find stories. Stories were seldom available from a single location on a

website, and the location of stories varied greatly from site to site.

Second, we observed that few sites (11/106, 10.4%) offered users a means of searching available cancer survivor stories, and less than half (43/106, 40.6%) allowed users to share or post a story.

Third, although we found stories from survivors of a wide range of cancers, there were clear gaps in the distribution of cancers represented. For example, only 58/1670 (3.5%) of stories were from colon cancer survivors, despite colon cancer being the third leading cause of cancer death in United States [54]. In addition, stories from lung and bronchus cancer survivors, the leading cause of cancer death in the United States for both men and women, represented only 1.6% of stories in this sample (n = 27). It may be that those with lung and bronchus cancer do not live very long and therefore don't contribute to survivor stories on the Internet. We did find that when stage at diagnosis was reported, most of the survivors (173 of 318, 54.4%) were diagnosed with stage 3 or 4 cancers. Websites that select stories to post may choose stories from long-term survivors and from survivors who have overcome greater odds. Making improvements in these areas would enhance the accessibility and benefit of stories to users, as would developing technology tools that facilitate story sharing.

Future Implications

The study also raises new questions and identifies promising avenues for future inquiry. An important next step may be determining the relative importance of technological (eg, online access, digital camera ownership, computer skills), psychological (eg, interest and willingness), and organizational (eg, website policies) factors in explaining the dearth of online survivor stories from minorities, older adults, and men. Intervention and audience research studies among cancer survivors might explore strategies to raise awareness of, interest in, and motivation to share online stories. Such work would be especially valuable when conducted among groups that were underrepresented in the online collections of stories in the current study (eg, racial and ethnic minorities, older adults, men, those with certain types of cancer). Usability research could test alternative Web designs and functionality to optimize ease and efficiency of use for sharing and accessing survivor stories.

We know from previous research that when characteristics of survivors match those of the reader or viewer, the information provided by the survivor will be more engaging, enhance information recall, and stimulate more thoughts about the story [21]. While these are important communication outcomes, they are several steps removed from the kinds of prevention, screening, or treatment adherence behaviors that would actually reduce cancer disparities. Still, matching the race/ethnicity of survivor stories to a viewer would seem to be an important and achievable first step toward these higher order outcomes.

Although there are currently no published studies reporting numbers of minority survivors seeking online survivor stories, there is considerable evidence that minority groups want and need better health information and often turn to the Internet to find it. The Internet is an important source of health information for African Americans and other minority groups, including patients diagnosed with cancer [55,56,58,59]. Yet cancer survivors as a group-including African Americans and Hispanics-are more likely than healthy adults to report wanting more information, having difficulty finding desired information, feeling frustrated during their search for information, and finding the information too hard to understand [57]. Because of differences in access to and use of the Internet in minority populations, changing the mix of stories alone won't be enough to make an impact on cancer disparities. Changes in policy that would improve access to the Internet are also needed in addition to a better mix of survivor stories.

Conclusions

This study provides the first descriptive summary of online cancer survivor stories and identifies some important gaps in currently available offerings. There is a risk that the benefits these stories can confer to users might be unequally distributed across the population due to a lack of stories from members of certain groups. The fact that several of these underrepresented groups also bear a disproportionate burden of cancer suggests that the collection of survivor stories available online today is unlikely to help eliminate disparities in cancer.

Acknowledgments

This project was supported by a grant from the National Cancer Institute (NCI) Centers of Excellence in Cancer Communication Research program (CA-P50-95815). The authors thank Balaji Golla for creating the database of survivor stories included in the study, and Mariah Dreisinger and Ketan Shah for assisting with story coding.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Linke S, Murray E, Butler C, Wallace P. Internet-based interactive health intervention for the promotion of sensible drinking: patterns of use and potential impact on members of the general public. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17513281</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.9.2.e10</u>]
- Norman GJ, Zabinski MF, Adams MA, Rosenberg DE, Yaroch AL, Atienza AA. A review of eHealth interventions for physical activity and dietary behavior change. Am J Prev Med 2007 Oct;33(4):336-345 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17888860</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2007.05.007</u>]

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e50/
```

- 3. Griffiths F, Lindenmeyer A, Powell J, Lowe P, Thorogood M. Why are health care interventions delivered over the internet? A systematic review of the published literature. J Med Internet Res 2006;8(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16867965</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.8.2.e10</u>]
- 4. Shaw B, Gustafson D, Hawkins R. How underserved breast cancer patients use and benefit from ehealth programs: implications for closing the digital divide. American Behavioral Scientist 2006;49(6):12. [doi: 10.1177/0002764205283803]
- Bright MA, Fleisher L, Thomsen C, Morra ME, Marcus A, Gehring W. Exploring e-Health usage and interest among cancer information service users: the need for personalized interactions and multiple channels remains. J Health Commun 2005;10 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):35-52. [Medline: 16377599] [doi: 10.1080/10810730500265609]
- 6. Eysenbach G, Powell J, Englesakis M, Rizo C, Stern A. Health related virtual communities and electronic support groups: systematic review of the effects of online peer to peer interactions. BMJ 2004 May 15;328(7449):1166 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15142921] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7449.1166]
- Wantland DJ, Portillo CJ, Holzemer WL, Slaughter R, McGhee EM. The effectiveness of Web-based vs. non-Web-based interventions: a meta-analysis of behavioral change outcomes. J Med Internet Res 2004 Nov 10;6(4):e40 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15631964] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.4.e40]
- Gustafson DH, Hawkins R, Pingree S, McTavish F, Arora NK, Mendenhall J, et al. Effect of computer support on younger women with breast cancer. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Jul;16(7):435-445 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11520380</u>] [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016007435.x</u>]
- 9. Viswanath K, Kreuter MW. Health disparities, communication inequalities, and eHealth. Am J Prev Med 2007 May;32(5 Suppl):S131-S133 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17466818</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2007.02.012</u>]
- Viswanath K. Public communications and its role in reducing and eliminating health disparities. In: Thomson G, Mitchell F, Williams M, editors. Examining the Health Disparities Research Plan of the National Institutes of Health: Unfinished Business. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2006:215-253.
- 11. Eysenbach G. Infodemiology: The epidemiology of (mis)information. Am J Med 2002 Dec 15;113(9):763-765. [Medline: 12517369] [doi: 10.1016/S0002-9343(02)01473-0]
- 12. Eysenbach G. Infodemiology and infoveillance: framework for an emerging set of public health informatics methods to analyze search, communication and publication behavior on the Internet. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19329408] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1157]
- 13. Friedman DB, Kao EK. A comprehensive assessment of the difficulty level and cultural sensitivity of online cancer prevention resources for older minority men. Prev Chronic Dis 2007 Dec 15;5(1):A07 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18081996]
- 14. Jemal A, Ward E, Thun MJ. Recent trends in breast cancer incidence rates by age and tumor characteristics among U.S. women. Breast Cancer Res 2007;9(3):R28 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17477859</u>] [doi: <u>10.1186/bcr1672</u>]
- Schempf AH, Branum AM, Lukacs SL, Schoendorf KC. The contribution of preterm birth to the Black-White infant mortality gap, 1990 and 2000. Am J Public Health 2007 Jul;97(7):1255-1260 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17538050</u>] [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2006.093708</u>]
- Ward E, Jemal A, Cokkinides V, Singh G, Cardinez C, Ghafoor A, et al. Cancer disparities by race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status. CA Cancer J Clin 2004;54(2):78-93 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15061598</u>] [doi: <u>10.3322/canjclin.54.2.78</u>]
- 17. Eysenbach G. The impact of the Internet on cancer outcomes. CA Cancer J Clin 2003;53(6):356-371 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15224975] [doi: 10.3322/canjclin.53.6.356]
- Seale C, Ziebland S, Charteris-Black J. Gender, cancer experience and internet use: a comparative keyword analysis of interviews and online cancer support groups. Soc Sci Med 2006 May;62(10):2577-2590. [Medline: <u>16361029</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.11.016</u>]
- Klemm P, Hurst M, Dearholt SL, Trone SR. Gender differences on Internet cancer support groups. Comput Nurs 1999;17(2):65-72. [Medline: <u>10194883</u>]
- 20. Meier A, Lyons EJ, Frydman G, Forlenza M, Rimer BK. How cancer survivors provide support on cancer-related Internet mailing lists. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(2):e12 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17513283</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.9.2.e12</u>]
- 21. Kreuter M, Buskirk T, Holmes K. What makes cancer survivor stories work? An empirical study among African American women. Journal of Cancer Survivorship 2008;2(1):33-44. [Medline: <u>18648985</u>] [doi: <u>10.1007/s11764-007-0041-y</u>]
- 22. Clark EJ, Stovall EL. Advocacy: the cornerstone of cancer survivorship. Cancer Pract 1996;4(5):239-244. [Medline: 9004569]
- 23. Schwartz C, Meisenhelder JB, Ma Y, Reed G. Altruistic social interest behaviors are associated with better mental health. Psychosom Med 2003;65(5):778-785 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 14508020] [doi: 10.1097/01.PSY.0000079378.39062.D4]
- 24. Thoits PA, Hewitt LN. Volunteer work and well-being. J Health Soc Behav 2001 Jun;42(2):115-131. [Medline: <u>11467248</u>] [doi: <u>10.2307/3090173</u>]
- 25. Fleming M, Petty R. Identity and persuasion: An elaboration likelihood approach. In: Terry D, Hogg M, editors. Attitudes, Behavior, and Social Context: The Role of Norms and Group Membership. Mahway, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2000:171-199.
- 26. Marsden P. Homogeneity in confiding relations. Social Networks 1988;10(1):57-76. [doi: 10.1016/0378-8733(88)90010-X]

RenderX

- 27. Simons H, Berkowitz N, Moyer R. Similarity, credibility, and attitude change: A review and a theory. Psychol Bull 1970;73(1):1-16. [doi: 10.1037/h0028429]
- 28. Torres I, Briggs E. Identification effects on advertising response. Journal of Advertising 2007;36(3):97-108. [doi: 10.2753/JOA0091-3367360307]
- 29. Schlinger M, Plummer J. Advertising in black and white. J Mark Res 1972;9(2):149-153. [doi: 10.2307/3149947]
- 30. Appiah O. The effectiveness of "typical-user" testimonial advertisements on Black and White browsers' evaluations of products on commercial websites: Do they really work? J Advert Res 2007;47(1):14-27. [doi: 10.2501/S0021849907070031]
- 31. Simpson E, Snuggs T, Christiansen T, Simples K. Race, homophily, and purchase intentions and the black consumer. Psychology and Marketing 2000;17(10):877-889. [doi: 10.1002/1520-6793(200010)17:10<877::AID-MAR3>3.0.CO;2-K]
- 32. Deshpande R, Hoyer W, Donthu N. The intensity of ethnic affiliation: A study of the sociology of Hispanic consumption. The Journal of Consumer Research 1986;13(2):214-220. [doi: 10.1086/209061]
- 33. Yancey AK, Tanjasiri SP, Klein M, Tunder J. Increased cancer screening behavior in women of color by culturally sensitive video exposure. Prev Med 1995 Mar;24(2):142-148 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 7597016] [doi: 10.1006/pmed.1995.1027]
- 34. Lopes CE, Sussman S, Galaif ER, Crippins DL. The impact of a videotape on smoking cessation among African-American women. Am J Health Promot 1995;9(4):257-260. [Medline: 10150728]
- 35. Sparks J, Areni C, Cox K. An investigation of the effects of language style and communication modality on persuasion. Commun Monogr 1998;65(2):108-125. [doi: 10.1080/03637759809376440]
- Pfau M, Holbert R, Zubric S, Pasha N, Lin W. Role and influence of communication modality in the process of resistance to persuasion. Media Psychology 2000;2(1):1-33. [doi: <u>10.1207/S1532785XMEP0201_1</u>]
- 37. Graber D. Seeing is remembering: How visuals contribute to learning from television news. Journal of Communication 1990;40(3):134-155. [doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.1990.tb02275.x]
- 38. Chaiken S, Eagly A. Communication modality as a determinant of persuasion: The role of communicator salience. J Pers Soc Psychol 1983;45(2):241-256. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.45.2.241]
- 39. Worchel S, Andreoli V, Eason J. Is the medium the message? A study of the effects of media, communicator, and message characteristics on attitude change. Journal of Applied Social Psychology 1978;5(2):157-172. [doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.1975.tb01305.x]
- 40. Andreoli V, Worschel S. Effects of media, communicator, and message position on attitude change. Public Opin Q 1978;42(1):59-79. [doi: 10.1086/268429]
- 41. Wilson E, Sherrell D. Source effects in communication and persuasion research: A meta-analysis of effect size. J Acad Mark Sci 1993;21(2):101-112. [doi: 10.1007/BF02894421]
- 42. comScore. 2007. ComScore releases August U.S. search engine rankings. [Internet press release] URL: <u>http://ir.</u> comscore.com/releasedetail.cfm?releaseid=265096 [WebCite Cache ID 5a98semtX]
- 43. Bar-Ilan J, Keenoy K, Yaari E, Levene M. User rankings of search engine results. J Am Soc Inf Sci Technol 2007 Jul;58(9):1254-1266. [doi: 10.1002/asi.20608]
- 44. National Cancer Institute. SEER Cancer Statistics Review 1975-2004 URL: <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2004/</u> results_merged/topic_prevcounts.pdf [accessed 2009-11-12] [WebCite Cache ID 5a9972elC]
- 45. American FactFinder. 2007 Sep. Quick Guide to the 2006 American Community Survey Products in American FactFinder URL: <u>http://factfinder.census.gov/home/saff/aff_acs2006_quickguide.pdf</u> [accessed 2009-11-12] [WebCite Cache ID 5a99IBOAL]
- 46. Jemal A, Thun MJ, Ries LAG, Howe HL, Weir HK, Center MM, et al. Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2005, featuring trends in lung cancer, tobacco use, and tobacco control. J Natl Cancer Inst 2008 Dec 3;100(23):1672-1694 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19033571] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn389]
- 47. Ries LAG, Melbert D, Krapcho M, Stinchcomb DG, Howlader N, Horner MJ, et al. , 1975-2005. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute. SEER Cancer Statistics Review. 2008. URL: <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2005/</u> [WebCite Cache ID 5a99VNSVr]
- 48. Chaudhuri A, Flamm K, Horrigan J. An analysis of the determinants of Internet access. Telecommunications Policy 2005;29(9-10):731-755. [doi: 10.1016/j.telpol.2005.07.001]
- Brodie M, Flournoy RE, Altman DE, Blendon RJ, Benson JM, Rosenbaum MD. Health information, the Internet, and the digital divide. Health Aff (Millwood) 2000;19(6):255-265 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11192412</u>] [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.19.6.255</u>]
- 50. Pew Internet & American Life Project. Demographics of internet users URL: <u>url:http://www.pewinternet.org/trends/</u> <u>User Demo 7.22.08.htm [WebCite Cache ID 5a9A7tX1F]</u>
- McKeehan N, Trettin L, May J. Improving access to health information in rural South Carolina. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2008 May;19(2):484-492. [Medline: <u>18469419</u>] [doi: <u>10.1353/hpu.0.0010</u>]
- 52. Im EO, Chee W. The use of Internet cancer support groups by ethnic minorities. J Transcult Nurs 2008 Jan;19(1):74-82. [Medline: <u>18217235</u>]
- Miller EA, West DM, Wasserman M. Health information Websites: characteristics of US users by race and ethnicity. J Telemed Telecare 2007;13(6):298-302. [Medline: <u>17785031</u>] [doi: <u>10.1258/135763307781644915</u>]
- 54. ; American Cancer Society. Cancer facts and figures 2007. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 2008.

RenderX

- 55. Senathirajah Y, Kukafka R, Guptarak M, Cohall A. Health information seeking and technology use in Harlem a pilot study using community-based participatory research. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2006:704-708 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 17238432]
- Taylor-Clark K, Koh H, Viswanath K. Perceptions of environmental health risks and communication barriers among low-SEP and racial/ethnic minority communities. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2007 Nov;18(4 Suppl):165-183. [Medline: 18065858] [doi: 10.1353/hpu.2007.0113]
- 57. Roach AR, Lykins ELB, Gochett CG, Brechting EH, Graue LO, Andrykowski MA. Differences in cancer information-seeking behavior, preferences, and awareness between cancer survivors and healthy controls: a national, population-based survey. J Cancer Educ 2009;24(1):73-79. [Medline: <u>19259869</u>] [doi: <u>10.1080/08858190802664784</u>]
- 58. Cegala DJ, Bahnson RR, Clinton SK, David P, Gong MC, Monk JP, et al. Information seeking and satisfaction with physician-patient communication among prostate cancer survivors. Health Commun 2008;23(1):62-69. [Medline: <u>18443993</u>] [doi: <u>10.1080/10410230701806982</u>]
- 59. Hesse BW, Arora NK, Burke Beckjord E, Finney Rutten LJ. Information support for cancer survivors. Cancer 2008 Jun 1;112(11 Suppl):2529-2540 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18428201] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23445]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.11.08; peer-reviewed by L Larkey, M Gibbons; comments to author 02.04.09; revised version received 28.05.09; accepted 06.08.09; published 30.11.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Eddens KS, Kreuter MW, Morgan JC, Beatty KE, Jasim SA, Garibay L, Tao D, Buskirk TD, Jupka KA
Disparities by Race and Ethnicity in Cancer Survivor Stories Available on the Web
J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e50
URL: http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e50/
doi:10.2196/jmir.1163
PMID:19945948

© Katherine S Eddens, Matthew W Kreuter, Jennifer C Morgan, Kate E Beatty, Sina A Jasim, Lori Garibay, Donghua Tao, Trent D Buskirk, Keri A Jupka. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 30.11.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Social Media Use in the United States: Implications for Health Communication

Wen-ying Sylvia Chou^{1,2}, PhD, MPH; Yvonne M Hunt¹, PhD, MPH; Ellen Burke Beckjord³, PhD, MPH; Richard P Moser⁴, PhD; Bradford W Hesse², PhD

¹Cancer Prevention Fellowship Program, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD, USA

²Health Communication and Informatics Research Branch, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD, USA

³RAND Corporation, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

⁴Behavioral Research Program, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD, USA

Corresponding Author:

Wen-ying Sylvia Chou, PhD, MPH National Cancer Institute Health Communication and Informatics Research Branch 6130 Executive Blvd (EPN), 4051A Bethesda, MD 20892-7365 USA Phone: +1 301 435 2842 Fax: +1 301 480 2669 Email: chouws@mail.nih.gov

Abstract

Background: Given the rapid changes in the communication landscape brought about by participative Internet use and social media, it is important to develop a better understanding of these technologies and their impact on health communication. The first step in this effort is to identify the characteristics of current social media users. Up-to-date reporting of current social media use will help monitor the growth of social media and inform health promotion/communication efforts aiming to effectively utilize social media.

Objective: The purpose of the study is to identify the sociodemographic and health-related factors associated with current adult social media users in the United States.

Methods: Data came from the 2007 iteration of the Health Information National Trends Study (HINTS, N = 7674). HINTS is a nationally representative cross-sectional survey on health-related communication trends and practices. Survey respondents who reported having accessed the Internet (N = 5078) were asked whether, over the past year, they had (1) participated in an online support group, (2) written in a blog, (3) visited a social networking site. Bivariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses were conducted to identify predictors of each type of social media use.

Results: Approximately 69% of US adults reported having access to the Internet in 2007. Among Internet users, 5% participated in an online support group, 7% reported blogging, and 23% used a social networking site. Multivariate analysis found that younger age was the only significant predictor of blogging and social networking site participation; a statistically significant linear relationship was observed, with younger categories reporting more frequent use. Younger age, poorer subjective health, and a personal cancer experience predicted support group participation. In general, social media are penetrating the US population independent of education, race/ethnicity, or health care access.

Conclusions: Recent growth of social media is not uniformly distributed across age groups; therefore, health communication programs utilizing social media must first consider the age of the targeted population to help ensure that messages reach the intended audience. While racial/ethnic and health status-related disparities exist in Internet access, among those with Internet access, these characteristics do not affect social media use. This finding suggests that the new technologies, represented by social media, may be changing the communication pattern throughout the United States.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e48) doi: 10.2196/jmir.1249

KEYWORDS

RenderX

Internet; social media; social networking; demography; population surveillance; eHealth, new technologies; health communication

Introduction

From 2005 to 2009, participation in social networking sites more than quadrupled [1]. In the health communication community, there is a widespread assumption that recent advances in Internet technologies (Web 2.0), particularly the participative Internet (known as social media), have transformed the pattern of communication, including health-related communications [2]. For example, social scientists observed that social media have increased individuals' connectivity and enabled users' direct participation. This observation is believed to have direct implications for health communication programs, prompting efforts to identify new opportunities of using social media to impact population health [3-6]. While these observations on the impact of social media are important in public health, little of the research in this area has been based on large-scale population data, partly due to the rapidity of technological changes. The key questions that remain unanswered include the following: (1) What is the true reach and impact of social media among the current US population? (2) What are the user characteristics of the different types of social media currently being used? Although market research has previously reported on the overall prevalence of Internet and social media use, with the exception of online support group use, user characteristics of social media have not been comprehensively examined using a nationally representative population sample [7]. Developing an empirically based understanding of these behaviors and their implications has become a key priority in current health communication research.

Given that key aims of social media research are to monitor its growth and to inform health promotion efforts aiming to utilize new communication technologies, it is important to explore the relationship between social media use and health-related factors. Current research on the relationship between social media and health has produced conflicting results. On the one hand, studies have found that social media may bear health-enhancing potential through several mechanisms. First, the Internet-based social networks may increase perceived social support and interconnectivity among individuals [8,9]. Second, with the increase of user-generated content, information sharing is seen as more democratic and patient controlled, enabling users to exchange health-related information that they need and therefore making the information more patient/consumer-centered [10]. Third, in recent times, public health programs have demonstrated success in adapting social media as a communication platform for health promotion efforts such as smoking cessation and dietary interventions, increasing their reach through cyberspace [3,4,6,11-13].

Yet, indirect and sometimes unintended negative health impacts of social media have also been identified. First, the participatory nature of social media entails an open forum for information exchange, therefore increasing the possibility of wide dissemination of noncredible, and potentially erroneous, health information [14,15]. Second, health scientists exploring the issue of the digital divide have found evidence of a double divide. Specifically, those without Internet access (a large portion of whom may be without adequate health care access) are prevented from gaining health information available on the

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e48/
```

XSL•FO

Internet [16-20]. In sum, given the direct and indirect health impacts and the wide range of and divergent results, the current study will offer an opportunity to disentangle aspects of the complex relationship between social media use and health-related factors.

The most recent iteration of the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS 2007) is an ideal data source to provide an in-depth examination of the prevalence and user characteristics of social media. This nationally representative survey is uniquely positioned to study social media because this new iteration contains specific follow-up questions for all Internet users, allowing us to separately estimate and compare the use of different types of social media. Another distinct advantage of the HINTS 2007 is its inclusion of many health-related questions, enabling us to comprehensively examine the association between social media use and several important health proxies. Our primary research aims are to (1) report on the prevalence of three forms of social media use in 2007: online support group participation, blogging, and social networking site participation; and (2) identify the sociodemographic and health-related predictors of the use of these three forms of social media.

Methods

Data Source

The data for this study were drawn from HINTS 2007, developed by the National Cancer Institute in 2007 with data collected from January 2008 through May 2008. Publicly accessible on the Internet, the HINTS is a biennial national survey of the US civilian noninstitutionalized adult population designed to assess the American public's use of health- and cancer-related information and to assess other cancer-related knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. The survey's primary goal is to inform social scientists and program planners about current health communication usage across populations and to assist in developing effective health communication strategies in an age of rapid communication changes. Comprehensive reports on the conceptual framework and sample design of HINTS are published elsewhere [21,22]. Note that while the conceptual framework and most survey content remained consistent across the three iterations of HINTS (2003, 2005, and 2007), the newest iteration (HINTS 2007) contains some changes. Detailed information about HINTS 2007 scope and methodology can be found in a comprehensive report [23]. Specifically, in addition to the inclusion of new survey items (such as items concerning blogging and social networking site participation), a new sampling method was adopted for HINTS 2007 to increase response rates and reduce bias. Two modes were used for data collection: (1) a random digit dial telephone survey, using a computer-assisted telephone interview, of representative samples of US households with land-line telephones (N = 4092); and (2) a pencil-and-paper questionnaire mailed to representative US postal addresses that oversampled for minorities (N = 3582). The use of the dual sampling frames was a response to the recent dramatic decrease in telephone survey response rates and is a method currently being utilized by other government agencies. Response rates were 24% for the random digit dial survey and

31% for the mail survey. Complete surveys were obtained from 7674 adults. Only Internet users (N = 5078; approximately 68% of the population) were asked about social media use, and they form the sample for the current study.

HINTS contained both final sample weights that helped obtain population-level estimates and a set of 50 replicate sampling weights to obtain the correct standard errors; both of these were included in the present analysis. Detailed descriptions of how the sample and replicate weights were calculated can be found in the HINTS 2007 Final Report [23].

Study Variables

We selected the following sociodemographic variables to be included in the study: age, gender, education, and race/ethnicity. Age was categorized into six groups: 18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64, 65 and above. Education was categorized as high school degree or less, some college, or college graduate. Race/ethnicity was coded into one of the following four categories: non-Hispanic white, non-Hispanic black (black/African American), Hispanic, and non-Hispanic other.

In addition to the sociodemographic variables, three health-related variables were examined. The first is self-described health status, including overall health and distress level(measured by a summed score of six-item assessment of depressive symptoms borrowed from the National Health Interview Survey, 1997, Adult Core Questionnaire [24]). The second is the respondent's cancer experience, coded into three categories: (1) having had a personal diagnosis of cancer, (2) having had a family member diagnosed with cancer, or (3) having had no personal experience or family member with cancer. Note that the categories are mutually exclusive: individuals with a personal diagnosis of cancer are automatically categorized as (1) regardless of their status in (2). The final health-related variable is health care access, measured by whether the respondent reports having a regular health care provider or not.

Internet status was measured by response to the following question: "Do you ever go on-line to access the Internet or

World Wide Web, or to send and receive an email?" Among Internet users, social media use was assessed by responses to the following three questions: "In the past 12 months, have you done the following while using the Internet: (1) participated in an on-line support group for people with a similar health or medical issue? (2) wrote in an online diary or blog? (3) visited a social networking site, such as 'My Space' or 'Second Life'?"

Data Analysis

To accommodate the complex sampling design of HINTS, analyses were conducted using SUDAAN, version 10 (Research Triangle Institute, Research Triangle Park, NC, USA). Missing data (with responses of "refuse" or "don't know") were recoded as missing for all analyses. Bivariate analyses (chi-square) were conducted to estimate the prevalence of social media use and associations between study variables and each of the three types of social media. To address potential differences in responses due to the dual frames of the 2007 survey, we tested for potential mode differences and found no differential responses by mode to any of the social media use outcomes of interests; thus, a combined sample was used for subsequent analysis.

Separate multivariate logistic regression models were conducted to estimate the odds of writing a blog, participating in an online support group, and participating in a social networking site, while including a set of demographic and health-related predictors. Finally, given the overwhelmingly significant contribution of age in all three models, each outcome was tested using age-stratified analyses by running separate models within each of the three age categories of 18-34, 35-54, and 55 and above.

Results

Sample Characteristics

In 2007, approximately 69% of the US population reported having access to the Internet. This estimate is consistent with other prevalence estimates of Internet use in the same period [1]. Table 1 displays the weighted sample characteristics of non-Internet users and Internet users.



Table 1.	Weighted sam	ple characteristics	: proportion	of non-Internet	and Internet	users in each c	ategory

Chou et al

Characteristic	Non-Internet Users	Internet Users	
	(N = 2566, 31.46%)	(N = 5078, 68.54%)	
Age	P < .001		
18-24	15.2%	84.8%	
25-34	23.0%	77.0%	
35-44	21.7%	78.3%	
45-54	28.9%	71.1%	
55-64	33.0%	67.0%	
65+	66.4%	33.6%	
Gender	P = .003		
Male	33.6%	66.4%	
Female	29.5%	70.6%	
Education	<i>P</i> < .001		
High school or less	50.5%	49.5%	
Some college	17.1%	82.9%	
College graduate	9.0%	91.0%	
Race/ethnicity	<i>P</i> < .001		
Non-Hispanic white	25.0%	75.2%	
Hispanic	50.7%	49.3%	
Black/African American	43.3%	56.8%	
Other ^a	25.8%	74.2%	
General health	<i>P</i> < .001		
Excellent, very good, or good	26.7%	73.3%	
Fair or poor	51.4%	48.6%	
Psychological distress	<i>P</i> < .001		
Yes	43.4%	56.6%	
No	28.4%	71.6%	
Cancer experience	<i>P</i> < .001		
No personal experience with cancer	36.7%	63.3%	
Had family with cancer	26.3%	73.7%	
Cancer survivor	43.1%	56.9%	
Have regular health care provider	P < .001		
Yes	29.1%	70.9%	
No	35.7%	64.3%	

^a Other includes American Indian, Asian American, Pacific Islander, Native Hawaiian, Alaskan Native, and multiple races mentioned.

Bivariate analyses revealed a number of significant differences between Internet users and non-Internet users. Consistent with prior results, non-Internet users were more likely to be ethnic minorities, older, less educated, less healthy, more distressed, and to report a history of a cancer diagnosis. Further, as Table 2 below shows, among Internet users, approximately 27% reported using at least one form of social media. We used chi-square tests to compare those who reported using social media (as defined by individuals who responded "yes" to at least one of the three questions on social media) to Internet users who reported not using social media.



Chou et al

Table 2.	Weighted sample characteristics of	f Internet users (N	= 5078, 68.54% c	of US population)	who use and do no	t use social media
----------	------------------------------------	---------------------	------------------	-------------------	-------------------	--------------------

Characteristic	Don't Use Social Media	Use Social Media
	(N = 3660, 72.65%)	(N = 1378, 27.35%)
Age ^a	<i>P</i> < .001	
18-24	23.7%	76.4%
25-34	42.7%	57.3%
35-44	64.6%	35.5%
45-54	77.6%	22.4%
55-64	86.8%	13.1%
65+	92.0%	8.00%
Gender	<i>P</i> = .25	
Male	60.2%	39.8%
Female	62.6%	37.4%
Education ^a	P = .02	
High school or less	62.1%	37.9%
Some college	58.7%	41.3%
College graduate	65.3%	34.7%
Race/ethnicity ^a	<i>P</i> < .001	
Non-Hispanic White	64.9%	35.2%
Hispanic	56.4%	43.6%
Black/African American	53.4%	46.6%
Other ^b	49.7%	50.3%
General health	<i>P</i> = .27	
Excellent, very good, or good	62.5%	37.5%
Fair or poor	58.3%	41.7%
Psychological distress ^a	<i>P</i> = .02	
Yes	49.1%	50.9%
No	62.7%	37.3%
Cancer experience ^a	<i>P</i> < .001	
No personal experience with cancer	61.3%	38.7%
Had family with cancer	60.7%	39.3%
Cancer survivor	81.6%	18.4%
Have regular health care provider ^a	<i>P</i> < .001	
Yes	65.4%	34.7%
No	52.4%	47.6%

^a Variables that are significantly associated with social media use at P < .05 level.

^b Other includes American Indian, Asian American, Pacific Islander, Native Hawaiian, Alaskan Native, and multiple races mentioned.

Among Internet users, use of social media was not uniformly distributed across the age strata. The largest proportion of social media use occurred among Internet users between the ages of 18 and 24 (65%) and decreased thereafter with each subsequent age group. In addition, patterns of social media use varied by race. Non-white Americans who accessed the Internet were more likely to use social media than white Americans.

The potentially different user characteristics among different types of social media prompted separate analyses by each type of media. Table 3 summarizes the bivariate associations between each type of social media (not mutually exclusive) and the study variables.

XSL•FO

Table 3. Bivariate associations between three types of social media use and study variables: weighted results

Characteristic	Online Support Group Users	Bloggers	Social Networking Site Users
	(N = 232)	(N = 356)	(N = 1159)
Percent of Internet users	4.6%	7.1%	23.0%
Age ^a	<i>P</i> < .001	P < .001	<i>P</i> < .001
18-24	1.4%	21.3%	74.0%
25-34	7.8%	16.3%	52.1%
35-44	6.7%	8.2%	30.4%
45-54	5.3%	4.7%	17.5%
55-64	3.6%	3.2%	9.2%
65+	2.0%	1.3%	5.5%
Gender	<i>P</i> = .06	<i>P</i> = .34	<i>P</i> = .13
Male	4.0%	9.3%	35.9%
Female	5.9%	10.6%	32.7%
Education ^a	P = .02	<i>P</i> = .12	P = .005
High school or less	3.5%	8.4%	35.4%
Some college	6.7%	12.0%	36.8%
College graduate	4.2%	8.8%	29.7%
Race/ethnicity ^a	<i>P</i> = .81	<i>P</i> = .43	<i>P</i> < .001
Non-Hispanic white	5.0%	8.9%	31.2%
Hispanic	3.5%	9.1%	41.3%
Black/African American	5.2%	12.9%	42.8%
Other ^b	4.9%	12.9%	44.7%
General health ^a	<i>P</i> = .003	<i>P</i> = .82	P = .70
Excellent, very good, or good	4.1%	9.7%	33.8%
Fair or poor	10.8%	10.2%	35.2%
Psychological distress ^a	<i>P</i> = .01	<i>P</i> = .45	P = .06
Yes	15.7%	13.5%	44.6%
No	4.2%	9.6%	33.4%
Cancer experience ^a	<i>P</i> < .001	P < .001	<i>P</i> < .001
No personal experience with cancer	2.6%	8.1%	36.5%
Have family with cancer	5.4%	11.0%	35.0%
Cancer survivor	8.1%	3.5%	10.2%
Have regular health care provider ^a	<i>P</i> = .83	<i>P</i> = .02	<i>P</i> < .001
Yes	5.1%	8.6%	30.2%
No	4.7%	13.3%	43.7%

^a Variables that are significantly associated with one or more of the social media variables at P < .05 level.

^b Other includes American Indian, Asian American, Pacific Islander, Native Hawaiian, Alaskan Native, and multiple races mentioned.

Among the three forms of social media included in the survey, social networking received the most utilization (23% of Internet users), followed by blogging (7% of Internet users) and, finally, participation in online support groups (5% of Internet users).

Blogging and social networking site participation showed the expected inverse linear relationship with age (ie, increased use across decreasing age strata). Partially because of the younger age, users tend to not have personal experience with cancer and not have a regular health care provider. The user characteristic profile of online support group participation was distinct from

the other two forms of social media. Use of online support groups was rarely seen in the youngest age group (18-24) and was uniquely associated with several health-related factors, including rating general health as poor and reporting psychological distress. In contrast, blogging and social networking site participation were not associated with measures of self-reported health status. Finally, we found an unexpected education and racial/ethnic breakdown among social networking site users: less-educated individuals and racial/ethnic minorities were more likely to use this form of social media. However, these differences disappeared in subsequent regression analyses (below), suggesting that the differences observed here are likely explained by age.

Multivariate Analyses

The three separate multivariate regressions estimated the odds of using a particular form of social media in HINTS 2007. Given that gender was not associated with social media use at the bivariate level, we dropped it from the regression models. Table 4 displays the results of the analysis.

Among Internet users, online support group participation was predicted by age, education, as well as several health-related factors. Compared with people 65 and over, those aged 25-44 were three to five times more likely to use support groups. Compared with college graduates, those with some college were more likely to use support groups. Moreover, consistent with the bivariate-level observations, those who regarded themselves as less healthy, more distressed, and who had a personal cancer experience were more likely to have used online support groups, confirming that health status is an important determinant of support group participation.

In contrast to the model for support group participation, age emerged as the only significant predictor in the models of blogging and social networking site participation. A statistically significant linear effect of age on the two outcome variables was observed (P < .001). Among individuals aged 55 and below, we observed a strong linear age effect, with each decreasing age stratum, in the odds of blogging. Participation in social networking sites shared similar user characteristics, except the odds ratios were even larger, with the age effect encompassing every age stratum. In addition, among Internet users, African Americans were more likely than non-Hispanic whites to use a social networking site (OR = 1.51, 95% CI 1.01-2.24).

Chou	et a	al
------	------	----

Table 4. Multivariate logistic regressions of three types of social media use among Internet users

Characteristic	Odds of Participating in an Online Support Group		Odds of Writing in a Blog		Odds of Using a working Site	Odds of Using a Social Net- working Site	
	OR (95% CI)	Р	OR (95% CI)	Р	OR (95% CI)	Р	
Age		<.001		<.001		<.001	
18-24	0.98 (0.28-3.45)	.98	19.11 (7.60-48.06)	<.001	47.85 (27.92-82.00)	<.001	
25-34	4.97 (2.30-10.75)	< .001	13.12 (5.53-31.13)	<.001	17.62 (10.56-29.42)	< .001	
35-44	3.64 (1.87-7.08)	< .001	6.71 (2.80-16.06)	< .001	6.97 (4.57-10.64)	< .001	
45-54	3.16 (1.59-6.28)	.002	3.31 (1.31-8.39)	.01	3.41 (2.23-5.20)	< .001	
55-64	1.76 (0.78-3.93)	.17	1.96 (0.77-4.99)	.15	1.62 (1.04-2.52)	.03	
65+	1.00		1.00		1.00		
Education		.01		.07		.48	
High school or less	0.83 (0.48-1.43)	.49	0.73 (0.52-1.03)	.07	0.85 (0.65-1.11)	.23	
Some college	1.58 (1.06-2.36)	.02	1.11 (0.77-1.60)	.56	0.96 (0.74-1.23)	.73	
College graduate	1.00		1.00		1.00		
Race/ethnicity		.92		.47		.13	
Non-Hispanic white	1.00		1.00		1.00		
Hispanic	0.75 (0.30-1.92)	.55	0.78 (0.37-1.65)	.51	0.83 (0.53-1.31)	.42	
Black/African American	0.99 (0.48-2.08)	.98	1.58 (0.85-2.95)	.14	1.51 (1.01-2.24)	.04	
Other ^a	1.08 (0.46-2.56)	.86	1.31 (0.63-2.75)	.46	1.36 (0.82-2.27)	.23	
General health							
Excellent, very good, or good	1.00		1.00		1.00		
Fair or poor	2.25 (1.31-3.87)	.004	1.01 (0.53-1.93)	.97	1.09 (0.77-1.55)	.63	
Psychological distress							
Yes	3.28 (1.59-6.77)	.001	1.45 (0.53-3.96)	.46	1.49 (0.88-2.52)	.14	
No	1.00		1.00		1.00		
Cancer experience		.002		.15		.02	
No personal experience with cancer	1.00		1.00		1.00		
Have family with cancer	2.11 (1.24-3.58)	.007	1.53 (0.99-2.38)	.06	1.12 (0.85-1.48)	.41	
Cancer survivor	4.20 (1.98-8.92)	< .001	1.24 (0.56-2.74)	.60	0.63 (0.40-1.01)	.06	

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e48/

Characteristic	Odds of Participating in an Online Support Group		Odds of Writing in a Blog		Odds of Using a Social Net- working Site	
	OR (95% CI)	Р	OR (95% CI)	Р	OR (95% CI)	Р
Have regular health care provider	·					
Yes	1.05 (0.58-1.90)	.87	0.99 (0.63-1.58)	.97	1.13 (0.85-1.52)	.39
No	1.00		1.00		1.00	

^a Other includes American Indian, Asian American, Pacific Islander, Native Hawaiian, Alaskan Native, and multiple races mentioned.

Age-Stratified Multivariate Analyses

Given the central role of age in predicting social media use, and the significant interactions found between age and race/ethnicity, we conducted age-stratified logistic regressions to see whether adjusting for specific age strata would illuminate other important variables associated with social media use. Age was stratified into three categories for multivariate logistic regression models: 18-34 (younger group), 35-54 (middle-age group), 55 and older (older group). In general, the stratified models confirmed age to be the single most important predictor of social media use. Significant predictors within each type are summarized below. Note that all results reported are significant at P < .05.

Online Support Group

In the youngest group, higher education (OR = 6.33, 95% CI 2.10-19.10) and higher distress level (OR = 5.56, 95% CI 1.65-18.76) explained the outcome. Among the middle-age group, female gender (OR = 2.04, 95% CI 1.20-3.46) and higher education (OR = 2.13, 95% CI 1.21-5.12) were significant predictors. In the oldest group, poorer self-reported health (OR = 3.39, 95% CI 1.38-8.34) explained support group use.

Blogging

In all three age categories, the age-stratified models found no significant predictors of blogging.

Social Networking Sites

In the middle-age group, having no personal experience with cancer predicted social networking site participation (OR = 0.39, 95% CI 0.18-0.86). For the oldest group, male gender was the sole predictor of social networking site use (OR = 1.87, 95% CI 1.28-2.71).

Discussion

The current study examined sociodemographic and health-related predictors of the use of three forms of social media in an effort to better understand who is accessing and being reached through these emerging communication channels. The results showed that these three forms of social media have distinctly different use patterns and user characteristics, hence different health communication implications. Among the three forms of social media considered in this study, social networking sites by far attract the most users, making them an obvious target for maximizing the reach and impact of health communication and eHealth interventions. Furthermore, with increasing prevalence of personal wireless devices, communication scientists unanimously anticipate the popularity of social

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e48/
```

RenderX

networking applications to continue to grow worldwide [2,25-27]. Compared to social networking sites, a much smaller percentage of Internet users reported writing in a blog, suggesting a lower prevalence of blogging. However, reading and commenting on a blog may have been a more reliable measure of blogosphere penetration due to its lower intensity than actively keeping a blog. Moreover, the blogosphere presents a tremendous opportunity for health communication. Particularly so, because bloggers have been observed to act as important communication stakeholders—not only are they information disseminators, but they play a crucial role in directing Internet traffic through opinions and hyperlinks [28].

Online support group participation was the only survey item included in the present study that was assessed throughout the three iterations of HINTS, and the weighted prevalence estimates suggest a minor increase: in 2003 and 2005, 3.9% of Internet users had participated in online support groups compared to 4.6% in 2007. User characteristics of support groups differed from blogging and social networking site participation, suggesting that online support group participation is driven by health status. This disease-focused medium may be gradually replaced by more interactive, patient-directed social networking sites and blogs, such as CaringBridge and Patientslikeme. These forms of social media have the potential to serve the social support and empowerment functions previously identified for online support groups [29].

Apart from the patterns described above, the results of the study underscore the extent to which age determines who among US adult Internet users are engaging with social media. In this nationally representative sample, age emerged as the single strongest predictor of both social networking and blogging. In light of these findings, it seems reasonable to conclude that health communication efforts utilizing social media will have the broadest reach and impact when the target population is the younger generation. The relatively low penetration in the older population of 55 and older suggests that it is not yet an opportune time to utilize social media in communication with this age group. While this is true currently, we predict a continuing increase in utilization across all generations and groups in the next few years, and it remains a key health communication priority to continue tracking the sociodemographic trends of social media use to be sure that health communicators leverage these dissemination channels most effectively. Finally, for cancer communication efforts, this study found a high prevalence of Internet and social media use among individuals with family members who have/had cancer (see Table 1 and Table 2), suggesting the potential effectiveness

of social media cancer communication efforts targeting "secondary audiences," that is, caregivers, family, and friends of cancer patients.

A key finding of this study offers new and important implications for health communication in this digital age: among Internet users, social media are found to penetrate the population regardless of education, race/ethnicity, or health care access. In particular, the multivariate analyses showed that having access to a regular health care provider did not predict social media use, suggesting that its significance in the bivariate analyses was primarily due to the effect of age. Specifically, younger individuals are less likely to have a regular health care provider. Considering implications of health communication efforts, the results of this study suggest that in the future, social media promise to be a way to reach the target population regardless of socioeconomic and health-related characteristics. If we can enable broader and more equitable Internet access (eg, increasing broadband access or wireless mobile access), thus reducing the digital divide, the potential for impacting the health and health behavior of the general US population through social media is tremendous. Furthermore, the results showed social networking sites are being utilized by African Americans at a higher rate than by non-Hispanic whites. Given the continuing increase in Internet penetration, these findings suggest a potential systematic shift in the communication pattern that transcends the traditional digital divide. Future studies should continue to examine the impact of changing technologies on patterns of health disparities. On the practice side of health communication, social media outlets may represent an excellent opportunity to reach traditionally underserved members of the population.

Limitations

The nature of self-report and the current low survey response rates present two major challenges to the generalizability of the results. First, the accuracy of self-reports of specific Internet usage may be affected by recall bias and respondents' comprehension of survey items. In spite of this issue, this study's prevalence estimates on Internet and social media penetration are in agreement with the published literature and are the first to be drawn from a nationally representative sample. One aspect to note is that compared to market surveys such as the Pew and Manhattan Research reports, the HINTS estimates are generally more conservative. This is in part attributable to the higher sampling precision mandated for federal surveys. Second, low response rate being a challenge facing all current survey research, HINTS 2007 attempted to boost response rates and extend coverage (especially to cell phone-only households) by adapting a dual sampling frame. As a result, the addition of the mail survey helped remedy the low response rate, to increase the generalizability of the data.

An additional limitation concerns the instrumentation and questions related to blogging and social networking site participation: since neither question asked specifically about health-related use of these technologies, we cannot precisely estimate the prevalence of health-related social media use using HINTS data. Given the growing role of social media in health, future iterations of HINTS may specifically capture health-related social media use [10]. As well, the question on blogging does not capture individuals who view and comment on blogs and thus may underestimate the degree to which the American public is engaged with this activity.

Finally, with new technologies and social media continuing to evolve rapidly, these data, despite being the most updated national survey data available, may not have been able to capture some emerging social media forms (eg, Twitter and Wikipedia) and rapid changes brought on by the increasing use of personal wireless devices [27]. In order to track the public's use of new media, future research should track different age groups' social media adoption while identifying new forms of social media. Given that the younger age groups are likely to continue their use of social media, we would expect to see a persistent increase across the middle-age population in the near future.

Conclusions

With the goal to develop a better understanding of social media use in the current US population, we have reported on the prevalence and user characteristics of three types of social media using the 2007 HINTS survey. While observations and theories about communication changes brought about by new technologies abound, little is supported by empirical evidence based on nationally representative data. The findings of this study contribute to the knowledge base to inform future programs aiming to utilize social media.

As we have seen, forms of social media present different opportunities for health communication efforts. In particular, social networking sites attract the largest portion of Internet users and are likely to continue to grow, making them an obvious target for maximizing the reach and impact of health communication and eHealth interventions. In addition, recent growth of social media is not uniformly distributed across age groups. New health communication programs aiming to utilize social media must first consider the age of the targeted population. The data also prompt a rethinking of the connection between technologies and health disparities since the findings point to the fact that social media are penetrating individuals of different demographics at the same rate. Opportunities for narrowing the health disparities gap exist through effective use of social media as communication and health promotion platforms. These media will not enable targeted communication messages but may have the capacity to reach a wider audience than traditional media have been able to reach.

Finally, while surveillance research such as the present project is useful for determining the reach of social media, it is less useful for assessing the impact of participation in social media use on health. To assess the multiple levels of social media impact on health, future studies need to bring in diverse disciplines and methods, including intervention studies, longitudinal cohort studies, as well as ethnographic/qualitative observations to examine the effect of the social media–driven changing communication patterns on health.



Acknowledgments

This project has been funded in whole or in part with federal funds from the National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Jones S, Fox S. Generations online in 2009. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2009. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/Reports/2009/Generations-Online-in-2009.aspx</u> [accessed 2009-04-08] [WebCite Cache ID 5kIf3zqjT]
- 2. Eysenbach G. Medicine 2.0: social networking, collaboration, participation, apomediation, and openness. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(3):e22 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18725354] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1030]
- 3. Vance K, Howe W, Dellavalle RP. Social internet sites as a source of public health information. Dermatol Clin 2009;27(2):133-136, vi.
- Thackeray R, Neiger BL, Hanson CL, McKenzie JF. Enhancing promotional strategies within social marketing programs: use of Web 2.0 social media. Health Promot Pract 2008 Oct;9(4):338-343. [Medline: <u>18936268</u>] [doi: <u>10.1177/1524839908325335</u>]
- 5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Social Media at CDC URL: <u>http://cdc.gov/socialmedia/</u> [accessed 2009-03-31] [WebCite Cache ID 5kIfE6xwL]
- Norman CD, McIntosh S, Selby P, Eysenbach G. Web-assisted tobacco interventions: empowering change in the global fight for the public's (e)Health. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(5):e48 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19033147</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1171</u>]
- 7. Atkinson NL, Saperstein SL, Pleis J. Using the internet for health-related activities: findings from a national probability sample. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19275980</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1035</u>]
- 8. Wangberg SC, Andreassen HK, Prokosch HU, Santana SMV, Sørensen T, Chronaki CE. Relations between Internet use, socio-economic status (SES), social support and subjective health. Health Promot Int 2008 Mar;23(1):70-77 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18083686] [doi: 10.1093/heapro/dam039]
- 9. Idriss SZ, Kvedar JC, Watson AJ. The role of online support communities: benefits of expanded social networks to patients with psoriasis. Arch Dermatol 2009 Jan;145(1):46-51. [Medline: <u>19153342</u>] [doi: <u>10.1001/archdermatol.2008.529</u>]
- 10. Hawn C. Take two aspirin and tweet me in the morning: how Twitter, Facebook, and other social media are reshaping health care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2009;28(2):361-368. [Medline: <u>19275991</u>] [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.28.2.361</u>]
- Khanna PM. Icyou: how social media is the new resource for online health information. Medscape J Med 2008;10(5):113
 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18596952]
- 12. Khan SA, McFarlane DJ, Li J, Ancker JS, Hutchinson C, Cohall A, et al. Healthy Harlem: empowering health consumers through social networking, tailoring and web 2.0 technologies. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2007:1007. [Medline: <u>18694106</u>]
- 13. Block G, Sternfeld B, Block CH, Block TJ, Norris J, Hopkins D, et al. Development of Alive! (A Lifestyle Intervention Via Email), and its effect on health-related quality of life, presenteeism, and other behavioral outcomes: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(4):e43 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19019818] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1112]
- 14. Habel MA, Liddon N, Stryker JE. The HPV vaccine: a content analysis of online news stories. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2009 Mar;18(3):401-407 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19281323</u>] [doi: <u>10.1089/jwh.2008.0920</u>]
- 15. Kortum P, Edwards C, Richards-Kortum R. The impact of inaccurate Internet health information in a secondary school learning environment. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(2):e17 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18653441] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.986]
- Viswanath K, Kreuter MW. Health disparities, communication inequalities, and eHealth. Am J Prev Med 2007 May;32(5 Suppl):S131-S133 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17466818</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2007.02.012</u>]
- 17. Zhao S. Teen adoption of MySpace and IM: inner-city versus suburban differences. Cyberpsychol Behav 2009 Feb;12(1):55-58. [Medline: <u>19006460</u>] [doi: <u>10.1089/cpb.2008.0090</u>]
- Fogel J, Ribisl KM, Morgan PD, Humphreys K, Lyons EJ. Underrepresentation of African Americans in online cancer support groups. J Natl Med Assoc 2008 Jun;100(6):705-712. [Medline: <u>18595573</u>]
- 19. Jackson LA, Zhao Y, Kolenic A, Fitzgerald HE, Harold R, Von Eye A. Race, gender, and information technology use: the new digital divide. Cyberpsychol Behav 2008 Aug;11(4):437-442. [Medline: <u>18721092</u>] [doi: <u>10.1089/cpb.2007.0157</u>]
- 20. Cammaerts B. Critiques on the participatory potentials of Web 2.0. communication. Culture & Critique 2008;1(4):358-377. [doi: 10.1111/j.1753-9137.2008.00028.x]
- 21. Nelson DE, Kreps GL, Hesse BW, Croyle RT, Willis G, Arora NK. The Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS): development, design, and dissemination. J Health Commun 2004;9(5):443-460.
- 22. Hesse BW, Moser RP, Rutten LJF, Kreps GL. The Health Information National Trends Survey: research from the baseline. J Health Commun 2006;11(Suppl 1):vii-xvi.
- 23. Cantor D, Coa K, Crystal-Mansour S, Davis T, Dipko S, Sigman R. Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 2007 Final Report. Rockville, MD: Westat; 2009.

RenderX

- 24. Beckjord EB, Finney Rutten LJ, Squiers L, Arora NK, Volckmann L, Moser RP, et al. Use of the internet to communicate with health care providers in the United States: estimates from the 2003 and 2005 Health Information National Trends Surveys (HINTS). J Med Internet Res 2007;9(3):e20 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 17627929] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.3.e20]
- Della LJ, Eroglu D, Bernhardt JM, Edgerton E, Nall J. Looking to the future of new media in health marketing: deriving propositions based on traditional theories. Health Mark Q 2008;25(1-2):147-174. [Medline: <u>18935883</u>] [doi: <u>10.1080/07359680802126210</u>]
- 26. Bernhardt JM. Improving health through health marketing. Prev Chronic Dis 2006 Jun 15;3(3):A73 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 16776874]
- 27. Horrigan J. Wireless Internet use. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2009 Jul 22. URL: <u>http://pewinternet.org/Reports/2009/12-Wireless-Internet-Use.aspx</u> [accessed 2009-07-31] [WebCite Cache ID 5kIfHHw6G]
- 28. Lefebvre RC. The new technology: the consumer as participant rather than target audience. Social Marketing Quarterly 2007;13(3):31-42. [doi: 10.1080/15245000701544325]
- van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CHC, Taal E, Seydel ER, van de Laar MAFJ. Participation in online patient support groups endorses patients' empowerment. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Jan;74(1):61-69. [Medline: <u>18778909</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2008.07.044</u>]

Abbreviations

HINTS: Health Information National Trends Survey

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 20.04.09; peer-reviewed by N Atkinson; comments to author 22.07.09; revised version received 06.10.09; accepted 09.10.09; published 27.11.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Chou WYS, Hunt YM, Beckjord EB, Moser RP, Hesse BW Social Media Use in the United States: Implications for Health Communication J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e48 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e48/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/jmir.1249</u> PMID:<u>19945947</u>

© Wen-ying Sylvia Chou, Yvonne M Hunt, Ellen Burke Beckjord, Richard P Moser, Bradford W Hesse. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 27.11.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Age-Sensitive Design of Online Health Information: Comparative Usability Study

Richard Pak¹, PhD; Margaux M Price¹, BA; Jason Thatcher², PhD

¹Department of Psychology, Clemson University, Clemson, SC, USA ²Department of Management, Clemson University, Clemson, SC, USA

Corresponding Author: Richard Pak, PhD Department of Psychology Clemson University 418 Brackett Hall Clemson, SC 29634 USA Phone: +1 864 656 1584 Fax: +1 864 656 0358 Email: richpak@clemson.edu

Abstract

Background: Older adults' health maintenance may be enhanced by having access to online health information. However, usability issues may prevent older adults from easily accessing such information. Prior research has shown that aging is associated with a unique pattern of cognitive changes, and knowledge of these changes may be used in the design of health websites for older adults.

Objective: The goal of the current study was to examine whether older adults use of a health information website was affected by an alternative information architecture and access interface (hierarchical versus tag-based).

Methods: Fifty younger adults (aged 18-23) and 50 older adults (aged 60-80) navigated a health information website, which was organized hierarchically or used tags/keywords, to find answers to health-related questions while their performance was tracked. We hypothesized that older adults would perform better in the tag-based health information website because it placed greater demands on abilities that remain intact with aging (verbal ability and vocabulary).

Results: The pattern of age-related differences in computer use was consistent with prior research with older adults. We found that older adults had been using computers for less time ($F_{1,98}$ = 10.6, P= .002) and used them less often ($F_{1,98}$ = 11.3, P= .001) than younger adults. Also consistent with the cognitive aging literature, younger adults had greater spatial visualization and orientation abilities ($F_{1,98}$ = 34.6, P< .001 and $F_{1,98}$ = 6.8, P= .01) and a larger memory span ($F_{1,98}$ = 5.7, P= .02) than older adults, but older adults had greater vocabulary ($F_{1,98}$ = 11.4, P= .001). Older adults also took significantly more medications than younger adults ($F_{1,98}$ = 57.7, P< .001). In the information search task, older adults performed worse than younger adults ($F_{1,96}$ = 18.0, P< .001). However, there was a significant age × condition interaction indicating that while younger adults outperformed older adults in the hierarchical condition ($F_{1,96}$ = 25.2, P< .001), there were no significant age-related differences in the tag-based condition, indicating that older adults performed as well as younger adults in this condition.

Conclusions: Access to online health information is increasing in popularity and can lead to a more informed health consumer. However, usability barriers may differentially affect older adults. The results of the current study suggest that the design of health information websites that take into account age-related changes in cognition can enhance older adults' access to such information.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e45) doi: 10.2196/jmir.1220

KEYWORDS

Internet; information organization; aging; health-related websites

Introduction

According to a recent Pew report on Internet usage, up to 80% of American Internet users have accessed health information on the Internet, with 64% of Americans searching for information about a specific disease and 51% searching for treatments [1]. The ease with which health consumers can access high-quality, doctor-reviewed medical information has the potential to allow patients to take more control of their health outcomes. The same Pew report shows mostly positive perceived outcomes with this ease of information access, such as feeling relieved or comforted by the information found (56%) and, more importantly, feeling confident about raising questions to the doctor after searching the Internet (56%).

However, the wealth of available information may be a curse to some health consumers: 25% of consumers who have searched for health information on the Internet felt overwhelmed by the amount of information available [1]. In addition, some sources of online health information may be of higher quality than others [2]. The issue of quality and reliability of information is problematic for interpretation when combined with health consumers' potential lack of knowledge on health topics. Despite these downsides, access to information does seem to lead to better-perceived outcomes, such as increased confidence in patients' perception of their health care decision-making ability [1].

Abilities, Aging, and Internet Use

The current study examined older adults' ability to easily access online health information. Specifically, we were interested in understanding whether interface design influenced successful access and usage of online health information sources by older adults (those age 60 and over). As a group, older adults are less active users of the Internet and Web services when compared to other age groups [3]. In addition, older adults are also more likely to suffer from various health conditions [4] and take more medications [5]. Access to quality health information might be especially beneficial to older adults' maintenance of their more complicated health situations [6]. Being better informed may allow them to ask more questions of their health care providers or to alleviate their concerns due to lack of information.

There are a myriad of reasons why older adults are less active users of the Web. One reason is that getting older is associated with cognitive changes that make using the Web and computers in general more challenging [7-9]. Using the Internet, and more specifically navigating online information sources, places particularly heavy demands on "fluid abilities" [9]. Fluid cognitive abilities, for example working memory (the ability to hold contents in memory while attending to other things) and abilities (creating and manipulating spatial mental representations such as maps), allow us to think and act in situations that are novel[9]. Fluid abilities can be described as the means or process that allows us to learn and adapt in novel situations. When we browse or navigate a website, our performance depends on our ability to keep track of where we were in the system (working memory) and our ability to create abstract maps or models of the system (spatial abilities) [10].

As these abilities decline with age, performance on tasks that depend heavily on these abilities suffers.

However, increasing age is also associated with an increase in "crystallized intelligence" [11]. Crystallized intelligence is the nonspecific, accumulated knowledge that one gains from a lifetime of education and experience. It is the product of formal education and life experience. It is commonly measured in the laboratory with tests of vocabulary or general knowledge. In a prior study, Pak and Price [12] examined age-related changes in cognition and designed a Web interface that was adjusted for older users' cognitive abilities. When websites were designed around keywords, or tags, instead of in a hierarchy (or folders), older users were more efficient at finding information online. In that study, younger and older users browsed a fictional travel information website to answer a series of specific questions (eg, "Where do you mail your passport application?"). Pak and Price theorized that the older adults' advantage was due in part to their greater facility with general vocabulary and verbal ability and the interface's reduced demands on age-sensitive spatial abilities. In their analysis, the tag-based interface placed greater demands on knowledge of vocabulary, which is an ability that grows with age; that is, the cognitive requirements of navigating in a tag-based system (compared to navigating a hierarchy) seemed to have been especially dependent on good verbal and vocabulary abilities. In many studies, including our prior study, older adults routinely outperformed younger adults on tests of vocabulary and verbal knowledge [7].

Overview of the Study

In Pak and Price's study [12], the travel domain was chosen to equate the amount of knowledge between younger and older adults. Prior research had shown that younger and older users did not differ in their knowledge and experience with such information [13]. However, the findings from our prior study needed replication, especially in a domain that may be more applicable to older adults: online health information. In the current study, we examined whether older adults' navigation of a health information website would improve in a tag-based interface. There currently exists a large body of literature related to aging and usability issues on the Web (see [14] for an extensive review). However, there is far too little work on translation of this basic research into design and testing of design recommendations to improve Web usability for older adults.

Methods

Participants

The younger adults recruited for the study were college students, while the older adults were community-dwelling, independent-living adults recruited through newspaper advertisements. Younger adults participated for course credit or US\$7/hour, whereas the older adults participated in exchange for US\$7/hour.

Participants were asked about their computer experience, including length of computer experience and frequency of use. To indirectly measure experience or exposure to health-related information, participants also reported the amount of prescription medications they were taking at the time of the

study. We also had participants fill out a more direct measure of health literacy, the Short Test of Functional Health Literacy in Adults (STOFHLA [15]). Finally, several ability measures were included to compare our sample of participants to typical samples used in age studies. They were a measure of general vocabulary knowledge (Shipley vocabulary test [16]), a measure of working memory (reverse digit span [17]), two measures of spatial ability (paper folding and cube comparison [18]), and finally a measure a perceptual speed (digit symbol substitution [19]).

Web Interfaces

To create the interfaces, we first copied content from various health-related websites. The majority of information was taken from the National Institutes of Health website NIHSeniorHealth [20]. A total of 122 Web pages were captured, and the pages' appearance was standardized (eg, same font, size, colors). These Web pages were organized using one of two information architectural schemes: tag/keyword-based or hierarchical (folders). To create these information architectures, we first grouped the 122 pages into a hierarchical system. This was done by having undergraduate students carry out a card-sorting procedure. In the procedure, students placed each page into an organizational hierarchy that made sense to them. Afterwards, they named these groupings. The results of several sessions of card sorting were merged to create the hierarchical condition that consisted of 10 top-level categories (bone and joint, cardiovascular diseases, depression, diabetes, dry mouth, hearing and vision, lung diseases, medications, skin cancer, and talking to your doctor). This same methodology was used by Pak and Price [12]. The tag-based system was created directly from the hierarchy. For example, if a page on gout treatment was organized in the hierarchical condition as Bone & Joint > Arthritis > Gout > Treatment, it was assigned the keywords "bone & joint," "arthritis," "gout," and "treatment." Our rationale for such a label assignment system was our overriding

concern to keep the label names as constant as possible across both conditions. We did not want to inadvertently present more or better information in one condition over another.

The main difference between the two conditions (aside from the visual difference; the hierarchical condition was visually longer) was that Web pages were only accessible in the hierarchical condition if the participant reached the single category in which it resided (ie, they had to reach the exact "folder" or "subfolder" that held the desired page). However, in the tag-based condition, Web pages could be accessed by selecting any label that was associated with the page. Figure 1 and Figure 2 show the access interfaces for the hierarchical and tag-based conditions, respectively. They illustrate the task flow for a user answering a question about gout. In both conditions, users were presented with the question at the top of the screen, the navigation interface (hierarchical or tag-based) on the left side, and the information pane on the right side.

Hierarchical organization is typically how information is organized on the Web (eg, NIHSeniorHealth). A sample hierarchical organization in our example would be the pages related to "gout" organized within the "arthritis" folder, which is within the "bones & joint" folder. The hierarchical organization is identical to how one might organize files on a computer using nested folders.

In the tag-based organizational scheme, Web pages were each labeled with keywords and the interface presented these keywords to the user. For example, if the user clicked on the gout keyword, all pages that were pre-assigned that keyword appeared (eg, a page on gout prevention, definition of gout). This is similar to how photographs are organized on the photo-sharing website Flickr.com. However, the important difference was that in our website the tags were pre-assigned by the experimenters, while on other websites tags are user generated.



Figure 1. Task flow for a user in the hierarchical interface condition

How long, after to	eatment, will a gout attack usually last?	1. User receives first question (images
home back	Instructions	cropped)
nome back Categories: Bone and Joint Arthritis Gout Symptoms Reumatoid Arthritis Osteoporosis Symptoms Heart Attack Heart Attack Heart Attack Heart Fallure High Blood Pressure High Blood Pressure Treatment Medications Depression Treatment Medications Diabetes Symptoms	Please find the answer to the question above. Please work as quickly as you can without making mistakes.	
How long, after t	eatment, will a gout attack usually last?	2. The user clicks on the "treatment"
bone back Categories: Bone and Joint Arthritis Gout Symptoms Treatment Symptoms Symptoms Symptoms Heart Attack Heart Attack Heart Fallure Symptoms High Blood Pressure High Blood Pressure Treatment Hedications Depression Treatment Medications Diabetes Symptoms	Web pages in this Category: • Gout Treatment • Treating Gout with Diet	category located in "Bone and Joint/Arthritis/Gout" and receives a list of pages in the center pane. Clicking the "Treatment" menu option is the only way to view the Gout Treatment page.
How long, after to	eatment, will a gout attack usually last?	3. After clicking on the "Gout treatment"
home back	Gout Treatment	(the answer is highlighted for illustrative
Categories: Bone and Joint Arthritis Gout Symptoms Treatment	With proper treatment, most people with gout are able to control their symptoms and live productive lives. The goals for treatment are to ease the pain that comes from sudden attacks, prevent future attacks, stop uric acid buildup in the tissues and joint space between two bones, and prevent kidney stones from forming.	purposes only; the user did not see the highlight).
Osteoporosis Symptoms Treatment	The most common treatments for an attack of gout are high doses of non-steroidal anti-Inflammatory drugs, or NSAIDs, which are taken by mouth, or corticosteroids, which are taken by mouth or injected into the affected joint. Patients often begin to improve within a few hours of treatment. The attack usually goes away completely within a week or so.	
Cardiovascular Diseases Heart Heart Attack Heart Attack Heart Failure Symptoms High Blood Pressure Teatment	Since NSAIDs are now available over the counter, it is important to check with your doctor concerning the safety of using these drugs and to verify the proper dosage. When NSAIDs or corticosteroids fail to control pain and swelling, the doctor may use another drug, colchicine. This drug is most effective when taken within the first 12 hours of an acute attack.	
	compounds to develop safe, effective medicines. Current research is also focusing on the structure of certain enzymes to gain a better understanding of defects that can cause gout.	
Depression Treatment Medications	Scientists are studying the effect of crystal deposits on cartilage cells for clues to treatment. They are also looking at the role of calcium deposits and how they contribute to the development of gout in the hope of finding new treatments.	
Symptoms	In addition, researchers are investigating how genetics and the environment may influence the level of uric acid in the blood	

Figure 2. Task flow for a user in the tag-based interface condition



Experimental Task

Participants were asked to answer health-related questions by searching the health information site that we provided. An example question was, "What is considered normal blood pressure?" Half of the participants searched the hierarchically organized site, while the other half searched the tag-based site. When they found the answer on a specific Web page, they clicked the answer text on the page and the application presented feedback as to the correctness of the answer. A total of 25 questions were presented. The Web application was programmed in the PHP scripting language and ran on a local Web server. The application recorded the name of each visited Web page,

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e45/
```

XSL•FO RenderX how much time was spent on each page, and the number of times participants clicked the back button.

Study Design and Procedure

The study was a 2 (age group: young, old) \times 2 (organizational scheme: hierarchical or tag-based) factorial with age group as a grouping variable and organizational scheme as a between-group variable. Sessions were assigned to each condition and tested in a computer lab in groups of three to four people so that all participants in a session were assigned to either a hierarchical condition or a tag-based condition. The dependent variables were task completion time, errors, and mouse clicks.

Participants first filled out paperwork (eg, consent form, demographics, abilities tests) and then moved to the computer to start the information search task. Participants as a group were first guided by the experimenter through two example questions. During the example questions, participants got acquainted with the interface, and any questions were answered. After this practice session, participants were instructed to complete the search tasks as quickly but as accurately as possible and were left to complete the task on their own. These instructions were reiterated by the computer after every trial.

Statistical Analyses

The three dependent measures of performance (task time, clicks, and errors) were subjected to a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) with condition and age group as between-subject factors. In addition to an analysis of the individual dependent measures, a composite variable with the three dependent measures was created. The benefits of creating a composite are increased stability of measurement. A composite performance variable incorporating task completion time, error rate, and number of steps was created for analysis. Each dependent variable was normalized (zscore transformed), and these individual zscores were averaged to create a unit-less composite performance variable that ranged from 1 (worst performance) to -1 (best performance). The analysis of composite variables in usability evaluation has been suggested by researchers as a way to increase stability of measurement [19] and ease interpretation [19,21]. This composite performance measure was subjected to a 2×2 analysis of variance (ANOVA).

Results

Participant Characteristics

Fifty younger adults (29 female) ranging in age from 18 to 23 (mean = 19.5, SD = 1.7) and 50 older adults (27 female) ranging in age from 60 to 80 (mean = 70.6, SD = 5.6) participated in the study.

There were significant age group differences in total length of computer experience and frequency of use, with younger adults using computers for a longer period of time than older adults $(F_{1.98} = 10.6, P = .002, \eta_p^2 = .10)$ and more frequently $(F_{1.96} =$ 11.3, P = .001, $\eta_p^2 = .1$). Older adults reported taking significantly more prescriptions than younger adults ($F_{1.98}$ = 57.7, P < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .37$). According to the STOFHLA, there were no age group differences in health literacy. Older adults typically outperform younger adults on tests of vocabulary, and this was the case in our sample, with the older adults outperforming the younger adults ($F_{1, 98}$ = 11.4, P= .001, η_p^2 = .11). Younger adults, however, outperformed the older adults in the fluid ability measures (memory span $F_{1.98}$ = 5.7, P= .02, $\eta_p^2 = .06$; spatial visualization $F_{1.98} = 34.6$, P < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .27$; spatial orientation $F_{1.98}$ = 6.8, P= .01, η_p^2 = .07; and perceptual speed $F_{1,98}$ = 70.2, P< .001, η_p^2 = .42), which is consistent with the general literature on aging and cognition [7].

General participant characteristics are presented in Table 1.



 Table 1. Younger and older user characteristics by condition

	Age	Younger Users				Older Users					
	Group P ^a	Hierarchical		Tag-Based		t ^b	Hierarchical		Tag-Based		t ^b
		Mean	SD	Mean	SD		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Age (years)		19.4	1.7	19.6	1.8	0.4	70.6	5.8	69.4	5.5	-0.8
Length of computer use ^c	.002	5.0	0.0	5.0	0.2	-1.0	4.5	1.2	4.5	0.9	0.1
Frequency of computer use ^d	.001	5.9	1.0	5.6	1.0	-1.1	5.0	1.4	4.8	1.6	-0.5
Number of medications taken ^e	< .001	0.9	1.2	1.0	1.4	0.3	4.1	2.8	5.2	3.5	1.2
Health literacy ^f	.12	35.2	1.1	35.5	0.7	1.2	34.6	2.6	35.1	1.3	0.9
Vocabulary ^g	.001	30.2	3.2	27.2	5.9	-2.2	37.6	20.4	34.6	4.6	-0.7
Memory span ^h	.02	10.6	2.0	9.8	2.9	-1.1	8.3	3.0	9.5	2.6	1.5
Spatial visualization ⁱ	< .001	5.8	2.1	6.0	2.0	0.4	3.5	1.6	4.2	1.4	1.6
Spatial orientation ^j	.01	9.8	3.2	10.9	4.0	1.1	8.6	2.8	8.8	2.5	0.2
Perceptual speed ^k	< .000	66.7	10.3	66.0	9.9	-0.3	49.1	10.8	50.3	8.6	0.4

^aOne-way ANOVA.

 b_{t} tests showed no significant condition differences (within each age group) at P < .001 (stricter Pcriterion used to compensate for inflated degrees of freedom due to multiple comparisons).

^c Total length of computer experience on a scale of 1 (less than 6 months) to 5 (greater than 5 years).

^d Frequency of computer use on a scale of 1 (once every few months) to 7 (daily, most of the day).

^e Prescription medications only.

^f Test of health literacy composite score (STOFHLA) [15]; higher equals better health literacy.

^g Shipley vocabulary score; higher is better [16].

^h Reverse digit span [17].

ⁱ Paper folding test [18].

^j Cube comparison test [18].

^kDigit symbol substitution (number correct [19]).

Performance

Performance (mean task completion times, mean number of mouse clicks to completion, and mean errors per task) is shown in Table 2 and illustrated in Figure 3.

Table 2.	Measures o	f performance	as a function	of condition	and ag	ge group
----------	------------	---------------	---------------	--------------	--------	----------

	Younger Users		Older Users	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Mean task completion time (s)		·		
Tag-based	60.90	19.86	96.17	29.70
Hierarchy	62.16	16.78	119.31	41.62
Mean clicks per task				
Tag-based	6.06	1.32	5.47	.91
Hierarchy	7.43	1.60	8.52	1.83
Mean errors per task				
Tag-based	1.00	.50	1.02	.55
Hierarchy	1.55	.81	1.12	.83

Pak et al

Figure 3. Time, errors, and clicks as a function of condition and age group (error bars represent standard error)



The results of the analysis of dependent measures showed significant overall main effects of condition and age group $(F_{1,94}=23.8,P<.001, \eta_p^2=.43, F_{1,94}=29.5, P<.001, \eta_p^2=.48,$ respectively), and the interaction was significant $(F_{1,94}=4.7, P<.001, \eta_p^2=.13)$, so the main effects were not followed up. Follow-up analysis revealed that the significant interaction was due to a significant interaction in mean clicks $(F_{1,96}=8.4, P<.001, \eta_p^2=.04)$ and mean errors $(F_{1,96}=12.29, P<.001, \eta_p^2=.11)$. The interaction in mean task time was not significant (P=.06). The source of the interaction in mean clicks and errors was not significant age difference in clicks or errors in the tag condition but in the taxonomy (hierarchical) condition: older adults made more clicks than younger adults. These interactions are illustrated in Figure 3. These results conceptually replicate

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e45/

the earlier results [12] that showed that navigation through a website can be improved if the organization is organized around keywords, not a hierarchy.

The analysis of the composite measure of performance showed that the main effect of age group was significant ($F_{1,96}$ = 18.0, P < .001, η_p^2 = .16), indicating that older adults in general performed worse than younger adults. There was no significant main effect of condition; however, the age group × condition interaction was significant ($F_{1,96}$ = 8.1, P = .005, η_p^2 = .08), indicating that condition (hierarchical vs tag-based) differentially affected each age group. Post hoc analyses (Bonferonni method) revealed that the source of this interaction was the hierarchical condition. Younger adults significantly outperformed older adults in the information search task when using the hierarchical

condition ($F_{1,96}$ = 25.2, P < .001, η_p^2 = .21). However, in the tag-based condition, there were no significant performance differences between the younger and older adults in the

information search task. This replicates our earlier findings that a tag-based system that relies on the generation and recognition of keywords may benefit older adults' information-finding performance. The interaction is represented in Figure 4.

Figure 4. Performance as a function of condition and age group (error bars represent standard error)



The current finding that older users' performance searching for medical information through a tag-based system was better than through a hierarchically organized system replicates our earlier findings examining travel information. However, we also wanted to examine how pre-existing domain knowledge or experience with health and medical information might be related to performance in each of the two organizational schemes. Table 3 shows the correlations between performance, number of medications, and experience measures (computer experience and health/medical experience).

In the hierarchically organized condition, performance was significantly correlated with age (older adults performed worse than younger adults), the number of medications currently taken (increased number of medications was associated with worse performance), and health literacy (those with greater health literacy performed better). It is somewhat intuitive that health literacy (STOFHLA) was associated with better performance in the information search task, but it is puzzling that performance was not correlated with number of medications taken. We initially assumed that number of medications could be used as an indirect indicator of health knowledge, with the assumption that people who took more medications would have a greater amount of health knowledge because of their need to manage and understand their medication regimen. However, the correlation between STOFHLA and number of medications was not significant. One possibility could be that number of medications taken is a better indicator of overall cognitive and physical health status (with those taking more medications having worse health and thus cognitive status), and not knowledge.



Table 3. Correlations between health literacy and knowledge and performance in hierarchical and tag-based conditions

Hierarchical Condition							
	1	2	3	4			
Age	-						
Number of medications	0.6	-					
STOFHLA ^a	-0.2	0.0	-				
Composite performance ^b	0.6	0.3	-0.5	-			
Tag-Based Condition							
	1	2	3	4			
Age	-						
Number of medications	0.6	-					
STOFHLA ^a	-0.2	-0.1	-				
Composite performance ^b	0.2	-0.1	-0.1	-			
	Age Number of medications STOFHLA ^a Composite performance ^b ased Condition Age Number of medications STOFHLA ^a Composite performance ^b	I 1 Age - Number of medications 0.6 STOFHLA ^a -0.2 Composite performance ^b 0.6 ased Condition 1 Age - Number of medications 0.6 STOFHLA ^a - Composite performance ^b 0.6 STOFHLA ^a - Output 1 Age - Number of medications 0.6 STOFHLA ^a -0.2 Composite performance ^b 0.2	I 2 Age - Number of medications 0.6 - STOFHLA ^a -0.2 0.0 Composite performance ^b 0.6 0.3 ased Condition I 2 Age - - Number of medications 0.6 0.3 STOFHLA - 2 Age - - STOFHLA ^a - - STOFHLA ^a 0.6 - STOFHLA ^a 0.6 - Composite performance ^b 0.6 - Output 0.6 - STOFHLA ^a -0.2 -0.1 Composite performance ^b 0.2 -0.1	Image 1 2 3 Age - - - Number of medications 0.6 - - STOFHLA ^a -0.2 0.0 - Composite performance ^b 0.6 0.3 -0.5 ased Condition I 2 3 Age - - - Number of medications 1 2 3 Age - - - Number of medications 0.6 - - STOFHLA ^a -0.2 0.1 - Composite performance ^b 0.2 -0.1 -0.1			

^a Health literacy; higher is better.

^b Composite performance was reverse coded (lower is better).

^cBoldface indicates significant correlations at P< .05.

In contrast, the pattern of correlations in the tag-based system show that performance was not significantly associated with age, number of medications, or health knowledge. These results are consistent with those of Pak and Price [12], which showed that age was not a significant predictor of performance in the tag-based condition but did predict significant variance in the hierarchical condition. The implication is that hierarchical systems are sensitive to age (and thus age-related differences in abilities and knowledge), while tag-based systems are not.

Discussion

The online health information consumer ranges widely in age, experience with computers, and health status [1,22]. It is thus critical to examine usability issues that assure people with varying backgrounds can successfully access online health information. The goal of the current study was to determine whether older adults' health information search and retrieval performance could be improved with relatively modest interface usability changes based on the cognitive aging literature. Earlier work showed that when older adults searched through a tag-based website, their performance was relatively better than when they searched through a hierarchically organized website. The basis for improvement was theorized to be that tag-based interfaces, compared to hierarchical organizations, shift cognitive demands from spatial abilities (ie, knowing where you are) to verbal/vocabulary abilities (knowing keywords).

The results from the current study show that with a restructuring of the information architecture and the access interface (from a hierarchical organization to one based on keywords or tags), older adults are able to improve their information search and retrieval performance. This was presumably the result of a change in the ability demands of each system, with the tag-based system placing less stringent demands on older adults' cognition than the hierarchical system. This study represents the first replication of our earlier results, but with a topical domain that may be especially relevant to older adults: online health information.

While older adults' performance was improved in a tag-based interface, younger adults' performance was worse in the tag-based system. This may be due to the simultaneous reduced spatial ability demands and increased verbal/knowledge demands from the tag-based interface coupled with younger adults' relative lack of verbal abilities (compared to older adults). This suggests the possibility that, for optimal performance, online health information providers may need to provide age-specific interfaces for their users. However, it also stresses the need for further research into interfaces that can combine the beneficial aspects of tag-based and hierarchical interfaces useful for people of all ages. One such novel interface, faceted navigation, is being used on some websites and may be the bridge between hierarchical interfaces and pure tag-based interfaces [23]. In facetted navigation systems, users progressively narrow search results by selecting facets, or dimensions, of information. For example, a free-text search of diabetes from a health information site might return several thousand results. In a facetted navigation system, the user could then focus on facets of those results (eg, only news articles, or peer-reviewed research) by selecting keywords. The user experience is similar to tag-based interfaces, but the difference is that the presentation of tags can be hierarchical.

Limitations

One limitation of this research is that online medical information websites or portals may only be one of several possible destinations for health consumers [1,24]. For example, information searchers may turn to generic search engines (eg, Google, Yahoo), which brings unique usability problems [24,25]. In a usability study of Web-based health information, Eysenbach and Köhler found that older users exhibited suboptimal search engine use such as viewing only the initial search results page (when more were available) [24]. Another

limitation is related to the design of the materials. Because of our desire to keep the hierarchy and tag-based conditions as conceptually consistent as possible, the hierarchy (presented on the left-hand side) was slightly visually taller than the tag-based condition. However, we believe that this difference was minor and is unlikely to, by itself, explain the observed effects. For example, it could be the case that the longer hierarchy (and concomitant increase in visual clutter) may explain older adults performing more poorly in the hierarchical condition compared to the tag-based condition. However, the clutter explanation does not explain why younger adults performed relatively better in the presence of the hierarchical condition compared to tag-based—they would also be subject to clutter effects.

Conclusions

The current research was an attempt to add evidence-based knowledge to the problem of older adult information searching on the Web. There is now nearly a critical mass of literature on age-related changes as they may relate to the use of Web resources [14], but much work is necessary to translate this basic knowledge of age differences into specific design recommendations and recommendations for older adults.

Acknowledgments

This research was partially supported by a Google Research Award to Richard Pak.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Fox S, Fallows D. Internet health resources: health searches and email have become more commonplace, but there is room for improvement in searches and overall Internet access. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2003. URL: http://www.pewinternet.org/pdfs/PIP Health Report July 2003.pdf%20 [WebCite Cache ID 5eTjsLptg]
- Greenberg L, D'Andrea G, Lorence D. Setting the public agenda for online health search: a white paper and action agenda. J Med Internet Res 2004 Jun 8;6(2):e18 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15249267] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.2.e18]
- 3. Fox S. Digital divide: There are clear differences among those with broadband connections, dial-up connections, and no connections at all to the Internet. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2005. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/PPF/r/165/report_display.asp [WebCite Cache ID 5eTjD3clX]</u>
- 4. Meadows M. FDA Consumer Magazine. 2006 . Medication use and older adults URL: <u>http://www.fda.gov/fdac/features/</u>2006/406_olderadults.html [WebCite Cache ID 5edPUkfF3]
- 5. ; National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2007 with Chartbook on Trends in the Health of Americans. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; 2007. URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus07.pdf#063</u> [WebCite Cache ID 5edVrwoRf]
- 6. Sinden DS, Wister AV. E-health promotion for aging baby boomers in North America. Gerontechnology 2008;7(3):271-278. [doi: <u>10.4017/gt.2008.07.03.002.00</u>]
- Czaja SJ, Charness N, Fisk AD, Hertzog C, Nair SN, Rogers WA, et al. Factors predicting the use of technology: findings from the Center for Research and Education on Aging and Technology Enhancement (CREATE). Psychol Aging 2006 Jun;21(2):333-352 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16768579</u>] [doi: <u>10.1037/0882-7974.21.2.333</u>]
- 8. Hawthorn D. Possible implications of aging for interface designers. Interact Comput 2000;12(5):507-528. [doi: 10.1016/S0953-5438(99)00021-1]
- 9. Garfein AJ, Schaie KW, Willis SL. Microcomputer proficiency in later-middle-aged and older adults: Teaching old dogs new tricks. Soc Behav 1988;3(2):131-148.
- Pak R, Czaja SJ, Sharit J, Rogers WA, Fisk AD. The role of spatial abilities and age in performance in an auditory computer navigation task. Comput Human Behav 2006;24(6):3045-3051 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18997876</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2008.05.010</u>]
- Horn JL, Cattell RB. Age differences in fluid and crystallized intelligence. Acta Psychol (Amst) 1967;26(2):107-129. [Medline: <u>6037305</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/0001-6918(67)90011-X</u>]
- 12. Pak R, Price MM. Designing an information search interface for younger and older adults. Hum Factors 2008 Aug;50(4):614-628. [Medline: 18767521] [doi: 10.1518/001872008X312314]
- 13. Pak R, Stronge AJ, Padgett L. Reviewing website usability: Information organization. 2002 Presented at: The 13th Annual Southeastern Regional Student Convention in Gerontology and Geriatrics; April 2002; Athens, GA, USA.
- 14. Arch A. Web Accessibility for Older Users: A Literature Review. W3C Working Draft. 2008 [FREE Full text] [WebCite Cache ID 5gLgctn1T]
- Baker DW, Williams MV, Parker RM, Gazmararian JA, Nurss J. Development of a brief test to measure functional health literacy. Patient Educ Couns 1999 Sep;38(1):33-42. [Medline: <u>14528569</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/S0738-3991(98)00116-5</u>]
- 16. Shipley W. Shipley Institute of Living Scale. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Press; 1986.
- 17. Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. 3rd edition. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation; 1997.

RenderX

- 18. Ekstrom RB, French JW, Harman HH, Dermen D. Manual for Kit of Factor-Referenced Cognitive Tests. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service; 1976.
- 19. Dillon WR, McDonald R. Methodological and statistics concerns of the experimental behavioral researcher. J Consum Psychol 2001;10:62-64.
- 20. National Institutes of Health. NIHSeniorHealth URL: <u>http://nihseniorhealth.gov/</u> [accessed 2009-04-24] [WebCite Cache ID 5gHNG51gr]
- 21. Sauro J, Kindlund E. A method to standardized usability metrics into a single score. New York: Association for Computing Machinery; 2005 Presented at: CHI 2005; April 2-7, 2005; Portland, OR, USA URL: <u>http://www.webcitation.org/5gNJGsEwF</u>
- 22. Houston TK, Allison JJ. Users of Internet health information: differences by health status. J Med Internet Res 2002 Nov 22;4(2):E7 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12554554] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4.2.e7]
- 23. Hearst M. Clustering versus faceted categories for information exploration. Commun ACM 2006;49(4):59-61. [doi: 10.1145/1121949.1121983]
- 24. Eysenbach G, Köhler C. How do consumers search for and appraise health information on the world wide web? Qualitative study using focus groups, usability tests, and in-depth interviews. BMJ 2002 Mar 9;324(7337):573-577 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11884321] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7337.573]
- 25. Stronge AJ, Rogers WA, Fisk AD. Web-based information search and retrieval: effects of strategy use and age on search success. Hum Factors 2006;48(3):434-446. [Medline: <u>17063960</u>] [doi: <u>10.1518/001872006778606804</u>]

Abbreviations

STOFHLA: Short Test of Functional Health Literacy in Adults

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.02.09; peer-reviewed by A McLaughlin, D Billman, R Appleyard PhD BA (Oxon), M Ziefle; comments to author 19.03.09; revised version received 12.08.09; accepted 03.09.09; published 16.11.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Pak R, Price MM, Thatcher J Age-Sensitive Design of Online Health Information: Comparative Usability Study J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e45 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e45/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/jmir.1220</u> PMID:<u>19917549</u>

© Richard Pak, Margaux M Price, Jason Thatcher. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 16.11.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Challenges to Using an Electronic Personal Health Record by a Low-Income Elderly Population

Eung-Hun Kim¹, MS; Anna Stolyar²; William B Lober^{2,3}, MD, MS; Anne L Herbaugh³, RN; Sally E Shinstrom³, RN; Brenda K Zierler^{2,3}, RN, PhD; Cheong B Soh⁴, PhD; Yongmin Kim¹, PhD

¹Bioengineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

²Medical Education and Biomedical Informatics, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

Corresponding Author: Yongmin Kim, PhD Department of Bioengineering

Department of Bioengineering University of Washington Box 355061 Seattle, WA 98195-2500 USA Phone: +1 206 616 3371 Fax: +1 206 685 3300 Email: <u>ykim@u.washington.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Electronic personal health records (PHRs) are increasingly recognized and used as a tool to address various challenges stemming from the scattered and incompatible personal health information that exists in the contemporary US health care system. Although activity around PHR development and deployment has increased in recent years, little has been reported regarding the use and utility of PHRs among low-income and/or elderly populations.

Objective: The aim was to assess the use and utility of PHRs in a low-income, elderly population.

Methods: We deployed a Web-based, institution-neutral PHR system, the Personal Health Information Management System (PHIMS), in a federally funded housing facility for low-income and elderly residents. We assessed use and user satisfaction through system logs, questionnaire surveys, and user group meetings.

Results: Over the 33-month study period, 70 residents participated; this number was reduced to 44 by the end of the study. Although the PHIMS was available for free and personal assistance and computers with Internet connection were provided without any cost to residents, only 13% (44/330) of the eligible residents used the system, and system usage was limited. Almost one half of the users (47%, 33/70) used the PHIMS only on a single day. Use was also highly correlated with the availability of in-person assistance; 77% of user activities occurred while the assistance was available. Residents' ability to use the PHR system was limited by poor computer and Internet skills, technophobia, low health literacy, and limited physical/cognitive abilities. Among the 44 PHIMS users, 14 (32%) responded to the questionnaire. In this selected subgroup of survey participants, the majority (82%, 9/11) used the PHIMS three times or more and reported that it improved the quality of overall health care they received.

Conclusions: Our findings suggest that those who can benefit the most from a PHR system may be the least able to use it. Disparities in access to and use of computers, the Internet, and PHRs may exacerbate health care inequality in the future.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e44) doi:10.2196/jmir.1256

KEYWORDS

Personal health record (PHR); personally controlled health record (PCHR); elderly populations; low-income populations; Web-based; Internet

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e44/
```

RenderX

³Behavioral Nursing and Health Systems, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

⁴School of Electrical & Electronic Engineering, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

Introduction

Health care systems around the world are facing various challenges. In the United States in particular, the health care system is considered expensive, fragmented, unsafe, and unequal [1], although many innovations in medical diagnosis and treatment have been pioneered and made clinically available [2]. Over the past several years, health information technologies, such as electronic health records (EHRs) and personal health records (PHRs), have emerged and have been promoted by experts, industry, and government as an effective tool to address the inefficiencies and disadvantages of the current health care system [3-12]. The EHR and PHR systems hold the promise of improving the quality of health care services by improving communication within and across the health care system, reducing medical errors and waste of health care resources, and simplifying the complexity inherent in redundant information from fragmented sources.

The EHR refers to a computerized health history of an individual that can be viewed as a collection of electronic medical records and other health-related information to be used and viewed primarily by care providers [5,13]. On the other hand, the predominant model of PHRs is an electronic repository of personal health information to be managed and accessed by patients and others authorized by patients [5,6]. Although the EHR and PHR have different end-user groups, they contain similar information. Ideally, they should be interoperable. In the past few years, adoption of EHRs has been encouraged, whereas PHRs have not received the same level of attention. However, as Tang and Lansky [14] and Ball et al [15] discussed, the EHR alone may lack the ability to sufficiently motivate and engage patients to take a more active role in managing their own health, a condition found critical for improving care quality and efficiency [16]. Therefore, PHRs have been recognized as a means of patient engagement. An EHR-coupled PHR, which is often referred as a patient-accessible EHR [13] or tethered PHR [5], has been increasingly offered in the United States to patients as an institution-specific (limited to a certain organization) Internet portal by some large health care organizations (eg, Kaiser Permanente, Veterans Health

Administration, Group Health Cooperative, CareGroup Health Care System, and Palo Alto Medical Foundation).

Enabled by information and communication technology (ICT) and spurred by trends of moving toward patient-centered care, the public interest in accessing and managing personal health information has been growing [17]. Relatively new applications, such as Microsoft HealthVault and Google Health, make a stand-alone PHR available to anyone with Internet access. In spite of the widespread interest and availability of PHRs, their use and utility among the primary users (ie, patients themselves) is not well documented or analyzed [18,19]. Particularly, little work has been done for the elderly and low-income population. Due to the high incidence and prevalence of chronic conditions that generally require frequent monitoring and interventions, elderly people would benefit more because the PHR system could enable more coordinated and cost-effective communication and health care delivery.

Compared with younger and/or more affluent counterparts, the elderly with low income are likely to be disadvantaged in using PHRs due to the disparities in accessing and using ICT, referred as the "digital divide." The digital divide is defined as the gap that exists between individuals, groups, or communities in terms of the availability of ICT and the ability to use these technologies effectively [20]. Although the availability of Internet access has been steadily increasing, only 40% of low-income families (those with less than US\$20,000 household income) have Internet access compared to 73% of the overall US population according to a survey conducted in 2008 [21]. The survey also found that although Internet use among adults aged 50 or older has shown the highest growth rates, only 35% of this population have Internet access. Therefore, the low-income elderly are more likely to be on the underprivileged side of the digital divide, and many would be classified as excluded users based on Murdock's categorization as illustrated in Figure 1 [22]. This divide was observed in a study using a tethered PHR: healthier, socioeconomically advantaged, health-minded, and younger individuals were more likely to use the portal [23]. Hsu et al [24] also found the widening divide over time (from 1999 to 2002) in the adoption of PHRs and related applications between the low socioeconomic group and its counterpart.


Figure 1. Digital divide (model adopted from Murdock [22]: three groups of ICT users were described in terms of levels of access and use; blue line represents the conceptual valley and barriers of the digital divide)



In this paper, we present a 33-month study of an institution-neutral, "stand-alone" PHR used by low-income elderly residents living in a subsidized housing facility. This PHR system, the Personal Health Information Management System (PHIMS), allowed users to enter and manage their health information with the help of student nurses. In this paper, we present the results of this exploratory study, the utility and use of PHIMS in this socioeconomically disadvantaged population, and user satisfaction.

Methods

The PHIMS is an institution-neutral (not bound to any organization), individually controlled, Web-based repository of personal health information [25]. It allows users to enter, update, or delete structured information in nine different categorizes. Each category has multiple information elements. For example, under medications, one can record dosage, effectiveness, prescribing doctor's name, and reasons for taking/stopping each medication. Many categories have free-text boxes where any additional information a user wants to record can be entered. Some of these text boxes are used to enter questions or topics a user wishes to discuss with providers. The PHIMS provides summary pages that list all the information a user has entered into the system. He or she can share a hardcopy and/or electronic copy with health care providers or family members.

The PHIMS was deployed in a housing complex located in Everett, WA, USA, which serves approximately 500 households. Most residents have a household income below 100% of the

RenderX

federal poverty line, although the eligibility for residency is below 250%. The majority of residents in the complex are the elderly (ie, age 65 or over), who have a high prevalence of multiple chronic illnesses. The PHIMS was initially deployed in December 2004 in one apartment that serves approximately 180 residents. In May 2006, a second location with around 150 residents was added. Socioeconomic status and ages of the residents in the second location were similar to those in the first apartment, except that about 30% (45/150) of them were immigrants whose primary language was Russian.

The PHIMS was made available to all adult residents (most residents were adults) from December 2004 (May 2006 for the second location) to August 2007. In 2004, approximately 80% (145/180) of residents did not have Internet access. Consequently, a computer room equipped with six PCs with a broadband Internet connection and a printer was set up for the residents. When the deployment was expanded in 2006, the second location already had a computer room with four Internet-linked PCs and two printers. Two graduate nursing students visited the complex once a week (mostly Thursdays from 10:00 am to 2:00 pm) to help the residents create and manage (enter, update, delete, or print) their personal health information. One housing staff member (social worker) occasionally helped the residents as well. For Russian-speaking residents, an interpreter service was also made available.

We conducted various informational sessions to explain what the PHIMS was and to demonstrate how to use it [25,26]. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Washington. All participating residents (PHIMS users) accepted the terms of the online consent form.

System usage (ie, user activities), such as information updates and retrievals, was analyzed from the system logs. The logs recorded the details of user activities, including accessed information category, activity type (eg, enter, update, or delete), and the date, time, and duration of each access.

In August 2007, a (paper) questionnaire was administered to the users of the system to assess overall satisfaction with PHIMS and obtain self-reported comments on their experience.

The questionnaire responses and the system logs were analyzed using MATLAB with Statistics Toolbox (The Mathworks, Inc, Natick, MA, USA). Exploratory descriptive statistics were mostly used to analyze the questionnaire responses and the frequencies and patterns of user activities.

Table 1. Age and gender distribution of PHIMS users (N = 70)

Results

Participation

A total of 70 residents participated in the study. Table 1 describes the age and gender distribution of the PHIMS users. The average age of participants was 63.1 years (SD = 15.4 years), which was not significantly different (P = .23, Student unpaired t_{298} test) from all the residents in the housing complex (mean = 65.8, SD = 15.7 years). Of the 70 participants, 44 (63%) were older than 60 years, and 71% (50/68) were female. The gender of PHIMS users was not significantly different from the resident population (P = .27, Fisher exact test). All participants indicated that their primary language was English.

	Number (%)
Age (years)	
21-30	2 (2.9)
31-40	2 (2.9)
41-50	8 (11.4)
51-60	14 (20.0)
61-70	27 (38.6)
71-80	5 (7.1)
81-90	7 (10.0)
91-100	5 (7.1)
Gender	
Male	18 (25.7)
Female	50 (71.4)
Not disclosed	2 (2.9)

System Usage

Three users used the PHIMS for 25, 21, and 17 days each. On the other hand, 33/70 participants (47%) used the PHIMS only on a single day during the study period, as shown in Table 2. If we limit the users to those who had at least 12 months to use the PHIMS (n = 53), more than half (51%, 27/53) accessed the system only one day during their first-year PHIMS use.

The system was most frequently used on Thursdays (67%, 5387/8008), followed by Fridays (14%, 1098/8008), which coincided with the onsite availability of graduate nursing students. Most (77%, 6174/8008) of the system use happened while assistance from graduate nursing students or housing staff was available to the residents. On the other hand, 8% (677/8008) of user activities occurred during off hours when the students or staff were not available (from 5:00 pm to 8:00 am weekdays and weekends).



Kim et al

Table 2. Number of discrete days of PHIMS use during the study period for all users (N = 70) and during the first 12 months (N = 53)

Number of Days Used	All Users, No. (%)	Users for the First 12 Months, No. (%)
1	33 (47.1)	27 (50.9)
2	17 (24.3)	11 (20.8)
3	6 (8.6)	3 (5.7)
4	3 (4.3)	4 (7.5)
5	5 (7.1)	4 (7.5)
6+	6 (8.6) ^a	4 (7.5) ^b

^a6, 9, 17, 21, and 25 discrete days of use.

^b8, 10, 16, and 17 discrete days of use.

Survey Responses

In August 2007, only 44/70 PHIMS users were still living in the housing complex. Some had moved out of the building due to changes in their financial status and other reasons, and some had passed away during the study period. Among the 44 PHIMS users, 14 (32%) responded to the questionnaire. A total of 79% (11/14) of the survey respondents said that they entered health information by themselves at least once. Except the three respondents who had used the PHIMS for less than 6 months, 82% (9/11) used the PHIMS three times or more. The average age of the survey participants was 65.5 years (SD = 9.8 years). Textbox 1 shows a summary of survey responses. Most respondents (12/13, 92%) were satisfied with the PHIMS. All shared their PHIMS records with care providers, family members, and/or friends; 93% (13/14) shared their records with their primary care providers and/or specialists. All the respondents judged that with the PHIMS they were able to provide more health information to the providers. Most respondents (10/11, 91%) found that the PHIMS made their face-to-face meetings with providers efficient and felt more prepared for emergencies and in control of coordinating their care.

Textbox 1. Summary of survey responses (95% confidence intervals are calculated based on the adjusted Wald method)

- 14/14 (100%; 95% CI = 80.9-100) shared their PHIMS record with
 - primary care provider and/or specialist: 13 (92.9%; 95% CI = 66.5-100)
 - family member: 6 (42.9%; 95% CI = 21.3-67.5)
 - friends: 1 (7.1%; 95% CI = 0-33.5)
- 12/12 (100%; 95% CI = 78.4-100) felt that they were able to provide more health information to their health care provider with PHIMS
- 11/12 (91.7%; 95% CI = 62.5-100) felt that they were more prepared for medical emergencies with PHIMS
- 10/11 (90.9%; 95% CI = 60.1-100) indicated that their face-to-face meeting time with their health care provider was used more efficiently with PHIMS
- 9/11 (81.8%; 95% CI = 51.2-96.0) indicated that PHIMS improved the quality of overall health care they received
- 12/13 (92.3%; 95% CI = 64.6-100) were overall satisfied with the PHIMS system

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study on stand-alone PHR use involving a homogeneous group of subjects living in a low-income housing facility where the majority of residents were elderly.

Principal Findings

The results from this study underscore challenges in the deployment and widespread adoption of PHRs by socioeconomically disadvantaged populations. Since all the residents were low income and the majority were elderly, most residents belonged to the disadvantaged group in Figure 1. The digital divide includes a technical divide based on the availability of ICT infrastructure, hardware, and software and

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e44/
```

RenderX

a social divide resulting from the skills required to manipulate and utilize technical resources [27]. To help the residents overcome these technical and social divides in PHIMS use, PCs, Internet connection, and assistance from nursing students and housing staff were made available free of charge. In spite of this support, the participation rate in using the PHIMS was not much different from previous studies with tethered PHRs that reported a participation rate from 9.3% to 25% with the general population [23,24,28,29]. During our study period of 33 months, the PHIMS attracted 70 users, and in August 2007, 44 still lived in the residence, about 13% (44/330) of the eligible residents. If only residents whose primary language was English are counted, the PHIMS user group is approximately 15% of the eligible residents (44/285).

Compared with the study by Hsu et al [24], who reported 5.3% of people between 50 and 74 years and 2.8% living in a low socioeconomic neighborhood using PHRs without any help, the PHIMS participation rate of 13% indicates that the infrastructure and assistance helped some residents overcome an initial barrier and fear toward using the PHIMS. If the resources and support had not been provided, participation rates would have been lower. In fact, we found that only 8.6% (6/70) of the participants and 1.5% of the eligible residents (5/330 in August 2007) were able to use PHIMS independently without any assistance. Not surprisingly, this group of independent users were the most frequent PHIMS users. If the PHIMS users were an unbiased sample of the residents, the independent users could account for 8.6% of the residents. However, the PHIMS users were self-selected and a biased sample. Thus, the proportion of independent users among the elderly with low income is closer to 1.5% than to 8.6%.

Overall, system usage was limited. Almost one half of the users used the PHIMS only on a single day. In addition, user activities highly correlated with the availability of assistance. Nearly 80% of the user activities occurred during the time when the graduate nursing students and/or housing staff were present on site. The graduate nursing students provided assistance to the residents for only about 4 hours per week during the academic quarters. However, 63% of the total user activities (5035/8008) coincided with their on-site availability. This high dependency was mainly due to the limited physical and cognitive abilities and technophobia (ie, computer anxiety) of the residents, as we had found in an earlier study [26]. While some residents were enthusiastic about using the PHIMS, others expressed fear over computers and the Internet. Among the PHIMS users, 58% had computer anxiety and were initially afraid of using a computer [26]. Therefore, they needed emotional support to overcome their fear. Low health literacy (29% in [26]) was also an important factor that limited PHIMS use. Some users (at least 5 among 13 survey respondents) who said that they could use the PHIMS by themselves commented that they preferred to use it with a nursing student who could not only help in updating records but also provide explanations for them to understand their health information. Both language and culture were formidable barriers in the digital divide, as Keniston [30] identified. None of the Russian-speaking residents used the PHIMS even though interpreter services were made available to them and many had previously expressed interest during information sessions.

In spite of the fact that the participation rate was low and PHIMS use was infrequent, those users who participated in the survey found PHIMS beneficial. Particularly, the respondents who had shared their PHIMS information with their care providers felt very positive about PHIMS and noted the system's usefulness. With a printout of their PHIMS summary, they were able to provide health information to providers accurately and quickly, leading to better communication with their care providers. This result is consistent with various studies on the impact on patient-provider relationships and communication of using Web-based, provider-supplied health information systems [31-36].

Limitations

Potential biases in survey responses should be noted. More than half (57%, 8/14) of survey participants said that they were able to use and update the PHIMS on their own most or all the time, whereas only 3/14 (21%) said that they never used or updated the PHIMS by themselves. This self-use rate is quite different from our earlier study, where almost 80% of participants needed assistance to use and update the PHIMS and more than 60% had low computer literacy [26]. Thus, survey respondents in the current study were more computer literate and self-sufficient users than those users who did not participate in the survey. In addition, 82% (9/11) of survey participants who used the PHIMS for 6 months or more used it three times or more, whereas almost half of users used the PHIMS only once. Therefore, the survey respondents were those who were more active users of the PHIMS, and their responses might have not represented those PHIMS users who have only used the system once. However, we were able to clearly observe that at least a fraction of the population in the study was able to receive the benefits of the PHIMS and reported improvements in their perceived quality of care.

Another aspect to be noted is that the PHIMS is an institutional-neutral, untethered (stand-alone) PHR. It contains only self-reported data, the majority of which were entered with the assistance from graduate nursing students. In tethered, provider-supplied PHRs, the majority of personal health information can be added from multiple existing sources, including the provider's information systems. Therefore, the adoption rate, utility, and use frequency of specific features with tethered PHRs could be somewhat different from those observed in our study, although we found some similarities as well. In our earlier study [25], we found that the medication information was the most frequently used and updated category in the PHIMS, which is similar to the use of tethered PHRs [9,23]. On the contrary, the lab test was one of the least frequently used information categories in the PHIMS, whereas in tethered PHRs, the lab test was one of the most popular features. This may be due to the fact that in a tethered PHR users check lab test results made available by their provider, whereas in a self-entry PHR users enter test results they have received. Because of the reduced workload in managing personal health information, related to not having to enter data into their record themselves, tethered PHRs might be more easily adopted than untethered PHRs. However, even tethered PHRs may not be able to address root causes that limit the use of PHRs, such as age-related reduced physical and cognitive abilities of the low-income elderly. Thus, we believe that the low-income elderly would face similar challenges found in this study whether using a tethered or untethered PHR.

Concluding Remarks

In the last several years, momentum has been building toward widespread deployment of health information technology in the United States. Earlier studies on PHRs demonstrated their usefulness in improving the quality of care for patients with chronic illnesses [37], in controlling costs [3], and in reducing health care disparities [38-40]. The accelerated efforts from ICT and health care companies and their partnerships will likely

substantially increase the availability and usability of PHRs. Furthermore, US government incentives and support as well as broad-based health care reform initiatives now being discussed will facilitate PHR deployment and use by patients and care providers.

It is widely believed that the elderly would benefit more from PHR use than would younger populations [17,41]. However, our findings suggest that the majority of the low-income elderly would not be in a position to benefit from PHRs due to poor technical skills, technophobia, low health literacy and limited physical/cognitive abilities, leaving only a small fraction who

can take advantage of PHRs to the full extent. As a result, PHRs may mainly serve self-proficient, advantaged individuals, which could result in further widening of the inequality in health care. As the next-generation elderly population will be more computer literate than the current generation, PHR use among the elderly will increase in the future. However, their low or reduced physical/cognitive abilities due to aging and low health literacy would limit the PHR use. Therefore, many of the underprivileged in the digital divide would be left behind in receiving the benefits that are enabled by ever-advancing PHR systems and their clinical applications, potentially exacerbating the health care inequality.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. ; Institute of Medicine. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2001.
- 2. Groves T. Stronger European medical research. BMJ 2008 Feb 16;336(7640):341-342. [Medline: <u>18276671</u>] [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.39489.505208.80</u>]
- Evans DC, Nichol WP, Perlin JB. Effect of the implementation of an enterprise-wide Electronic Health Record on productivity in the Veterans Health Administration. Health Econ Policy Law 2006 Apr;1(Pt 2):163-169. [Medline: <u>18634688</u>] [doi: <u>10.1017/S1744133105001210</u>]
- Linder JA, Ma J, Bates DW, Middleton B, Stafford RS. Electronic health record use and the quality of ambulatory care in the United States. Arch Intern Med 2007 Jul 9;167(13):1400-1405 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17620534</u>] [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.167.13.1400</u>]
- Tang PC, Ash JS, Bates DW, Overhage JM, Sands DZ. Personal health records: definitions, benefits, and strategies for overcoming barriers to adoption. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2006;13(2):121-126 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16357345</u>] [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M2025</u>]
- 6. ; Markle Foundation. Connecting for Health. Achieving Electronic Connectivity in Healthcare: A Preliminary Roadmap from the Nation's Public and Private-Sector Healthcare Leaders. New York: Markle Foundation; 2004. URL: <u>http://www.connectingforhealth.org/resources/cfh_aech_roadmap_072004.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 50pjZx8bL]
- Yasnoff WA, Humphreys BL, Overhage JM, Detmer DE, Brennan PF, Morris RW, et al. A consensus action agenda for achieving the national health information infrastructure. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2004;11(4):332-338 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15187075</u>] [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M1616</u>]
- 8. ; Markle Foundation. Connecting for Health. The Personal Health Working Group: Final Report. New York: Markle Foundation; 2003. URL: <u>http://www.connectingforhealth.org/resources/final_phwg_report1.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 5b24kHscL]
- 9. Halamka JD, Mandl KD, Tang PC. Early experiences with personal health records. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2008;15(1):1-7 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17947615</u>] [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M2562</u>]
- Hillestad R, Bigelow J, Bower A, Girosi F, Meili R, Scoville R, et al. Can electronic medical record systems transform health care? Potential health benefits, savings, and costs. Health Aff (Millwood) 2005;24(5):1103-1117. [Medline: <u>16162551</u>] [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.24.5.1103</u>]
- 11. Ferguson T, Frydman G. The first generation of e-patients. BMJ 2004 May 15;328(7449):1148-1149 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15142894] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7449.1148]
- 12. Chaudhry B, Wang J, Wu S, Maglione M, Mojica W, Roth E, et al. Systematic review: impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. Ann Intern Med 2006 May 16;144(10):742-752 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16702590</u>]
- 13. Wiljer D, Urowitz S, Apatu E, DeLenardo C, Eysenbach G, Harth T, et al; Canadian Committee for Patient Accessible Health Records. Patient accessible electronic health records: exploring recommendations for successful implementation strategies. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(4):e34 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18974036</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1061</u>]
- 14. Tang PC, Lansky D. The missing link: bridging the patient-provider health information gap. Health Aff (Millwood) 2005;24(5):1290-1295. [Medline: <u>16162575</u>] [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.24.5.1290</u>]
- Ball MJ, Smith C, Bakalar RS. Personal health records: empowering consumers. J Healthc Inf Manag 2007;21(1):76-86. [Medline: <u>17299929</u>]

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e44/

- 16. Sequist TD, Zaslavsky AM, Marshall R, Fletcher RH, Ayanian JZ. Patient and physician reminders to promote colorectal cancer screening: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 2009 Feb 23;169(4):364-371 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19237720] [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2008.564]
- Pagliari C, Detmer D, Singleton P. Potential of electronic personal health records. BMJ 2007 Aug 18;335(7615):330-333. [Medline: <u>17703042</u>] [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.39279.482963.AD</u>]
- Frost JH, Massagli MP. Social uses of personal health information within PatientsLikeMe, an online patient community: what can happen when patients have access to one another's data. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(3):e15 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18504244</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1053</u>]
- Kaelber DC, Jha AK, Johnston D, Middleton B, Bates DW. A research agenda for personal health records (PHRs). J Am Med Inform Assoc 2008;15(6):729-736 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18756002</u>] [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M2547</u>]
- 20. DiMaggio P, Hargittai E, Neumann WR. Social implications of the Internet. Annu Rev Sociol 2001;27(1):307-336. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.307]
- 21. Horrigan JB. Home broadband adoption. Washington, DC: PEW Internet & American Life Project; 2008. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2008/PIP_Broadband_2008.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 5fXVbnv13]
- 22. Murdock G. Tackling the digital divide: Evidence and intervention. 2002 Presented at: The Digital Divide Day Seminar; British Educational Communications and Technology Agency; February 19, 2002; Coventry, UK.
- 23. Weingart SN, Rind D, Tofias Z, Sands DZ. Who uses the patient internet portal? The PatientSite experience. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2006;13(1):91-95 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16221943</u>] [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M1833</u>]
- Hsu J, Huang J, Kinsman J, Fireman B, Miller R, Selby J, et al. Use of e-Health services between 1999 and 2002: a growing digital divide. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2005;12(2):164-171 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15561786] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1672]
- 25. Kim E, Stolyar A, Lober WB, Herbaugh AL, Shinstrom SE, Zierler B, et al. Usage patterns of a personal health record by elderly and disabled users. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2007:409-413. [Medline: <u>17238394</u>]
- 26. Lober WB, Zierler B, Herbaugh A, Shinstrom SE, Stolyar A, Kim EH, et al. Barriers to the use of a personal health record by an elderly population. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2006:514-518 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17238394</u>]
- 27. Kling R. Can the 'Next-Generation Internet' effectively support 'Ordinary Citizens'? Inform Soc 1999;15(1):57-63. [doi: 10.1080/019722499128673]
- 28. Ralston JD, Hereford J, Carrell D. Use and satisfaction of a patient Web portal with a shared medical record between patients and providers. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2006:1070 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17238689</u>]
- 29. Ralston JD, Carrell D, Reid R, Anderson M, Moran M, Hereford J. Patient web services integrated with a shared medical record: patient use and satisfaction. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2007;14(6):798-806 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17712090</u>] [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M2302</u>]
- 30. Keniston K. Introduction: The four digital divides. In: Keniston K, Kumar D, editors. IT Experience in India. Delhi, India: Sage Publishers; 2004.
- Tjora A, Tran T, Faxvaag A. Privacy vs usability: a qualitative exploration of patients' experiences with secure Internet communication with their general practitioner. J Med Internet Res 2005;7(2):e15 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15998606] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.2.e15]
- 32. Wang M, Lau C, Matsen FA, Kim Y. Personal health information management system and its application in referral management. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2004 Sep;8(3):287-297. [Medline: <u>15484434</u>] [doi: <u>10.1109/TITB.2004.834397</u>]
- Kushniruk AW, Patel C, Patel VL, Cimino JJ. 'Televaluation' of clinical information systems: an integrative approach to assessing Web-based systems. Int J Med Inform 2001 Apr;61(1):45-70. [Medline: <u>11248603</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/S1386-5056(00)00133-7</u>]
- Homer CS, Davis GK, Everitt LS. The introduction of a woman-held record into a hospital antenatal clinic: the bring your own records study. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 1999 Feb;39(1):54-57. [Medline: 10099751] [doi: 10.1111/j.1479-828X.1999.tb03445.x]
- 35. Ross SE, Lin CT. The effects of promoting patient access to medical records: a review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2003;10(2):129-138 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12595402] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1147]
- 36. Kim E, Mayani A, Modi S, Kim Y, Soh C. Evaluation of patient-centered electronic health record to overcome digital divide. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2005;1:593-596. [Medline: <u>17282251</u>] [doi: <u>10.1109/IEMBS.2005.1616482</u>]
- Follen M, Castaneda R, Mikelson M, Johnson D, Wilson A, Higuchi K. Implementing health information technology to improve the process of health care delivery: a case study. Dis Manag 2007 Aug;10(4):208-215. [Medline: <u>17718659</u>] [doi: <u>10.1089/dis.2007.104706</u>]
- Gustafson DH, McTavish FM, Stengle W, Ballard D, Hawkins R, Shaw BR, et al. Use and Impact of eHealth System by Low-income Women With Breast Cancer. J Health Commun 2005;10 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):195-218. [Medline: <u>16377608</u>] [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730500263257</u>]
- Gustafson DH, McTavish FM, Stengle W, Ballard D, Jones E, Julesberg K, et al. Reducing the digital divide for low-income women with breast cancer: a feasibility study of a population-based intervention. J Health Commun 2005;10 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):173-193. [Medline: <u>16377607</u>] [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730500263281</u>]

XSL•FO RenderX

- 40. Trief PM, Sandberg J, Izquierdo R, Morin PC, Shea S, Brittain R, et al. Diabetes management assisted by telemedicine: patient perspectives. Telemed J E Health 2008 Sep;14(7):647-655. [Medline: <u>18817493</u>] [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2007.0107</u>]
- 41. Steinbrook R. Personally controlled online health data--the next big thing in medical care? N Engl J Med 2008 Apr 17;358(16):1653-1656. [Medline: <u>18420496</u>] [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp0801736</u>]

Abbreviations

EHR: electronic health record ICT: information and communication technology PC: personal computer PHIMS: Personal Health Information Management System PHR: personal health record

Edited by H Potts; submitted 06.05.09; peer-reviewed by J Frost, K Nazi; comments to author 09.07.09; revised version received 08.08.09; accepted 19.08.09; published 27.10.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Kim EH, Stolyar A, Lober WB, Herbaugh AL, Shinstrom SE, Zierler BK, Soh CB, Kim Y Challenges to Using an Electronic Personal Health Record by a Low-Income Elderly Population J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e44 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e44/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/jmir.1256</u> <i>PMID:<u>19861298</u>

© Eung-Hun Kim, Anna Stolyar, William B Lober, Anne L Herbaugh, Sally E Shinstrom, Brenda K Zierler, Cheong B Soh, Yongmin Kim. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 27.10.2009. This is an article distributed Creative open-access under the terms of the Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Use of Live Interactive Webcasting for an International Postgraduate Module in eHealth: Case Study Evaluation

Ray B Jones¹, FFPH, PhD; Inocencio Maramba¹, MD, MSc; Maged N Kamel Boulos¹, MBBCh, PhD, SMIEEE; Tara Alexander¹, PhD

Faculty of Health, University of Plymouth, Plymouth, UK

Corresponding Author: Ray B Jones, FFPH, PhD University of Plymouth Faculty of Health 3 Portland Villas Plymouth PL4 8AA UK Phone: +44 1752 586532 Email: Ray.jones@plymouth.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Producing "traditional" e-learning can be time consuming, and in a topic such as eHealth, it may have a short shelf-life. Students sometimes report feeling isolated and lacking in motivation. Synchronous methods can play an important part in any blended approach to learning.

Objective: The aim was to develop, deliver, and evaluate an international postgraduate module in eHealth using live interactive webcasting.

Methods: We developed a hybrid solution for live interactive webcasting using a scan converter, mixer, and digitizer, and video server to embed a presenter-controlled talking head or copy of the presenter's computer screen (normally a PowerPoint slide) in a student chat room. We recruited 16 students from six countries and ran weekly 2.5-hour live sessions for 10 weeks. The content included the use of computers by patients, patient access to records, different forms of e-learning for patients and professionals, research methods in eHealth, geographic information systems, and telehealth. All sessions were recorded—presentations as video files and the student interaction as text files. Students were sent an email questionnaire of mostly open questions seeking their views of this form of learning. Responses were collated and anonymized by a colleague who was not part of the teaching team.

Results: Sessions were generally very interactive, with most students participating actively in breakout or full-class discussions. In a typical 2.5-hour session, students posted about 50 messages each. Two students did not complete all sessions; one withdrew from the pressure of work after session 6, and one from illness after session 7. Fourteen of the 16 responded to the feedback questionnaire. Most students (12/14) found the module useful or very useful, and all would recommend the module to others. All liked the method of delivery, in particular the interactivity, the variety of students, and the "closeness" of the group. Most (11/14) felt "connected" with the other students on the course. Many students (11/14) had previous experience with asynchronous e-learning, two as teachers; 12/14 students suggested advantages of synchronous methods, mostly associated with the interaction and feedback from teachers and peers.

Conclusions: This model of synchronous e-learning based on interactive live webcasting was a successful method of delivering an international postgraduate module. Students found it engaging over a 10-week course. Although this is a small study, given that synchronous methods such as interactive webcasting are a much easier transition for lecturers used to face-to-face teaching than are asynchronous methods, they should be considered as part of the blend of e-learning methods. Further research and development is needed on interfaces and methods that are robust and accessible, on the most appropriate blend of synchronous and asynchronous work for different student groups, and on learning outcomes and effectiveness.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e46) doi:10.2196/jmir.1225

KEYWORDS Webcasting; synchronous e-learning; eHealth

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e46/

Introduction

To date, most e-learning has tended to be asynchronous through Internet access to websites and other interactive materials, which are used by students in their own time. With the development of new technologies, however, there is potential for the development of interactive, participatory, synchronous methods of e-learning [1]. Webcasting is one such method that also offers students the ability to participate in real-time discussion with each other and with the presenting lecturer, from any Internet-connected computer that plays sound.

DiMaria-Ghalili and Ostrow were among the first to use webcasting routinely. They changed from interactive TV to webcasting in the spring of 2003 to deliver distance learning for graduate nurses in rural West Virginia, USA [2,3]. Although some of their students were still using dial-up connections to the Internet, the method was acceptable and thought to be more interactive than interactive TV. A number of centers have used or experimented with either live streaming [4] or filmed lectures [5], but these have generally not included any synchronous interactivity. Others have used Web conferencing with video connection from all participants [6], which is more suitable for peer-to-peer meetings than for student education. Webcasting has been used nationally in continuing education in pathology [7] and nursing [8] but sometimes fails to become routine practice [9]. Some found problems with webcasting because of the lack of interpersonal interaction [10]. However, Reynolds et al reported successful trials of webcasting in dental undergraduate and postgraduate education [11]; for example, they found that students preferred webcasting to traditional lectures because of active and nonthreatening participation. We developed interactive webcasting that combined a live video stream with chat room interactivity [12] and had used this extensively for open "webinars" and occasional lectures, but not for a complete module.

The aim of the present study was to develop, deliver, and evaluate an international postgraduate module in eHealth using live interactive webcasting.

Methods

Participants

We advertised the module (cost $\pounds 220$) on the University of Plymouth website and via various email discussion lists. Eleven

paying students applied and were accepted to the module. In addition, we invited five (three full time, two part time) of our "distance" PhD students who had an interest in eHealth. Students came from a wide range of backgrounds and posts: academics in health or medicine (2), health service public health (1), diagnostic imaging technologist (1), clinical governance (1), health visiting (ie, home nursing) (1), private sector health informatics (2), complementary cancer care information department (1), computing science student (1), head of hospital IT department (1), librarian (2), journalist (1) working in NHS (National Health Service in England), and health services research (2). The 16 students came from six countries: Malaysia (1), Mauritius (1), Saudi Arabia (1), England (10), St Vincent and Grenadines (1), and Canada (2). There were 11 male and five female students, with an age range of about 24-50 years.

Module

We ran 2.5-hour live sessions (UK time 2:00-4:30 pm) weekly for 10 weeks from October to December 2008. Although the module was available as part of a masters program, on this first occasion, all students took the module as a "stand-alone" continuing professional development. The content included the use of computers by patients, patient access to records, different forms of e-learning for patients and professionals, research methods in eHealth, geographic information systems, and telehealth. One session was a student-defined session in which students, either singly or in groups, prepared their own presentations. These were given via the video window with discussion, as usual, through the chat room.

Webcasting System

Coming from a background of using interactive satellite TV [13], we developed a hybrid solution for live interactive webcasting using a scan converter that converted the PC signal (PowerPoint) to an analogue signal, where it was mixed by the presenter with the camera signal. The combined signal was digitized and sent via a video server to a Web page where it was embedded in a student "chat room" (Figure 1) developed using open source software. We used this webcasting system with access via a module portal. Table 1 shows the main features of this approach. All sessions were recorded: presentations were recorded as video files (see Multimedia Appendix 1) and student interaction was recorded as text files (see Multimedia Appendix 2). Handouts prior to sessions and recordings after sessions were posted as blogs on the module portal. The possibility existed for students to post their own blogs to the portal.



Jones et al

Figure 1. An anonymized mockup of a webcast (cartoon heads replace real photos of participants, and "PersonA" to "PersonD" replace real names)



Table 1. Features of our webcasting

Live Interactive Webcasting Feature	Comment
Webcast audience is online only	We do not stream live lectures since we believe that the online audience will feel excluded. Unless the presenter concentrates fully on the distance audience, they are unlikely to achieve suitable interaction.
Live quality video showing talking head of presenter	By using a video server and good quality cameras, we achieve high-quality video and sound (rather than the familiar poor-quality video from low-end webcams). This was important for delivery but is a trade-off with the need to deliver from a mini-studio and the introduction of a 30-second delay for the video signal to reach the students (while typed chat remains instantaneous).
Live PowerPoint or presentation display	The presenter could fade between the talking head and PowerPoint using a desktop joy-stick.
List of people participating can be seen by presenter and participants	It is important for the presenter and participants to know who else is there and, if in groups, the composition of the groups.
Photo of participants can be seen by other participants	A photo of each student (avatar in the terminology of this software) was shown against their comments.
Participants can comment in real time by typing in chat room (text chat)	Participants did not use audio or video input. See results for student views on this design aspect.
Participants can be divided into breakout rooms for discussion	Participants can create a chat room on the fly simply by changing rooms. We typically used three or four rooms (attic, cellar, hall, kitchen), dividing participants by their birthday month or student name.
Recording of talking head, PowerPoint presentation, and participant discussion	Recordings of video, presentation, and chat room transcripts were made available on the module portal.

Evaluation

XSL•FO RenderX

One week after the module was completed, students were sent an email questionnaire (see Multimedia Appendix 3) that included a mix of closed and open questions seeking their views on this form of learning. The email questionnaire was divided into six sections:

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e46/

A. Overall (five open and one closed question)

B. Method of delivery: with subsections on breakout groups, pace, screen layout, audio vs text, robustness and technical difficulty, connectivity with other students, downloads, portal, video window, presentation style, overall delivery method (13 open and three closed questions)

- C. Content (three open questions)
- D. Assessment (five open and one closed question)
- E. Future and other possibilities (three open questions)
- F. Marketing and promotion (four open questions)

Several reminders were sent over the next few weeks. The data generated by the survey were placed into a chart for each individual by a colleague (TA) who was not part of the teaching team (RJ, MKB, IM).

For closed questions and open questions that generated a limited range of answers, responses were noted and counted. For example, for question A3 ("Would you recommend the module to others amongst your colleagues? If so which job functions or roles?"), all respondents noted groups to whom they would recommend the module, so we concluded that all said yes. We classified their answers into five groups (see Multimedia Appendix 4).

For open questions that generated a narrative response, we used generic qualitative analysis [13,14]. Using an iterative process in order to generate themes, starting with the first question, comments were clustered under the corresponding question and then read through for themes (see Multimedia Appendix 4). Where there were multiple themes, items were tallied and the quotation that best represented the theme was selected. If a participant's response seemed unclear, the researcher went back to the participant's own data set to verify and clarify the information. In order to check for researcher bias, the researcher looked for conflicting data and noted those quotations. Unusual comments not related to a theme were not incorporated but were retained for team discussion. As one example, question A6 was

about overall value for money and referred to the possible use of more asynchronous materials. This prompted some to comment on synchronous vs asynchronous methods, which we asked a specific question about in B2, so some A6 comments were therefore combined with others from B2. Triangulation was used in order to confirm the results. TA reviewed the anonymized results with the teaching team to compare with feedback received from participants over the course of the semester. The final data were then shared with participants to verify that their information was correctly represented.

Results

Response Rate to Email Questionnaire

The majority of students (14/16) responded to the request for feedback, most of them in some depth. The average length of email response was 1619 words (range 1144-2244 words), of which the questions comprised 955 words. That fact that students were prepared to respond to this degree suggests that a good degree of "connection" with the course and teaching team had been built over the 10 weeks.

Overall Satisfaction With the Course

There were 12/14 students who found the module useful or very useful, and two who were undecided or had no opinion. However, all 14 would recommend the module to others among their colleagues. All liked the method of delivery and would be interested in taking other modules using this same method (Table 2). Some students mentioned features that they particularly liked: the variety of other students' backgrounds (n = 3), the interactivity (n = 7), and the "closeness" of the group (n = 7).



Table 2. Sample quotations from participants

Jones et al

Aspect of Course	Quotation
Overall satisfaction with the course	"It made it easy to fit the course in around my day job."
	"I very much liked the live webcasting as it is interactive and facilitates discussion and debates among the participants."
Value for money and group size	"The size of the group matters. If it was large, then some members taking part would be silent. This could possibly be overcome by breaking the group into smaller discussion groups and sticking with the same breakout groups across all sessions."
Connectivity with other students	
Positive	"Surprisingly felt more connected than I thought I would, I think for two main reasons:
	- [I had] the ability to associate thoughts and questions through the text chats with specific individuals (this would be lost if audio interaction was adopted instead)
	- The group activities split us up into smaller groups, which were more manageable and interactive.
	I felt connected and respected. The pace was set by the presenters—they greeted everyone as if they were equally important and welcomed."
Negative	"There were times in the chat rooms when I felt very isolated; the others were chatting and my com- ment/query was missed in the exchange. Sometimes this led me to think that my input was not valid/valued."
Suggestions for change	"Would it be possible to have information about people closer at hand (ie, when someone has commented, it's hard to remember who they are, where they are from, and what they do)?"
Connection and physical environment of	of participation
Positive (for at home)	"I was able to concentrate better, had the liberty to move around (to take water or go to toilet) and to eat without disturbing the cohorts; if I didn't understand any concept and if I was not convinced by explanation by the tutors, I had the chance to surf the net for clarifications."
Negative (for at work)	"Sometimes not having somewhere to be 'physically' made it more difficult to take time out of everyday work to attend. I'd be sitting at my computer with headphones on but still very much 'at work' (ie, people in my office chatting and occasionally talking to me)—I think in a classroom situation it is perhaps easier to focus. A note to all participants to buy themselves a good pair of earphones if they are planning to listen whilst at work (ie, if they have a shared office) would be very helpful."
Use of more asynchronous materials such as recorded webcasts from the	"I think [the] risk of asynchronous [materials is that the experience] becomes less engaging—like watching a TV program rather than discussing thoughts [and] ideas with students in real time."
year before	"I like the fact that the course uses real-time interaction. The real-time, two-way communication provided by the chat room is very important to the course delivery."
Interface	"I discovered that you could send 'a secret message'—this was excellent, and I have had excellent 1:1 conversations with some of my colleagues."
	"This [session where we used a slide share] worked quite well, although it reduced the space available for the chat window. If you can find a way of accommodating all three things, that'd be ideal, but on balance I think a large chat area is more important than providing access to the slides from within the Web application."
Audio vs text input	"Would have liked to have [the] ability to talk sometimes (although not very often, surprisingly)."
	"The advantage of text is that we could all speak simultaneously; text was also instantaneous. Bearing in mind that some participants were at the other side of the world, I am sure that there would be problems with audio feeds. Text works. We are all, increasingly, becoming used to typing/texting, and it is a comfortable medium. However, English may not be the first language for all."
	"I do like audio, but then you need a 'hand raising' tool too, like in e-class."

Value for Money and Group Size

All but one student thought that the course was worth the £220 fee; one students that the current fee level and number of students was not economic for the university and asked for their views about increasing the cost to £400; opinion was divided, and one student suggested smaller incremental increases to test the level of fee. When asked about increasing the class size, some students (n = 6) said no to larger groups, one noting that it might inhibit contribution. Another

suggested that this could be overcome by the use of breakout groups (see Table 2).

Connectivity With Other Students

Most students (n = 11) felt connected with the other students in the course. One suggested improving connectivity by using the same combination of students in the breakout rooms more often. There was, however, room for improvement in the facilitation of chat rooms and in providing other prompts and information to enable connection between participants (see Table 2.)

XSL•FO RenderX

Volume of Chat

Multimedia Appendix 2 gives an anonymized extract of a chat transcript. To illustrate the volume of chats, we will use session 5 as a typical session. A total of 14/16 students took some part in the discussion (two were unavailable). One student had Internet connection problems and only posted three messages and then took no further part. In total, there were 756 comments posted, including 108 by two members of the teaching team (RJ, IM). The 13 students who participated in the whole session posted an average of 48 messages (range 14-124) during the 2.5-hour session.

Connection and Physical Environment of Participation

During the course of the module, some students had hardware connection problems; in particular, two or three connecting from NHS sites often found it more convenient to go home for the session. A few students mentioned bandwidth-related problems in the questionnaire. Home appeared the best place to study, with no interruptions from work colleagues and the ability to "be comfortable" (see Table 2).

Use of More Asynchronous Materials Such as Recorded Webcasts From the Year Before

Students were asked if re-use of recorded materials from one year to the next would affect the course. Some students commented that use of more asynchronous material would be fine as long as there was still some sort of group facilitation and follow-up discussion, but others did not want asynchronous materials.

Synchronous Compared to Asynchronous Methods

Some students had previous experience of asynchronous e-learning (11/14), two as teachers. Most students (12/14) suggested advantages of synchronous methods, mostly associated with the interaction and feedback from teachers and peers. Although the disadvantage of the time zone differences was noted, nine students thought that the timing of the module (2:00-4:30 pm UK time) was convenient and three students, not so convenient. One noted issues around unreliability of the synchronous technology. Another suggested that with asynchronous methods more in-depth answers can be given, but some noted that asynchronous was more impersonal and less engaging.

The advantage of interaction with other students and the lecturers was supported by comments about individual sessions. Two or three sessions that gave the students less opportunity to interact were reviewed less favourably and suggestions were made to change them: "They could have been broken into two sessions each. I didn't get enough time to reflect on the teaching and hence was not able to contribute anything for the discussions."

When asked about breakout groups, students thought the balance was about right, apart from the two to three sessions in which they thought that there were too few opportunities for discussion. Various comments suggested that it was important for the presenter to facilitate breakout group discussions. One student said, "I guess that this is challenging for the teacher—knowing how long to allocate for the session and being flexible

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e46/
```

enough/savvy [enough] to facilitate longer sessions where discussion is animated and cut short those where the level of discussion is clearly non-existent!"

Another student noted the problem of multiple streams of thought in chat rooms. We addressed this by using breakout rooms, but the presenters' decisions of when to use breakout rooms, how many, and which participants to have in each room were critical in making this work.

Improving Communications and the Interface

Although most students thought that there was a lot of interaction and that this was the best part of the course, useful comments were made on how the course could be further improved, such as through one-to-one chat. The importance of the interactivity and space available for chatting were always rated highly (see Table 2).

One student wondered if the interface could be changed on the presenter's side so that occurrences of presenter error, such as talking while the sound was turned off, could be reduced.

Students were asked if they would prefer audio to text input. More preferred text, the advantage being that all participants can contribute simultaneously and that there may be problems with audio feeds. But still, some would like audio (see Table 2).

One student noted a specific problem with the chat room: "When attempting to scroll up to find something someone previously wrote, [the] cursor would immediately jump back down to the bottom as soon as someone [wrote] something new (so [it was] difficult to scroll through [the] history)." Two commented on the copyright-free music that we used when students were working on their own or perhaps in groups. One said, "I liked the music"; another stated, "The music was ghastly but very necessary as it was an easy way of knowing that the link was active."

Students generally thought that the way we used the video window was acceptable. Comments included the following: "The fading back and forth was very effective when used. It not only gave a bit of a feeling of 'interactivity' but also broke up the slideshow nicely (great for people with shorter attention spans and a million thoughts a minute like myself!)" Another student said, "Nice to see [a] real face now and then rather than disembodied slides/voice." But having the PowerPoint slides to download was also seen as useful: "I liked the simplicity of the slides onscreen, but having the presentation available as well meant that the complicated ones weren't lost as they could be studied after or on printout or in a different window. Our choice."

Module Portal

All but one student used the portal to download materials. Nine downloaded both papers (extra reading) and the presentations; four downloaded the papers only. The portal was never used by students to post items. Comments suggested that it was not easy to use for that purpose or had not been sufficiently explained; one student said, "I would have liked to be able to share resources with other students, eg, useful websites found

following the sessions." Another said, "I still haven't worked out how to use the blog."

Module Content

Students were asked about adding or subtracting from the module content. Various suggestions were made as to additional content: two suggested including eHealth education, two, behavioral theories, and three, patient information systems. If a session had to be dropped, six students would have cut session 4 (on 3D virtual worlds), but three students thought this to be the most relevant session. Votes for other sessions were spread fairly evenly, but some commented that they would not want to see the number of sessions reduced. However, to achieve more interactivity in all sessions, we will probably need to reduce the density of topics by dropping one.

Assessment

Only five of the 16 students took the assessment, the others opting for "attendance only." All were invited to comment on the amount of assessment (a 3-hour exam in the last of the 10 weeks and one coursework essay to be handed in 6 weeks later). Four students thought that the assessment was about right, three thought it was too heavy, and the others did not comment. Six thought that the timing was okay, and three thought the exam should be later. No one felt that there should be any concerns about the open book and distance nature of the exam.

Marketing

Six students heard about the course from individual emails, two found it on a Google search, four heard about it from email distribution lists (two from Patient Information Forum [PIF] Aware), one from consumer-health informatics list on jiscmail, one from Afro-nets, one from NHS Connecting for Health "Health Informatics" eSpace community, and one from the Plymouth University website. Students recommended a number of sites where the module could be advertised.

Discussion

The use of e-learning in the health professions is expanding rapidly [16]. Traditionally, e-learning has been asynchronous, but the development of learning objects can be very time consuming and not within the skill set of many academic staff. Various initiatives are underway to develop shared e-learning resources (eg, [17]), but there is a growing body of research exploring how student-student or staff-student communication (either synchronous or asynchronous) can be used in addition to, or instead of, fixed learning objects [18,19]. For example, Baecker et al have developed methods (ePresence [20,21]) that support real-time video and voice and video conferencing for a few participants, while streaming an event to many others. Methods such as these seem particularly relevant in situations such as eHealth where the academic content changes rapidly and investment in learning objects has a short shelf-life.

We have tested a novel method for delivery of a postgraduate module. As such, our evaluation was limited to a first-level study [22] in which we assessed the feasibility and the reaction of our participants. Although we cannot draw any solid conclusions from just one case study with 16 participants, we

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e46/
```

found that the use of interactive live webcasting was successful for a 10-week international course in eHealth.

This was the first time we have run this module, and the methods of delivery are novel. By definition, therefore, our participants were early adopters and so may not be typical of later recruits. Nevertheless, students from Malaysia through to mid-Canada, from a variety of backgrounds, were able to participate in a 2.5-hour online session once a week. Live presentations in which the presenter was seen and heard in a (good quality) video window fading between a talking head and PowerPoint slide worked well. Participants particularly found the discussions (by typed chat) in smaller breakout groups an important and successful element of the delivery. This agrees with our own studies with nursing and midwifery students [15,16] who knew each other from face-to-face teaching and with Reynolds et al's trials with dental students [11]. Most of our students had experience with asynchronous e-learning and found the interactivity of this synchronous method engaging.

There were, of course, some teething problems with our webcasting, with probably the most important being limited bandwidth in NHS sites. Others who have used webcasting have had problems with connection speed, bandwidth, and server access [8,10]. Others have pointed to the need for students and staff to receive training in how the technology works [6,8]. We agree that there is a need for some staff training, but with an emphasis on how to use the technology effectively for teaching and learning rather than on how the technology works per se.

Of the 16 students who started the module, only two dropped out: one missed the last four sessions because of NHS workload, and one missed the last two sessions because of illness. Participating from home offered other advantages for some students, by having fewer interruptions or distractions.

Students participated in this synchronous international module at times ranging from 9-12 pm (Malaysia), through 2-5 pm (United Kingdom), and 7-10 am (Alberta, Canada). Most students said that they found the timing convenient, but clearly this is a selected group who chose to take the course. Given sufficient students worldwide wishing to participate in a synchronous module, it should be possible to run it at different times of the day to suit different time zones and lifestyles, although participation from Australia and New Zealand in a European module is unlikely.

E-learning based on webcasting, such as we have used, is also a much easier transition for lecturers used to face-to-face teaching, and it allows on-the-fly content tailoring guided by audience needs as one would do in a conventional lecture. Given the positive responses of our students over a 10-week course, it would appear a useful way forward. More traditional asynchronous e-learning, of course, should form part of a blend of methods. Within the structure of our webcast sessions, we were able to ask students to spend some time looking at some reusable learning objects or previously recorded webcasts. We hope also to re-use some of the recorded webcasts in subsequent years and that creating a bank of learning materials from the live webcasts will produce a useful learning resource. The research questions then center on the most cost-effective blend of synchronous and asynchronous methods.

XSL•FO RenderX

We used an in-house developed system [12], combining TV methods with open source software. The equipment for our webcasting mini-studio cost about £8000 2 years ago. Costs of alternative hardware may now cost less, but this approach requires that the presenter be located in a studio. There are now

a variety of solutions (Table 3) on offer that may be able to deliver the same or better functionality, including webcasting from any desktop. Our own university is currently trialing MS Communicator, while our attached medical school is trialing Wimba.

Table 3.	Examples of current	interactive	webcasting and	Web confere	ncing solutions	for e-learning

Webcasting or Web Conferencing Solution	URL
ePresence	http://epresence.tv/
Elluminate	http://www.elluminate.com/
Dimdim	http://www.dimdim.com/
Yugma	https://www.yugma.com/
Openmeetings	http://code.google.com/p/openmeetings/
Vyew	http://vyew.com/
iVocalize	https://www.ivocalize.com/
Qwaq	http://www.qwaq.com/
Adobe Connect	http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobatconnect/
Wimba	http://www.wimba.com/products/wimba_collaboration_suite/
MS Communicator	http://office.microsoft.com/en-us/communicator/FX101729051033.aspx
Mogulus ProCaster	http://www.procaster.com/video

There are various research questions related to the use of webcasting that remain:

1. What proportion of potential learners are able to participate in webcasting? For example, we had some problems with students accessing from UK health service sites, which apparently had low bandwidth availability. Are there other methods that can overcome this, or is the solution to find alternative learning sites?

2. What is the best blend of synchronous and asynchronous methods in different learning situations? Further work is needed to explore the cost-effectiveness of different proportions of live or asynchronous contact vs individual learning, and how this varies by learner groups or environments.

3. How do these synchronous methods compare with asynchronous methods, for example, through the use of recorded videos and an asynchronous discussion? Is the quality of participant discussion significantly better if participants have more time to reflect on their answers?

4. Does webcasting need a talking head and shared computer screen both permanently on? In our webcasting, the presenter could "mix" the camera shot with PowerPoint (ie, decide which was to be seen by the students). Some students commented that this works well. But using an embedded Slideshare presentation and having the talking head always present (as used by Reynolds [11]) is another option in which the slides are clearer. Most commercial packages use that method.

5. Which works best, voice or text chat? This small study and our other studies [23,24] suggest that text chat works well, but some students suggested, and most commercial packages include, the use of voice.

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e46/

6. How much training or support do lecturers, new to webcasting or similar methods, require? We support the views of others who have noted that technical success is not always followed by organizational adoption of the technology [10]. Yagi et al [7] used webcasting in a large geographically dispersed pathology department and concluded that successful webcasting depends on the creation of a faculty steering committee to control resources and manage growth, the availability of support for technical staff, and embedding the service as part of the core departmental information technology infrastructure. These requirements have currently been met at our university. The module described in this paper ran again starting in September 2009. Webcasting has been adopted for a range of undergraduate [23,24] and postgraduate modules (Heather Skirton, personal communication 3/4/2009), and we have been able to issue some presenter guidelines (Multimedia Appendix 5) to support wider use. However, organizations new to these methods will need to appraise the costs and benefits of such developments.

7. How many students can be engaged in an interactive webcast while keeping it a good experience for the students? Making postgraduate modules cost-effective is a continuing challenge. With our own module, we will aim to recruit more students but to use breakout groups to keep them in the same tutorial group throughout. This will be challenging for the presenters, but we aim to involve other members of staff who are new to eHealth but who are experienced facilitators so that our students have breakout room support while the staff member has a professional development opportunity.

8. Should live webcasting be used to complement live lectures? In the past, we have had TV assistance to webcast live lectures [25], and Baecker et al [20,21], among others, have reported successful use of that approach. Our own view is that this disadvantages the distant webcast audience, who feel like flies

XSL•FO

on the wall rather than full participants. However, further work into the advantages and disadvantages may be worthwhile.

9. How well are learning outcomes achieved using webcasting compared to other methods?

In conclusion, this model of synchronous e-learning based on interactive live webcasting was a successful method of delivering an international postgraduate module. Students found it engaging over a 10-week course. Although this is a small study, given that synchronous methods such as interactive webcasting are a much easier transition for lecturers used to face-to-face teaching than asynchronous methods, they should be considered as part of the blend of e-learning methods. Further research and development is needed on interfaces and methods which are robust and accessible, and on the most appropriate blend of synchronous and asynchronous work for different student groups.

Acknowledgments

We thank our students both for their participation in the module and for taking the time to answer the feedback questionnaire (alphabetical order): Philip Abdelmalik, Matthew Breckons, Katrina Brockbank, Guy Collins, Caroline De Brun, Lambert Felix, Smita Goorah, Martin Grocock, Wael Haddad, Julie Jackson, Rashid Kashani, Asmawi Mohamad, Janice Parker-Elliott, Mark Pownall, Claudius Spellman, Shaun Young.

We thank various university colleagues who have helped at some stage in developing or supporting this module: Dave Hurrell, Andy Kent, Sam Barrington, Nicola Morgan, Andy Thomson, Michael Paisey, Catherine Hennessy, and Julia Frost.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Extract of recorded session (video file)

[Flash video (Adobe FLV), 51,683 KB - jmir_v11i4e46_app1.flv]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Extract of chat room conversation (Excel file)

[XLS file (Microsoft Excel), 26 KB - jmir v11i4e46 app2.xls]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Email questionnaire

[PDF file (Adobe PDF), 60 KB - jmir_v11i4e46_app3.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Illustrative extracts from the collated responses

[PDF file (Adobe PDF), 40 KB - jmir_v11i4e46_app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Guidelines for presenters using our webcasting (PowerPoint file)

[PPT file (Microsoft Powerpoint File), 1,066 KB - jmir_v11i4e46_app5.ppt]

References

- 1. Jones R, Skirton H, McMullan M. Feasibility of combining e-health for patients with e-learning for students using synchronous technologies. J Adv Nurs 2006 Oct;56(1):99-109. [Medline: <u>16972923</u>] [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03984.x</u>]
- 2. Ostrow L, DiMaria-Ghalili RA. Distance Education for Graduate Nursing: One State School's Experience. J Nurs Educ 2005;44(1):5-10.
- 3. DiMaria-Ghalili RA, Ostrow L, Rodney K. Webcasting: a new instructional technology in distance graduate nursing education. J Nurs Educ 2005 Jan;44(1):11-18. [Medline: <u>15673169</u>]
- 4. Yunus AS, Kasa Z, Asmuni A, Samah BA, Napis S, Yusoff MZM, et al. Use of webcasting technology in teaching higher education. Int Educ J 2006;7(7):916-923.

- Veeramani R, Bradley S. Insights regarding undergraduate preference for lecture capture.. University of Wisconsin-Madison online-learning study.: University of Wisconsin-Madison E-Business Institute URL: <u>http://www.uwebi.org/news/</u> <u>uw-online-learning.pdf</u> [accessed 2009-03-06] [WebCite Cache ID 5f4XE7pij]
- Valaitis R, Akhtar-Danesh N, Eva K, Levinson A, Wainman B. Pragmatists, positive communicators, and shy enthusiasts: three viewpoints on Web conferencing in health sciences education. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(5):e39 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18166527</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.9.5.e39</u>]
- Yagi Y, Ahmed I, Gross W, Becich MJ, Demetris AJ, Wells A, et al. Webcasting pathology department conferences in a geographically distributed medical center. Hum Pathol 2004 Jul;35(7):790-797. [Medline: <u>15257541</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.humpath.2004.03.013</u>]
- 8. Phillips JM, Billings DM. Using webcasts for continuing education in nursing. J Contin Educ Nurs 2007;38(4):152-153. [Medline: <u>17708113</u>]
- 9. Scott PJ, Quick K. Heroic failures in disseminating novel e-learning technologies to corporate clients: a case study of interactive webcasting. Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Information and Communication Technologies. Dublin, Ireland: Computer Science Press; 2005. p. 26-31
- 10. DiMaria-Ghalili RA, Ostrow L, Rodney K. Webcasting: a new instructional technology in distance graduate nursing education. J Nurs Educ 2005 Jan;44(1):11-18. [Medline: <u>15673169</u>]
- 11. Reynolds PA, Mason R, Eaton KA. Webcasting: casting the web more widely. British Dental J 2008;204(3):145-149.
- 12. Maramba I, Jones RB. Using open source software to add interaction to webcasting in health. In: Healthcare Computing 08. Harrogate, UK: BJHC Books; 2008.
- 13. Kingsnorth A, Vranch A, Campbell J. Training for surgeons using digital satellite TV and video conferencing. J Telemedicine Telecare 2000;6(1):S129-S131. [doi: 10.1258/1357633001934942]
- 14. Denzin N, Lincoln Y. Collecting and Interpreting Qualitative Materials. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2003.
- 15. Caelli K, Ray L, Mill J. 'Clear as mud': Toward greater clarity in generic qualitative research. Int J Qual Methods 2003;2(2) Article 1.
- Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S, Dupras DM, Erwin PJ, Montori VM. Internet-based learning in the health professions: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2008 Sep 10;300(10):1181-1196 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18780847</u>] [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.300.10.1181</u>]
- 17. Leeder D, Wharrad H, Stephens N, Rodrigues V, Mclachlan J, Mceldu P. Universities' collaboration in e-learning (UCeL): a virtual community of practice in health professional education. 2004 Presented at: IADIS International Conference on Web Based Communities (WBC2004); March 24-26, 2004.
- Ellaway R, Masters K. AMEE Guide 32: e-Learning in medical education Part 1: Learning, teaching and assessment. Med Teach 2008 Jun;30(5):455-473. [Medline: <u>18576185</u>] [doi: <u>10.1080/01421590802108331</u>]
- 19. Bostrom RP, Gupta S, Hill JR. Peer-to-peer technology in collaborative learning networks: applications and research issues. Int J Knowl Learn 2008;4(1):36-57. [doi: 10.1504/IJKL.2008.019736]
- 20. Baecker R, Fono D, Blume L, Collins C, Couto D. Webcasting made interactive: Persistent chat for text dialogue during and about learning events. In: Human Interface and the Management of Information. Interacting in Information Environments. Book Series Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany: Springer; 2007:260-268.
- 21. Baecker R, Birnholz J, Causey R, Laughton S, Rankin K, Mak C, et al. Webcasting made interactive: Integrating real-time videoconferencing in distributed learning spaces. In: Proceedings of the HCI International 2007: Human Interface and the Management of Information 2007:269-278.
- 22. Rossett A, McDonald JA. Evaluating technology-enhanced continuing medical education. Med Educ Online 2006;11:4.
- 23. Williamson GR, Maramba I, Jones RB, Morris J. Undergraduate Nurses' and Midwives' Participation and Satisfaction with Live Interactive Webcasts. Open Nurs J 2009 Apr 3;3(1):1-9 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19543548] [doi: 10.2174/1874434600903010001]
- 24. Doris F, Jones R. Internet broadcasting: It's a new step for education. Midwives 2009;12(4):38-39.
- 25. Gann B, Bachman J. HIIR Conference: NHS Direct Building a Multi-Channel Public; Patient Computer Dialogue.: University of Plymouth. Faculty of Health & Social Work. Seminars; 2005. URL: <u>http://www.plymouth.ac.uk/pages/view.</u> asp?page=13658 [accessed 2009-04-30] [WebCite Cache ID 5khQZnqzF]

Abbreviations

NHS: National Health Service in England **TV:** television



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.03.09; peer-reviewed by M Lewis, F Mair, D Heestand, D Little; comments to author 02.04.09; revised version received 01.05.09; accepted 03.09.09; published 13.11.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Jones RB, Maramba I, Boulos MNK, Alexander T Use of Live Interactive Webcasting for an International Postgraduate Module in eHealth: Case Study Evaluation J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e46 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e46/</u> doi:10.2196/jmir.1225 PMID:19914901

© Ray B Jones, Inocencio Maramba, Maged N Kamel Boulos, Tara Alexander. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 13.11.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

An Electronic Clinical Decision Support Tool to Assist Primary Care Providers in Cardiovascular Disease Risk Management: Development and Mixed Methods Evaluation

David P Peiris¹, MBBS, MIPH, FRACGP; Rohina Joshi¹, MBBS, MPH, PhD; Ruth J Webster¹, BMedSc, MBBS, MIPH; Patrick Groenestein¹, MBBS, PhD, FRACP; Tim P Usherwood², MD, FRACGP, FRCP; Emma Heeley¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Fiona M Turnbull¹, MBChB, FAFPHM, PhD; Alexandra Lipman¹, BAppSc(Phty), MIPH; Anushka A Patel, MBBS, PhD, FRACP

¹The George Institute for International Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia ²Sydney Medical School-Western, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

Corresponding Author:

David P Peiris, MBBS, MIPH, FRACGP The George Institute for International Health University of Sydney PO Box M201 Missenden Rd Sydney Australia Phone: +61 2 99934500 Fax: +61 2 99934502 Email: <u>dpeiris@george.org.au</u>

Abstract

Background: Challenges remain in translating the well-established evidence for management of cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk into clinical practice. Although electronic clinical decision support (CDS) systems are known to improve practitioner performance, their development in Australian primary health care settings is limited.

Objectives: Study aims were to (1) develop a valid CDS tool that assists Australian general practitioners (GPs) in global CVD risk management, and (2) preliminarily evaluate its acceptability to GPs as a point-of-care resource for both general and underserved populations.

Methods: CVD risk estimation (based on Framingham algorithms) and risk-based management advice (using recommendations from six Australian guidelines) were programmed into a software package. Tool validation: Data from 137 patients attending a physician's clinic were analyzed to compare the tool's risk scores with those obtained from an independently programmed algorithm in a separate statistics package. The tool's management advice was compared with a physician's recommendations based on a manual review of the guidelines. Field test: The tool was then tested with 21 GPs from eight general practices and three Aboriginal Medical Services. Customized CDS-based recommendations were generated for 200 routinely attending patients (33% Aboriginal) using information extracted from the health record by a research assistant. GPs reviewed these recommendations during each consultation. Changes in CVD risk factor measurement and management were recorded. In-depth interviews with GPs were conducted.

Results: Validation testing: The tool's risk assessment algorithm correlated very highly with the independently programmed version in the separate statistics package (intraclass correlation coefficient 0.999). For management advice, there were only two cases of disagreement between the tool and the physician. Field test: GPs found 77% (153/200) of patient outputs easy to understand and agreed with screening and prescribing recommendations in 72% and 64% of outputs, respectively; 26% of patients had their CVD risk factor history updated; 73% had at least one CVD risk factor measured or tests ordered. For people assessed at high CVD risk (n = 82), 10% and 9%, respectively, had lipid-lowering and BP-lowering medications commenced or dose adjustments made, while 7% newly commenced anti-platelet medications. Three key qualitative findings emerged: (1) GPs found the tool enabled a systematic approach to care; (2) the tool greatly influenced CVD risk communication; (3) successful implementation into routine care would require integration with practice software, minimal data entry, regular revision with updated guidelines, and a self-auditing feature. There were no substantive differences in study findings for Aboriginal Medical Services GPs, and the tool was generally considered appropriate for use with Aboriginal patients.

Conclusion: A fully-integrated, self-populating, and potentially Internet-based CDS tool could contribute to improved global CVD risk management in Australian primary health care. The findings from this study will inform a large-scale trial intervention.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e51) doi:10.2196/jmir.1258

KEYWORDS

Decision support systems; clinical; cardiovascular diseases; physicians, family; Aborigines, Australian

Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) accounts for 18% of the total disease burden and 11.2% of health system expenditure in Australia [1]. Australian Aboriginal peoples experience around five times greater CVD burden than other Australians [2]. Despite recent gains, CVD remains Australia's biggest killer, accounting for 46,134 deaths and disability in around 1.4 million Australians in 2005 [1]. Although effective preventive therapies are available for people at high risk of a first and subsequent CVD event [3-7], substantial challenges remain in translating this evidence into clinical practice. Our recent studies of CVD risk management in mainstream Australian general practice and indigenous health service settings found around half of routinely attending adults lacked sufficient information to comprehensively screen for CVD risk. For those identified at high CVD risk, only a minority (31% in mainstream general practice settings and 40% in indigenous health services) were prescribed guideline-indicated medications [8,9].

The reasons for suboptimal implementation of clinical guidelines include complex and multiple barriers at the health system, doctor, and patient level [10]. For a time-constrained general practitioner (GP), consolidating numerous guidelines to make clinical decisions is challenging. This is particularly true for CVD, where overall or absolute risk assessment is recommended and simultaneous management of multiple risk factors is required. Despite guideline endorsement of the absolute risk-based approach, few Australian GPs use cardiovascular risk assessment tools to guide management [11,12].

Clinical decisions support (CDS)—in Australia also commonly called electronic decision support (EDS)—is one of the most promising interventions to improve uptake of guideline-based recommendations in clinical practice. In two systematic reviews on the effectiveness of CDS, around two-thirds of studies demonstrated improvement in practitioner performance [13,14]. Key features of successful interventions included instantaneous output generation for use at the point-of-care, minimal data entry, provision of automatic prompting for GPs, and a requirement that GPs actively respond to recommendations.

A number of controlled evaluations of CDS systems that are integrated with electronic medical records (EMRs) have been

conducted in the areas of CVD risk and diabetes [15-19]. They have shown variable improvements in risk factor screening/documentation and overall processes of care. Beyond trial settings, several countries have successfully implemented large-scale CDS systems for CVD risk in primary care settings. In the United Kingdom, an electronic CVD risk assessment (but not decision support) package is being integrated into one of the most commonly used GP software systems [20]. In the United States, the ATHENA decision support system is able to be integrated with a variety of primary care software platforms to promote guideline-based management of blood pressure (BP) [21]. In New Zealand (NZ), an Internet-based CVD risk management system based on the New Zealand Guidelines Group recommendations [22] has been fully integrated into the country's most popular medical software platform EMR. This system has demonstrated improvements in uptake of CVD risk assessments [23]. Although there have been attempts in Australia to consolidate evidence about CVD management into a point-of-care paper chart tool [24], GPs would prefer decision support in an electronic format [12].

Here we outline our methods for the development of a CDS tool and present the findings of a preliminary evaluation of its use in primary care settings. This forms the first stage of a broader research and development program that will lead to the implementation and controlled evaluation of a tool that is fully integrated into Australian primary care software systems.

Methods

Development of the CDS Tool

For risk assessment, an algorithm was written based on the 1991 Framingham risk equation to predict 5-year risk of a first CVD event (coronary heart disease, stroke, congestive heart failure, peripheral vascular disease) [25]. Recognizing that this equation might underestimate risk for certain clinical conditions and for specific ethnic groups, adjustments were made using recommendations from the New Zealand Guidelines Group and guidelines from the 2004 National Heart Foundation (NHF) of Australia [26,27]. The risk factor variables and adjustments are summarized in Textbox 1.



Textbox 1. Framingham risk equation variables and adjustments used for calculation of 5-year CVD risk in the CDS tool

Fra	mingham risk factor variables:
•	Age
•	Sex
•	Smoking status
•	Blood pressure (BP)
•	Total and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels
•	Presence of diabetes
•	Presence of left ventricular hypertrophy
5%	increase to the baseline risk score is made once only if any of the following are present:
•	History of premature CVD in a first-degree relative
•	Body mass index $\ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$
•	Total cholesterol > 8 mmol/L
•	Systolic BP > 170 mmHg
•	Diastolic BP > 100 mmHg
•	Diabetes duration > 10 years
•	Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1C) > 8% for the last 12 months
•	High-risk ethnic background (Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander, Maori, Pacific peoples, South Asian)
Age	$e \ge 75$ years and calculated 5-year risk < 15%, then risk is adjusted to 15%
If t	he following high-risk conditions are present and calculated 5-year risk is $< 20\%$, then risk is adjusted to 20%:
•	Established CVD (coronary artery disease, ischemic cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease)
•	Left ventricular hypertrophy
•	Genetic dyslipidemias
•	Diabetes and chronic kidney disease (estimated glomerular filtration rate [eGFR] < 60 mL/min/1.73 m ²)
•	Proteinuria (defined as either albumin to creatinine ratio \geq 30 mg/mmol or proteinuria > 1 g/day)

To define the risk management outputs of the tool, pharmacological treatment recommendations from six Australian CVD-related guidelines current in 2007 were consolidated into a single algorithm [26,28-31]. The thresholds and treatment targets for BP, lipid, and anti-platelet management are summarized in Textbox 2.



Textbox 2. Indications and target levels for CVD medication management programmed into the CDS tool

1. Anti-platelet medication indications:

- Established coronary heart disease
- Diabetes
- Ischemic cerebrovascular disease

2. BP medication

- Indications for commencing treatment:
 - BP > 125/75 mmHg for the following:
 - Diabetes and proteinuria (defined as either albumin to creatinine ratio > 30 mg/mmol or proteinuria > 1 g/day)
 - Diabetes and chronic kidney disease (defined as eGFR < 60 mL/min/1.73 m²)
 - BP > 130/80 mmHg for all others with diabetes or isolated proteinuria
 - BP > 140/90 mmHg and any one of the following:
 - Established CVD
 - Chronic kidney disease (eGFR < 60 mL/min/1.73 m²)
 - Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander, Pacific Islander, Maori, South Asian background
 - Adjusted 5-year CVD risk > 10% (assuming lifestyle advice given for 3-6 months)
 - BP > 150/95 mmHg and adjusted 5-year CVD risk < 10% (assuming lifestyle advice given for 3-6 months)

• Target treatment levels:

- BP < 125/75 mmHg for those with diabetes and proteinuria
 - BP < 130/85 mmHg for:
 - All others with diabetes
 - Chronic kidney disease
 - Isolated proteinuria
 - Age < 65 years
 - < 140/90 mmHg for all others

3. Lipid medication

1. Indications for commencing treatment:

- Established CVD at any level
- Genetic lipid disorders at any level
- Diabetes and serum triglycerides > 2 mmol/L
- Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol > 2.5 mmol/L and any of the following:
 - Diabetes
 - Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander
 - Adjusted 5-year CVD risk > 15%
- 2. Target treatment levels:
 - Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol < 2.5 mmol/L

The risk assessment and management algorithms were programmed into a stand-alone software package (Igor Pro 6, WaveMetrics Inc, Portland, OR, USA) that produced a

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e51/

single-page output. If there was complete risk factor information available, a risk score was generated and plotted along a color spectrum bar and treatment recommendations were provided.



If information required for absolute risk assessment was absent, the output identified the variables missing and the color bar was changed to greyscale. Because many Australian guidelines are not exclusively risk based, some treatment recommendations could still be made despite incomplete risk factor information. Examples of these two types of output are shown in Figure 1 and Figure 2.

Figure 1. Sample CDS output with complete information and color bar

*** IMPORTANT NOTE: THIS IS TRIAL SOFTWARE OILLY. IT IS NOT INTENDED TO REPLACE CLINICAL JUDGEMENT FOR NONZULAL PATENTS ***					
Risk assessment inputs: Summary of CVD data assessment					
Age: 63 🗸	Estimated 5-year risk:	Estimated 5-year risk:			
Sex Female	21% (high)	UID: 1 Ms J CITIZEN 10-Jan-1946 (63)			
Left ventricular hypertrophy: No 💌		1 Example St, Camperdown, NSW No: 1234567			
Current (last 12 months) smoking: Yes 🗸	Consider the assessment, treatment and target levels of:	monuay, 23 march 2009 10:35 km			
	Absolute risk assessment is recommended because age	is≥ 50, and elevated BP, elevated lipids,			
Total-Cholesterol: 4.8	diabetes, and chronic kidney disease are present.				
Triglycerides: 1.0 V					
HDL-Cholesterol: 1.3 V	 Diabetes monitoring is recommended. 				
LDL-Cholesterol: 3.0 🗸	- Linida sustantian is recommended as any N IF, distance	CKD emoline and			
Systelic BP: 142	elevated BP are present.	Grue, Shreeking, and			
Diastolic BP: 90					
	BP monitoring is recommended as age is over 18 years.	note elevated blood pressure present)			
Creatinine: 109 µM					
Proteinuria: No					
Chronic kidney disease: eGFR<60mL/min or proteinuria YCS (eGFR: 47)	Smoking cessation or reduction is recommended for multiple nearth benefits.				
Diabetes: Yes	Lipid modifying therapy is recommended as diabetes and elevated lipids, and elevated risk are present.				
Diabetes for more than 10y: No (Dx 2005)					
HbA1c >8% more than 1 year: No	BP lowering therapy is recommended as multiple indications are present.				
History of cardiovascular disease (CVD): No	Antinistalat thereavy is recommanded as disbetas is researct				
Genetic dyslipidaemia: No					
Family history of CVD: No					
Higher risk ethnicity: No	Blood pressure lowering therapy is <u>not meeting target</u> as	diabetes is present and BP > 130/85mmHg.			
Body mass index: 28.7 kg/m ²					
Lipid therapy: No		Absolute risk (5y)			
Blood pressure therapy: Yes					
Antiplatelet therapy: No					
		5			
		<u>Sy</u>			

Figure 2. Sample CDS output with incomplete information and greyscale bar

	*** IMPORTANT NOTE: THIS IS TRIAL SOFTWARE OILLY: IT IS NOT INTENDED TO REPLACE CLINICAL JUDGEMENT FOR INDIVIDUAL PATIENTS ***

rusk assessment inputs:	Summary of CVD data assessment		
Age: 48 🛩	Estimated Syear risk:		
Sex Male	Image: sing data view of the sing data vi		
Left ventricular hypertrophy: </th <th>12 Example St, Camperdown, NSW. No: 1234567</th>	12 Example St, Camperdown, NSW. No: 1234567		
Current (last 12 months) smoking: </th <th>Consider the assessment, treatment and target levels of:</th>	Consider the assessment, treatment and target levels of:		
	Absolute risk assessment is recommended because elevated lipids is present.		
Total-Cholesterol: 5.6			
Triglycerides: 1.5	Diabetes evaluation is not required.		
HDL-Cholesterol: 0.8			
LDL-Cholesterol: 5.3	Lipids evaluation is recommended as age ≥ 45 is present.		
Systolic BP: 138			
Diastolic BP: 80 🗸	BP monitoring is recommended as age is over 18 years.		
Creatinina: 07M			
Proteinuria: No	Information on smoking is required for calculation of risk.		
Chronic kidney disease: No corp. 70			
eGFR<60mL/min or proteinuria	 Information on left ventricular hypertrophy is recommended for calculation of risk (currently assumed to be none). 		
Diabetes: No			
Diabetes for more than 10y. No			
HbA1c >8% more than 1 year: No	Upid lowering therapy is unable to be determined (no indications are identified, but absolute risk information is not available).		
History of cardiovascular disease (CVD): No			
Genetic dyslipidaemia: No	 BP lowering therapy is unable to be determined (no indications are identified, but absolute risk information is not available). 		
Family history of CVD: No			
Higher risk ethnicity: No	Antiplatelet therapy is not required.		
Body mass index: 24.5 kg/m ²			
Lipid therapy: No	Absolute risk (5v)		
Blood pressure therapy: No			
Antiplatelet therapy: No			

Validation Testing of the Tool

De-identified data from all consecutive patients with complete risk factor information attending a specialist vascular clinic over a 3-month period (May to August 2008, n = 137) were entered into the tool by a trained research assistant to generate CDS outputs. The validity of these outputs was assessed in two parts.

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e51/

RenderX

version 9.2 (Stata Corporation, College Station, TX, USA). Correlation between risk scores generated from the CDS tool and the STATA program were assessed. Second, an experienced physician, blinded to the CDS tool management

First, a researcher who was not involved with the algorithm

development programmed the Framingham risk equation and

adjustments into a second statistical software package, STATA

recommendations, reviewed the risk assessment data for each patient. She then performed a manual review of the guidelines and assessed whether anti-platelet, BP-lowering, and lipid-lowering medications were indicated or whether targets were being met for those patients already prescribed BP-lowering and lipid-lowering drugs. Agreement between the CDS tool and the physician's recommendations was assessed.

Field Testing in Primary Health Care

The tool was field tested in two different Australian primary health care settings: eight teaching general practices in Sydney and three Aboriginal Medical Services (AMSs) in New South Wales. Sampling was purposive and sought GPs interested in research and training who might critically appraise the tool and provide recommendations for its future development. A diversity sample in terms of GP age, gender, and size of practice was sought. Consecutive, routinely attending patients (Aboriginal \geq 35 years, non-Aboriginal \geq 45 years) were invited from the waiting room to participate. The patient age range is based on Australian guideline recommendations for absolute risk assessment screening [32]. Each GP had outputs generated for around 10 patients. This number was considered sufficient to allow (1) adequate exposure to a variety of tool outputs, (2) an appreciation of the tool's application in a typical working day, and (3) minimal administrative burden to the GP or the practice. Figure 3 provides a schema for how the study was conducted. Because the pilot version of the tool was built using stand-alone software, it lacked the ability to pre-populate with demographic and clinical data already existing in the EMR. Thus, the key role of the research assistant was to act as a proxy for this pre-populating feature by accessing the relevant risk factor information from the patient's EMR. In essence, this simulated the situation that might occur if the tool was built into the GP's practice software system. The resultant output was given to GPs prior to the consultation for review with their patients.

Figure 3. Study schema



Evaluation and Analyses

A mixed methods evaluation was conducted following the methods outlined by Tashakkori and Teddlie [33]. Specifically, the quantitative and qualitative components were equally weighted and combined simultaneously to obtain an understanding of the effectiveness (quantitative), acceptability (quantitative and qualitative), and feasibility (qualitative) of a CDS tool for CVD risk management in primary care settings.

At the end of each consultation, GPs completed a short survey on their attitudes about the tool and management provided. At study completion, GPs completed a second survey on their practice characteristics. This survey adapted some questions from a previously published instrument [34]. GPs then participated in an in-depth interview evaluation. Interviews were semistructured and conducted by a GP researcher who had a practical working knowledge of the tool in clinical settings. Interviews covered three domains: (1) general attitudes about the tool and its impact on the consultation; (2) a review of specific tool outputs; (3) recommendations for future tool development. Full details of the survey instruments and interview guide are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1-3.

Descriptive statistics and quantitative analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA). Management decisions were assessed as to whether GPs acted on recommendations from the tool output. Interview recordings were professionally transcribed, and thematic content analysis was performed drawing on the methods outlined by Patton [35]. Interview transcripts were initially reviewed in their entirety to become familiar with the data. They were then open coded to core thematic categories and these analyses were conducted contemporaneously with data collection. At the end of study, the investigator team met on several occasions to determine how these open-coded categories would be relationally grouped to determine the final major themes. NVivo 8 (QSR International, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia) was used to help organize the data through this analysis process.

The study was approved by both the Sydney South West Area Health Service and Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council ethics committees. Patients and GPs gave written informed consent to participate in the study. Signed agreements were obtained from the three participating AMSs.

Results

Validation of the Tool

The tool's risk assessment algorithm showed near perfect correlation with the independently programmed algorithm used in STATA (intraclass correlation coefficient 0.999). The variation was wholly explained by different rounding methods software program. For prescribing used in each recommendations, agreement between the tool and the physician's recommendations for initiation of anti-platelet and lipid treatment was 100%. Agreement on meeting guideline targets for those already prescribed BP- and lipid-lowering treatments was also 100%. Agreement on initiation of BP treatment was 97% (kappa 0.95). In both cases of disagreement, the BP was < 125/75 mmHg and the physician judged that treatment was not indicated, while the tool recommended that treatment could not be determined due to missing information on proteinuria.

Field Testing – Quantitative Evaluation

Twenty-one GPs participated in the study. Practices varied greatly in size, ranging from a solo GP practice with minimal administrative support to a large practice with 23 GPs and 15 nurses. Table 1 outlines GP characteristics and their use of electronic practice management features. Table 2 shows the risk factor characteristics of the patient population by Aboriginal status and prescribing rates of preventive CVD medications.



Table 1. Characteristics of the 21 participating GPs

	No.	%
Male	12	57
Age group (years)		
20-29	1	5
30-39	3	14
40-49	11	52
50+	6	29
Postgraduate qualifications		
Fellowship of the Royal Australian College of GPs	15	71
Diploma (eg, obstetrics, child health)	11	52
Master (eg, public health)	4	19
Participate in research sometimes or often	19	90
Use of Internet at least once daily	19	90
Electronic practice software features always used		
Medication prescribing	20	95
Automated pathology results downloaded	19	90
Online billing	14	67
Electronic patient recalls	13	62
Scanning of paper documents	12	57
Electronic care plans	12	57
Disease registers	7	33
Frequency of performing cardiovascular risk assessments for Aboriginal 35+ years, non-Aboriginal 45+ years		
Never	3	14
Less than 50% of the time	16	76
Greater than 50% of the time	2	10
Preferred method of assessing risk		
New Zealand guidelines color charts	15	71
Calculators within medical software	2	10
Other methods (eg, downloaded calculator)	1	5
Risk assessment never performed	3	14

Table 2. Baseline risk assessment characteristics of 200 patients attending their GP^a

	Non-Aboriginal	Aboriginal	Total
	(n = 134)	(n = 66)	(n = 200)
Age in years (mean ± SD)	51.5 ± 29.8	50.1 ± 10.62	51.1 ± 25.1
Female	79 (59%)	45 (68%)	124 (62%)
Recorded diabetes	37 (28%)	30 (46%)	68 (34%)
Current smoker ^b	36 (27%)	33 (50%)	69 (35%)
5-year adjusted CVD risk			
Low risk (< 10%)	28 (21%)	16 (24%)	44 (22%)
Moderate risk (10-15%)	12 (9%)	9 (14%)	21 (11%)
High risk (> 15%), excluding established CVD	28 (21%)	11 (17%)	39 (20%)
Established CVD	30 (22%)	13 (20%)	43 (22%)
Unable to estimate risk due to missing information	36 (27%)	17 (26%)	53 (27%)
Medication prescribed			
Lipid-lowering	67 (50%)	31 (47%)	98 (49%)
Anti-platelet	50 (37%)	20 (30%)	70 (35%)
BP-lowering	85 (63%)	37 (56%)	122 (61%)

^a Reported as no. (%) unless otherwise indicated. Percentages may not add to 100% due to rounding.

^b Current smoker or quit within past 12 months.

For the 200 CDS outputs generated for review, GPs agreed or strongly agreed that the output was easy to understand (77% of outputs), that screening and prescribing recommendations were appropriate (72% and 64% of outputs, respectively), and that recommendations on treatment targets were appropriate (70% of outputs). Fifty-two (26%) patient records were updated with CVD-related information, most commonly family history, past history of CVD, and smoking status. Figure 4 highlights the

changes in risk factor screening and management following the consultation. Ninety-five (48%) patients received changes to their management, of whom 49 (52%) received lifestyle advice on CVD risk factors. For people assessed at high CVD risk (n = 82), 10% and 9%, respectively, had lipid-lowering and BP-lowering medications commenced or dose adjustments made, while 7% newly commenced anti-platelet therapy.



Figure 4. CVD management practices before and after a consultation involving the CDS tool







All GPs participated in the interview evaluation, with interviews ranging from approximately 30 to 60 minutes duration. One interview was conducted with a pair of participants, two interviews were conducted over the telephone, and the remainder were individual face-to-face interviews. Three major themes arose from the interview content analysis that will be reported here. A fourth substantive theme was identified that related to how tools are used in general practice and the role of evidence-based medicine in decision making. As this issue extends beyond factors related to the CDS tool and was not a specific objective of the study, an in-depth analysis of this theme will be conducted separately.

Theme 1: Systematic Provision of Care

Most GPs felt that the tool was effective in providing comprehensive support in CVD risk management, both at the point-of-care and as an adjunct to reviewing their clinical performance.

Oh well it does help, because it's your data there...and you look at it and you think "Oh gee, that's not there. I haven't put that in" or "Well yeah, they are not to target there".... So it's just a reminder that you might think you're doing okay, but there's nothing like seeing the actual figures to make you realize that "Okay, there's room for improvement here." [Interview 7: Male GP over 60 years]

I think it was quite a good thing because you would finish the consultation about whatever that was about and then you'd almost have a separate time set for looking at cardiovascular risk.... Otherwise, I would think about doing it through the consultation, but you just seem to forget and then you would think "Oh damn it, I should have done that." So having that piece of paper there gave you that conversation: "Well now we've finished everything, let's look at this." [Interview 12: Male GP 40-49 years]

I think it's useful to us.... It's basically like a mini audit. So anything that makes you look a little bit deeper at the person sitting in front of you is always worthwhile.... [Interview 19: Male AMS GP 40-49 years]

Importantly, however, recommendations based on single risk factor readings, out-of-date, or even false readings undermined the full benefit of such a tool. GPs sought clarification on the underlying assumptions in how risk was calculated and management recommendations were made. For the few GPs who were dissatisfied with the tool's recommendations, these issues accounted for much of that dissatisfaction.

It gives information which, as it's blandly presented, you go, "How did you get that?..." I got a couple of people where I got a 20% number and you go, "Oh that's madness, that's not you," and often because it's based on single digit information...like a single blood pressure. [Interview 11: Male GP 50-59 years]

The other issue I have with this data which came up is it uses the last available input.... I think what would

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e51/

at came up and said.

Peiris et al

be really good is something that came up and said, "This is the risk, but we've used data that's three years out of date.... You need to be doing it again."... just a reminder to say, "Ah, I should be thinking about that for everyone." I think that would be really useful. [Interview 17: Female AMS GP 20-29 years]

GPs further highlighted the need for ongoing revision as guidelines are updated.

We're used to every month getting a download of the new drug file, the new program data...with therapeutic guidelines.... There's a little button that says, this is emerging guidelines or these are the things that have just been incorporated within it.... You don't really want to be working on guidelines that are too old.... [Interview 11: Male GP 50-59 years]

Theme 2: Risk Communication

Despite only brief exposure to the tool, many GPs commented on its role in risk communication. The synthesis of multiple risk factor information onto a single page appeared to promote a beneficial dialogue with patients. The need for an evaluation from the patient perspective was highlighted.

I think the biggest impact is that it changed the way I talked about what I was doing with patients, in that it made it a much more slick, neat package to describe the normal screening that you do for risk management. And so I felt it was easier to deliver some description of where they're at now. And from their point of view, I mean it's hard to know, but they seemed to understand that it was a multifactorial thing, rather than just being one of those single disease problems.... The thing that I don't really know, that I guess would be useful, is what they think when they walk out the door, what they actually understand of what I've said. [Interview 2: Female AMS GP 40-49 years]

Most noteworthy was the prominence of the color bar (see Figure 1) in promoting discussions about risk management.

I like this one [referring to the color bar].... I mean, everyone knows that red means danger, so if they're heading towards this one, it's a lot more visual, the impact.... [Interview 15: Female AMS GP 30-39 years]

I could see the potential for using it to discuss with the patient.... I like the fact that it had that nice bar with the color gradations because my other previous use of trying to describe risk has been using that one from the New Zealand calculator, and it's very complicated. It's too complicated. And I find it really, you know, very pretty, but difficult for the patient to really get much sense out of. So I liked that single bar. I thought that was much more useful for people. [Interview 9: Female GP 50-59 years]

Yeah, and even the colored diagram is really helpful in seeing and being able to say, "...Look, this is going into orange – this says high in red." And there's

Peiris et al

almost an emotional response to the colors that come back there that is actually really useful compared to me saying, "Look, people with diabetes have heart attacks and strokes." [Interview 4: Male AMS GP 30-39 years]

Additionally, some GPs considered that interactively changing the risk factor profile and resulting risk score (including color category) would facilitate conversations about the relative contributions of individual risk factors to overall risk.

I could think on the absolute risk bar, if you've got an arrow for where they sit now, potentially you could have an arrow for if you were to modify what was modifiable and where could you get.... "You [the patient] could ultimately work your way down to here," and it might be a way of saying, "Well, there is the gap," and that might be helpful as a motivator. [Interview 8: Male GP 30-39 years]

So that gets me thinking about talking to the patient about the relative merits of putting them on drugs compared to smoking, and I think as an interactive thing I could bring up this thing and change her smoking or change her BMI...and say, "This is a much simpler way of dramatically changing your absolute risk." [Interview 16: Male AMS GP 50-59 years]

Theme 3: Challenges for Implementation in Routine Care

While GPs felt that it was appropriate and feasible to incorporate CVD risk management into routine care, the time pressures in doing so were highlighted. A major potential constraint identified would be the time required for data entry. A common view expressed was that a tool integrated with practice software would need to be pre-populated with as much risk factor information as possible.

I think it depends on the patient. The ones where I think it takes most time are those where it's not been brought up and it turns out that the risk is high. So where you feel the stakes are higher...and it's not really been on your radar and it's certainly not been on the patient's radar. There aren't that many of those. For most of the patients where the risk is high, you're already aware that their risk is high.... In that context, it isn't that much extra work.... [Interview 4: Male AMS GP 30-39 years]

I'm not sure how you can do it, because some are from pathology reports coming back, some things you have to measure, and then some people don't put it in the right boxes. They just type in. So if you don't put it in the right place, then the software won't be able to pick it up. If I have to go enter [data] into this thing, then I'm pretty sure very few people are going to do it...just like the New Zealand one.... But, if you could extract it automatically, or maybe I fill in the occasional one...then that's fine. [Interview 10: Male GP 50-59 years]

One of my rules in general practice is "every 30 seconds counts," so if it becomes something that slows

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e51/
```

the program down, if it becomes something that blocks your progress on doing what you want to do...they're the things that would make it less usable...rather than becoming distracted by this thing because you are stuck with closing boxes and pop-ups and forced to put data in.... What I like about this [the CDS tool], it pulls information together for you so you don't have to look through 7, 8 different places.... [Interview 11: Male GP 50-59 years]

This was considered particularly germane to GPs who are less comfortable with EMR use and where information may not be stored in an extractable format.

Less-computer-literate doctors will find it less useful because they don't have the information there.... So, if people put garbage in, you will get garbage out, and I don't think that is going to change..... I can't imagine a paper file doctor wanting to use the tool in the first place. So I think your target is only likely to be people who are more computer savvy. [Interview 8: Male GP 30-39 years]

Some GPs advised of the need for a more graphically oriented layout and innovative prompting mechanisms that avoid contributing to the already congested number of "pop-up" prompts present in their systems. Additionally, some GPs felt that the screening (as opposed to management) recommendations offered little additional value and, in their time-poor context, may distract from the recommendations about indicated preventive therapies.

I find it all too wordy.... I can't read those words while I'm sitting there with a patient. I still have to sit there and think, "What does that sentence actually mean?..." So, it needs to be very graphic, where it says the same thing to you graphically. [Interview 2: Female AMS GP 40-49 years]

[The tool was] almost too busy.... I've only got a minute to glance at it.... People normally wait about four, six weeks to come and see me, and so they've got a lot of stuff they want to see me about.... I don't need to know that lipids evaluation is recommended for those aged over 50. What you want is the real necessary stuff...those first four things (the screening recommendations) actually weren't necessary..... You've got 15 minutes at most and...if you don't have that information in the first two lines, people won't read it. [Interview 14: Female GP 40-49 years]

Discussion

This preliminary evaluation demonstrates that a valid decision support tool for CVD risk management can be successfully developed and that such a tool was favorably received by GPs working in two distinct primary health care settings. The baseline prescribing patterns of CVD medications to high-risk individuals were broadly similar to those reported in our previous Australian audit studies [8,9]. The improvements in risk factor screening and the intensification of existing therapies were promising signs of the tool's ability to promote absolute risk-based care. It was also encouraging that despite, or perhaps

because of, the high rates of Aboriginal CVD disease burden, the tool was viewed positively by AMS care providers. A large-scale controlled evaluation would clearly be needed to substantiate these preliminary study findings.

The evaluation identified key aspects of both the tool's scientific design and functionality that are likely to be crucial for successful wider implementation. Our findings support the systematic review evidence that CDS tool features associated with improved performance include factors such as integration with routine workflow, provision of automated decision support, and provision of recommendations rather than simply assessments [14]. Perhaps the most fundamental finding from this study is that CDS tools need to be effectively incorporated into routine care and avoid being viewed as an optional, additional burden to the workload. Integration within existing medical software systems and maximal use of information contained in other parts of the EMR would reduce data entry and increase the tool's use. Although the uptake of EMRs in the Australian primary care system is widespread for prescribing medications and pathology services, their routine use for other purposes is more variable [36]. This poses both challenges and opportunities for CDS tools. In this pilot, the research assistant accessed health information from disparate parts of the EMR, including free-text information. The ability to automatically "push" data into a CDS tool and limit burdensome data entry is dependent on the extent to which information exists in an extractable format. If the amount of extractable information is scant, this could pose a major barrier to use of CDS tools. The tool itself, however, can be utilized as a strategy to overcome this problem. If the information that is entered directly into the tool can be "pulled" back into the appropriate parts of the EMR, then there is a dual purpose being served-that of performing a clinically relevant task at the point-of-care and a data cleaning process. In practical terms, this would mean that the CDS output would either be automatically generated based on existing data or prompt the practitioner for any missing data. This missing data could then be entered directly into the tool and written back to the appropriate part of the health record, avoiding the need for double data entry. This makes future risk assessments easier to perform, affords extraction of more reliable data for auditing and quality improvement purposes, and supports the use of shared electronic health records across multiple service providers. Full EMR integration is also a key consideration in supporting other components of chronic disease management such as chronic care plans, well person's health assessments, and audit cycles of care (all of which attract Australian government-funded rebates). This could ensure that the tool facilitates existing care, rather than competes with it.

The NZ Web-based decision support system for CVD risk has been purposefully designed to be "agnostic" to the EMR environment and is capable of pushing and pulling data with a variety of commercial products. As a centrally deployed system, there is also a mechanism for rapid implementation of updates as subsequent guidelines evolve (already a priority issue in Australia given that three new CVD-related guidelines have been released since initial programming of this tool). In order to meet these specification requirements in the Australian context, adequate resourcing and a close collaboration between

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e51/
```

researchers and EMR vendors are needed. The Medical Software Industry of Australia, which is the peak representative body for all EMR providers, the Australian Health Information Council, and the Australian government's National E-Health Transition Authority are key stakeholders that can assist with establishing industry standards on CDS tools. Furthermore, endorsement of these tools by the peak national bodies responsible for generating and disseminating guidelines could further increase GP confidence in their validity.

An important consideration for future development of the tool is to more fully understand its impact on communication of CVD risk between care provider and patient. This study confirms previous findings that GPs use these tools to facilitate the provider–patient interaction [12]. Of particular note was the role of the color spectrum bar in communicating risk information and the desire to interactively change this based on different risk scenarios. While this tool examined decision support for the care provider, further work examining how best to provide decision support for the patient is needed. This includes identifying acceptable formats for conveying risk information, evaluating the impact of decision support on health care interactions, and exploring its potential for use outside the clinical consultation (eg, self-management programs and personal eHealth records).

Limitations

A limitation of this preliminary evaluation was that changes in care provider practices were based on a single consultation, reducing the ability to assess the potential impact of the CDS tool over time. A second potential limitation was the sampling method. Rather than seek a representative sample, we sought GPs who might actively contribute to the future development of the tool. AMSs were considered important settings to assess whether the tool was acceptable for use in a population with high levels of health disadvantage. Despite this purposive sampling, the types of medical software used, the electronic features used within those software systems, and the rates of performing absolute risk assessments were broadly similar to those reported in the Australian literature [12,36].

Future Implications

The implications of a CDS tool for CVD risk management extend well beyond being a point-of-care clinical resource. Data from UK CVD risk programs have allowed for the generation of population-specific risk prediction equations that outperform Framingham-based algorithms [20]. The NZ decision support system, combined with linkage to mortality and hospital databases, is similarly allowing for rapid advances in CVD risk factor epidemiology. The combination of a centrally managed Internet-based system with local management of program specifics by primary health organizations allows for a "ground up" approach to incorporating population health aspects into such systems. Along with epidemiological advances, both the UK and NZ systems allow for the use of large-scale primary care data to monitor health system performance. In Australia, such systems will play an integral role in the broader eHealth strategies being proposed to reform the health care system [37-39]. Performance measures in CVD risk management are integral to the UK Quality and Outcomes Framework and are

XSL•FO RenderX

allowing for large-scale analyses of regional variation and progress in reducing health inequalities [40]. In Australia, this is especially pertinent to addressing Aboriginal health inequities where specific indicators for the measurement and reduction of CVD risk are proposed [41]. Awareness of these broader issues and incorporation of the major study findings into the next phase of the project will provide a strong foundation to develop, implement, and evaluate an integrated CVD risk management system in Australian primary health care.

Acknowledgments

We thank the general practitioners and the three Aboriginal Medical Services and their governing bodies for generously agreeing to participate in the study. We also thank Claire Davies and Hueiming Liu for assistance with data collection. The study was funded by a Pfizer Cardiovascular Lipid grant. David Peiris is supported by a scholarship from the New South Wales Clinical Excellence Commission. Anushka Patel is a recipient of a National Heart Foundation Career Development Fellowship.

Conflicts of Interest

None to declare

Multimedia Appendix 1

GP questionnaire completed at the end of each patient consultation

[PDF file (Adobe PDF), 40 KB - jmir_v11i4e51_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

GP questionnaire completed at the end of the study

[PDF file (Adobe PDF), 402 KB - jmir_v11i4e51_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

GP interview guide

[PDF file (Adobe PDF), 30 KB - jmir_v11i4e51_app3.pdf]

References

- 1. ; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). Australia's Health 2008. Cat. no. AUS 99. Canberra, Australia: AIHW; 2008.
- 2. Vos T, Barker B, Stanley L, Lopez AD. The burden of disease and injury in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 2003. Brisbane, Australia: University of Queensland; 2007.
- 3. ; Antithrombotic Trialists' Collaboration. Collaborative meta-analysis of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy for prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke in high risk patients. BMJ 2002 Jan 12;324(7329):71-86 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 11786451] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7329.71]
- 4. ; Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20,536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2002 Jul 6;360(9326):7-22. [Medline: 12114036] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)09327-3]
- ; PROGRESS Collaborative Group. Randomised trial of a perindopril-based blood-pressure-lowering regimen among 6105 individuals with previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack. Lancet 2001;358(9287):1033-1041. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)06178-5]
- 6. Simes J, Furberg CD, Braunwald E, Davis BR, Ford I, Tonkin A, et al. Effects of pravastatin on mortality in patients with and without coronary heart disease across a broad range of cholesterol levels. The Prospective Pravastatin Pooling project. Eur Heart J 2002 Feb;23(3):207-215. [Medline: <u>11792135</u>] [doi: <u>10.1053/euhj.2001.2775</u>]
- Yusuf S, Sleight P, Pogue J, Bosch J, Davies R, Dagenais G. Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 2000 Jan 20;342(3):145-153 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10639539] [doi: 10.1056/NEJM200001203420301]
- 8. Peiris DP, Patel AA, Cass A, Howard MP, Tchan ML, Brady JP, et al. Cardiovascular disease risk management for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples in primary health care settings: findings from the Kanyini Audit. Med J Aust 2009 Sep 21;191(6):304-309. [Medline: <u>19769551</u>]
- 9. Webster RJ, Heeley EL, Peiris DP, Bayram C, Cass A, Patel AA. Gaps in cardiovascular disease risk management in Australian general practice. Med J Aust 2009 Sep 21;191(6):324-329. [Medline: <u>19769555</u>]

- 10. Grol R, Wensing M. What drives change? Barriers to and incentives for achieving evidence-based practice. Med J Aust 2004 Mar 15;180(6 Suppl):S57-S60 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15012583]
- 11. Mcavoy BR, Fulcher GR, Amerena JV, Conner GW, Beltrame JF, Hankey GJ, et al; Practical Implementation Taskforce for the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. An evidence based clinical aid for cardiovascular disease-what do GPs think? Aust Fam Physician 2005 Apr;34(4):297-298. [Medline: <u>15861759</u>]
- 12. Torley D, Zwar N, Comino EJ, Harris M. GPs' views of absolute cardiovascular risk and its role in primary prevention. Aust Fam Physician 2005 Jun;34(6):503-4, 507 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15931411</u>]
- Garg AX, Adhikari NKJ, McDonald H, Rosas-Arellano MP, Devereaux PJ, Beyene J, et al. Effects of computerized clinical decision support systems on practitioner performance and patient outcomes: a systematic review. JAMA 2005 Mar 9;293(10):1223-1238 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15755945] [doi: 10.1001/jama.293.10.1223]
- 14. Kawamoto K, Houlihan CA, Balas EA, Lobach DF. Improving clinical practice using clinical decision support systems: a systematic review of trials to identify features critical to success. BMJ 2005 Apr 2;330(7494):765 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15767266] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38398.500764.8F]
- Eccles M, McColl E, Steen N, Rousseau N, Grimshaw J, Parkin D, et al. Effect of computerised evidence based guidelines on management of asthma and angina in adults in primary care: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2002 Oct 26;325(7370):941 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12399345] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.325.7370.941]
- Hetlevik I, Holmen J, Krüger O, Kristensen P, Iversen H, Furuseth K. Implementing clinical guidelines in the treatment of diabetes mellitus in general practice. Evaluation of effort, process, and patient outcome related to implementation of a computer-based decision support system. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 2000;16(1):210-227. [Medline: <u>10815366</u>] [doi: <u>10.1017/S0266462300161185</u>]
- 17. Hetlevik I, Holmen J, Krüger O. Implementing clinical guidelines in the treatment of hypertension in general practice. Evaluation of patient outcome related to implementation of a computer-based clinical decision support system. Scand J Prim Health Care 1999 Mar;17(1):35-40. [Medline: <u>10229991</u>]
- Meigs JB, Cagliero E, Dubey A, Murphy-Sheehy P, Gildesgame C, Chueh H, et al. A controlled trial of web-based diabetes disease management: the MGH diabetes primary care improvement project. Diabetes Care 2003 Mar;26(3):750-757 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12610033] [doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.3.750]
- 19. Montgomery AA, Fahey T, Peters TJ, MacIntosh C, Sharp DJ. Evaluation of computer based clinical decision support system and risk chart for management of hypertension in primary care: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2000 Mar 11;320(7236):686-690 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10710578] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.320.7236.686]
- Hippisley-Cox J, Coupland C, Vinogradova Y, Robson J, Minhas R, Sheikh A, et al. Predicting cardiovascular risk in England and Wales: prospective derivation and validation of QRISK2. BMJ 2008 Jun 28;336(7659):1475-1482 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18573856] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39609.449676.25]
- 21. Goldstein MK, Coleman RW, Tu SW, Shankar RD, O'Connor MJ, Musen MA, et al. Translating research into practice: organizational issues in implementing automated decision support for hypertension in three medical centers. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2004;11(5):368-376 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15187064] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1534]
- 22. ; New Zealand Guidelines Group. New Zealand Cardiovascular Guidelines Handbook: A Summary Resource for Primary Care Practitioners. 2nd edition. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Guidelines Group; 2009.
- 23. Wells S, Furness S, Rafter N, Horn E, Whittaker R, Stewart A, et al. Integrated electronic decision support increases cardiovascular disease risk assessment four fold in routine primary care practice. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2008 Apr;15(2):173-178. [Medline: 18391644] [doi: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e3282f13af4]
- 24. Fulcher GR, Amarena JV, Conner GW, Gilbert RE, Hankey GJ; Practical Implementation Taskforce for the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Prevention of cardiovascular disease: an evidence-based clinical aid 2004. Med J Aust 2004 Sep 20;181(6 Suppl):F4-F14 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15377260</u>]
- 25. Anderson KM, Odell PM, Wilson PW, Kannel WB. Cardiovascular disease risk profiles. Am Heart J 1991 Jan;121(1 Pt 2):293-298. [Medline: <u>1985385</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/0002-8703(91)90861-B</u>]
- 26. ; National Heart Foundation of Australia. Hypertension Management for Doctors. Canberra, Australia: National Heart Foundation; 2003.
- 27. ; New Zealand Guidelines Group. The Assessment and Management of Cardiovascular Risk. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Guidelines Group; 2003.
- 28. ; Diabetes Australia and the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Diabetes Management in General Practice. 11th edition. Canberra, Australia: Diabetes Australia; 2005.
- 29. Tonkin A, Barter P, Best J, Boyden A, Furler J, Hossack K, et al; National Heart Foundation of Australia, Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand. National Heart Foundation of Australia and the Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand: position statement on lipid management-2005. Heart Lung Circ 2005 Dec;14(4):275-291. [Medline: <u>16361000</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.hlc.2005.10.010</u>]
- 30. ; National Stroke Foundation. Clinical Guidelines for Stroke Rehabilitation and Recovery. Melbourne, Australia: National Stroke Foundation; 2005.
- 31. ; Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Guidelines for Preventive Activities in General Practice. 6th edition. Melbourne, Australia: Royal Australian College of General Practitioners; 2005.

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e51/
```

- 32. National Vascular Disease Prevention Alliance. 2009. Guidelines for the Assessment of Absolute Cardiovascular Disease Risk. URL: <u>http://www.heartfoundation.org.au/SiteCollectionDocuments/A_AR_Guidelines_FINAL%20FOR%20WEB.pdf [WebCite Cache ID_5ifkTw3GC]</u>
- 33. Tashakkori A, Teddlie C. Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social and Behavioural Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2003.
- Sequist TD, Cullen T, Hays H, Taualii MM, Simon SR, Bates DW. Implementation and use of an electronic health record within the Indian Health Service. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2007;14(2):191-197 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17213495</u>] [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M2234</u>]
- 35. Patton MQ. Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2002.
- 36. Britt H, Miller GC, Charles J, Henderson J, Bayram C, Harrison C, et al. General Practice Activity in Australia 2007-08. General practice series no. 22. Cat. no. GEP 22. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2008.
- 37. Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council. 2008. National E-Health Strategy Summary Report URL: <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/National+Ehealth+Strategy [WebCite Cache ID 5gXSIuK4k]</u>
- 38. ; Department of Health and Ageing. Towards a National Primary Health Care Strategy: A Discussion Paper from the Australian Government. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia; 2008.
- 39. ; National Health and Hospitals Reform Commission. A Healthier Future For All Australians Final Report. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia; 2009.
- 40. McLean G, Guthrie B, Sutton M. Differences in the quality of primary medical care for CVD and diabetes across the NHS: evidence from the quality and outcomes framework. BMC Health Serv Res 2007;7(1):74 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 17535429] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-7-74]
- 41. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner and the Steering Committee for Indigenous Health Equality. 2008. Close the Gap National Indigenous Health Equality Targets Outcomes from the National Indigenous Health Equality Summit URL: <u>http://www.hreoc.gov.au/social_justice/health/targets/health_targets.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 5gXSi4890]</u>

Abbreviations

AMS: Aboriginal Medical Service
BP: blood pressure
CDS: clinical decision support
CVD: cardiovascular diseaseeGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate
EMR: electronic medical record
GP: general practitioner
NZ: New Zealand

Edited by K El Emam; submitted 06.05.09; peer-reviewed by A Wright, N Shaw, S Straus; comments to author 13.07.09; revised version received 01.10.09; accepted 28.10.09; published 17.12.09.

Please cite as:

Peiris DP, Joshi R, Webster RJ, Groenestein P, Usherwood TP, Heeley E, Turnbull FM, Lipman A, Patel AA An Electronic Clinical Decision Support Tool to Assist Primary Care Providers in Cardiovascular Disease Risk Management: Development and Mixed Methods Evaluation J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e51 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e51/ doi:10.2196/jmir.1258 PMID:20018588

© David P Peiris, Rohina Joshi, Ruth J Webster, Patrick Groenestein, Tim P Usherwood, Emma Heeley, Fiona M Turnbull, Alexandra Lipman, Anushka A Patel. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 17.12.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Web Usage Data as a Means of Evaluating Public Health Messaging and Outreach

Hao Tian¹, PhD; Dana J Brimmer¹, PhD, MPH; Jin-Mann S Lin¹, PhD; Abbigail J Tumpey², MPH; William C Reeves¹, MD, MSc

¹Chronic Viral Disease Branch, Division of Viral and Rickettsial Diseases, Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, USA ²Office of the Director, Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion, Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, USA

Corresponding Author:

Hao Tian, PhD Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention Chronic Viral Disease Branch 1600 Clifton Road MS A-15 Atlanta, GA 30333 USA Phone: +1 404 639 3523 Fax: +1 404 639 2779 Email: ejq7@cdc.gov

Abstract

Background: The Internet is increasingly utilized by researchers, health care providers, and the public to seek medical information. The Internet also provides a powerful tool for public health messaging. Understanding the needs of the intended audience and how they use websites is critical for website developers to provide better services to the intended users.

Objective: The aim of the study was to examine the utilization of the chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) website at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). We evaluated (1) CFS website utilization, (2) outcomes of a CDC CFS public awareness campaign, and (3) user behavior related to public awareness campaign materials and CFS continuing medical education courses.

Methods: To describe and evaluate Web utilization, we collected Web usage data over an 18-month period and extracted page views, visits, referring domains, and geographic locations. We used page views as the primary measure for the CFS awareness outreach effort. We utilized market basket analysis and Markov chain model techniques to describe user behavior related to utilization of campaign materials and continuing medical education courses.

Results: The CDC CFS website received 3,647,736 views from more than 50 countries over the 18-month period and was the 33rd most popular CDC website. States with formal CFS programs had higher visiting density, such as Washington, DC; Georgia; and New Jersey. Most visits (71%) were from Web search engines, with 16% from non-search-engine sites and 12% from visitors who had bookmarked the site. The public awareness campaign was associated with a sharp increase and subsequent quick drop in Web traffic. Following the campaign, user interest shifted from information targeting consumer basic knowledge to information for health care professionals. The market basket analysis showed that visitors preferred the 60-second radio clip public service announcement over the 30-second one. Markov chain model results revealed that most visitors took the online continuing education courses in sequential order and were less likely to drop out after they reached the Introduction pages of the courses.

Conclusions: The utilization of the CFS website reflects a high level of interest in the illness by visitors to the site. The high utilization shows the website to be an important online resource for people seeking basic information about CFS and for those looking for professional health care and research information. Public health programs should consider analytic methods to further public health by understanding the characteristics of those seeking information and by evaluating the outcomes of public health campaigns. The website was an effective means to provide health information about CFS and serves as an important public health tool for community outreach.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e52) doi: 10.2196/jmir.1278

KEYWORDS

RenderX

Internet: Web usage mining; chronic fatigue syndrome; public health campaigns; market basket analysis; Markov chain model; continuing medical education

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e52/
```
Introduction

In our fast-paced culture, the Internet has become a common public resource for medical information [1-4]. Survey results from the Pew Internet & American Life Project found that 80% of Internet users looked online for information on health topics [5]. Clinicians also use the Internet to search current information and communicate with patients [6]. In addition to providing information sought by patients and health care providers, the Internet provides a mass medium for health campaigns to generate consumer awareness and influence health behaviors [7].

Optimal use of the Internet for public health messaging requires an understanding of user characteristics, needs, and interests. Websites function as bidirectional communication channels, whereby Web content is the message sent to users and Web usage data from interactions between users and the website represents the visitor feedback. Web usage data reflects users' contextual interests, geographic locations, and navigation patterns; appropriate analysis provides insight to better understand and serve users' needs [8,9]. Both the public and private sector have utilized Web usage data to personalize sites, improve website quality, gather business intelligence, and enhance website design based on navigation patterns [9-12].

Chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) is a debilitating illness of unknown etiology characterized by multiple unexplained symptoms including fatigue [13-15]. CFS affects between 4 and 7 million Americans [16]. A quarter of those with CFS are unemployed or receive disability, and the average family in which a member suffers from the illness foregoes about US\$20,000 annually in earnings and wages [17]. In spite of this burden, only half of those with CFS have consulted a physician, and fewer than 20% have been appropriately diagnosed [18-20]. Providing credible evidence-based information concerning CFS to health care providers, patients, and their families has obvious public health significance. In this study, we evaluated the usage of the CDC's CFS website and focused on three objectives: (1) CFS website utilization, (2) outcomes of a CDC CFS public awareness campaign, and (3) user behavior related to public awareness campaign materials and CFS continuing medical education (CME) courses.

Methods

The CFS website was launched in June 1996 to provide current evidence-based information about CFS. Since May 2005, CDC websites have used the Omniture Web tracking system (Omniture Inc, Orem, UT, USA). The CDC maintains approximately 300 topic-specific websites. Due to privacy policies, CDC websites do not utilize persistent cookies and cannot collect personal identifiers.

Data Collection

We based our analysis on website usage data collected over 18 months between June 11, 2006, and December 8, 2007. We selected this time period because the re-designed website was launched on June 11, 2006. The site included four topic segments:

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e52/
```

- 1. "Information for Patients and Caregivers" basic facts, symptoms, risk factors, diagnosis, treatment options, information for communicating with doctors, and brochures
- "Information for Healthcare Professionals" symptoms, diagnosis, treatment options and management plans, toolkits, and brochures
- "News and Highlights" new publications, information on the CDC's CFS public health research program, and an annotated bibliography of peer-reviewed publications
- "CFS Public Awareness Campaign" brochures, a photo exhibit, two radio public service announcements (PSAs; 30 and 60 seconds), and a video PSA (30 seconds)

In January 2008, two online CME courses were added to the site: (1) CFS: Diagnosis and Management, for physicians, nurses, and physician assistants, and (2) CFS: A Primer for Allied Health Professionals (see the Multimedia Appendix).

Raw Web usage data were collected and preprocessed by Omniture and then exported in formats of various Web traffic and path reports through SiteCatalyst (Omniture Inc, Orem, UT, USA). We developed a Java program to further process SiteCatalyst reports for specific analyses. Our current analyses excluded visits from CDC computers (ie, CDC staff accessing the site from within the CDC firewall). We also identified and eliminated noisy data in navigation path reports (eg, access by Web crawlers).

Web Utilization

We used the following information to measure CFS website utilization.

Page View

A page view is a view of a full Web page document, which occurred when a visitor opened or reloaded a Web page. Page views to one of the four topic Web pages or an individual page reflected traffic patterns over specific time periods. We defined total page views as the number of times a Web page was viewed in a given period.

Visit

A visit is an interaction between a visitor and the website, which occurred when a visitor opened and navigated around the website. In this study, a visit persisted until 30 minutes of inactivity or 12 hours of continuous activity. A single visit could include multiple page views.

Geo-Location

Geo-locations are locations in the United States from which visitors accessed the website. We categorized all locations by state. As in other Web usage studies, we excluded AOL (America Online) users from geo-location analysis because their physical geographic positions could not be correctly located by current Web tracking techniques; however, they were included in all other analyses in this study.

Visiting Density

The visiting density is the number of page views per Internet population. We estimated the Internet population of each state based on census data [21,22] and calculated state-specific visiting density as follows:

×

Referring Domain

The referring domain is the base domain (without the query string or subdirectories) of the website address that referred a visitor to the CFS website.

We also used views to the publication Web pages to evaluate the utilization of publications on the CFS website.

Web Traffic Associated With CFS Public Awareness Campaign

On November 6, 2006, the CDC launched a national CFS public awareness campaign with the purpose of educating the public and health care professionals about CFS. The campaign was launched at the National Press Club in Washington, DC and consisted of TV and radio PSAs, press releases, and a traveling public photo exhibit. A major specific aim (and outcome measure) was to encourage utilization of the CFS website. We analyzed the Web usage data around the campaign to describe its impact on Web traffic to the CFS website. We selected three time periods: (1) pre-campaign (5 weeks before campaign: September 17 to October 21, 2006), (2) launch of the campaign (3 weeks around the campaign launch: October 29 to November 18, 2006), and (3) post-campaign (5 weeks after the campaign: November 26 to December 30, 2006). We examined outcomes of the CFS public awareness campaign by analyzing the number of visits to the website and user interests.

User Behavior Related to CFS Public Awareness Campaign and Online CME Courses

The key to understanding user behavior is to analyze the navigation path, which is the sequence of Web pages a user clicks through while visiting a website. Due to the simple structure of the CFS website, we did not conduct a cluster analysis. Instead, we used a market basket analysis (also known as association rule mining) to inspect the user preference for five different types of media used in the CFS awareness campaign: brochures (in PDF format), a photo exhibit, 30- and 60-second radio PSA clips, and a 30-second video PSA clip. To evaluate user behavior of the two online CME courses, we built a Markov chain model from the navigation paths.

Market Basket Analysis

Market basket analysis [23] is a common mathematical technique used by marketing professionals to reveal association rules between individual products or product groups. It has been widely used in retail business to find the relationships between sets of products (ie, purchases) to understand the shopping behavior of customers. The analysis assumes that if you buy certain items in a store, you are more or less likely to buy another type of item. A typical association rule consists of an antecedent and a consequent, which are two disjoint item sets. It is usually measured by the confidence of a rule (scaled from 0% to 100%), which is defined as the ratio of the number of transactions including all items in both antecedent and consequent sets to the number of transactions including only items in the antecedent. An example of such a rule is that 95% (confidence of the association rule) of customers who purchased

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e52/

milk (antecedent) also bought some bread (consequent). The information obtained from such analysis can be used in forming marketing strategies, improving store design for cross-selling, determining promotion and discount plans, and so on.

In this study, we applied market basket analysis to find the visiting associations (ie, association rules), which are the likelihoods of certain pages being viewed together by a visitor. We defined a high association as a confidence rule value of 80% or above. Since we focused only on a small basket of items (ie, less than 10 Web pages), the computation efficiency and excessive irrelevant rules were not issues. We collected navigation paths from the 5 weeks before the campaign launch (September 17 to October 21, 2006) and a 5-week period after the launch (November 26 to December 30, 2006). We transformed navigation paths into "purchasing transactions" consisting of "purchased items" (Web pages with different CFS awareness media types) from a "store" (the CFS website). Each "transaction" made by a "customer" is equivalent to a single navigation path from a visitor. We developed a Java program to implement market basket analysis to describe co-occurrence relationships among usage of different online messaging media types.

Markov Chains

A Markov chain is a stochastic process with Markov property [24]. It has been used to model navigation behaviors on websites to predict the next link that a user will click [25], and the chain is defined by a set of states and a set of transitions (ie, the changes of state) between them. Each transition is associated with a probability indicating the likelihood of a transition occurring. In a first-order Markov chain model, the future state depends only on the present state and is independent of past states. In this study, we used a first-order Markov chain model to represent visitors' navigation information for the two online CME courses and analyze the transition probabilities of the next Web page that a visitor would visit according to what pages they were on. Although this simple Markov chain model ignored the past Web pages viewed by users and calculated the transition probabilities only based on the present Web page, it provided us general navigation patterns. Both of the CME courses consisted of eight components (Syllabus, Introduction, three content-related Chapters, Appendix, Case Study, and References). Each component may contain one Web page (eg, Syllabus and Introduction) or several Web pages (eg, content-related Chapters). We identified and extracted the navigation paths to the courses and used them to build a Markov chain model, whose states and transition probability were defined as follows:



The states in the model included the eight components of each course plus three additional states, *start*, *exit*, and *CME homepage*. The *start* and *exit* states did not correspond to any particular Web page, which only indicated the starting and ending of a visit. By introducing the *exit* state, we defined the dropout probability of a state as the transition probability from

Tian et al

this state to *exit* state. *CME homepage* state corresponded to the home Web page of the continuing education portal for the two courses. In other words, we defined "state" as a Web page or group of pages a person views. For example, a visitor could view the Introduction page to a CME course, and this would be considered a state. A transition occurred when a visitor moved from one state to another state (ie, moving from one component within a CME course to another component). The key information in the model is the probability of a transition.

Results

Web Utilization

Between June 11, 2006, and December 8, 2007, the CFS website received 843,567 visits, resulting in 3,647,736 page views.

Figure 1. Visiting density of the CFS website

During this time period, the CFS website ranked 33rd and was in the top quarter of viewed websites at the CDC. Geographic distribution of page views reflected distribution of the 2007 US population; most visits came from California, Texas, New York, Florida, and Pennsylvania. Of note, 20% of page views came from more than 50 foreign countries. To determine geographic specific interest in CFS, we calculated views per Internet population or state-specific visiting density (Figure 1). Washington, DC had the highest visiting density (111 page views per 1000), followed by Georgia (25 page views per 1000), North Carolina (21 page views per 1000), New Jersey (21 page views per 1000), and Minnesota (20 page views per 1000).



User interest in the four topic segments of the CFS website are shown by aggregating the page views of individual Web pages into topic segments (Table 1). "Information for Patients and Caregivers" had the greatest number of page views (57%),



followed by "Information for Healthcare Professionals" (31%), "News and Highlights" (8%), and the "Awareness Campaign" (4%).

Table 1. CFS website page views by topic segment

Topic Segment (with top three pages)	No.	% ^a
Information for patients and caregivers	1,432,512	57
CFS basic facts	360,983	14
CFS treatment options	188,852	8
CFS symptoms	127,569	5
Information for health care professionals	774,404	31
CFS diagnostic symptoms	319,544	13
CFS toolkit: fact sheets	114,443	5
CFS treatment	101,008	4
News and highlights	205,504	8
CFS research: new knowledge and publications	54,910	2
CFS publications: new	21,246	1
CFS news and highlights	21,124	1
Awareness campaign	92,412	4
Brochures	36,360	2
Topic segment home page	26,381	1
Public service announcements	9,056	< 1

^a Page views to the CFS home page were excluded, resulting in 2,504,832 page views.

Over the 18-month period, the publication section on the CFS website received a total of 199,690 page views. The most frequently viewed page in this section was "New Publications" (76,949 page views), and the top five most frequently viewed papers on the CFS website were accessed 5158, 4709, 4636, 2872, and 2850 times, respectively.

We also assessed how individuals were referred to the website. Among 962,490 visiting instances, 71% (687,316) were referred by Web search engines, 16% (156,142) by non-search-engine websites, and 12% (119,027) directly by bookmarked/typed uniform resource locators (URLs). Among the search engines, Google contributed to 73% of referrals, compared to Yahoo's 13% and MSN's 9%.

CFS Public Awareness Campaign

After the campaign was launched, the average weekly visits increased more than one and a half times for a 3-week period (from 9594 to 24,977 visits/week) and then dropped to 11,060 visits/week during the 5 weeks post-campaign (Figure 2).





In addition to the change in Web traffic volume, the proportion of page views to the four topic segments also changed following launch of the campaign (Figure 3). Although the percentage of page views to the topic segment "Information for Patients and Caregivers" remained the highest, it decreased from 65% to 53%, whereas the percentage of page views to "Information for Healthcare Professionals" increased from 20% before the campaign to 35% after the campaign.



Figure 3. Topic segments and the CFS awareness campaign (y-axis value is the percentage of page views to a topic segment over the total page views to the website; page views to the home page are excluded)



User Behavior for CFS Campaign Materials and CME Courses

Figure 4 depicts visitors' preferences for the different types of CFS campaign materials. The spike indicates the time period

of the campaign launch. After the campaign launch, the brochure was the most frequently viewed campaign media type followed by the photo exhibit. The 60-second radio clip and 30-second video clip had approximately an equal number of visits, whereas the 30-second radio clip was the least viewed type of media.



Tian et al

Figure 4. Usage of the different CFS campaign materials



Market basket analysis results indicated users' preference for the 60-second radio clip over the 30-second radio clip (Figure 5 and Figure 6) as found in the 5 weeks prior to launch and post-campaign. The association rules between other types of campaign materials such as brochures vs photo exhibit, brochures vs video, video vs 60-second radio clip, etc, all had low confidence values ranging from 1 to 65, well below the cutoff of 80.

Figure 5. Association Rules 1 and 2

Figure 6. Association Rules 3 and 4

Association Rule 1 shows that in the 5 weeks before the campaign launch, 100% of visitors who viewed the 30-second PSA radio clip page also viewed the 60-second PSA radio clip

page, compared to 21% of visitors who viewed the 60-second PSA radio clip page and then also viewed the 30-second PSA radio clip page (Association Rule 2).

In the 5 weeks after the campaign launch, 87% of visitors who viewed the 30-second PSA radio clip page also viewed the

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e52/

RenderX

60-second PSA radio clip page (Association Rule 3), vs 18% of visitors who viewed the 60-second PSA radio clip page and

then viewed the 30-second PSA radio clip page (Association Rule 4). Thus, overwhelmingly, visitors who viewed the 30-second PSA radio clip page also viewed the 60-second PSA radio clip page, yet only a small proportion of visitors who viewed the 60-second radio clip (21%) checked the 30-second radio clip as well (18%).

From January 1 to August 31, 2008, there were 43,428 page views to the online CFS CME courses (Multimedia Appendix: i. Continuing Education Portal). From these page views, 8070 navigation paths were identified and used to build the Markov chain model (Figure 7).





For all visits (n = 8070), 46% (3737) viewed the home page and then exited. The Diagnosis and Management CME course received 2451 (30%) visits and the A Primer for Allied Health Professional course, 2298 (28%). Only 5% (407) viewed the content from both courses. The user visiting patterns identified by the Markov chain model matched the Web structure of the two courses very well. All transitions between two course components could match to either a "next page" or "previous page" button on the Web pages, indicating that users followed the courses in sequential order. Although users could directly access any component from anywhere in the course through the left navigation panel on each page, the probabilities of these skip patterns or short-cut transitions were shown to be not greater than 0.05 in the Markov chain model. The Markov chain model also found that the dropout probabilities from the CME home page and Syllabus pages were much higher than those from other course components. The CME home page was the most common entrance (0.81) and exit (0.55) to the CME courses. The transition probabilities from the CME home page to the Syllabus pages of the two courses were the same (0.22). It is to some extent unexpected that the dropout probabilities on the Syllabus pages were high (0.38/0.44). Based on the structure of the Syllabus Web pages, it is possible that this high dropout rate reflects the fact that the hyperlink to the Introduction page is at the bottom of the page and is not highlighted, in addition to the excessive length of these pages (> 120 lines).

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e52/

RenderX

Discussion

The high utilization rate of the CDC CFS website indicates the magnitude of interest in CFS and reflects the website's importance as an online resource for investigators, health care providers, patients, and caregivers around the world. Over 6000 page views to the website occurred each day, with over 840,000 visits over an 18-month period.

Analysis of geographic-specific CFS website utilization provided important information. Simply tabulating geographic distribution of website use by state is misleading since this merely reflects the US population. Visiting density is a better index that indicates the likelihood of individuals visiting the site based on the Internet population. Washington, DC and Georgia had the highest visiting densities and are home to the US Department of Health and Human Services and the CDC. North Carolina is the headquarters for the Chronic Fatigue and Immune Dysfunction Syndrome Association of America, a large patient advocacy group and CDC's contractor managing the public awareness campaign. New Jersey is home to the University of Medicine & Dentistry of New Jersey, sponsoring one of the largest and highly respected CFS research programs, and to the New Jersey Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Association, an active patient advocacy group. Finally, the Mayo Clinic Hospital, which has a CFS clinical program, is located in Minnesota, the state with the fifth highest visiting density.

Visiting density indicates the potential importance of CFS research institutions in directing visitors to the CDC CFS website.

Analysis of referral sources to the website also revealed important information. Not surprisingly, the Google search engine sent most visitors to the CFS website, followed by Yahoo and MSN. Twelve percent of visitors bookmarked the CFS Web address. It would be of interest to determine what proportion stemmed from patient advocacy groups or persons conducting CFS research.

The website contains a section with all publications from the CDC CFS public health research program and receives a considerable amount of views compared to online journals. For example, our five most popular publications were viewed between 5158 and 2850 times. This is similar to the top 10 most-viewed articles published in 2008 by BMC Genomics, which were accessed between 8066 and 2880 times.

Evaluation of website use also provides quantitative data concerning the effectiveness of messaging in public health campaigns and their sustainability. The sharp spike in Web visits in early November 2006 revealed a boost in campaign exposure related to a half day Department of Health and Human Services event at the National Press Club to kick off the CFS public awareness campaign. However, the spike decreased after 3 weeks and ultimately reverted to levels before the campaign. The timeline illustrates that a campaign booster inserted 2 to 3 months after the launch may be appropriate to sustain interest. Many campaigns initiate a boost 6 to 12 months after the initial launch, and, based on our results, this timeframe may delay potential sustainability benefits in terms of website utilization.

Web usage data provide valuable information concerning how websites can attract more visitors. The most-viewed Web pages represent the users' interests and should be easy to access and frequently updated, and this should take into account shifts in interest. Comparing the 5 weeks before and 5 weeks after launch of the campaign, the "Information for Healthcare Professionals" segment showed the greatest percentage increase in page views (15% increase), and the "Information for Patients and Caregivers" section had the greatest percentage decrease in views (12% decrease). While we cannot identify the audience looking at these sections, one possible explanation is that return visitors started looking at CFS professional information rather than just the information for patients. Alternatively, there could have been an increase in new visitors looking for professional health care information. Regardless of which segment a visitor accessed, we found that the CDC CFS website was most frequently visited by individuals seeking basic facts, treatment options, symptoms, and publications.

When we examined user behavior regarding the campaign materials, the brochure was the most popular media type among visitors and consistently sustained a higher level of page visits than all other campaign materials. All brochures on the website are designed to be printed, and this may help to explain why people preferred the brochure—it is a tool that visitors can take with them. The longer radio clip (60 seconds) performed much better than the shorter one (30-second radio or video clip). The market basket analysis showed that none of the visitors listened

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e52/

XSL•FO

to the 30-second radio clip without checking out the 60-second radio clip during the 5 weeks after the clips were put on the Internet, while the majority of visitors to the 60-second radio clip did not access the 30-second radio clip. This suggests the public's preference for a longer media clip in terms of CFS information, perhaps because the shorter radio clip did not provide enough information. Public health campaigns using the Internet may want to consider utilizing market basket analysis techniques to improve campaign evaluations and sustainability efforts as these analyses help to determine which components are actually viewed by the public or target audience. For example, the cost-effectiveness implication from this study is that campaign planners may want to consider not running both 30-second and 60-second radio PSAs during the same campaign time period. Instead, organizers may want to start with the 60-second spot and present the 30-second advertisement in a campaign booster. In addition, one could run market basket analyses on a more frequent basis (ie, every 2 months) to monitor the usage-association changes among campaign materials or Web pages in order to improve the campaign sustainability.

The match between the user visiting pattern in the Markov chain model and the Web structure of the two CME courses reflects the fact that the users took the courses in the sequential order recommended by the website. The two courses are designed for different audiences, and Markov chain model results show that only 5% of visitors visited each course in the same visit, indicating that each of the courses is serving a different population. The Web traffic volume and navigation patterns to them are very similar for both courses. The high dropout probabilities for the CME home page and two Syllabus pages imply that visitors were less likely to leave the course after they reached the Introduction pages. In other words, persons who do start the course are likely to finish it.

As shown by the Markov chain model results, factors were identified that may affect sustainability of visits to a website. Public health websites may want to apply the Markov chain analysis to all content on a website to identify the main exit points and therefore improve Web structure and content. When visitors stay longer on a site, it increases the probability of exposure to information.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. The CDC website allows only session cookies, not persistent cookies; therefore, we cannot get the accurate number of new/unique visitors to provide more insightful information than the number of visits/page views. Theoretically, one individual could access the website frequently, but results of both the geographic pages views and visiting density analysis reduce the likelihood of this possibility. AOL users were excluded in the geographic distribution analysis given the technical issues of identifying their geographic locations. Despite this, the number of page views from AOL users accounted for only 4% of total page views to the website, and exclusion of this data should likely not have a significant impact.

The user behavior analysis in this study focuses on only a particular group of Web pages such as campaign media pages

and CME courses, and user navigation analysis of the campaign materials was limited to 5 weeks pre- and post-campaign launch, which did not allow for tracking user behavior over the 18-month period. However, the decision to analyze time periods was determined a priori and centered on the campaign launch dates, which allows for a more accurate and narrow timeframe of comparison. The CDC CFS website has a simple hierarchical Web structure, with most content at levels 3 and 4. Conducting a broad range of behavior analyses on data collected from such a simple website may cover or hide the issues that we found in this study through a more topic-focused behavior analysis. However, defining an appropriate level for the comprehensive market basket and Markov chain analyses of the whole website will be of interest to all public health website managers.

Future Research

All CDC websites are periodically updated to reflect current developments in the Internet as well as content information. Currently, the CDC CFS website is undergoing an upgrade with a new template, and findings from this study will provide valuable information to the reconstruction of the new site. Once the new website has been completed, market basket and Markov chain analyses will be conducted to compare the results of the two different Web designs. We hypothesize that a better understanding of the impacts of different public health Web structures can be obtained. We also plan to apply navigation pattern analysis to the entire website. The interaction analysis can also be enhanced by increasing the order of the Markov chain model. As a result, the transition probability will be determined by a certain number of past states, rather than just the present state.

Conclusion

This study shows that the CFS website is an important online resource for the public regarding CFS, especially the topics of basic facts, symptoms, and treatments. The popularity of CFS publications on the website to some extent reflects the significant position of public health agencies in the field of CFS research. The market basket analysis, a traditional analytic technique in retail business, was applied to this public health website and showed utility in identifying user preferences for different online public health messaging formats. Markov chain analysis confirmed that visitors completed the CME courses in sequential order. In summary, the CFS website is an effective way of providing CFS health education and information and serves an important tool in public health outreach.

Acknowledgments

This study was fully funded by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, USA. The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the funding agency.

The authors would like to thank Wies Rafi and Walter F Smith, National Center for Health Marketing, and Anthony McDonald, National Center for Public Health Informatics, for helping in data collection and processing.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix

Screenshots of some CDC CFS Web pages

[PDF file (Adobe PDF),3373 KB - jmir v11i4e52 app1.pdf]

References

- Hesse BW, Nelson DE, Kreps GL, Croyle RT, Arora NK, Rimer BK, et al. Trust and sources of health information: the impact of the Internet and its implications for health care providers: findings from the first Health Information National Trends Survey. Arch Intern Med 2005;165(22):2618-2624 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16344419</u>] [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.165.22.2618</u>]
- Andreassen HK, Bujnowska-Fedak MM, Chronaki CE, Dumitru RC, Pudule I, Santana S, et al. European citizens' use of E-health services: a study of seven countries. BMC Public Health 2007;7(147):53 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17425798</u>] [doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2458-7-53</u>]
- Eysenbach G, Kohler C. What is the prevalence of health-related searches on the World Wide Web? Qualitative and quantitative analysis of search engine queries on the internet. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2003:225-229 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>14728167</u>]
- Baker L, Wagner TH, Singer S, Bundorf MK. Use of the Internet and e-mail for health care information: results from a national survey. JAMA 2003 May 14;289(18):2400-2406 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12746364] [doi: 10.1001/jama.289.18.2400]
- 5. ; Pew Internet & American Life Project. Online health search 2006. Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project; 2006 Oct 29. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2006/PIP_Online_Health_2006.pdf.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 5fcw6Oxux]</u>
- Gaster B, Knight CL, DeWitt DE, Sheffield JVL, Assefi NP, Buchwald D. Physicians' use of and attitudes toward electronic mail for patient communication. J Gen Intern Med 2003 May;18(5):385-389 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>12795738</u>] [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1525-1497.2003.20627.x</u>]

- 7. Logan RA. Evaluating consumer informatics: learning from health campaign research. Stud Health Technol Inform 2004;107(Pt 2):1147-1151. [Medline: <u>15360992</u>]
- 8. Cooley R, Mobasher B, Srivastava J. Web mining: information and pattern discovery on the World Wide Web. Presented at: 9th IEEE International Conference on Tools with Artificial Intelligence (ICTAI'97); Nov 3-8, 1997; Newport Beach, CA, USA.
- 9. Srivastava J, Cooley R, Deshpande M, Tan P. Web usage mining: discovery and applications of usage patterns from web data. SIGKDD Explorations 2000;1(2):12-23. [doi: <u>10.1145/846183.846188</u>]
- 10. Mobasher O, Cooley R, Srivastava J. Automatic personalization based on web usage mining. Communications of the ACM 2000;43(8):142-151. [doi: 10.1145/345124.345169]
- 11. Zorrilla ME, Menasalvas E, Marin D, Mora E, Segovia J. Web usage mining project for improving web-based learning sites. Computer Aided Systems Theory EUROCAST 2005;3643:205-210. [doi: 10.1007/11556985_26]
- 12. Gori M, Pucci A. A random-walk based scoring algorithm with application to recommender systems for large-scale e-commerce. Presented at: 12th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining; August 20-23, 2006; Philadelphia, PA, USA.
- 13. Fukuda K, Straus SE, Hickie I, Sharpe MC, Dobbins JG, Komaroff A. The chronic fatigue syndrome: a comprehensive approach to its definition and study. International Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Study Group. Ann Intern Med 1994 Dec 15;121(12):953-959 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 7978722]
- 14. Vernon SD, Whistler T, Aslakson E, Rajeevan M, Reeves WC. Challenges for molecular profiling of chronic fatigue syndrome. Pharmacogenomics 2006 Mar;7(2):211-218. [Medline: <u>16515400</u>] [doi: <u>10.2217/14622416.7.2.211</u>]
- 15. Afari N, Buchwald D. Chronic fatigue syndrome: a review. Am J Psychiatry 2003;160(2):221-236. [Medline: <u>16515400</u>] [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.160.2.221</u>]
- Reeves WC, Jones JF, Maloney E, Heim C, Hoaglin DC, Boneva RS, et al. Prevalence of chronic fatigue syndrome in metropolitan, urban, and rural Georgia. Popul Health Metr 2007;5(1):5 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17559660</u>] [doi: <u>10.1186/1478-7954-5-5</u>]
- 17. Reynolds KJ, Vernon SD, Bouchery E, Reeves WC. The economic impact of chronic fatigue syndrome. Cost Eff Resour Alloc 2004 Jun 21;2(1):4 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15210053] [doi: 10.1186/1478-7547-2-4]
- Jason LA, Richman JA, Rademaker AW, Jordan KM, Plioplys AV, Taylor RR, et al. A community-based study of chronic fatigue syndrome. Arch Intern Med 1999 Oct 11;159(18):2129-2137 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10527290] [doi: 10.1001/archinte.159.18.2129]
- Reyes M, Nisenbaum R, Hoaglin DC, Unger ER, Emmons C, Randall B, et al. Prevalence and incidence of chronic fatigue syndrome in Wichita, Kansas. Arch Intern Med 2003;163(13):1530-1536. [Medline: <u>12860574</u>] [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.163.13.1530</u>]
- 20. Solomon L, Reeves WC. Factors influencing the diagnosis of chronic fatigue syndrome. Arch Intern Med 2004 Nov 8;164(20):2241-2245 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15534161] [doi: 10.1001/archinte.164.20.2241]
- 21. US Census Bureau, Population Division 2006 Dec 22 Annual estimates of the population for the United States, Regions, and States and for Puerto Rico: April 1, 2000 to July 1, 2006. [FREE Full text] [WebCite Cache ID 5fcwDqR1R]
- 22. Peslak AR. An analysis of regional and demographic differences in United States Internet usage. First Monday 2004;9(3).
- 23. Agrawal R, Imielinski T, Swami A. Mining association rules between sets of items in large databases. Presented at: Proceedings of the ACM SIGMOD International Conference on Management of Data; May 26-28, 1993; Washington, DC, USA.
- 24. Meyn SP, Tweedie RL. Markov Chains and Stochastic Stability. London, UK: Springer-Verlag; 1993.
- 25. Zhu J, Hong J, Hughes JG. Using Markov models for web site link prediction. Presented at: Proceedings of the Thirteenth ACM Conference on Hypertext and Hypermedia; June 11-15, 2002; College Park, MD USA.

Abbreviations

AOL: America Online CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention CFS: chronic fatigue syndrome CME: continuing medical education PSA: public service announcement



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.06.09; peer-reviewed by J Bonander; comments to author 10.08.09; revised version received 15.09.09; accepted 09.10.09; published 21.12.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Tian H, Brimmer DJ, Lin JMS, Tumpey AJ, Reeves WC
Web Usage Data as a Means of Evaluating Public Health Messaging and Outreach
J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e52
URL: http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e52/
doi:10.2196/jmir.1278
PMID:20026451

© Hao Tian, Dana J Brimmer, Jin-Mann S Lin, Abbigail J Tumpey, William C Reeves. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 21.12.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Web-Based Nutrition Program Reduces Health Care Costs in Employees With Cardiac Risk Factors: Before and After Cost Analysis

Naomi Sacks¹, MA; Howard Cabral¹, PhD; Lewis E Kazis¹, ScD; Kelli M Jarrett¹, MPH; Delia Vetter²; Russell Richmond³, MD; Thomas J Moore⁴, MD

¹Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, MA, USA
 ²EMC Corporation, Boston, MA, USA
 ³Verisk Health, Inc, Boston, MA, USA
 ⁴Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, USA

Corresponding Author:

Naomi Sacks, MA Boston University School of Public Health Department of Health Policy and Management 715 Albany Street Boston, MA 02118 USA Phone: +1 617 638 4640 Fax: +1 617 638 5374 Email: nsacks@bu.edu

Abstract

Background: Rising health insurance premiums represent a rapidly increasing burden on employer-sponsors of health insurance and their employees. Some employers have become proactive in managing health care costs by providing tools to encourage employees to directly manage their health and prevent disease. One example of such a tool is DASH for Health, an Internet-based nutrition and exercise behavior modification program. This program was offered as a free, opt-in benefit to US-based employees of the EMC Corporation.

Objective: The aim was to determine whether an employer-sponsored, Internet-based diet and exercise program has an effect on health care costs.

Methods: There were 15,237 total employees and spouses who were included in our analyses, of whom 1967 enrolled in the DASH for Health program (DASH participants). Using a retrospective, quasi-experimental design, study year health care costs among DASH participants and non-participants were compared, controlling for baseline year costs, risk, and demographic variables. The relationship between how often a subject visited the DASH website and health care costs also was examined. These relationships were examined among all study subjects and among a subgroup of 735 subjects with cardiovascular conditions (diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia). Multiple linear regression analysis examined the relationship of program use to health care costs, comparing study year costs among DASH participants and non-participants and then examining the effects of increased website use on health care costs. Analyses were repeated among the cardiovascular condition subgroups.

Results: Overall, program use was not associated with changes in health care costs. However, among the cardiovascular risk study subjects, health care costs were US\$827 lower, on average, during the study year (P=.05; t_{729} = 1.95). Among 1028 program users, increased website use was significantly associated with lower health care costs among those who visited the website at least nine times during the study year (US\$14 decrease per visit; P = .04; t_{1022} = 2.05), with annual savings highest among 80 program users with targeted conditions (US\$55 decrease per visit; P < .001; $t_{74} = 2.71$).

Conclusions: An employer-sponsored, Internet-based diet and exercise program shows promise as a low-cost benefit that contributes to lower health care costs among persons at higher risk for above-average health care costs and utilization.

(J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e43) doi: 10.2196/jmir.1263



RenderX

KEYWORDS

Employer health costs; disease management; health promotion; wellness programs; costs and cost analysis

Introduction

Health insurance premiums have risen faster than inflation for the past 10 years, placing an increasing burden on employer-sponsors of health insurance and their employees [1,2]. Some employers have become proactive in managing health costs, providing tools that encourage employees to directly manage their health and prevent disease [3]. Examples include smoking cessation and stress management programs, gym and health club memberships, and formal disease management programs, many of which are popular with employees and improve employee satisfaction. But there is very little evidence that any of these initiatives actually reduce health care costs [4].

Recent reviews of employer health promotion programs show some success in improving employee health and productivity, but show mixed results as to whether or not these programs have an impact on health care costs [5]. Employers commonly offer nutrition education programs [6,7], but there is little evidence that such programs alter eating behaviors or change health care costs. Yet rapidly rising rates of overweight and obesity can contribute to a number of high-cost chronic diseases (eg, diabetes, hypertension, heart disease), increasing the likelihood that health care costs for these already highly prevalent and expensive conditions will increase dramatically in the future.

To address the issue of poor nutrition and the diseases associated with it, we designed an Internet-based nutrition and exercise behavior modification program called DASH for Health. Our program was based on the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI) DASH diet, which was originally developed to lower blood pressure and which has been demonstrated in randomized controlled trials to lower blood pressure and cholesterol levels and heighten insulin sensitivity [8-12]. We developed the Web-based DASH for Health program in collaboration with EMC Corporation, a Massachusetts-based global information infrastructure company. The program was offered as a free employee benefit to US-based EMC employees and their family members, who could opt-in to the program and were free to use the program however intensely they chose. Employees and their spouses were eligible to enroll in the program at the beginning of the calendar year in which it was offered. During the first year this program was offered at EMC Corporation (the same year that the health costs reported in this paper were collected), enrollees in the program were found to have significantly lost weight, lowered their blood pressure, and improved their healthy eating habits [11]. Examples of articles provided on the DASH for Health website are shown in Figure 1 and Figure 2.

To determine whether an Internet-based behavior modification program like DASH for Health has any effect on health care costs, we analyzed the costs for EMC employees and their spouses during the 12 months preceding the initial launch of the DASH for Health program and during the 12 months following the launch. The baseline year was the 12 months immediately preceding the initial launch of the program, and the study year was the 12 months immediately following the launch. We compared health care costs of those who participated in the DASH for Health program with those of nonparticipants. We analyzed costs for all study subjects and then performed a more focused analysis on employees and spouses with medical conditions (hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and/or diabetes) targeted by the DASH program.



Sacks et al

Figure 1. Example of article provided on the DASH for Health website

igure 1. Example of article prov	ided on the DASH for	Health website			gure 1. Example of article provided on the DASH for Health website						
DASH for	EMC ² where information lives To Health	ur Personal Online Pr Improve Nutrition, Ex									
	HOME	YOUR STUFF	ARCHIVES	DASH STORE	TIP OF THE WEEK						
HEALTH CALCULATORS											
FAQ'S	CREAM OR MIL	K IN YOUR COFFE	E?								
SEND US A QUESTION											
SEND US A RECIPE	What you add t	o your cup of coffe	e can make a big	difference in the	e calories and						
ABOUT THE PROGRAM	fat you consume on a daily, monthly, and even yearly basis. It all adds up! National										
LINKS TO DASH	chains are starting to recognize that, too, and are offering lower-fat options for their										
ABOUT US	that still satisfies those customers that want a creamy cup.										
RECIPES											
HEALTH LINK	Read on to learn more about how the way you dress your java and why it counts:										
LOG OUT											
	Think of it in ter	ms of butter. Did you	I know that when y	ou add cream, li	ght cream, or						
SEARCH	cream is the sa	me as the fat in butte	ar. These coffee "cr	eamers" have m	uch more fat						
ENTER YOUR FOOD	than even whol	e milk, 2% milk, and	milk with less fat.	But, you say, how	w much different						
Date: 08/10/2009 \$	can it make?? /	LOT.									
Today's Weight:											
Today's Blood Pressure:	If you add crear	n or half-and-half to	your coffee, most p	eople add arou	nd 4 ounces to						
	Dunkin Donuts). Check the table be	equivalent to a Gra	ich BUTTER and	d how many						
SUBMIT	calories you are	adding EACH MO	NTH if you drink jus	t one large coffe	e with milk or						
	cream per day.										



4 oz. per day serving	1
Light Cream	

Half and Half Whole Milk 2% milk

Sticks of butter per month Calories per month

7.6 sticks	7,100
4.6 sticks	4,700
1.3 sticks	2,400
0.4 sticks	1,830



Sacks et al

Figure 2. Example of article provided on the DASH for Health website



Methods

Study Setting

The DASH for Health website was developed by a team at Boston University School of Medicine (BUSM). The website provides tools for enrollees to record and follow their body weight, blood pressure, eating habits, and exercise habits as well as providing a variety of healthy recipes based on the DASH diet. These tools include easy-to-use entry fields for entering weight, blood pressure, 24-hour food recall, and exercise habits. Although enrollees were encouraged to use these data "progress reports" as a means of encouraging their adherence to the program, there were no requirements or set expectations of how often enrollees would enter their own data. The website also provides two new articles each week on improving nutritional habits (based on the DASH diet) or healthy exercise. Everyone who enrolls in the program gets a reminder email each time a new article is posted on the website. The website is hosted at SignalZ Corporation (Montpelier, VT, USA). Self-reported data on demographics (age, gender, and employee/dependent status) and website visits during each year were collected by SignalZ and transferred to the research team

RenderX

at BUSM. Because enrollees had to enter the site using their username and password, standard website monitoring software was used to track how many times a particular enrollee visited the site. We define a "visit" as a unique instance of an enrollee logging on to the site.

When the program was about to launch, EMC Corporation informed employees that DASH for Health would be available at no cost to them and their adult household members. EMC had no other role in the program. EMC management had no access to the identities of the subjects or to their medical data. Once the program began, the employer took no role in encouraging website usage. The announcing emails from EMC leadership clearly stated that the employer would not know any enrollee's individual data or the identities of people who did and did not enroll.

EMC's clinical data warehouse, Ingenix, provided demographic and medical and pharmacy cost data for employees and their adult dependents. These data included date of birth, gender, and employee status. D2Hawkeye, a medical analytics firm specializing in data warehousing and health claims analysis, provided data cleansing services and summarized study subjects'

demographic information, condition specific diagnoses, and total health care costs. D2Hawkeye calculated a risk adjustment factor for each study subject, using a proprietary methodology that combines diagnostic, procedural, and pharmacy information in health claims data with pattern recognition and times series analysis. The risk index provides a single representation of an individual's disease burden and has been shown to correctly distinguish high-cost and low-cost persons 77% of the time. Additionally, the likelihood that an individual will be in a high-cost group increases as the risk index value increases. We used an extension of the risk index, the adjusted risk index (ARI), which incorporates assessments of gaps in care (medical or pharmaceutical) for various conditions [13].

We used individual subject-level linkages to merge data on DASH for Health participants' website visit frequency with health care cost data and other variables. A subset of study subjects was identified with evidence of diabetes, hypertension, or hyperlipidemia, conditions that could be expected to benefit from the improved dietary behaviors that are encouraged by the DASH for Health program. This subset is referred to as the cardiovascular (CV) risk group. Data were managed and analyzed using SAS, version 9.1.3 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA). Approval for this study was obtained from the Boston University Institutional Review Board.

Study subjects with missing data for key fields such as age, employee status, or gender were excluded, as were DASH participants with no matching entries in the health care cost files. These enrollees were either not covered by the EMC insurance plan or were not affiliated with EMC at the end of the study period. The study was limited to study subjects with health care costs in both study years to ensure that those with bad claims data reported as negative or zero amounts were excluded from the analysis and to increase the likelihood that the analysis was restricted to those with primary insurance coverage through EMC. Information on job classification was not included since baseline year health care costs and risk assessment are proximal for our analysis.

The total number of EMC employees and their spouses was 29,675, of which approximately 75% (n = 22,354) were reported to have received health coverage through EMC and had health care costs in the baseline or study year. Sixty-eight percent (n = 15,237) of these subjects had costs in both years. Additionally, 3797 EMC employees or spouses enrolled in the DASH for Health program and used the DASH program website at least once in the study year (DASH participants). Seventy-three percent (n = 2756) of these DASH participants were found in the health claims summary file, and 71% (n = 1967) of these 2756 had health care costs in both years. The final study sample (N = 15,237, DASH = 1967, non-DASH = 13,270) also reflected the restrictions described above.

Analysis

In univariate analyses to describe our sample, we generated means and standard deviations for continuous variables and counts with percentages for categorical variables. We used bivariate analyses to examine the relationships among demographic, annual health care cost, and website usage data for 15,237 study subjects over the 2-year baseline and study

```
http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e43/
```

year period. In these analyses, we employed chi-square tests for analyses of categorical data and two-sample t tests for comparisons of continuous by categorical variables. Multiple linear regression analysis examined the relationship of DASH program enrollment with study year health care costs, controlling for other salient factors. To control for potential bias of self-selection of the DASH participants, we used a logistic regression model to construct a propensity score that represented the likelihood of participation in the DASH program. Studies that use observational data, as ours does, are subject to bias because the "treatment" and "control groups" are not randomly assigned and may differ in ways that affect the outcome of interest. A propensity score, which represents the conditional probability of receiving a given treatment, given a vector of measured covariates, is frequently used in such studies to adjust for differences in the observed characteristics between the treatment and the control groups. Our use of logistic regression is one of several recommended approaches for determining the propensity score [14].

All available study variables were included in the propensity score model (baseline year risk index and ARI, baseline year costs, age, gender, and employee status). We then used a linear regression model to compare study year costs among DASH and non-DASH participants, controlling for age, gender, ARI, baseline year costs, and likelihood of DASH participation (propensity score). In this model, study year total health care costs was the dependent (outcome) variable; independent (predictor) variables were DASH participation, age, gender, employee status, baseline year ARI, and baseline year total health care costs. Next, because stronger effects of an intervention are often observed in the most compliant or frequent participants, we examined whether more frequent use of the website than is typical is more strongly associated with reduced costs among DASH participants than across the full range of website use overall. For this, we used a similar linear regression analysis to evaluate the relationship of website usage intensity at or above the median to health care costs in the study year. Study year total health care costs was the dependent variable; independent variables were number of website visits, age, gender, employee status, baseline year ARI, and baseline year total health care costs. We repeated these analyses using the 735 DASH CV risk group and non-DASH CV risk group study subjects who showed evidence in both study years of diabetes, hyperlipidemia, or hypertension.

To address the skewed distribution of the cost data, baseline and study year costs in all analyses were top-coded at US\$25,000, which represents the 99th percentile of annual health care costs in our study population. Website usage was top-coded at 75 website visits to address skewness. The analyses were repeated using trimming to remove high-cost outliers, using the entire study population and using top-coding at other thresholds. As top-coding is recommended for reducing the effects of high-cost outliers on model results while retaining useable observations, we report results of those analyses here. Our choice of US\$25,000, or the 99th percentile, is also consistent with others [15-17].

As part of model development, we added interaction terms as covariates and conducted additional analyses where we limited

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

study subjects to employees, males, and male employees, reflecting the larger number of employees and males in the study group. To account for nonlinear effects of DASH participation and website use intensity, we grouped study year costs into quartiles; we also grouped website visits and study year costs into quartiles. There were no differences suggesting that the interaction terms, study population restrictions or groupings should be included in the final model as none of these modifications affected the results. We repeated the analyses we report here using square root and log transformations for all cost variables because of their good performance with heteroscedastic health care cost data [18]. Our results based on the transformed data were similar to those observed using the

untransformed data. Thus, to allow for ease of interpretation, we present results here for the untransformed data.

Results

All Study Subjects

Demographic, ARI, and baseline medical and pharmacy cost information were gathered for all study subjects (N = 15,237) and for the subgroup of subjects with CV risk conditions (N = 735). These measures were also examined for DASH (N = 1967) and non-DASH (N = 13,270) participants overall and in the CV risk group (DASH: N = 134; non-DASH: N = 601). These results are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of DASH and non-DASH participants

	All Study Subjects			CV Risk Subgroup ^a		
	Total (N = 15,237)	DASH Partici- pants (N = 1967)	Non-DASH Partici- pants (N = 13,270)	Total (N = 735)	DASH Participants (N = 134)	Non-DASH Partici- pants (N = 601)
Cost baseline year (U	S\$)		·	·		·
mean (SD)	2684 (7164)	2181 (4351)	2758 (7489)	5663 (10,089)	4239 (6335)	5980 (10,727)
P25/P50/P75 ^b	327/934/2612	345/933/2224	324/935/2563	1401/2772/5783	1002/2028/4527	1490/2849/6020
Cost DASH year (US	\$)					
mean (SD)	2814 (7835)	2413 (4315)	2879 (8228)	5929 (13,611)	3425 (3667)	6487 (14,897)
P25/P50/P75	358/1006/2621	442/1145/2700	347/981/2607	1394/2681/5755	1146/2318/4222	1467/2848/6152
Baseline year ARI						
mean (SD)	3.70 (6.80)	3.52 (6.04)	3.72 (6.91)	12.14 (13.70)	10.10 (9.73)	12.59 (14.41)
P25/P50/P75	1/1/3	1/1/3	1/1/3	3/7/16	2/6/14	3/8/17
Age (years)						
mean (SD)	40.2 (9.2)	40.7 (9.1)	40.1 (9.2)	47.5 (8.54)	46.1 (8.28)	47.8 (8.57)
P25/P50/P75	33/40/46	34/41/47	33/40/46	42/49/54	41/47/52	42/49/54
Gender, % (no.)						
Male	46 (7041)	56 (1116)	45 (5925)	65 (476)	73 (98)	63 (378)
Female	54 (8196)	44 (851)	55 (7345)	35 (259)	27 (36)	37 (223)
Enrollment status, % (no.)						
Employee	55 (8384)	84 (1659)	51 (6725)	64 (469)	85 (114)	59 (355)
Spouse	45 (6853)	16 (308)	45 (6853)	36 (266)	15 (20)	41 (246)
Website visits						
mean (SD)	N/A ^c	12.0 (17.0)	N/A	N/A	16.9 (26.3)	N/A
P25/P50/P75	N/A	3/9/12	N/A	N/A	3/9/17	N/A

^a CV risk group subjects show evidence of hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and/or diabetes in both years.

^b P25/P50/P75 equals 25th, 50th, and 75th percentiles.

^cNot available.

Among the 15,237 study subjects, 55% (n = 8384) were employees, while 45% (n = 6853) were spouses. The overall study sample was 46% male (n = 7041), with an average age of 40.2 years. Average total baseline year health care costs were US\$2684. A slightly higher proportion of the DASH participants was male, compared to the non-DASH participants (56% vs 45%). The average age of the DASH participants was 40.7 years, slightly higher than the non-DASH participants (40.1 years). DASH participants were mostly employees (84%; n = 1659). DASH participants had a mean ARI of 3.52, which was slightly lower than the mean ARI for the non-DASH participants (3.72). Average total costs among DASH participants in the baseline

year were lower than among the non-DASH participants (US\$2181 vs US\$2758).

Table 1 also shows demographic, ARI, and baseline year health care costs for the DASH and non-DASH CV risk groups. This subgroup was 65% male (n = 476) and 64% employees (n =

469), with an average age of 47.5 years, older than the overall study sample. The mean baseline year ARI of 12.14 (DASH: 10.10, non-DASH: 12.59) was also higher than in the general study sample, as were mean total baseline health care costs (overall: US\$5663; DASH participants: US\$4239, non-DASH: US\$5980).

Table 2.	Predictors of costs in	DASH year:	DASH vs non-	-DASH (over	all and CV	risk group) ^a

	•				
	All Study Subjects		CV Risk Group		
	(N = 15,237)		(n = 735)		
	Difference in Mean Study Year Cost ^b (SE)	$P(t^{c})$	Difference in Mean Study Year Cost ^b (SE)	$P(t^{c})$	
DASH use vs non-use ^d	\$85.14 (\$90.83)	.35 (0.94)	-\$826.95 (\$424.81)	.05 (1.95)	
Age	\$8.18 (\$3.31)	.01 (2.47)	\$50.40 (\$25.85)	.05 (1.95)	
Male vs female	-\$453.05 (\$156.98)	.004 (2.89)	\$88.90 (\$645.85)	.89 (0.14)	
Employee vs non-employee	-\$136.45 (\$370.54)	.72 (0.37)	-\$2862.85 (\$1564.49)	.07 (1.83)	
Baseline year ARI ^e	\$123.46 (\$5.92)	< .001 (20.85)	\$133.69 (\$17.61)	< .001 (7.59)	
Baseline year cost ^f	\$0.29 (\$0.01)	< .001 (29.00)	\$0.34 (\$0.04)	< .001 (8.50)	

^a Baseline and study year costs top-coded at US\$25,000; study year website visits top-coded at 75; probability of DASH participation included as model covariate (not shown).

^b For age, ARI, baseline year cost: difference in mean study year costs per unit difference; unit is one year (age), one integer (ARI), one US dollar (baseline year cost).

^c Degrees of freedom = n - 6.

^d DASH participants' health care costs were, on average, US\$85 higher than those of nonparticipants, although this result was not statistically significant. ^e Higher baseline year ARI increases were associated with higher study year costs. On average, study year costs increased US\$123 with each additional

unit increase in the baseline year ARI. A unit refers to an integer; as an example, an ARI of 10 is one unit greater than an ARI of 9. ^f Higher baseline year health care costs were associated with higher study year costs. On average, study year costs were US\$0.29 higher for each additional dollar in baseline year cost.

The results of the linear regression analysis of study year costs for DASH vs non-DASH in the full sample are shown in Table 2. Among all study subjects, DASH participation was associated with increased health care costs, although this result was not statistically significant (difference in mean costs, DASH vs non-DASH = US\$85.14; P = .35). Model covariates associated with significantly higher study year costs were older age (P = .01), being female (P = .004), higher baseline ARI (P < .001), and higher baseline year costs (P < .001).

Results of the linear regression analysis of study year costs for DASH and non-DASH CV risk group study subjects are also shown in Table 2. DASH CV risk group members' study year health care costs were US\$827 lower, on average, than those of the non-DASH CV risk group members (P = .05). Higher baseline year ARI was significantly associated with higher study year costs, with each additional unit of risk associated with an increase, on average, of US\$134 (P < .001). Each additional dollar in baseline year costs was associated with an additional US\$0.34, on average, in study year costs (P < .001).



Table 3. Cost in DASH year as a function of intensity of website use, adjusting for covariates^a

	All DASH Participants		CV Risk Group		
	(n = 1967)		(n = 134)		
	Difference in Mean Study Year Cost ^b (SE)	$P(t^{c})$	Difference in Mean Study Year Cost ^b (SE)	$P(t^{c})$	
Change in costs per website visit ^d	-\$6.66 (\$5.34)	.21 (1.25)	-\$28.45 (\$14.61)	.054 (1.95)	
Age ^e	\$34.07(\$8.05)	<.001 (4.23)	\$17.50 (\$31.57)	.58 (0.55)	
Male vs female	-\$458.43 (\$161.07)	.005 (2.85)	-\$1121.62 (\$686.75)	.11 (1.63)	
Employee vs non-employee	\$66.82 (\$215.01)	.76 (0.31)	-\$39.67 (\$861.64)	.96 (0.05)	
Baseline year ARI ^f	\$60.24 (\$16.74)	<.001 (3.60)	\$54.48 (\$36.69)	.14 (1.48)	
Baseline year cost ^g	\$0.30 (\$0.03) < .001 (10.00)		\$0.34 (\$0.07)	<.001 (4.86)	
	DASH Participants Website Use at or Above Median ^h (n = 1028)		CV Risk Group Website Use at or Above Median ^h $(n = 80)$		
	Difference in Mean Study Year Cost ^b (SE)	$P(t^{d})$	Difference in Mean Study Year Cost ^b (SE)	$P(t^d)$	
Change in costs per website visit	-\$14.26 (\$6.97)	.04 (2.05)	-\$54.61 (\$20.16)	.01 (2.71)	
Age	\$49.22 (\$11.87)	<.001 (4.15)	\$18.69 (\$47.47)	.70 (0.39)	
Male vs female	-\$444.33 (\$230.67)	.05 (1.93)	-\$1855.55 (\$940.40)	.05 (1.97)	
Employee vs non-employee	\$141.08 (\$301.12)	.64 (0.47)	\$757.00 (\$1286.59)	.56 (0.59)	
Baseline year ARI	\$109.73 (\$26.49)	<.001 (4.14)	\$98.59 (\$55.97)	.08 (1.76)	
Baseline year cost	\$0.24 (\$0.04)	<.001 (6.00)	\$0.25 (\$0.12)	.04 (2.08)	

^a Baseline and study year costs top-coded at US\$25,000; study year website visits top-coded at 75.

^b For number of website visits, age, ARI, baseline year costs: difference in mean study year costs per unit difference; unit is one year (age), one integer (ARI), one US dollar (baseline year cost).

^c Degrees of freedom = n - 6.

^d Among all DASH participants, each additional website visit was associated, on average, with a US\$6.66 decrease in study year health care cost. This result was not statistically significant. Among CV risk group DASH participants, each additional website visit was associated with a US\$28 decrease in study year cost; this result was not statistically significant at the P < .05 level. Among DASH participants who visited the website at least the median number of times during the study year (nine visits), each additional visit was associated with a US\$14 study year cost decrease. Among CV risk group DASH participants who visited the website at least the median number of times for the CV risk group (also nine visits), each additional visit was associated with a US\$55 decrease in study year cost.

^eAmong all DASH participants, each additional year of age was associated with US\$34, on average, higher study year health care cost. Among DASH participants who visited the website nine or more times during the study year, each additional year of age was associated with US\$49 higher study year health care cost. Among CV risk group DASH participants, the relationship of age to study year health care costs was not statistically significant at the P < .05 level.

^fAmong all DASH participants, each additional increment in baseline year ARI was associated with US\$60 higher study year health care cost.

^g Each additional dollar in baseline year costs was associated with increased study year health care costs as follows: US\$0.30 among all DASH participants; US\$0.34 among CV risk group DASH participants; US\$0.24 among DASH participants who visited the website at least nine times; US\$0.25 among CV risk group DASH participants who visited the website at least nine times.

^h Median website usage for all DASH and CV risk group DASHparticipants: nine visits.

Results of the analyses of intensity of website usage and study year costs are shown in Table 3. Among 1967 DASH participants, each additional website visit was associated with almost a US\$7 decrease in study year health care costs, but this result was not statistically significant (P = .21). Among participants whose website usage was at or above the nine-visit study year median (n = 1028), each additional website visit was associated with a US\$14 decrease in health care costs on average (P = .04).



RenderX

Figure 3. CV risk group change in unadjusted total costs from baseline to DASH study year in DASH participants vs nonparticipants



Figure 3 compares the change in crude study year costs, relative to baseline year costs, among DASH participants versus nonparticipants in the CV risk group. Among DASH CV risk group participants, study year health care costs were US\$814 lower than baseline year costs. Among DASH nonparticipants, study year costs were US\$507 higher than baseline year costs. These results are not adjusted to control for age, gender, employee status, or baseline ARI.

Results of the analysis of website use intensity in the DASH CV risk group are also shown in Table 3. Among the 134 DASH CV risk group members, each additional website visit was associated with a decrease of approximately US\$28 in health care costs (P = .05). Among those who used the website at least the median number of nine times during the year (n = 80), each

RenderX

additional visit was associated with a US\$55 decrease in study year costs (P = .01).

Discussion

We did not find DASH participation to be associated with lower health care costs in the overall study sample. With an average age of 40 years, an average ARI of 3.7, and minimal health services utilization, this study sample is relatively young and healthy. The significance of higher baseline year risk and costs, female gender, and increasing age as predictors of study year costs is consistent with a relatively young, commercially insured population. Improvements in diet and exercise habits would not

be expected to address the highest expenditures in this group—pregnancy and childbirth, depression, and back pain.

We found suggestive evidence that DASH program use was associated with decreased health care spending among study subjects with CV risk. Within the DASH CV risk group, participants' study year health care costs were US\$827 lower than for the DASH nonparticipants. Although this result only achieved a significance level of P = .05, the reduction in mean costs from DASH participation (US\$827), which was nearly twice the standard deviation (US\$425), indicates that the effect size is quite large; the model R-square, 39%, is also noteworthy. Improvements in diet and exercise would be expected to address health care expenditures among study subjects with hyperlipidemia, hypertension, or diabetes. This subgroup is older (average age 47 years) and less healthy, with a baseline year ARI more than three times that of the general study sample.

We also found evidence suggestive of a dose-response relationship. Among DASH participants who visited the website at least nine times during the study year, each additional visit was associated with lower study year costs overall (P = .04) and in the DASH CV risk group (P = .01). Evidence of this dose-response was strongest among the DASH participants in the CV risk group, where each additional website visit was associated with a US\$55 decrease in study year health care costs (P = .01).

The DASH CV risk group participants' baseline ARI (10.10) suggests that they may be less sick than the non-DASH CV risk group (baseline ARI = 12.59). However, the DASH CV risk group, with conditions targeted by the DASH program, was the only subgroup that showed a decrease in health spending. Health care costs among DASH enrollees decreased 24% between the baseline (US\$4239) and study years (US\$3425) in the DASH CV risk group. By contrast, health spending increased US\$507 (8%) in the non-DASH CV risk group and approximately US\$130 per person (4.8%) across the general study sample.

We also found evidence of selective enrollment in the DASH program by study subjects with hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes. Despite being offered as a benefit to all employees and their dependents, participation in DASH for Health was proportionally higher (18%) among individuals with CV risk conditions (ie, those who might benefit most from nutrition improvement) than it was among individuals without those conditions, of whom 13% signed up for the DASH program (P < .001). For employees rather than targeting a selected subset of the employee population, this finding provides evidence that the DASH for Health program benefits the subset of the employee population whose health risks are of concern and whose health status is targeted by the program.

Our results expand on the already-published reports that Internet-based programs can have positive effects on clinical parameters such as weight and blood pressure [11,19-22] and contribute to our understanding of the effects of nutrition, weight management, and exercise programs on health care costs in targeted populations [23-26], including workplace populations [3,27-32]. Several recent studies indicate that workplace-sponsored, Web-based programs can lead to these

http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e43/

improvements in clinical parameters [11,33-36]. Our focus on the effects of an employer-sponsored, Web-based diet and exercise program on health care costs also expands our understanding of the effects of employer benefits that encourage employees to better manage their health status and contain health care costs. Hsu et al [37] observed significant increases in nonpharmaceutical health care expenses over a short time period among persons with chronic conditions who reduced their prescription medication use in response to increased cost sharing in benefit design. By contrast, regular use of the DASH for Health program may encourage health behavior changes that result in cost savings among persons with chronic conditions in a similarly short time frame. The benefits of DASH participation among healthier, younger enrollees may be evident over a longer time period than the year evaluated for this study. Employers, particularly those who are self-insured, may be interested in both short- and long-term employee costs and health status and choose to invest in health status improvements that will show benefits over the long term [38-40].

Limitations

A number of study limitations should be noted. Our analysis used observational data and is vulnerable to selection effects, which represent the largest threat to validity in observational studies. Our use of a control group and a pre-test, coupled with our use of a propensity score, are standard mechanisms for addressing selection bias in quasi-experimental study designs. However, our model would not control for the possibility that study subjects who were motivated to manage their CV risk conditions were more likely to enroll in DASH for Health and would visit the website more often. However, it is unlikely that our finding that even moderate use of the DASH for Health program is associated with lower health care costs is attributable to motivation and not to participation in the program. This finding is consistent with clinically oriented studies of the DASH diet program indicating that the DASH diet is associated with improved blood pressure, lower cholesterol levels, and increased insulin sensitivity. Such clinical improvements would be expected to be associated with lower health care costs.

Several other limitations should be noted. First, the study sample was limited to persons with health care costs in both years. The proportion of study subjects with costs in only one year (costs in baseline year only: 90%; costs in study year only: 79%) is consistent with the national Medical Expenditure and Panel Survey (MEPS) data indicating that 11% of commercially insured persons do not use health services in a given year. D2Hawkeye received and cleaned the source claims data and reported that the proportion of study subjects with zero costs was higher than expected. Because the data could not be sent back to the data warehouse for review, we chose to restrict the study to persons with costs in both years. In analyses with all study subjects, including those with no costs in either or both years, costs for all DASH participants were significantly lower than for non-DASH participants, and the cost savings were higher among DASH participants with CV risk conditions. (Results available on request.) Restricting study subjects to those with costs understates the effects of the DASH program on costs. Second, our analysis compares study subjects who visited the DASH website at least once with those who did not

XSL•FO RenderX

visit it at all. However, subjects who visited the website once during the study year would not be expected to benefit from the nutrition and exercise education that the DASH for Health website program offers. Our finding of a dose-response effect would be strengthened by the inclusion of subjects who signed up for the program but never visited the website. From the perspective of benefit design, this effect would be more useful for guiding planning or coaching efforts. Third, our propensity score is based only on available data and therefore may not completely address potential selection bias. It is possible that DASH participants with CV risk conditions would have had decreased health care costs without participation in DASH. However, the clinically observable effects of the DASH diet on CV risk conditions make this result less likely. Fourth, our results are based on all health care costs for all conditions. Costs for conditions targeted by the DASH diet cannot be distinguished from costs for medical conditions that are not likely to benefit from improved diet, such as pregnancy and childbirth and back pain. However, the dose-response effect among participants who use the DASH website more often and the increasing significance of additional website usage in the DASH CV risk group suggest that participation in the DASH program is related to decreases in health care costs among persons at higher risk for health care expenses. We performed additional analyses of the effects of DASH participation on study year costs for subjects with different baseline year risk levels. Based on the regression model, at higher levels of baseline year risk, DASH participants had significantly lower study year costs than nonparticipants. (Results available on request.) These results are of particular interest given that higher levels of baseline year risk are predictive of higher costs [13].

Finally, study year costs include health care costs incurred during the initial enrollment period. The effects of DASH for Health program participation would not expected to be evident during the initial launch of the program or during the first few months of the year. However, this limitation suggests that our study results understate the effects of DASH for Health program participation since they include this initial time frame.

Our focus on short-term cost savings does not examine whether these savings are offset by increases in other costs [40]. Although the DASH for Health program is relatively inexpensive, further study to evaluate its cost-effectiveness as a corporate benefit would be beneficial. Finally, the study sample was limited to employees at one technology firm and their dependents. Our study results may not be generalizable to persons without employer-based insurance or to adults who are less comfortable using the Internet for information about diet, exercise, and health management. Research into the effectiveness of DASH for Healthin other populations is warranted.

Conclusions

Use of an Internet-based program that targets changes in diet and exercise to reduce weight, cholesterol, and blood pressure shows evidence of reducing short-term health care costs among persons at high risk for health care expenditures with conditions targeted by the diet. Offering access to a website with diet and exercise information appears to have promise as a low-cost, employer-sponsored benefit that contributes to lower health care costs among persons at higher risk for above-average health costs and utilization.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Diana Lehman for her assistance in preparing this manuscript; Jack Mollen, Lauri Tenney, and Leslie Berger for their help in introducing the DASH for Health program at EMC Corporation; and Binod Bhattarai for claims data analysis guidance at D2 Hawkeye, Inc. The development of the DASH for HealthTMprogram was supported by donations from several companies that produce or promote healthy food products (Cabot Cheese, California Table Grape Commission, ConAgra Foods, Dannon, Diamond Nuts of California, Florida Department of Citrus, Garelick Farms, General Mills, International Banana Association, Minute Maid, National Dairy Council, The Peanut Institute, Sunkist, and SunMaid) as well as donations from EMC Corporation and Stop and Shop supermarkets.

Conflicts of Interest

Dr. Moore is Chairman of E-Havior Change, LLC, which owns the copyright to the DASH for Health™ program.

References

- ; Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research & Educational Trust. Employer Health Benefits: 2008 Annual Survey. Menlo Park, CA: The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2008. URL: <u>http://ehbs.kff.org/pdf/7790.pdf</u> [accessed 2009-05-05] [WebCite Cache ID 5gXrWjDl3]
- Kaiser Family Foundation. 2009. Trends in Health Care Costs and Spending. URL: <u>http://www.kff.org/insurance/upload/</u> 7692_02.pdf [accessed 2009-05-05] [WebCite Cache ID 5gXrkt8a1]
- 3. Okie S. The employer as health coach. N Engl J Med 2007 Oct 11;357(15):1465-1469. [Medline: <u>17928592</u>] [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp078152</u>]
- 4. Mattke S, Seid M, Ma S. Evidence for the effect of disease management: is \$1 billion a year a good investment? Am J Manag Care 2007 Dec;13(12):670-676 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18069910</u>]
- 5. Goetzel RZ, Ozminkowski RJ. The health and cost benefits of work site health-promotion programs. Annu Rev Public Health 2008;29(1):303-323. [Medline: <u>18173386</u>] [doi: <u>10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090930</u>]

- Buller DB, Morrill C, Taren D, Aickin M, Sennott-Miller L, Buller MK, et al. Randomized trial testing the effect of peer education at increasing fruit and vegetable intake. J Natl Cancer Inst 1999 Sep 1;91(17):1491-1500 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10469751] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/91.17.1491]
- Byers T, Mullis R, Anderson J, Dusenbury L, Gorsky R, Kimber C, et al. The costs and effects of a nutritional education program following work-site cholesterol screening. Am J Public Health 1995 May;85(5):650-655 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 7733424] [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.85.5.650]
- 8. Appel LJ, Moore TJ, Obarzanek E, Vollmer WM, Svetkey LP, Sacks FM, et al. A clinical trial of the effects of dietary patterns on blood pressure. DASH Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med 1997 Apr 17;336(16):1117-1124 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 9099655] [doi: 10.1056/NEJM199704173361601]
- Sacks FM, Svetkey LP, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Bray GA, Harsha D, et al; DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med 2001 Jan 4;344(1):3-10 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11136953</u>]
- Lien LF, Brown AJ, Ard JD, Loria C, Erlinger TP, Feldstein AC, et al. Effects of PREMIER lifestyle modifications on participants with and without the metabolic syndrome. Hypertension 2007 Oct;50(4):609-616 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17698724</u>] [doi: <u>10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.089458</u>]
- Moore TJ, Alsabeeh N, Apovian CM, Murphy MC, Coffman GA, Cullum-Dugan D, et al. Weight, blood pressure, and dietary benefits after 12 months of a Web-based Nutrition Education Program (DASH for health): longitudinal observational study. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(4):e52 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19073541] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1114]
- 12. Levitan EB, Wolk A, Mittleman MA. Consistency with the DASH diet and incidence of heart failure. Arch Intern Med 2009 May 11;169(9):851-857. [Medline: <u>19433696</u>] [doi: <u>10.1001/archinternmed.2009.56</u>]
- 13. Gautam S, Singh S. 2Hawykeye, Inc.. 2008. Predicting Overall and Impactable Future Costs with the D2Hawkeye Risk Modelling System. URL: <u>http://www.d2hawkeye.com/Web%20files/D2_Risk_Models_White_Paper.pdf</u> [accessed 2009-05-05] [WebCite Cache ID 5gXsHXxAd]
- D'Agostino RB. Propensity score methods for bias reduction in the comparison of a treatment to a non-randomized control group. Stat Med 1998 Oct 15;17(19):2265-2281. [Medline: <u>9802183</u>] [doi: <u>10.1002/(SICI)1097-0258(19981015)17:19<2265::AID-SIM918>3.0.CO;2-B</u>]
- 15. Zhao Y, Ash AS, Haughton J, McMillan B. Identifying Future High Cost Cases Through Predictive Modeling. Dis Manage Health Outcomes 2003;11(6):389-397. [doi: 10.2165/00115677-200311060-00005]
- 16. Shwartz M, Ash A, Pekoz E. Risk adjustment and risk-adjusted provider profiles. Int J Health Care Technol Manage 2006;7(1/2):15-42. [doi: 10.1504/IJHTM.2006.007871]
- 17. Yaisawarng S, Burgess JF. Performance-based budgeting in the public sector: an illustration from the VA health care system. Health Econ 2006 Mar;15(3):295-310. [Medline: <u>16331724</u>] [doi: <u>10.1002/hec.1060</u>]
- Montez-Rath M, Christiansen CL, Ettner SL, Loveland S, Rosen AK. Performance of statistical models to predict mental health and substance abuse cost. BMC Med Res Methodol 2006;6(1):53 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17067394</u>] [doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2288-6-53</u>]
- 19. Micco N, Gold B, Buzzell P, Leonard H, Pintauro S, Harvey-Berino J. Minimal in-person support as an adjunct to internet obesity treatment. Ann Behav Med 2007 Feb;33(1):49-56. [Medline: <u>17291170</u>] [doi: <u>10.1207/s15324796abm3301_6</u>]
- 20. Tate DF, Jackvony EH, Wing RR. Effects of Internet behavioral counseling on weight loss in adults at risk for type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. JAMA 2003 Apr 9;289(14):1833-1836 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12684363] [doi: 10.1001/jama.289.14.1833]
- Tate DF, Jackvony EH, Wing RR. A randomized trial comparing human e-mail counseling, computer-automated tailored counseling, and no counseling in an Internet weight loss program. Arch Intern Med 2006;166(15):1620-1625 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 16908795] [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.15.1620]
- Williamson DA, Martin PD, White MA, Newton R, Walden H, York-Crowe E, et al. Efficacy of an internet-based behavioral weight loss program for overweight adolescent African-American girls. Eat Weight Disord 2005 Sep;10(3):193-203. [Medline: <u>16277142</u>]
- 23. Musich SA, Adams L, Edington DW. Effectiveness of health promotion programs in moderating medical costs in the USA. Health Promot Int 2000;15(1):5-15. [doi: 10.1093/heapro/15.1.5]
- 24. Ozminkowski RJ, Goetzel RZ, Wang F, Gibson TB, Shechter D, Musich S, et al. The savings gained from participation in health promotion programs for Medicare beneficiaries. J Occup Environ Med 2006 Nov;48(11):1125-1132. [Medline: 17099448] [doi: 10.1097/01.jom.0000240709.01860.8a]
- Ozminkowski RJ, Ling D, Goetzel RZ, Bruno JA, Rutter KR, Isaac F, et al. Long-term impact of Johnson & Johnson's Health & Wellness Program on health care utilization and expenditures. J Occup Environ Med 2002 Jan;44(1):21-29. [Medline: <u>11802462</u>] [doi: <u>10.1097/00043764-200201000-00005</u>]
- Pelletier KR. A review and analysis of the clinical and cost-effectiveness studies of comprehensive health promotion and disease management programs at the worksite: update VI 2000-2004. J Occup Environ Med 2005 Oct;47(10):1051-1058. [Medline: <u>16217246</u>] [doi: <u>10.1097/01.jom.0000174303.85442.bf</u>]



RenderX

- 27. Herman CW, Musich S, Lu C, Sill S, Young JM, Edington DW. Effectiveness of an incentive-based online physical activity intervention on employee health status. J Occup Environ Med 2006 Sep;48(9):889-895. [Medline: <u>16966955</u>] [doi: <u>10.1097/01.jom.0000232526.27103.71</u>]
- 28. McCarty CA, Scheuer D. Lessons learned from employee fitness programs at the Marshfield Clinic. WMJ 2005 Jul;104(5):61-65. [Medline: <u>16138518</u>]
- 29. Stein AD, Shakour SK, Zuidema RA. Financial incentives, participation in employer-sponsored health promotion, and changes in employee health and productivity: HealthPlus Health Quotient Program. J Occup Environ Med 2000 Dec;42(12):1148-1155. [Medline: <u>11125677</u>] [doi: <u>10.1097/00043764-200012000-00005</u>]
- 30. Voit S. Work-site health and fitness programs: Impact on the employee and employer. Work 2001;16(3):273-286. [Medline: 12441457]
- 31. Young JM. Promoting health at the workplace: challenges of prevention, productivity, and program implementation. N C Med J 2006;67(6):417-424. [Medline: <u>17393702</u>]
- 32. Aldana SG. Financial impact of health promotion programs: a comprehensive review of the literature. Am J Health Promot 2001;15(5):296-320. [Medline: <u>11502012</u>]
- Cook RF, Billings DW, Hersch RK, Back AS, Hendrickson A. A field test of a web-based workplace health promotion program to improve dietary practices, reduce stress, and increase physical activity: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(2):e17 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17581811</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.9.2.e17</u>]
- 34. Norman GJ, Zabinski MF, Adams MA, Rosenberg DE, Yaroch AL, Atienza AA. A review of eHealth interventions for physical activity and dietary behavior change. Am J Prev Med 2007 Oct;33(4):336-345 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17888860</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2007.05.007</u>]
- Sternfeld B, Block C, Quesenberry CP, Block TJ, Husson G, Norris JC, et al. Improving diet and physical activity with ALIVE: a worksite randomized trial. Am J Prev Med 2009 Jun;36(6):475-483. [Medline: <u>19460655</u>] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2009.01.036</u>]
- 36. Block G, Sternfeld B, Block CH, Block TJ, Norris J, Hopkins D, et al. Development of Alive! (A Lifestyle Intervention Via Email), and its effect on health-related quality of life, presenteeism, and other behavioral outcomes: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(4):e43 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19019818</u>] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1112</u>]
- Hsu J, Price M, Huang J, Brand R, Fung V, Hui R, et al. Unintended consequences of caps on Medicare drug benefits. N Engl J Med 2006 Jun 1;354(22):2349-2359 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16738271</u>] [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMsa054436</u>]
- 38. ; Kaiser Family Foundation and the National Governors Association Center for Best Practices. Elements of State Health Reform: Prevention and Wellness as Covered Benefits. Menlo Park, CA: Kaiser Family Foundation; 2007. URL: <u>url:http://www.kaisernetwork.org/health_cast/uploaded_files/060707_kff_nga_transcript.pdf</u> [accessed 2009-05-05] [WebCite Cache ID 5gXsTEBrm]
- Newhouse JP. Consumer-directed health plans and the RAND Health Insurance Experiment. Health Aff (Millwood) 2004;23(6):107-113. [Medline: <u>15584103</u>] [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.23.6.107</u>]
- Nicholson S, Pauly MV, Polsky D, Baase CM, Billotti GM, Ozminkowski RJ, et al. How to present the business case for healthcare quality to employers. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2005;4(4):209-218. [Medline: <u>16466272</u>] [doi: <u>10.2165/00148365-200504040-00003</u>]

Abbreviations

ARI: adjusted risk indexBUSM: Boston University School of MedicineCV: cardiovascularDASH: Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.05.09; peer-reviewed by G Block; comments to author 07.06.09; revised version received 21.08.09; accepted 27.08.09; published 23.10.09.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Sacks N, Cabral H, Kazis LE, Jarrett KM, Vetter D, Richmond R, Moore TJ A Web-Based Nutrition Program Reduces Health Care Costs in Employees With Cardiac Risk Factors: Before and After Cost Analysis J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e43 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2009/4/e43/</u> doi:10.2196/jmir.1263 PMID:19861297



© Naomi Sacks, Howard Cabral, Lewis E Kazis, Kelli M Jarrett, Delia Vetter, Russell Richmond, Thomas J Moore. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 23.10.2009. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

